Education and Perceived Quality of Life in Ghana: A Gender Perspective Analysis

by

Sarah Kafui Amanfu

BSc. Chemistry, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, 2007

M.Ed., University of Pittsburgh, 2012

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the School of Education in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2022

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF EDUCATION

This dissertation was presented

by

Sarah Kafui Amanfu

It was defended on

March 29, 2022

and approved by

Yolanda Covington-Ward, PhD, Associate Professor and Chair, Department of Africana Studies

Michael Gunzenhauser, PhD, Associate Professor and Associate Chair, Department of Educational Foundations, Organizations, and Policy

Lindsay Page, PhD, Associate Professor, of Education Policy, Brown, University

John C. Weidman II, Emeritus Professor, Department of Educational Foundations, Organizations and Policy

Chair: Maureen McClure, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Educational Foundations, Organizations and Policy and Director of Institute for International Studies in Education (IISE) Copyright © by Sarah Kafui Amanfu

2022

Education and Perceived Quality of Life in Ghana: A Gender Perspective Analysis

Sarah Kafui Amanfu, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2022

Drawing on the literature and my own experience growing up and attending university in Ghana, I explore the overarching relationship between education and quality of life in Ghana, and, in the process, develop a conceptual framework to guide the data analysis. This dissertation is an exploratory study that examines the relationship between educational attainment and quality of life among Ghanaians. In this case, quality of life is defined as (a) subjective well-being (perceived and actual) and (b) political engagement (civic engagement and institutional trust). This study also examines whether obtaining higher levels of education is associated with increased perception of quality of life for persons who have lower levels of education. Further, the study also assesses whether the relationship between educational attainment and perceived quality of life in Ghana varies by gender. Finally, the study considers how quality of life differs among various social groupings.

The study uses survey data from the Afrobarometer Attitudes Project, Round 7 (administered in 2017, with a sample size of 1,710). Several types of data analysis are used, including descriptive statistics, bivariate correlation, bivariate chi-square test, and Ordinary Least Squared (OLS) regression and OLS interaction Effect Models. The findings suggest that (a) using micro indicators is relevant in determining the quality of life of Ghanaians, (b) people in Ghana tend to high levels of quality of life, especially regarding their subjective well-being and civic engagements, (c) the expected minimum of education attainment that most people acquire in Ghana is high school education, (d) Ghanaians with lower levels of education attainment are

mostly women, the unemployed, the elderly, and rural dwellers, while Ghanaians with higher levels of education attainment are mostly men, the employed, Akan ethnic groups, urban dwellers, and Other Christians, (e) education attainment positively impacts quality of life in Ghana; thus, Ghanaian quality of life tends to increase with higher levels of education, (f) education is not the only factor driving quality of life in Ghana, and (g) there are no differences in quality of life among educated Ghanaian males and females. These findings are used to inform policies and practices.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgmentsxv
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Education and Society6
1.2 Education and Quality of Life: The Focus on Ghana9
1.3 Gender and Education Outcomes 11
1.4 Research Design 15
1.5 Significance of the Study16
1.6 Organization of the Study18
2.0 Literature Review
2.1 The Concept of Quality of Life/Well-Being19
2.1.1 Definition of Well-Being and Why It is Subjective
2.1.1.1 Why Is Well-Being Subjective? 22
2.1.2 The Components of Subjective Well-Being23
2.2 The Link Between Education and Subjective Well-Being
2.2.1 The Case of Ghana and Sub-Saharan Africa28
2.3 Subjective Well-Being Measurements 29
2.3.1 Domain of Life Satisfaction
2.3.2 Bottom-Up Approach32
2.3.3 Positive Affect and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS)
2.4 Literature Review on Political Engagement
2.4.1 Political Engagement Concept

2.4.1.1 Why Study Political Engagement?	37
2.4.2 Forms of Political Engagement	38
2.4.2.1 Political Communication	39
2.4.2.2 Affiliation and Membership to Political Organizations	40
2.4.3 The Links Between Education and Political Engagement	41
2.4.3.1 Education and Civic Engagement	44
2.4.3.2 Education and Institutional Trust	46
2.5 Gender Dimensions of Quality of Life	48
2.5.1 Feminist Theory	50
2.5.1.1 Radical Theory	54
2.5.1.2 Marxist/Socialist Theory	55
2.5.1.3 Liberal Feminism	57
2.5.2 The Relevance of Feminist Theory to the Study	58
2.6 Theoretical Models of Education and Quality of Life Outcomes	60
2.6.1 Liberal Feminist Theory	60
2.6.2 Direct Effect of Education Models (or Absolute Effect Model)	63
2.6.3 Relative Effect of Education (or Indirect Effect Model)	66
2.6.4 Overall Theoretical Framework	70
2.7 Summary	73
3.0 Data and Measurements	76
3.1 Data	77
3.1.1 The Afrobarometer Survey	77
3.1.1.1 Sampling Technique of the Afrobarometer	78

3.1.1.2 Round 7 Dataset 80
3.2 Measurement of Variables
3.2.1 Dependent Variables83
3.2.1.1 Subjective Well-Being
3.2.1.2 Political Engagement
3.2.2 Key Independent Variable87
3.2.3 Other Explanatory Variables/Controls87
3.2.3.1 Demographic Variables
3.2.3.2 Educational Experiences
3.2.3.3 Cultural Variables
3.3 Analytic Technique
3.4 Handling Missingness in the Dataset
3.4.1 Discussion on Contrasting Differences on the Measures
3.4.2 Concerns on Generalization of Results98
3.4.2.1 Is the Sample Size Adequate and Representative of the Entire
Population?
3.4.2.2 Are the Selected Measures Reflective of the Construct Being Studied?
3.4.2.3 Are Issues of Reliability a Concern?101
3.5 Research Question 1: What is the Nature and Extent of Quality of Life in Ghana?
3.6 Research Question 2: What Are the Quality of Life Outcomes By Social Groups
(Bivariate Correlation)?105

3.7 Research Question 3: What Are the Education Outcomes by Social Groups
(Bivariate Chi-Square Analysis)?108
3.8 Research Question 4: What is the Predictive Relationship Between Education
Outcomes and Quality of Life Outcomes (Multivariate Analysis: Ordinary Least
Square (OLS)? 110
3.9 Research Question 5: How Does Gender Moderate the Relationship Between
Education Outcomes and Quality of Life Outcomes (Ordinary Least Square (OLS)
Interaction Effects Models)? 112
i. Interaction Effect/Moderation Effect114
4.0 Results and Findings 116
4.1 Introduction116
4.2 Descriptive Statistics
4.3 Bivariate Correlation Analysis122
4.3.1 Conclusion128
4.4 Bivariate (Chi-Square) Analysis128
4.5 Multivariate Analysis: Ordinary Least Square (OLS) 140
4.5.1 Effect of Education Levels on Subjective Well-Being141
4.5.2 Effect of Education Levels on Political Engagement147
4.6 Multivariate Analysis: Ordinary Least Square (OLS) Interaction Effect Models149
4.6.1 The Moderation Effect of Gender: Subjective wellbeing, Education and
Gender150
4.6.2 The Moderation Effect of Gender: political engagement, education, and
gender154

4.7 Summary and Conclusion156
5.0 Discussion and Conclusions 161
5.1.1 The Nature of Quality of Life in Ghana161
5.1.2 Quality of Life by Social Groupings172
5.1.3 Education Levels by Social Groupings177
5.1.4 Education Levels and Quality of Life181
5.1.5 The Effect of Gender on Quality of Life Outcomes and Education -The
Feminist Analysis184
5.2 Strengths and Limitations194
5.3 Policy Implications 197
5.4 Reflections 202
Appendix A Dependent, Independent, and Other Explanatory Variables 207
Appendix B Comparison Between Valid and Nonvalid Samples 212
Appendix C Scatterplots
Appendix D Valid Cases Only (1,710)
Appendix E Non-Valid Cases (690) 246
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary Characteristics of Valid and Non-Valid Cases: 2017 Waves of
Afrobarometer (Round 7)93
Table 2. Summary Characteristics of Outcome Measures: Ghana Round 7 Afrobarometer
Survey (n=1,710) 117
Table 3. Summary Characteristics of Key Independent/Demographic Variables: 2017
Waves of Afrobarometer (Round 7 Analysis Sample, n=1,710) 119
Table 4. Summary Characteristics of Education Experiences: 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer
Table 5. Correlation Matrix: Quality of Life Outcomes by Social Groups 2017 Waves of
Afrobarometer (Round 7, n=1,710)124
Table 6. Proportions Within Education Levels by Social Groupings for the 2017 Waves of
Afrobarometer (Round 7, n=1,710)130
Table 7. Proportions Within Social Groupings on Education Levels for the 2017 Waves of
Afrobarometer (Round 7, n=1,710)133
Table 8. Perceived and Actual Subjective Wellbeing Regressed on Educational Outcomes
(OLS Regression): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer
Table 9. Civic Engagement and Institutional Trust Regressed on Educational Outcomes
(OLS Regression): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer
Table 10. Moderating Effect of Gender on Perceived Subjective Wellbeing and Educational
Outcomes (OLS Interaction Effect Model): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

List of Figures

Figure 1. Theoretical Component Model
Figure 2. Theoretical Component Model 69
Figure 3. Proposed Theoretical Framework Using Liberal Feminist Theory as the
Fundamental Lens Through Which the Relationship Between Education and Quality
of Life is Examined71
Figure 4. The Moderating Effect of Gender: Education, Gender and Quality of Life
Outcomes75
Figure 5. The moderating effect of gender: Education, gender and perceived subjective well-
being
Figure 6. The moderating effect of gender: Education, gender and actual subjective well-
being
Figure 7. The moderation effect of gender: Education and civic engagement
Figure 8. The moderation effect of gender: Education and institutional trust 115
Figure 9. Perceived Subjective Well-Being and Gender 229
Figure 10. Actual Subjective Well-Being and Gender
Figure 11. Civic Engagement and Gender 230
Figure 12. Institutional Trust and Gender 231
Figure 13. Perceived Subjective Well-Being and Age 231
Figure 14. Actual Subjective Well-Being and Age 232
Figure 15. Civic Engagement and Age 232

Figure 16. Institutional Trust and Age	233	,
--	-----	---

Acknowledgments

I first dedicate this dissertation as evidence of God's glory and fulfillment of prophecy. Without God's clear direction and specific guidance in the darkest moment of my graduate studies, I would have given up on the doctoral program! Indeed, God Almighty "reveals the deep and hidden things, He knows what lies in darkness, and light dwells with him" (Daniel 2:22). God truly is the Alpha and Omega, the author and finisher of our faith! And I am thankful to him for bringing me to a successful completion!

Second, I dedicate this work to my parent (Cephas and Juliana Amanfu), brother (Emil Amanfu), and my two uncles (Gabriel Amanfu and The Late Victor Amanfu) for their spiritual, financial, and moral support. You have always believed in my dream and vision of pursuing graduate education since I packed my bags and luggage from Ghana to study in the United States. Your endless sacrifice will forever be remembered! This work is also dedicated to my husband, Chris Opoku-Agyeman, and my children (Chrisarah, Chris, Alexandra, and Kekeli) for their endless love, support, and sacrifice. I also thank God for the blessing and gift of the prophetess, Mrs. Margaret Nunoo in Ghana, who prayed with me all way through.

The completion of this project was possible due to the tremendous support and dedication from the faculty of the School of Education at the University of Pittsburgh. My profound appreciation goes, especially, to Dr. Maureen McClure, Director of the Institute for International Studies in Education and Associate Professor in Educational Foundations, Organizations, and Policy Department for her timely intervention in becoming my adviser and chair. You were my advocate and champion in completing my research and doctoral study. I am also highly indebted to Professor John C. Weidman II, Emeritus Professor of Higher and International Development Education at the University of Pittsburgh, who also provided me with close guidance and mentoring throughout my research and graduate studies. Despite being on retirement, Dr. Weidman spent valuable and significant time guiding me in the research process to its final completion. I am also thankful for his mentoring in ensuring that I am progressing in my professional career. Another faculty and staff member who has been of tremendous support is Dr. Macrina C. Lelei, Associate Director of the Center for African Studies, who throughout my graduate studies has acted as a role model, an adviser, a counselor, and a mother. I am thankful for the numerous meetings, time, and guidance. I also want to thank my previous adviser, Dr. James Jacob, for allowing me to navigate my research topic during my comprehensive exam.

In fact, this project would not have been successful without the kind insight and feedback from Dr. Lindsay Page, Associate Professor at Brown University (previously Associate Professor in the Department of Educational Foundations, Organizations and Policy) on managing complex statistical data and analysis. I am also thankful for support and feedback from Dr. Michael Gunzenhauser, Associate Professor and Associate Chair of the Department of Educational Foundations, Organizations, and Policy, as well as Dr. Yolanda Covington, Associate Professor and Department Chair of the Department of Africana Studies. My gratitude also goes to Dean Valerie Kinloch, Associate Dean Kevin Crowley, Assistant Dean Shederick McClendon, and the staff members of the School of Education's dean's office for providing a positive environment for my academic success, well-being, and development.

I am also grateful to other professors outside the University of Pittsburgh—the late Professor Baffour Takyi of the Department of Sociology at The University of Akron and Dr. Isaac Addai, professor at Lansing Community College, pioneers in research on quality-of-life issues in Ghana, for their time, mentoring, and constructive feedback on my project. In addition, I also wish to acknowledge Dr. William Opoku-Agyeman, Associate Professor at the University of North Carolina, Wilmington, for providing further feedback and critical questions on my methods and theoretical framework. I also want to thank my husband, Dr. Chris Opoku- Agyeman, previously a faculty and staff member at the Department of Public Administration and Urban Studies and Case Western University, for the endless prepping and presentation practice. The sleepless nights paid off!

I would also like to recognize the excellent and professional editing services from Dr. Susan Dawkins. To my colleagues Dr. Jessica Mason, Dr. Otgo Okhidoi, Dr. Yuan Zhang, Dr. Anna-Maria Karnes, and Betty Tang, thank you very much for your moral support! I am thankful for the funding, fellowship support and scholarship awards from The University of Pittsburgh the tuition scholarships from the University of Pittsburgh School of Education, The University Center for International Studies and The African Studies Program, and the Center for Evaluation and Assessment Capacity. I want to also acknowledge the other funding support from the University of Pittsburgh Study Abroad Office, The International Study Fellowship Grant, The Elsie Hillman Fellowship from the Institute of Politics, The Office of The Provost and the PEO Foundation. Finally, I am also thankful to the love and support from my colleagues at the church community in Ghana, especially Eric Akukumah and Delali Adiamah who mobilized financial sponsorship to purchase my airline ticket to pursue higher education in the USA.

1.0 Introduction

The goal of many government policies is enhancement of the quality of life of its citizenry. The extent to which an individual perceives their life as satisfactory has been found to be an important indicator of quality of life in society (Diener, 2000). While life satisfaction in developed countries has been scrutinized extensively, the same cannot be said about developing countries, especially sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). Considering the numerous transformations that have taken place in the region in recent years, it is important that citizens' outlook on their life circumstances become a factor to policy makers, international agencies, and non-governmental bodies who seek to explore the overarching understanding of quality of life. The Republic of Ghana, a West African country in the sub-Saharan African region, provides an interesting site for study. It has been identified as one of the most stable countries in the region, despite having experienced a series of political, socioeconomic, and cultural transformations (Gyimah Boadi, 2009).

After decades of economic reforms and democratic experimentation, among other social changes in the country, the first basic question raised in this dissertation study is this: How satisfied are Ghanaians with their quality of life? This case study focuses on education and its possible links to Quality of Life (QofL), with particular emphasis on examining gender differences in perceived quality of life. Attention is paid to both cognitive attributes and affective reactions. Two major aspects of quality of life, (a) Subjective Well-Being (SWB) and (b) Political Engagement, are examined. With respect to subjective well-being, the study focuses on perceived (cognitive reactions) and actual (affective reactions) well-being. Regarding political engagement, the study

focuses on two constructs: (a) civic engagement (cognitive attributes) and (b) institutional trust (affective reactions).

The understanding of quality of life is seen through the lens of many relevant issues. Scholars often equate the meaning of quality of life to well-being (Bradburn, 2016; Campbell et al., 1976; Diener, 2000). Others also capture quality of life in the gamut of several attributes such as personality (Diener et. al, 2006), perceived subjective well-being (Pokimica et al., 2012), feeling of happiness (Addai et al., 2015), feeling of satisfaction with life (Diener et al., 2005), socioeconomic conditions (Ahuvia, 2008), perceived well-being (Addai et al., 2014), social indicators (Diener & Suh, 1997; Gottlieb, 1980), micro-indicators or human capital development index (Gatti, 2021; Kraay, 2019), social capital (Grootaert & van Bastelaer, 2002), citizen participation and political participation (La Porta, et al 1997, Zak & Knack, 2001), deliberative activities, social behavior outcomes (Zak & Knack, 2001), public opinions, support for democracy and protests (Gyimah-Boadi, 2009), corruption (Agerberg, 2018), voting and voter turnout (Mayer, 2011; Sondheimer & Green, 2010), partisan choice and political identity (Emler & Frazer, 1999), transparency and openness (Gyimah, Boadi, 2001; Islam, 2006), and many others.

Broad definitions for quality of life have been used for many years. One straightforward definition is "the degree to which an individual judges the overall quality of his or her life as favorable" (Veenhoven, 2011; see also Blanchflower, 2004, p.1360). The concept of well-being is also defined as access to both material and non- material resources (Blanchflower & Oswald, 2008; Campbell et al. 1976). The material resources, for example, include finance, housing, employment, health, education, institutions, resources availability, personal and economic security (Constanza et al, 2007; Davis and Fine-Davis, 1991, Lee et al., 2006; Michalos, 2017; Noll, 2011). The non-material resources described by Sen (1992) include access to resources and the kind of life people

live (see Bookwater & Dalenberg, 2004, p.335; Robeyns, 2005). Examples of such resources include marital status, positive and negative feelings, emotions (Blanchflower & Oswald, 2008), affection, understanding, participation, leisure, spirituality, creativity, identity, and freedom (Costanza et al., 2007).

Quality of life has also been viewed from the lens of "opportunities that provide human needs in the forms of built, human, social and natural capital (in addition to time) and the policy options that are available to enhance these opportunities" (Constanza et al., 2007, p.268). The opportunities vary, thus producing different levels of satisfaction among individuals. Satisfaction level is a measure of the perceived achievement or fulfillment of an individual from his or her set objectives (Campbell et al., 1976). Satisfaction, therefore, "implies a judgmental or cognitive experience," and happiness "suggests an experience of feeling or affect" (p.8). In many studies, happiness has been found to be associated with health (Booysen & Botha, 2011; Veenhoven, 2011), age (Blanchflower & Oswald, 2008), social relationships, and, in particular, marital status (Argyle & Martin, 1991; Blanchflower & Oswald, 2008; Lee et al., 2006); political stability and development (Frey & Stutzer, 2010, 2002). Other research studies argue that economic factors such as unemployment and income also influence subjective well-being (Brulé, & Maggino, 2017; Clark and Oswald, 1994; Easterlin, 2001; Gerlach and Stephan, 1996, Winkelmann & Winkelmann, 1998).

Different methodologies have been employed to explore subjective well-being. These include methods such as the use of indexes to distinguish measurement of well-being in developed and developing countries due to differences in economic growth (Diener& Suh, 1997). Diener & Suh (2000) developed a representational index for subjective well-being measurement across cultures, grounding his index creation on modules from Schwarz (1999) that explored variables

such as self-discipline, social justice, enjoying life, success, and environmental protection (Diener, 1995). Diener (1995) further argued that "quality of life variables must be selected in a systematic way that reflects diverse dimensions of well-being and that is based on theoretical or empirical principles" (p.126). In addition to this approach, well-being has been explored via combinations of both subjective and objective well-being measures (Costanza et al., 2007). Further approaches employed to explore well-being include self-reported measures (Diener Lucas, 2006; Easterlin, 2003) as well as the aid of indicators such as the Human Development Index, The Economist Intelligence Unit (2010), the Prosperity Index, the Quality of Life Index, the Happy Index, and the Australian Unity Well-being Index (Barrington-Leigh, 2016; Easterlin, 2014; Stiglitz et. al., 2010; Stone et al., 2018). In summary, the understanding of quality of life or well-being is relevant in improving policy and lifestyle (Bianco & Gnaldi, 2019; Nussbaum & Sen, 1993). It encapsulates the issues related to life that include both material and non-material resources.

When we come to developing countries, for example, Southern Africa, Blauuw (2013) studied the determinants of subjective well-being in South Africa by using a series of "economic, socio-economic and attitudinal variables" (p.179). The result indicated "a significant influence of religion and provincial location in determining well-being in South Africa" (p.179). The variables "age, race, level of income, years of education, gender, marital status and the number of children" (p.191) were also found to have significant influence on subjective well-being. Other studies have also been conducted regarding quality of life in post-apartheid South Africa that revealed that subjective well-being is highly dependent on the timeframe and mindset of the people involved (Kingdon & Knight, 2007). Thus, "positional status" in an environment influences happiness in one way or the other (Clark et al., 2008; Sirgy & Cornwell, 2002). In examining the role of social capital and subjective well-being in rural Ethiopia, Dodd (2012) found that social capital variables

were positively associated with subjective well-being. Sociopolitical factors such as trust and perceptions of trustworthiness of government were relevant to subjective well-being determinacy.

Current measures of subjective well-being include variables such as health, education, institutions, resources availability, personal/economic security, and life satisfaction (Constanza et al, 2007; Lee et al., 2006; Stiglitz et al., 2010). Well-being measures are burgeoning in developed countries, especially for the assessment of economic progress. And several measures have been proposed towards quality-of-life measures for nations at the local and national levels (Diener, 2000). In summation, well-being is influenced by material resources, non-material resources, positive and negative feelings, and emotions and the like.

Broadly speaking, this study examines several issues bearing on education and quality of life in Ghana, West Africa. First, the study explores the links between educational attainment and quality of life among Ghanaians. Second, it examines whether obtaining higher levels of education is associated with increased quality of life relative to persons who have lower levels of education. Third, the study assesses whether the relationship between educational attainment and quality of life is moderated by gender. The focus here is to determine whether men derive more quality-of-life benefits from education compared to their female counterparts. The fourth consideration is on how quality of life differs among these social groupings: (a) age, (b) gender, (c) ethnic groups, (d) religious groups, (e) place of residence, and (f) employment status. The fifth explores how educational attainment affects quality of life among young men and women in Ghana. In other words, does gender moderate the impact of education on the quality of life of young men and women in Ghana? If so, how are these effected?

The study was based on secondary analyses of data from the Afrobarometer Survey (AFROB), which has information on economic, political, social, and democratic issues in Ghana.

AFROB is a nationally representative cross-sectional survey that has been conducted in several African countries, including Ghana, since the 1990s. All missing cases are dropped from the study and only complete cases are used, resulting in a sample size of 1,710 for examining these broad research questions (Round 7 Survey Manual 2017; Round 7 Codebook, 2017).

1.1 Education and Society

Despite scholarly evidence that continues to document the non-economic benefits of education for society, few studies focus on sub-Saharan Africa. According to past research, providing "equitable access to education is essential for sustained progress toward democracy, civic participation and better governance" (Elson, 2009; World Development Report, 2012; World Bank Report, 2001, p.8). At the individual level, education contributes to cognitive and verbal skills. Through education, a person can acquire training in civic skills in order to communicate effectively (Verba et al., 1995). Education also encourages civic engagement and participation as it empowers individuals with knowledge for critical thinking and decision making relating to life and societal advancement (Hillygus, 2005; Murray, 2009). Other benefits of education enumerated in the literature include better learning skills, better health, better social status (Mirowsky & Ross, 2007), and better quality of human productivity (Dee, 2004; Dewar, 2016; Mirowsky & Ross, 1999; Ross & Willigen, 1997).

At the societal level, education has been linked to the quality of civic participation, such as voting and the discussion of political issues (Berinsky & Lenz, 2011). Other scholars point to the links of education to the assumption of leadership positions and volunteering, among many others,

as some of the benefits of education to political discourse (Crossley & Ibrahim, 2012). Further, studies also suggest that education has the tendency to reduce corrupt practices, as educated people are more likely to serve as a check on potential excesses in many societies (Milligan et al., 2004). The literature also notes that in societies where people have higher levels of education, they tend to have greater political knowledge, higher levels of political participation, and stronger commitments to democratic core values (Hillygus, 2005; Mayer, 2011; Salisbury, 1997; Verba et al., 1995). Despite the benefits mentioned above with respect to education, access to education is limited around the world, especially to those living in the developing world. In countries such as Ghana, several barriers (e.g., poverty, poor infrastructure, the lack of trained school teaching personnel in rural parts of the country, and school resources) continue to be obstacles to educational attainment (Akyeampong et al., 2007).

In several developing countries, local and international organizations have continued to introduce accessible educational policies and programs to attract the majority to schools, with emphasis on girls' education. In Ghana, for example, specific educational policies targeted at improving access to education, such as Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE), capitation grants¹, and affirmative action policies have been implemented (Akyeampong et al., 2007). The Free Senior High School education policy (initiated in 2017) was also introduced to improve access to high school education (Takyi et al., 2019). The government of Ghana is effectively implementing its recent educational policy on free senior high school education to increase access to high school education across the country (Mohammed, 2020). In the political

¹ A capitation grant is a form of grant that provides subsidies for education in Ghana. It finances elementary education for Ghanaian citizens towards achieving the Millennium Development Goal of primary education for all.

arena, the parliament introduced the gender quota system to encourage women to participate in the governance of the country.

Feminist advocates have proposed gender-based theories to explain the discrepancy in the treatment of women across the world in all areas of life. This study examines three of these major areas: educational attainment, economic well-being, and political participation. This examination is achieved by examining the possible links between education and quality of life in Ghana (with emphasis on gender differences). Several theoretical models such as the direct effect model and relative effect model (Emler & Frazer, 1999; La Due, & Huckfeldt, 1998; Nie et al., 1996; Salisbury, 1997), civic engagement theory (Hillygus, 2005), social capital/social network theory (Hillygus, 2005; La Due & Huckfeldt, 1998), political meritocracy theory (Hillygus, 2005), and social comparison theory (Nikolaev, 2016), among others, have been used by researchers to explore the links between education and quality of life. Whereas the direct effect model, for example, suggests that there is a direct link between education and quality of life (Diener, 2000; Emler & Frazer, 1999), the relative effect model suggests otherwise (Emler & Frazer, 1999). The relative effect model suggests that quality of life depends on other factors in society and not necessarily on the level of one's education. Nie, et al. (1996) also demonstrated the links between education and political engagement, testing for the direct effect. However, none of these theoretical models have been used to examine these issues from the lens of feminist theory.

This dissertation research draws on three of these theoretical ideas in considering the links between education and QofL in Ghana. These models are: (a) liberal feminist theory, (b) relative effect theory, and (c) direct effect theory. I use these three theories to explore the relationship between education and quality of life in Ghana. An overall framework that examines the direct effect and relative effect model from the lens of the liberal feminist theory is proposed and used in the dissertation study. Detailed discussions of these models are provided in Chapter 2.

1.2 Education and Quality of Life: The Focus on Ghana

Why is education relevant to the study of quality of life in Ghana? According to some observers, the country is one of the most stable in sub-Saharan Africa, in part due to political stability and economic improvement (Gyimah-Boadi, 2009; Spillan & King, 2017; Takyi, Opoku-Agyeman, & Kutin-Mensah, 2010). Ghana, politically referred to as a beacon of hope and a model democratic country in the Sub-Saharan African region, was the first country to gain independence in the region in 1957, setting the pace for other African countries to follow. Dr. Kwame Nkrumah, the globally hailed icon of Pan Africanism and famous African leader, became the first president. He set the agenda for the country towards national growth and development by promoting free education, free health care, and other accessible social services across the country. In 1966, he was overthrown in a military coup d'état. From these times to the 1990s, the country remained very unstable, experiencing both military and civilian rule, until constitutional rule was introduced in 1992. All subsequent presidents were elected through the ballot box. Since the establishment of the constitution, the Republic of Ghana has been politically stable and has recorded several economic, political, and social changes (Gyimah-Boadi, 2009).

Ghanaians have also continued to be actively engaged in peaceful political and social activities. For instance, in a referendum held in December 2018, citizens in some regions of the country went to the polls to decide on the creation of six new regions in addition to the existing

ten. The outcome was very peaceful and successful; the voting turn-out rate was above 90 percent (Ghana web, 2019). The increasing presence of media and civic organization groups in the country has also promoted political engagement activities such as live and nationwide broadcast of presidential debates and discussion of policies. Key democratic institutions have been established in the country to serve as checks on leaders and various institutions; cases of corruption, bribery, political gimmicks, and electoral fraud are normally handled by the legislative and the judiciary arms of government.

The government has also been quite successful in implementing democratic rule in the country for the past 29 years despite chaos in some of the past elections. Ghanaians have been successful in maintaining peace and order in their economy (Abdulai &Crawford, 2010; Gyimah-Boadi, 2009). The thriving nature of democratic development has led to the boost in economic-related activities in the country. And successful leadership and governance have earned the country global accolades. Given this recognition, Ghana has become a source of hope to the international community and several African countries. It has also become a place for donor outreach activities by western countries. The United States, for instance, has started exploring the possibility of establishing a training base for its army in the country to fight against terrorism in the sub-Saharan African region.

With respect to educational services, different programs and policies have been introduced in the country to improve access, including Free Senior High School (Free SHS) education, Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE), the Ghana School Feeding Program (GSFP), and the capitation grant. FCUBE, introduced in 1996, was aimed at ensuring access to quality basic education, promoting efficient teaching, and learning, and improving teacher morale and motivation through incentive programs. It also ensured the adequate and timely supply of teaching and learning materials to schools and the improvement of teacher community relations (Akyeampong, 2009). Under the program, meals were provided for students enrolled in selected schools and, in addition, extra take-home rations were given to female students who met the attendance target. The capitation grant, on the other hand, provided some token monetary reward to school children. Girls received higher monetary rewards than boys to encourage their enrollment and attendance. A recent education policy, introduced in the 2019-2020 academic year to encourage access to high school education, is the double track system. This intervention increased access to senior high school education and, at the same time, reduced overcrowding in the same school facilities. With the implementation of this policy, students who perform well on the national exams have equal access to enroll in highly ranked senior high schools that otherwise would not have accepted them because of minimal school infrastructure and class size. Taking these democratic, economic, and educational reforms into consideration, this dissertation study investigates the link between education and the quality of life of Ghanaians.

1.3 Gender and Education Outcomes

Why are gender differences so relevant to the study of education and quality of life in Ghana? After the 1995 United Nations Fourth World Conference on Women (Chen, 1995; Larson, 1996; Plattner, 1995) in Beijing, many countries initiated programs dedicated to improving access to education, especially to favor females. Besides the fact that education plays a key role in minimizing poverty, eradicating the spread of diseases, reducing youth violence, and deterring political instability (Victor & Ombati, 2012), the returns on education for women have been found

to be higher than those for men, especially at the secondary level (18% versus 14%) (Patrinos et al., 2021; Psacharopoulos & Patrinos, 2014; 2018). In sub-Saharan Africa in particular, "overall, women receive higher returns to their schooling investments but the returns to primary education are much higher for men (20%) than women (13%)" (Tuwor & Sossou, 2008, p.113). Despite this, the options for educating women in Africa is very minimal, and gender inequalities in education are common in many developing countries on the continent. More often, families favor educating their sons over their daughters, especially at the secondary and college levels (Amua-Sekyi, 1998; Dugbazah, 2002; Houston, 2003; Takyi & Addai, 2003). This choice is influenced by a myriad of factors, ranging from cultural, economic, social, and economic to health related factors (Victor & Ombati, 2012). To bridge this gap of unequal access, gender advocates believe that the nourishment of the females' intellect in an enabling environment and providing them with equal opportunities contributes immensely to their success (Acker, 1987; Arnot& Weiler, 1993; Ferree & Hess, 1999; Stromquist, 2021). In Ghana, however, because of the strong influences of cultural practices and social norms often shaped by gender stereotyping, gender barriers continue to exist in all areas of life. As Matsumoto (2007) noted, the content of an individual or a group of individuals' cultures is derived directly from the values, beliefs, norms, tradition, and customs of the larger culture. Therefore, culture has put men and women into different roles (Moser, 2004). Cultural attitudes, therefore, tend to influence female access to education and their quality of life in Ghana (Tanye, 2008).

For example, in Ghana, the cultural differences among ethnic groups tend to favor males over females in all aspects of life. When it comes to education, the belief and practice widely held among many ethnic groups is that educating males tends to be more beneficial than educating women. And the woman's place among these groups is often considered to be the kitchen, meaning she is responsible for all the domestic needs at home, which includes cooking, cleaning, and taking care of the family and sick relatives. In most of these ethnic groups, males play central roles in their communities by acting as heads of households; thus, they are solely responsible for taking care of their families and providing the economic resources needed for their families' well-being. This practice, in which men are often seen as the dominant force and head of the decision-making body, is found among patriarchal societies (Gyan et al., 2020). This cultural system makes it easier for parents to give the privileges of obtaining higher educational levels to their male children rather than their female children. Such practices, rooted in patriarchal structures, make it easier for men rather than women to occupy leadership positions. In contrast, families from the Asante Region of Ghana practice matriarchal rule (the rule of the female). This matriarchal practice means women gain much more support from their external families, which tends to overburden their men (Addai & Pokimica, 2010). This is because men belonging to these ethnic groups, by tradition, are responsible for taking care of their maternal nephews and nieces. This practice sometimes makes these men neglect their nuclear family, leaving the responsibilities to their wives. These extra responsibilities of Asante men tend also tp encourage such ethnic groups to give preference to educating their men over their women. Given these deep-rooted socio-cultural practices and gender stereotypes women face in Ghana, one can easily conclude that the effect of education on the quality of life of Ghanaians between males and females are likely to differ.

In Africa, governments have made many efforts to minimize the gender gap in education across many countries. In Ghana, for example, educational reform and policies have been introduced to close the gender gap and to encourage female education at all levels. Policies such as compulsory universal education, free senior high school education, and distribution of free school uniforms and sandals were introduced under the PNDC government in the years 2000 and 2015, respectively (Ampratwum & Armah-Attoh, 2010; Atta & Manu, 2015; Donkoh & Amikuzuno, 2011; Osei-Assibey, 2013). These programs have been quite successful but also face several implementation challenges, including lack of accountability, lack of interest and infrastructure, poor program supervision, inadequate capital, corruption, and inadequate schools, among many others. The Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education programme, for example, was successful in increasing access to education across the different regions in Ghana; however, it faced several infrastructure challenges due to the sudden increase in enrollment. Adequate capital was also not available to sustain it.

In this study, I analyzed and examined gender differences, considering whether gender influenced the relationships between education attainment and subjective well-being in Ghana. In that same line of thought, I explored similar comparisons with political engagement. Overall, the main focus here is to determine whether men tend to derive more QofL benefits from education compared to women. In other words, does gender moderate any observed relationship between education and quality of life of Ghanaians? With these comparisons, I modelled the effects of educational attainment on Quality of Life outcomes to address whether obtaining higher levels of education is more beneficial among women than men in Ghana.

Five specific research questions are examined:

 What is the nature and extent of quality of life (QofL) in Ghana? I explore an understanding of QofL in Ghana using these measures: people's assessments of their: (a) perceived subjective well-being, (b) actual subjective well-being, (c) civic engagement, and (d) institutional trust.

- 2. How does this QofL differ among social groupings including: (a) education levels, (b) age, (c) gender, (d) ethnic groups, (e) religious groups, (f) place of residence, and (g) employment status?
- 3. What are Ghanaians' overall perceptions of education levels, and how do these perceptions differ by the various social groupings?
- 4. Are there differences in quality of life by one's level of education? If so, what level of education provides these enhanced quality of life outcomes? That is, how do those with high levels of education corelate to those with less education in what they report?
- 5. Assuming educational attainment is associated with increased quality of life, how does this vary by one's gender? In other words, does gender moderate any observed relationship between education and quality of life among Ghanaians?

1.4 Research Design

Several analytic techniques were used to answer the above research questions, including dealing with missing data, descriptive statistics, bivariate correlation, bivariate chi-square test, and Ordinary Least Squared (OLS) regression and OLS interaction Effect Models. My first task in the data analysis was to explore the response patterns for each of the survey items that were used, being attentive to missing data. I then constructed scales for each of the main variables and reported reliabilities for each. I used univariate analysis to examine the single variables in the study, providing a basic summary of the description of my selected dependent and independent variables including means, median, modes, and standard deviations. I provide details of this

analytic process in Chapter 3 (data and methodology section). I also conducted a bivariate analysis to explore the relationships between the dependent and independent variables in my study. The bivariate relationships enabled me to investigate the link between educational attainment and quality of life outcomes. This data provides insight into the perceptions of educational attainment and quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement) in Ghana.

I also delved more deeply into relationships (causalities and likelihood) between education and quality of life, using OLS regression analysis. This data provides an understanding regarding whether men derive more quality of life benefits from education compared to their female counterparts, especially when controlling for age, gender, place of residence, employment status, religious affiliation, ethnicity, and education experience.

1.5 Significance of the Study

This dissertation research contributes to the academic discourse and discussion on the topic while contributing to public policy process impacting the quality of life of Ghanaians. The results obtained from the study also connect theory to practice. The study of subjective well-being and political engagement includes essential measures of quality of life alongside other social and economic indicators (Addai et al., 2014; Arthur, 2009; Baliamoune-Lutz & Lutz, 2004; Dassonneville et al., 2012; Durand, 2015; OECD, 2013). Research on quality of life is, therefore, very relevant in the assessment of the overall well-being of individuals, societies, and nations at large, especially in Ghana where there have been several social changes. Further, the benefits of education and its influence on quality of life have been well documented in the literature. However,

most of these studies are based on western societies, making it difficult to assess whether the same effect exists in sub-Saharan Africa. This study provides an opportunity to test existing theories on education and quality of life with African data.

Why Ghana? In recent years, the country has experienced tremendous growth in its democratic governance. It has a track record of organizing peaceful elections; eight successive and peaceful elections have been organized in the past years, and previous governments have alternated power peacefully between opposition and ruling political parties without war after the introduction of constitutional rule. According to the UN mandates on democratic governance, Ghana is a matured democracy, almost at par with western countries like the U.S., Canada, and Britain. Ghana is seen as the shining star of Africa and in some cases referred to as the "gateway to Africa" (Gyimah-Boadi, 2009). Overall, Ghanaians have been actively engaged in peaceful political and social activities geared towards national development. For instance, in a referendum held in December 2018, some Ghanaians went to the polls to decide on the creation of six new regions in some parts of the country. The outcome was a success.

The increasing presence of media and advocacy groups has also led to active citizenry participation in political engagement activities and the creation of strong civil societies in the country. Ghana has been acclaimed as a beacon of hope among countries in the sub-Saharan African region. It has recorded impressive growth in its economy, averaging between 4 and 6 percent per annum since 2000-2018 (World Bank, 2018). Based on these and many other related reasons, the reliance on Ghana as the only focus for this proposed study is justifiable and relevant to the discourse of democratic governance. Such growth has, in turn, improved quality of life among Ghanaians (Gyimah-Boadi, 2009; World Bank, 2018). Therefore, the question that needs further investigation is the possible link between educational attainment and the Quality of Life of

Ghanaians. The use of the 2017 dataset (Round 7) from the Afrobarometer to explore the relationship between educational attainment and quality of life in Ghana gives a much needed current outlook on issues among Ghanaians.

1.6 Organization of the Study

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 includes the introduction and background, objectives, rationale, and significance of the study. Chapter 2 is devoted to the discussion of the literature on quality of life outcomes (perceived subjective well-being, actual subjective well-being, civic engagement, and institutional trust) as well as the theoretical framework used in the study. Chapter 3 describes the research methodology, focusing on the data, measures, and methods used. The first section of this chapter examines the source of the dataset, the Afrobarometer Survey. The Afrobarometer Survey, cosponsored by Michigan State University, the Institute for Democracy in South Africa, and the Centre for Democratic Development in Ghana, has been conducted since 1999. The survey tracks political opinions, economic issues, cultural factors, and social and democratic attributes in African countries. In Chapter 4, I discuss the results and findings from the analysis of the data providing insight into some of the striking results. Finally, detailed discussion on these findings is presented in Chapter 5. In this chapter, I also examine the strengths and limitations of the study and its contribution to public policy.

2.0 Literature Review

In this chapter, I provide a review of the literature on the quality of life outcomes and the theoretical models employed in the study. I start the literature review on the topic of subjective well-being and political engagement and its link to education. Afterward, I turn to a review of the literature on gender dimensions of quality of life and a discussion of feminist theory. Finally, I discuss the theoretical models and the overall framework for the dissertation study.

2.1 The Concept of Quality of Life/Well-Being

In recent years, researchers have studied issues related to quality of life, also referred to here as well-being (Diener, 2000). This increased attention has resulted from studies that show that well-being predictors constitute different aspects of life, such as health, education, socioeconomic status, and many others. For this reason, the concept of well-being is an area that warrants study. While some scholars view well-being from macro measures that are more objective in nature, others argue that it is essential to view well-being in a subjective way (Eid & Larsen, 2008). The concept of subjective well-being can be examined in different ways. In this section, I explore the different definitions of well-being, examine its components and concepts, and, finally, focus my attention on the nature and framework of subjective well-being.
2.1.1 Definition of Well-Being and Why It is Subjective

In the new millennium, well-being is a subject of debate. Some scholars (Diener, 2000; Diener & Ryan, 2009; Kahneman et al., 1999) agree that well-being entails living a good life, which encompasses criteria of earning a good income, whereas others (Deaton, 2008) proclaim that it is important to examine the social, cultural, environmental, and many other areas that directly and indirectly impact the well-being of individuals. International organizations such as the World Health Organization (WHO), for example, define well-being to mean "an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns" (WHOQoL Group, 1994, p.28). In psychological research, well-being is also referred to as happiness and is defined as a combination of life satisfaction and the relative frequency of positive and negative effect (Argyle & Martin, 1991). Other literature explains well-being as a sense of feeling good, satisfaction with life, fulfillment, and positive functioning (Diener 2000; Frey & Stutzer, 2002; Ryff & Keyes, 1995).

The concept of well-being in the literature has often been presented in two ways- the hedonic (satisfaction) and the eudaimonic (fulfillment with life) (Sheldon, 2015; Sheldon & Lucas, 2014; Veenhoven, 2011). The hedonic aspect refers to the presence of positive feeling and the absence of negative feeling. It is an overall satisfaction with life. In contrast, the eudaimonic (fulfillment with life) is a measure of self-acceptance. It is associated with positive social relationships, personal growth, purpose in life, environmental mastery, and personal expression (Diener, 2000; Ryff, 1989; Vos et al., 2013). Also, other researchers have pointed out that the concept of well-being encompasses a host of factors that constitute quality of life indicators, such

as life satisfaction, general health, functional status, socioeconomic conditions, satisfaction of needs, one's experience of life, and self-rated health status (Campbell et al., 1976; Diener et al., 2009). A closer look at other studies also suggests that well-being can be understood as either "objective" or "subjective" (Campbell et al., 1976, p.8). Objective measures of well-being depend on the visible and countable/numerical units, while subjective measures constitute intangible and non-countable measures, such as social, cultural, and psychological measures (Campbell et al., 1976). Objective measures of well-being have been explored extensively by using macro measures such as the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and the Gross National Product (GNP) (Kubiszewski et al., 2013).

In many respects, it can be argued that the field of subjective well-being is an emerging field of study despite earlier studies. Several definitions of subjective well-being have emerged from the literature. Aristotle, for example, defined subjective well-being as a "means to an end" or "a series of means-ends chains" (Kelley & Evans, 2017). With this definition, Aristotle implied that every human action has an implicit motivational factor, and this action is often directed towards a desire to increase an individual's well-being (King & Hicks 2021). This definition clearly expounds on the eudaimonia life, a pursuit to fulfilling our human desires or life satisfaction. An alternate definition of subjective well-being emphasized in a myriad of studies explains subjective well-being as the extent to which individuals assess their overall sense of well-being as favorable. These assessments often use a Likert scale that rates SWB using criteria such as pleasant, unpleasant, good, satisfactory, or worst, among others (Blanchflower, 2008; Campbell et al., 1976; Diener et al., 2005; Diener & Suh, 1997; Veenhoven, 2011).

In addition to the above, other scholarship defines subjective well-being as "a person's cognitive and affective evaluations of his or her life" (Diener et al., 2003, p. 63). The affective

evaluation emphasizes the emotional aspects, or feelings, while the cognitive aspect emphasizes an individual's satisfaction with life as a whole. In scholarship in which quality of life is used synonymously with well-being, subjective well-being is conceptualized as an overall sense of wellbeing, including aspects of happiness and satisfaction with life as a whole (Campbell et al., 1976; Diener, 2000).

2.1.1.1 Why Is Well-Being Subjective?

Subjective well-being includes a broad range of concepts. The subjective aspect of wellbeing is rooted in the idea that it is a multi-dimensional concept; it is affected in a complex way by a person's physical health, psychological state, personal beliefs, social relationships, and relationship to salient features of their environment (WHOQoL Group, 1997). The concept also focuses on meaning in life, self-realization, and the extent to which a person fully integrates this into his or her life. This perspective - referred to as the hedonic - defines subjective well-being or happiness as being fundamentally about maximizing pleasure and avoiding or minimizing pain (Sirgy, 2012). Secondly, for some researchers, the definition and concept of subjective well-being is an individual-level concept (Campbell et al., 1976; Diener, 2000; Diener et al., 2005). The individual level concept assesses the well-being of individuals in terms of the tangible and the minute details of life, such as health, relationships, governance, and the environment. Well-being is considered subjective because it explores the minute details of life at the individual level and focuses more on how individuals feel about their lives (Diener, 2000). This perspective places focus on the meaning in life and self-realization, and the extent to which a person fully integrates this into his or her life.

Further research has shown varying levels of individual satisfaction across different age groups, personalities, societies, and cultures. What is satisfactory to one person may be unsatisfactory to another in a different context. Similarly, what may be satisfactory to an individual at one point of his/her life may be unsatisfactory in later years. To that extent, it can be argued that there is a life course perspective aspect to SWB. For example, individuals with abundance of material wealth may not be as satisfied as individuals with less material wealth (Ahuvia, 2008; Diener & Biswas-Diener, 2002). Satisfaction that variably explains the well-being of a person is, therefore, subject to the meaning that individuals make of their experience. Well-being has no universal definition from the literature, but it varies especially when embedded in one's cultural context and subjective experience (Veenhoven, 2011).

2.1.2 The Components of Subjective Well-Being

By far, studies on subjective well-being contend that the concept entails two major components: a) affective balance (positive affect and negative affect) and b) cognitive experience/life satisfaction.

The *affective* aspect is related to emotions, moods, and feelings. These emotions provide an understanding and assessment of daily experiences based on the frequency of changes in moods, feelings, or emotions. Emotions, which could either be momentary or long-term, are classified as either Positive Affect (PA) or Negative Affect (NA) (Diener, 2000; Diener et al., 2006). Positive Affect (PA) is a broad affective dimension characterized by feelings of enthusiasm, alertness, and activity, with high PA characteristic of "high energy, full concentration, and pleasurable engagement with one's environment" (Watson et al., 1988, p. 1063). Experiencing *positive affect* is associated with pleasant experiences such as joy, elation, affection, enthusiasm, alertness, and peace, among many others. In contrast, *negative affect* refers to unpleasant and distressing emotions and moods such as guilt, anger, frustration, nervousness, contempt, fear, and shame (Campbell et al., 1976; Diener et al., 2005; Diener et al. 2000; Watson et al., 1988). A constant experience of pleasant experiences, high energy, and full concentration has a high positive affect. When a person has a high positive affect, the individual is said to have had full concentration of pleasurable experiences, while high negative affect simply means a state of frequent exposure to sadness, distress, fear, and other unpleasant experiences.

The second component, the *cognitive experience*, is defined to imply the "stable" component in a person's life (Helliwell & Barrington-Leigh, 2010). It is also referred to as the judgmental component and is often conceptualized as life satisfaction (Andrews & Whitney, 1976). Life satisfaction refers to what one thinks about his or her life in global terms (life as a whole) and in domain terms (in specific areas of life such as work, relationships, and others) (Bulina, 2014; Santos et al., 2012). Life evaluations are the result of a cognitive process taking place, or being updated, at the time the questions are asked. It is informative and is based on a conscious evaluation and appraisal of a person's life as a whole. The cognitive component assesses life on a broader spectrum (Diener, et al., 2005). Campbell, Converse, and Rodgers (1976) explained that it is a broader reflection and "assessment of life on a continual basis" (p.8). The global dimension of subjective well-being, viewed from the life satisfaction perspective, is more accurate compared to the affect, which only focuses on momentary feelings and experiences.

To summarize, it can be argued that subjective well-being constitutes affect (positive affect and negative affect) and cognitive/life satisfaction, and these components are being adopted for this study. The affect component focuses on the emotional experience. It is based on the feeling of a person about his/her life- the feeling of pleasantness or unpleasantness. Life satisfaction, on the other hand, is more reflective of the broad and continuing circumstances of a person's life. It captures issues related to psychological, mental, social, and environmental well-being.

Based on the components of subjective well-being discussed in the literature, my study focuses on these two—the affective and cognitive/life satisfaction dimension of subjective wellbeing. The cognitive dimension, which is the judgmental component, would be labeled as the "perceived subjective well-being" in my dissertation study. From a global perspective, the "cognitive" dimension is seen as the more accurate measure because it deals with life realities. It represents what one thinks about his or her life satisfaction in global terms (life as a whole) and in domain terms (in specific areas of life such as work, relationships, and others) compared to others. On the other, hand, the "affective component," which I label "actual satisfaction of life," focuses on momentary feelings and experiences. It focuses more on how individuals feel about themselves as well as their environment. Perceived subjective well-being does not capture the realities of life but focuses on expectations, feelings, and sense of belonging.

Using the Afrobarometer survey to create my dependent variables, "actual" and "perceived" subjective well-being, the study examines measures such as access to food, water, medical care, and other necessities. On actual subjective well-being, for example, the question on the survey is: "Over the past year, how often, if ever, have you or anyone in your family gone without the following:" (a) food (b) water (c) medical care (d) cash income. Because the answers to these questions involve past events, there is no denying that the responses to these questions would be reflective measures of the past realities and experiences. On the other hand, the questions on the perceived subjective well-being measure focused on the individuals' feelings, expectations, and sense of being of their current state. For example, on the Afrobarometer survey, a question

was: "In general, how would you describe your own present living conditions"? Details of the creation of my dependent variables subjective well-being are discussed in Chapter 3. In the next section, I discuss and analyze the link between education and subjective well-being.

2.2 The Link Between Education and Subjective Well-Being

Although education and well-being are hypothesized to be related in some ways, the relation between education and subjective well-being is one area that has not been researched extensively, especially in developing countries (Mirowsky & Ross, 2007). In developing countries, though several institutions and establishments continue to promote the agenda of meeting the Millennium Development Goal (MDG) of increasing access to education and eliminating gender inequality in developing countries (UNDP, 2010), there is little research on how education affects the quality of life of citizens in these countries. In sub-Saharan Africa, for example, inequities in girls' education, especially at the secondary and post-secondary stages, persist (Amua-Sekyi, 1998; Takyi & Addai, 2002; Tanye, 2008). Parents often prefer educating males (sons) to females (daughters) due to the positive returns on investment for educating males over females (Attanasio & Kaufmann, 2017). The irony, however, is that in developing countries, women's education has been found to have a positive effect on socioeconomic development (World Bank, 1997). In addition, social theorists and educators consistently show that education promotes economic development, improves the health and livelihood of people, and improves social mobility of citizens (Coleman, 1988; Putnam, 1993), among many other positive outcomes.

Educational attainment has been found to correlate with improved health, social status, occupational status, income, personal household income, and connections that breach generations or generational gap (Mirowsky & Ross, 2007, 2009). It provides individuals with personal control to make choices in life, to live a healthy lifestyle, and to experience enhanced agency (Ross & Mirowsky, 2007). Educated people in general develop the habit and knowledge of the relevance of living a good and healthy life (Behrman & Stacey, 1997; Stacey, 1998; Vila, 2000). Because of the tremendous benefits, one can therefore assume that with education, individuals are bound to feel good and enjoy life (Cunado et al., 2012; Edgerton et al., 2011). As Easterlin (1974) explains, "Economic growth does not bring happiness to a society but rather acquiring education, especially higher education would increase individuals' income and personal earnings" (p. 1381). In addition, the screening theories of education emphasize that "individuals with more schooling tend to earn more not because (or at least, not solely because) schooling makes them more productive, but rather because it credentialed them as more productive" (Hungerford & Solon, 1987, p.175). Schyns (2000) also found that "income explains 2-5% of the variance in subjective well-being when studies are conducted in developed countries" (cited in Ahuvia, 2007, p. 495). These findings suggest that the benefits of education on subjective well-being may be influenced by other indirect measures, including cultural, social, and psychological factors (van Praag, Frijters, & Ferreri-Carbonell & Ramos, 2014).

The literature on subjective well-being notes that several variables, such as religious activities, social trust, physical exercise, health, and marital status (Addai et al., 2014; Botha & Booysen & 2014; Steptoe et al., 2015; Sulemana, 2015) influence well-being. Social capital and environmental measures have also been used as indicators of subjective well-being (MacKerron, 2012). The benefits of education provide, if not all, at least some of these values. In a study

conducted by Peiró (2006) on happiness, satisfaction, and socioeconomic conditions, for example, the findings showed no significant correlation between education and subjective well-being. Rather, education has indirect benefits that influence well-being, and income is one of the major sources. Studies have also shown that education contributes to social status, which improves subjective well-being (Mirowsky & Ross, 2007).

2.2.1 The Case of Ghana and Sub-Saharan Africa

The literature on education and subjective well-being expounds on two major points: The first is that education increases satisfaction with life because of its numerous benefits, whereas others argue that education decreases life satisfaction after a particular threshold or educational level (Botha & Booysen, 2014).

In Sub-Saharan Africa, some researchers have attempted to study subjective well-being, but these studies are few and far between. In South Africa, for example, Botha and Booysen (2014), in their research on life satisfaction and education, found that there is a "strong positive association between educational attainment and individual satisfaction with life" (p.555). Using data from the 2008 National Income Dynamics Survey, Botha and Booysen (2014) explored the relationship between life satisfaction and education in South Africa. This research explored whether education and life satisfaction are related for men and women and for different racial groups. Their findings show "a strong positive association between educational attainment and individual satisfaction and for different racial groups. Their findings show "a strong positive association between educational attainment and individual satisfaction with life, which is true in the overall sample and for men and women" (p.555). Botha & Booysen (2014) concluded that "education is a positional good, in that the people who have attained more

than the mean level of education in their relevant cluster are significantly more satisfied with life compared to those possessing less than mean education" (p.555).

In Ghana, Pokimica et al. (2012) used data from the 2008 Afrobarometer survey to examine the relationship between religion and subjective well-being in Ghana as well as religious group differences in their experiences with SWB by using non-parametric test procedures (Kruskal-Wallis H test, followed by post hoc tests). Religious affiliation and religious importance were used as the measures of religion; for subjective well-being, two measures were also used- absolute SWB (perceived living conditions) and relative SWB s (perceived living conditions compared to those of other Ghanaians). The outcome of the study showed a significant relationship between religious affiliation and the measures of subjective well-being in the study. Addai and Pokimica (2010) also explored whether ethnicity influences economic well-being (perceived and actual) in Ghana using the 2008 dataset from the Afrobarometer survey. The authors employed logistic and multiple regressions for their study. Findings from the study showed that ethnicity has both negative and positive effects on economic well-being among the different ethnic groups and the different sub-samples.

2.3 Subjective Well-Being Measurements

Current research suggests that subjective well-being (SWB) is an important indicator of quality of life (Eid & Diener, 2004). Further, the literature provides several theoretical explanations for why subjective well-being is associated with quality of life as well as its measurement. Three conceptual approaches particularly appropriate for my study are the domain

of life satisfaction, bottom-up concepts (Diener, 2009), and the positive affect and negative affect Schedule (PANAS).

Researchers measure these components separately and independently (Andrews & Whitney, 1976; Lucas & Dyrenforth, 2008). Diener et al. (1985) argued that the various components of SWB represent distinct constructs that need to be understood separately, even though they are closely related. These components can be studied through self-reported measures that allow respondents to report their sense of well-being- attitude, beliefs, behavior, intentions, health, and others. These measures could be in the form of scales and indices.

2.3.1 Domain of Life Satisfaction

The domain of life satisfaction, first, reflects how a person perceives the attribute and, second, the standard against which she or he judges that attribute (Diener, 2009; Diener et al., 2005). Individuals' well-being is viewed as their standards of satisfaction compared to objective, or perceived, attributes. The standards of satisfaction include aspirations, or expectations set by individuals, and the perceived attribute refers to the expected standards and/or goals that individuals set for themselves (Campbell et al., 1976, p.12).

Veenhoven (2014) explains that the domain of life satisfaction as an enduring appreciation of a particular life aspect. Domain of life satisfaction measures specific facets of life, for example, health, education, employment, family life, social activities, economic, and spiritual life. The literature indicates that the domain of life satisfaction has several partitions, which has resulted in debates regarding the number of domains to examine. Cummings (1996) argues that the domain of life satisfaction has seven divisions (material well-being, health, productivity, intimacy, safety, community, and emotional well-being). Other scholars (Bardo, 2017; Rojas & Watkins-Fassler, 2022; Rojas, 2007) call for a 10-part partition of life domains (family life, working activity, social activity, recreation, personal health, consumption, ownership of durable commodities and properties, self, spiritual life, and country's situation). Flagnan (1978), on the other hand, proposes 13 partitions of domains of life satisfaction: economic, physical, and health well-being; having and raising children; relations with spouse, with relatives, and with friends; community and social activities; political activities; passive and active recreational activities; personal development activities; and work.

The nature of the domain of life satisfaction assumes that "a person's evaluation of a particular domain characteristic or attribute depends upon his perception of that attribute in relation to internal standards against which he measures that perception" (Campbell et al., 1976; p. 14). According to this model, "subjective well-being is psychological" (p.13), and "individuals' responses regarding their subjective well-being are largely based on the environment in which they find themselves" (p.12). The life domains that have been studied include marital satisfaction, job satisfaction, and standard of living. A domain satisfaction reflects the extent to which objective conditions in a particular area of life match people's respective needs or aspirations. It therefore reflects the extent to which objective conditions in a particular area of life match people's respective needs or aspirations (Diener & Suh, 1997; Easterlin, 2006). Headey et al., (1991), for example, employed seven domains (satisfaction with health, financial situation, social relationships, one's self-worth, leisure-time, family, and work) to determine the life satisfaction of workers in Chile, controlling for age and gender. The results showed that satisfaction with one's financial situation was the dominant predictor of overall life satisfaction of workers (Loewe et al., 2014).

The domain of life satisfaction first reflects how a person perceives the attribute, and second, the standard against which she or he judges that attribute (Diener et al., 2005). In simpler terms, a person's well-being is viewed as his/her standards of satisfaction compared to objective or perceived attributes. The standards of satisfaction factors are the aspirations, or expectations set by individuals, and the perceived attributes, or standards and goals an individual set for him or herself (Campbell et al.,1976 p.12). The domain of life satisfaction therefore highlights more the perceived subjective well-being measures, which is an affective dimension of subjective well-being.

2.3.2 Bottom-Up Approach

Unlike the domain of life satisfaction that views subjective well-being in partitions, the bottom-up approach views subjective well-being or happiness as an accumulation of happy experiences. The bottom-up model emphasizes the fact that happiness can be achieved when basic human needs have been satisfied. In addition, a person's well-being is influenced by external factors, including situational and demographic factors (Diener, 1984; Durayappah, 2010). These factors include age, gender, health, and marital status. Researchers of subjective well-being often reference this model and "have believed that SWB results from a linear additive combination of domain satisfactions such as marriage, work, and health (Andrews &Whitney 1976; Argyle & Martin, 1991; Campbell et al., 1976; Headey et al., 1985).

The bottom-up model views subjective well-being as additive rather than incremental. In this model, rather than examining life domains from the broad (macro) perspective, the more granular and minute details that constitute the elements of a person's well-being are examined. These details, or attributes, are then combined to give a broader picture of a person's well-being. The broader picture formed is fundamentally based on the individual's assessment of his/her wellbeing. This means that pleasant situations in each domain of life are likely to indicate high levels of general well-being. Moreover, more experiences that are unpleasant lead to lower levels of well-being in general.

This model involves, first, understanding the different life domains from a granular level, starting with the lowest level of the hierarchy (in these cases, life domains) to the highest issue in life. The details of the domain of life satisfaction are specified, assessed, and, finally, linked together to give an appraisal or an overall picture of life. This model shows the relevance of the environmental experience and its effect on subjective well-being. For example, the theory was used to investigate the effect of changes in living conditions on well-being using the German Socio-Economic Panel. A sample size of 3,658 participants from 2,162 households was studied using the German Socio-Economic Panel. Life satisfaction and housing satisfaction after moving were examined. The findings showed: (a) a strong and persistent increase in average levels of housing satisfaction, (b) no increase in average life-satisfaction, (c) low stability in individuals' level of housing satisfaction, and (d) high stability in individuals' level of life-satisfaction. The results were evaluated with both the top-down and bottom-up models. When it came to the bottom-up approach, the emphasis was that "some individuals who moved actually increased in life-satisfaction" (Nakazato et al., 2011 p. 115).

2.3.3 Positive Affect and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS)

The Positive Affect and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) is a self-reported measure that captures issues of life satisfaction in the form of scales and indices (Lucas et al., 2003; Thompson, 2020; Watson & Levin-Aspenson, 2018; Watson et al., 1988). The scale, one of the most widely used, is divided into two equal parts. The first half measures *positive affect*, and the other half measures *negative affect*. PANAS measures the extent to which the affect has been experienced within a specified period. While the Afrobarometer study does not contain the same items, I use the PANAS as a model for constructing the measures for my study.

Another measure of subjective well-being that informs my research, even though none of its specific items are included in the Afrobarometer survey, is the Satisfaction with Life Scales (SWLS). This global measure of life satisfaction was developed by Diener, Emmons, Larsen, and Griffin in 1985 (Pavot & Diener, 2008). The scale is primarily used as a self-report instrument (Pavot, et al., 1991) but can be used to measure life satisfaction "as a cognitive judgmental evaluation of one's life as a whole" (Larsen et al., 1985, p.4). Similar to PANAS, the Afrobarometer survey is a self-rated instrument, and measures on the survey can be conceptualized into the creation of a scale/index. Using construction of the PANAS and SWLS as models, I develop four quality of life indexes from the Afrobarometer survey. I discuss the nature of the Afrobarometer survey in Chapter 3.

2.4 Literature Review on Political Engagement

In this section I provide a literature review and discussion of political engagement, emphasizing civic engagement and institutional trust, the quality of life outcomes examined in this research study. Political engagement involves issues that society cares about. It consists of several activities through which people express their opinions about issues around the world and how it is governed in order to influence decisions that affect people's lives (Barett & Pachi, 2019). These interactions are mutually beneficial, intended to benefit society and the individual or group. Interactions can be verbal, for example, in the form of communication, or non-verbal, such as body movements and orientations. Political engagement does not only affect the individual but engenders the environment, and the stability and progress of society as a whole (Boeckmann & Tyler, 2002). In modern times, scholars have started focusing on political engagement as a measure of quality of life (Addai et al., 2014; Gyimah-Boadi, 2009).

In this section, I examine the relationship between education and political engagement by focusing on *civic engagement* and *institutional trust* as my two main measures of political engagement. I start with a discussion of the meaning and concept of political engagement. Next, I turn to the literature on the different types of political engagement and its links to education. Finally, I focus my discussion on these two dimensions of political engagement: civic engagement and institutional trust.

2.4.1 Political Engagement Concept

Political engagement is a measure of education outcome that involves issues that society cares about. In the literature, it is used synonymously with the term political participation. Political science scholars have defined political engagement in several ways. Verba et al. (1995), for example, defined political participation as "an activity that has the intent or effect of influencing government action-either directly by affecting the making or implementation of public policy or indirectly by influencing the selection of people who make those policies" (p. 38). These actions include activities such as voting, demonstrating, contacting public officials, attending party rallies, volunteering, public opinion, and mass communications, among many others. In short, political engagement, which is an example of a political behavior, is targeted at influencing a person, authority, government, institutions, political views, ideology, and participation. Elsewhere in the literature, researchers explain that political engagement constitutes series of activities and ways that people express their opinions about issues on governance in order to participate and influence the decisions and policies that affect their lives (Ekman & Amnå, 2012; Perry, 1996). Other scholars also refer to political participation as "voluntary activities undertaken by the mass public to influence public policy, either directly or by affecting the selection of persons who make policies" (Uhlaner, 2016, p.1). Political engagement stems from concepts such as the right to freedom of speech and expression and to associate and participate in public affairs. From these definitions and concepts, it is obvious that the overall goal of political engagement is to influence policies for public good. In the next sections I discuss the essence of studying political engagement, the different forms of political engagement, and its link to education.

2.4.1.1 Why Study Political Engagement?

Several authors advocate that the study of political engagement is essential because it is a good quality of life indicator. As a quality of life indicator, political participation is a means of self-development, self-expression, and self-actualization, all of which can foster a higher sense of well-being (Pirralha, 2016; Teorell, 2006; Wallace & Pichler, 2009). People become politically engaged because of its numerous benefits; political activities including service, volunteering, and leadership are useful in developing leadership skills such as confidence, public speaking, persuasiveness, and proactiveness. In addition, research indicates that political participation has numerous psychological benefits; it builds a sense of efficacy, political knowledge, and empowerment (Weitz-Shapiro & Winters, 2011). Ordinary citizens believe that participation in political activities increases a person's chances of being heard by the appropriate institutions and leadership, which strengthens transparency and democratic values. Others advocate that increased political participation can have significant impact on government policies (Bueno de Mesquita et al. 2003; Meltzer & Richard, 1981) and social outcomes (Marota, 1971; Pacheco & Lange, 2010; Putnam, 2000). In the literature, the study of political engagement has also been advanced to include several activities such as contacting public officials (McAvoy, 2015), voting (Mayer, 2011; Sondheimer, 2010), campaigning, and participating in communal activities (Brundidge et al., 2013; Fahmy, 2006; Putnam, 2000).

Over time, political engagement has become relevant to addressing community and public concerns and promoting quality of life (Bueno de Mesquita et al. 2003; Meltzer & Richard; 1981; Weitz-Shapiro & Winters, 2008). It boosts public engagement, which, in turn, facilitates meaningful input into the decision-making process. Other groups of scholars have also suggested that studying political participation is essential to assessing the quality of democracy of a country

(Stiglitz, 2010; Waldo, 2007). In a democratic system in which the majority rules, political participation is an indispensable tool because "where few take part in decisions there is little democracy; the more participation there is in decisions, the more democracy there is" (Verba & Nie, 1987, p.1). Studying political participation is therefore essential to understanding the strength of a democratic institution. It is also useful in identifying good and bad governance.

An individual can be politically active or inactive through the process of political socialization often acquired through institutions and networks that impact individuals' actions directly or indirectly. Such institutions include families, ethnic groups, religious organizations, student organizations, government agencies, non-governmental agencies, and the media, among many others. Political participation is also influenced by a variety of factors including family background and early experiences in school. These agencies are "critical for both the development of resources for politics and for the future institutional commitment that permit the future enhancement of political resources" (Verba et al., 1995, p. 272). Through this socialization process, political values, beliefs, and attitudes are established.

2.4.2 Forms of Political Engagement

Several forms of political engagement have been identified in the literature. Clark et al. (2009), for example, suggested that political engagement can be classified under the following models: cognitive engagement (information interest), civic voluntarism (resources mobilization), equity fairness (relative deprivation), general incentives (costs-benefits- norms), and social capital (networks). Others classify political participation into two types – conventional forms of political participation, which include voting, writing letters or emails to public officials, attending political

meetings, signing petitions, and donating money to campaigns and political groups; and unconventional forms of political participation, such as protesting, demonstration, boycotting, rioting, and many others (Agerberg, 2018; Irvin & Stansbury, 2004; Jarvis, 2002; Kam & Palmer, 2008; Kuenzi, 2006; Kwon, 2016; Persson, 2014; Shafiq, 2010).

Based on the literature, the available information in the dataset (Afrobarometer) for my study, and the context of my research, I focus on two forms of political engagement: a) political communication and b) affiliation and membership in political organizations.

2.4.2.1 Political Communication

The first form of political engagement, *political communication*, is concerned with how information spreads and influences people in society. This form of engagement can be accomplished through community activities and the media. Others view political communication as a strategic way of relaying messages to influence a political environment, address a problem, or influence policy (Bennett & Lyengar, 2008; Kohler & Watson, 2001). It involves activities such as political discussions, political expressions (freedom of political expressions), and the freedom to say what a person thinks. It also includes acts such as public discussion (e.g., political speeches, news media coverage, and ordinary citizens' talk) that considers who has authority to sanction and the allocation of public resources to make decisions. Political communication involves the use of traditional means of generating and relaying information to citizens via newspapers, radio, and television. In modern times, however, print and media (including the internet) is being used extensively as a means of political communication (Dahlgren, 2015; Kostadinova, 2019). Print as a form of political communication includes activities such as reading newspapers, blogs, and

similar media forms. Media participation also includes events such as watching television and listening to the radio.

In the context of Ghana, political communication via different media has also increased. In the past, the most common form of political communication was through newspapers and radio. However, due to the rise in media and improved access to electricity in the country, political communication has taken other forms such as several television network stations, the internet, and cell phone communication. The medium through which political communication transmits can influence the political atmosphere, culture, and political participation of citizens.

2.4.2.2 Affiliation and Membership to Political Organizations

The second form of political engagement that I examine is affiliation with and membership in political organization. The literature identifies political organizations as systemic mediators between the society and the political process (Green & Coffey, 2011; Gyimah-Boadi, 2009). These organizations often engage in political activities such as lobbying, community organizing, and organizing political rallies, among others. They act with specific political goals and interests aimed at influencing public policy. Various political organizations that individuals can become affiliated with include political parties, religious organizations, non-governmental organizations, advocacy groups, and special interest groups.

Based on the literature on political engagement, statistical reasoning, and available information in the Afrobarometer (the dataset for this study), measures that are used to capture political engagement in this dissertation study were carefully selected to measure our understanding of political engagement. Details of these measures are discussed in Chapter 3.

2.4.3 The Links Between Education and Political Engagement

Political engagement involves participating in activities such as discussion of political issues, attending political campaign meetings, and writing letters to public officials. Why might education affect political engagement? At the individual level, it has been argued that education enhances cognitive ability and improves skills for handling information. It influences participation in many ways because it provides individuals and communities with the knowledge of political systems and how they work. Rosenstone and Hansen (1993) argue that education:

imparts the knowledge and skills most essential to a citizen's task. Because of their schooling, the well-educated have the skills people need to understand the abstract subject of politics, to follow the political campaign, and to research and evaluate the issues and candidates (p. 136).

Education prepares individuals to deal with complex aspects of political participation. In addition, educated people can follow and understand events in the news and other media sources and are more likely to form opinions about political issues and engage in discussions (Hillygus, 2005; Le & Nguyen, 2021). Education has also been found to be an important factor in enhancing political interests and civic skills (Persson, 2012; Verba et al., 1995), voting behavior and other political activity (Dee, 2004; Niemi & Junn, 2005; Sonheimer & Green, 2010; Wolfinger & Rosenstone, 1980). It can shape political outcomes indirectly through development of knowledge, skills, and social capital (Emler& Frazer, 1999).

To support the argument on the positive values of education and its link to political engagement, several findings from political science research indicate that years of education is

positively correlated with outcomes such as political knowledge and participation. Condon (2015), for example, used data from the National Educational Longitudinal Study to explore the relationship between verbal skills acquired in school during adolescence and participation later in life. The results from this study showed that "when young people learn to use their voices in school, they are more likely to speak up as participatory adults" (p. 819). On the other hand, Kam and Palmer (2008) used a propensity score matching approach to determine the causal link between education and political participation, taking pre-adult experience into consideration. They found that attaining "higher education is not the cause of political participation but is a proxy for pre-adult experience and influence" (p. 612). This means that attaining higher education is not the main factor in influencing political participation but, rather, is preparation for pre-adult experience and influence status is one of the strongest predictors of political participation (Emler & Frazer, 1999; Hillygus, 1995; Peiró, 2006). "Other factors that influence political participation include family background and early experiences in school" (Verba et al., 1995; p. 272).

Research on political participation in the developing world has found that in economically less-developed countries, one frequently finds that loyalties to local groups outweigh those to governmental institutions. In these circumstances, much political participation may consist of informal involvement in the local arena or in traditional institutions (Dietz, 1998). The story in sub-Saharan Africa is very similar but differs in some countries because factors such as ethnicity and religion play key roles in political participation. Kuenzi (2006), for example, conducted a study to understand the effects of formal and non-formal education (NFE) on political participation and democracy, analyzing data from surveys of 1,484 rural Senegalese citizens. Non-formal education in this research is operationalized as "having participated in one of the four NFE programs intended to impart basic literacy and numeracy skills to participants," whereas formal education is operationalized as "the years spent in learning institutions officially sponsored or recognized by the state" (p.8). Findings from the study showed that both non-formal and formal education have:

similar effects on several political behaviors but non-formal education appears to be stronger. NFE increases the likelihood that one will vote and contact officials regarding community and personal problems. In addition, NFE has a strong, positive impact on community participation (p. 2).

When we turn to Ghana, a couple of empirical studies have examined the relationship on a number of political measures and social groupings such as religion and voting patterns (Takyi et al., 2010), ethnicity, and voting patterns (Arthur, 2009; Nathan, 2016). Opoku-Agyeman (2013) explored the factors contributing to civic engagement in Ghana. Using the 2002-2008 dataset from the Afrobarometer, the study employed the use of multivariate analysis (OLS and ANOVA). Findings from his study showed that the essential predictors of civic engagement include gender, place of residence, satisfaction with democracy, social capital, denominational affiliation, ethnicity, and education.

In the second part of my dissertation study, I examine the link between education and political engagement (my QofL indicator) in Ghana. I define political engagement as (a) civic engagement and (b) institutional trust. These measures were selected based on the information available in the dataset. I discuss the link between these selected measures (civic engagement and institutional trust) to education in the next section.

2.4.3.1 Education and Civic Engagement

Civic engagement activities include the discussion of political matters, freedom of speech, freedom of association, affiliation with civic organizations, and satisfaction with democracy, among many others. These activities influence individual and community actions and beliefs, thereby impacting issues such as education, good governance, health, and the environment. Civic engagement activities are paramount to a country's democratic development. As Huntington puts it, civic engagement activities are designed to influence government decision-making (Huntington & Nelson, 1977).

The key indicators in a democratic society are reflected in elements such as freedom of speech, freedom of association, and voter choice (Box et al., 2001; Cohen, 1989; De Cuzzani, 2014; King & Stoker, 1996; Mungiu-Pippidi, 2015). Societies with strong democratic values enjoy peace and stability, which contributes to their development (Cohen, 1989; Collier, 2007; Dahl, 1998; Przeworski et. al, 2003). Advocates of democratic values believe that democracy empowers citizens of any country or institution to choose their own leaders and gives voice to the people. Abraham Lincoln (U.S. president from 1809-1865) defined democracy as a government of the people, by the people, and for the people (Epstein, 2011). In another definition, Aristotle captured democracy as the rule of the majority. Others simply view democracy as the rule of law (Dryzek, 1990). Increased civic participation can have significant impact on government policies (Bueno de Mesquita et al. 2003; Meltzer & Richard, 1983) and social outcomes (Barber, 2003; Michels & De Graaf, 2010). It is also very useful in understanding the challenges and problems societies face, integrating all kinds of people into society, and identifying the key leaders in a society (Coleman, 1988; McCoy & Scully, 2002). High levels of civic participation increase the chances of being

heard on relevant issues in society. In one way or the other, this confers a degree of legitimacy on democratic institutions (Egerton, 2002; Hillygus, 2005).

Political science research shows that there is a positive relationship between education and civic engagement. For example, it has been found that education enhances the quality of democracy (Milligan et al., 2004). In Poland, Gryniuk (2018) used data (2008-2013) obtained from the Polish Panel Survey (POLPAN) to determine the relationship between education and democracy. Gryniuk (2018) examined how attitudinal, cognitive, and structural mechanisms mediate education and democracy. Findings from the study indicated that education is key to democracy. Higher levels of education were found to be associated "with lower authoritarian attitudes which in turn correlate with stronger pro-democratic values" (p.3). The finding also shows that "individuals with higher levels of education are more likely to belong to privileged social classes and are more pro-democratic" (p.3). Again, the study concludes that "higher educational attainment is associated with higher cognitive abilities, which, in turn, correlates with stronger support for democracy" (p. 3). Other studies also suggest that countries that are governed by democratic values tend to be happier (Di Tella & MacCulloch, 2006; Frey & Stutzer, 2000a; Radcliff, 2001; Tavitis, 2008).

In another survey that explored American public opinion on direct democracy in the United States, Collingwood (2012) found that "when exposed to ballot initiative questions, voters without a college degree are less supportive of direct democracy compared to college graduates" (p. 571). The findings are similar when we turn to Muslim countries. Shafiq (2010), for example, used data from the Pew Global Attitudes survey to determine the effect of educational attainment and income on support for democracy in Jordan, Lebanon, and Pakistan. Results from the study showed that "support for democracy is a social benefit of education and higher education encourages support for democracy in Jordan, Lebanon, and Pakistan" (p. 461). Income was also found to be an important determinant of democracy in Lebanon and Turkey.

These findings from research in western nations and Muslim countries are consistent with findings from countries in Africa. In countries like Ghana and Malawi, where literacy levels are moderately high, the Afrobarometer reports that citizens in these countries indicate that they enjoy complete freedom of expression (Penar et al., 2016, p.7). The elites in Africa, however, are of the view that in countries where the majority of the people have lower levels of education, democracy "endows illiterate citizens with political rights that may be exercised unreflectively or irresponsibly" (Bratton & Mattes, 2001, p.117). This finding contradicts the research in developed countries:

Overall, the literature discussed so far indicates that there is a relationship between education and democracy. Perhaps these findings on education and civic engagement are in line with Friedman's (1962) argument that: A stable and democratic society is impossible without a minimum degree of literacy and knowledge on the part of most citizens without widespread acceptance of some common set of values. Education can contribute to both. In consequence, the gain from education of a child accrues not only to the child or to his parents but also to other members of the society (p. 9).

2.4.3.2 Education and Institutional Trust

According to Rotter's (1971) social learning theory, trust may be defined as a generalized expectancy that the words, promises, or statements of others can be relied on. Trust is a core component of social capital (Fukuyama, 1995, 2000). It can be viewed from two dimensions:

institutional trust and interpersonal trust. This study focuses on the first dimension of trust, institutional trust as a component of political engagement.

Institutional trust is multidimensional (Rothstein & Stolle, 2008, p.193-195) and captures social confidence in various institutions, such as the government, the justice system, the health system, the education system, and the media. Institutional trust focuses on actors and institutions such as politicians, officials, and organizations (Paxton, 1999). A significant element of institutional trust is its key role in shaping the views and perceptions of citizens as well as their response to corruption (Catterberg, 2006; Gorta & Forell, 1995; Lavena, 2013; Morris & Klesner, 2010).

Why study the link between education and institutional trust? Education is one of the strongest predictors of trust (Frederiksen et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2011). Studies show that educated citizens are more likely to report negative institutional acts such as bribery and corruption (Lavena, 2013; Truex, 2011; Uslaner & Rothstein, 2016). Borgonovi (2012), for example, examined the relationship between education and levels of trust and tolerance by examining data from the first three rounds of the European Social Survey. Findings from the study showed that "education and levels of trust and tolerance varies significantly across countries and that a major source of this variation lies in the way in which individuals react to the level of diversity in the country where they live" (p.3).

When we turn to developing countries, research findings show that "improving access to education increases trust and reduces the presence of corruption norms" (Truex, p. 1133). Contrary to this view, Hakhveridan and Mayne (2012) argued that in corrupt countries, the educated are less likely to trust in political institutions. In their research, they examined how the effect of education on institutional trust varies cross-nationally. Findings from the study showed a negative association

between trust in institutions, especially in corrupt societies, whereas a positive association was found in uncorrupt societies. In addition, they found that that "corrosive effect of corruption on institutional trust worsens as education improves" (p.2). The study found that educated persons in corrupt countries tend to have less faith in institutions (Hakhverdian & Mayne, 2012).

2.5 Gender Dimensions of Quality of Life

The literature on subjective well-being indicates that a series of variables, such as religious activities, social trust, physical exercise, health, and marital status (Botha & Booysen, 2014) influence well-being. The benefits of education provide some, if not all, of these values. Gender has also been found to be relevant to the development of subjective well-being (Anderson et al., 2012; Diener, 2009; Gerdtham & Johannesson, 1997).

Women have been found to be disadvantaged to their male counterparts when it comes to their subjective well-being (Butler, 2004; Frempong-Ainguah & Hill, 2018; Verbrugge, 1976). The story is the same in sub-Saharan Africa. In West Africa, Ghana Arku and Shute (2008) explored the well-being of men and women in a community in the Volta Region. The study attempted to understand the extent to which men and women's sense of well-being was determined using economic, religion, social, and educational indicators. The results from the study indicated that social and cultural factors played essential roles in determining well-being among Ghanaians. In addition, well-being varied significantly by gender when social and cultural factors were considered. "The top five indicators for women's well-being in the study were found to be petty trading, having a trustworthy pastor in the local churches, large family size, and regular church attendance, whereas that for men include playing cards, being a member of a church committee, drinking palm wine together, listening to radios and farming" (Arku & Shute, 2008; p.373). In another study, Takyi and Addai (2002) explored the relationship between religious affiliation and women's educational attainment in Ghana. The findings from the study indicated that "religion was a major role in deciding whether women obtained education or not. Childhood residence in an urban area, age and marriage were also variables that were found to be associated with schooling and higher levels of education" (p.177). Bawa and Sanyare (2013) also examined women's participation and representation in politics in Ghana and concluded that political participation among women, especially in Africa, is on the decline.

Other studies have been conducted to examine the relationship between subjective wellbeing and gender using different variables. Kroll (2011), for example, examined the role of social capital and subjective well-being by gender and parental status. The study found that informal socialization was positively and strongly associated with life satisfaction among women. The research emphasized the role of informal socialization with life satisfaction among women. Tesch-Romer et al., (2008) also examined the relationship between gender inequality and subjective wellbeing by exploring the gender differences in subjective well-being based on cultural and societal factors. They were interested in knowing whether men were happier than women. Their result indicated that, generally, "in all countries women reported significantly lower subjective wellbeing" (Tesch-Romer et al., 2008, p.339). Norway, however recorded the same outcome for both men and women on the scales of Psychological Health and Social Relationships. England also registered the same outcome on the Social Relationships scale (Tesch-Romer et al., 2008). Another measure that affects the well-being of women is culture (Shek, 2012; Veenhoven, 2011). Overall, from all the studies discussed above, the variables that have been found to predict gender differences in quality of life are measures related to cultural, social, educational, and economic factors. In all the studies discussed, women were found to be at a disadvantage in the different areas of their quality of life compared to their male counterparts (Palmore, 1999; Verbrugge, 1976). Based on this literature, I explore whether gender moderates the relationship between education and quality of life in Ghana by testing for the direct and relative effect theory from the lens of the feminist theory. Similar measures (which include cultural, demographic, and social variables) used in the studies are carefully selected from the dataset for this dissertation study to serve as control variables in observing any relationships. In the subsequent section, I discuss literature on the feminist theory and its relevance to my research.

2.5.1 Feminist Theory

Feminist theory is concerned with issues related to women's rights, privileges, interests, and gender equality (Arnot & Dillabough, 2000; Butler, 2000; Cooper et al., 2016). The theory is grounded on the notion that women are treated unequally compared to males; men have access, power, and control over more resources relative to women in society. In support of this argument, Butler (1999), for example, suggested that women have been discriminated in many ways. They have suffered and continue to suffer from injustice in society. Feminist theory, therefore, seeks to understand issues pertaining to gender inequality by raising awareness about the position of women, their gender, and sexuality in society (Acker, 1987; Allen, 1998; Evans 1995; Stromquist, 1990; Tong, 2017). Last, feminist theory aims at empowering women, achieving human rights for all, and, in addition, giving women a voice in society. By identifying the position and status of

women in society, the theory seeks to advocate and promote their interests. In addition, it advocates for the general well-being and progress of women in society (Arnot, 1982; Tong, 2017).

Historically, early feminist movements referred to as the women's movement, began in the early 1980s in the western world and gradually spread to other countries. Several movements have so far been experienced; three major waves of feminism have so far occurred —the first, second, and third wave of feminism. The *first wave* occurred around the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. It focused on overturning legal inequalities, particularly concerning women's right to vote and property rights (Moynagh & Forestell, 2012; Kotef, 2009). In contrast, the second wave (1960s-1990s) focused on the civil rights and growing self-consciousness of minority groups around the world. It extended its reach to include debates on cultural inequalities; gender norms, and women's role in society (Evans, 1995; Hewitt et al., 2010; Molony & Nelson, 2017). The second wave started as a movement in the West and gradually spread to other countries. Some scholars consider the voice of the second wave as radical. Last, the *third wave*, which occurred between the 1990s to the present day (Mann & Huffman, 2005; Snyder-Hall, 2010; Sowards & Renegar, 2004) is viewed by some scholars as a continuation of the second wave (Pedwell, 2006). It addresses failures in the second wave and broadens its spectrum towards the inclusion of women in societal affairs. It identifies and includes women of all ethnicities and advocates for the abolishment of gender roles and stereotyping (Snyder-Hall, 2010; Snyder, 2008; Sowards & Renegar, 2004). The third wave of feminism raises consciousness of people in society and instills the perspective of social injustice.

In general, all these waves of feminist evolution and movements did not lose its sight on the African continent. Unlike the Western countries, the African feminism and movements highlight issues of patriarchal dominance (Ann, 2015; Lewis, 2010; Makama et al., 2019), inequality in education (Heward & Bunwaree, 1999; Unterhalter & Aikman, 2007), female circumcision (Arnfred & Wieringa, 2005), and a host of issues. Explaining African feminism is complex; it is rooted in the social and cultural experiences of African women and based on the knowledge gained from formal and informal education. African feminism is not a clear-cut concept. It transcends issues of equal treatment of men and women and is firmly grounded in gender, cultural, social, economic, and political issues (Hogan, 2000; Mikell & Mikell, 1997).

Due to patriarchal dominance, women in Africa are generally not treated equally to their male counterparts. They have less access to and control over resources for their own benefits and use. These resources include access to education, health, housing, empowerment, and many others (Butler, 2000; Mikell & Mikell, 1997; Shabaya & Konadu-Agyeman, 2004). Most often males are the ones in control of the state of affairs and make all the significant decisions (Donovan, 2012). Therefore, feminist movements in Africa are influenced more by access to equal opportunities for economic, political, and social growth rather than influence from the West (Tripp, 2003; Lewis, 2010). In Africa, feminism surged across the continent around the twentieth century (Ferree & Hess, 1999; Lewis, 2010). The movement started from Sierra Leone, South Africa, and then Egypt. In Sierra Leone, the surge was led by Adelaide Casely-Hayford, a women's rights activist, a pioneer, and a contributor to pan-Africanism. In South Africa, Charlotte Maxeke founded the Bantu Women's League and Huda Sharaawi established the Egyptian Feminist Union in 1923 (Tripp et al., 2003).

Some scholars have speculated that in Africa, two types of feminism exist: intellectual feminism and popular feminism (Lewis, 2010; Makama, et al., 2019; Norwood, 2012). Popular feminism is based on the culture and lived experience of African women, whereas intellectual feminism is based on the experience of educated African women and borrows ideas and knowledge

from the Western world. Scholars in the field argue that intellectual feminism condemns African culture, as opposed to popular feminism, which is grounded in tradition, culture promotion, and the needs of many African women with little or no education at all. As the argument continues, intellectual feminists are of the view that popular feminism cannot groom women who can meet the current challenges on the African continent. Despite these arguments, both views have been used to advocate for female education and women's engagement in political activities.

Current voices such as Chimanda Ngozi Adichie from Nigeria have also employed the arts of storytelling and literature to draw attention to gender-based issues in sub-Saharan Africa (Ann, 2015). Others, such as Leymah Gbowee, act as peace activists in leading the women's non-violent movement in Liberia. In Ghana, for example, pioneers such as Abena Busia and Efua Theodora Sutherland popularized the ideal of feminism and women's empowerment through literature, poetry, and other arts-based media. In addition, the feminist movement in Ghana was advanced further in the twentieth century by the then first lady of the country, Nana Konadu Agyeman Rawlings (the first lady of Ghana from 31 December 1981 through7 January 2001). She started and led a movement called the 31st of December Women's Movement. This movement educated masses of Ghanaian women on financial literacy and doing business, among many other topics. It also explained policies of health and education to women, encouraged them to influence politics at all levels, and taught them to be part of the decision making process in their villages and communities (Bauer, 2018; Bawa & Sanyare, 2013). In adopting the liberal feminist approach, Ghana became the first country to introduce gender quota legislation to encourage females to participate in leadership and governance (Adams et al., 2016; Ako-Nai & Obamamoye, 2018; Bauer & Darkwah, 2020). Other legislation, such as affirmative action policy and free maternity

health care, was introduced in public institutions to champion women's education and their health during childbirth, respectively.

Based on all these global movements in feminism, three common disciplines of feminist theory have been identified to explain gender differences especially in Africa—Radical, Marxist/socialist, and liberal feminism. These theories provide supporting contextual evidence that buttress debates on issues of gender inequality in education and the well-being of African women in general.

2.5.1.1 Radical Theory

The first theory, radical theory, advocates that society is at war with women because of its established structure and foundation in patriarchal ideology (Stromquist, 1990). In patriarchal systems, the fathers (male figures) are the heads of the households and society at large. Whoever is the head dominates and controls the household and other extended family/kinship networks as well as economic activities. Radical feminists are of the view that men are central to decision making in the home and have the final say over every situation that transpires. This means that women are subject to the authority of men, and their contributions and suggestions on major decisions at home are not all that relevant.

Scholars of radical theory also assert that women are the oppressed group in society (Blackledge, 2018; Donavan, 2012). The "oppression" and "injustice" meted on women is often based on their gender and sex (Butler, 2006). This is seen in the form of subordination of women to their male counterparts. In addition, radical theory believes that the established structure in society puts men in control of affairs; they become major decision makers and control all activities in the household and the society at large. It is also seen in the excessive use of male power in

controlling and managing society and household affairs. This is also evident in the fact that the majority of top positions in society are occupied by males. Radical theory therefore believes that society establishes a system of power for men where they are located at the top of the hierarchy and appeals to women by their sex and gender (Lamb, 1999; Robinson, 2003).

In sum, radical theory asserts that society is generally ruled by men because they are central to decision making. As such, the dependence on men in the decision making for women gradually leads to women's oppression and unequal treatment. The theory advocates for "fundamental change" in societal structure (Acker, 1987; Tong, 2017). It seeks the complete change in the domination of men in society through "consciousness" and "cultural awakening." Radical feminists believe that the total liberation of women from every form of oppression will end the patriarchy or the rule of the fathers. In conclusion, radical feminism is all about power, access, and control. When women are able to discover their own values and strengths and establish a "sisterhood" in society, they will be able to confront the oppression of men (Acker, 1987; Butler, 2004; Hooks, 2000).

2.5.1.2 Marxist/Socialist Theory

Marxist/socialist theory is a branch of feminism that investigates the ways women are discriminated and marginalized through capitalism and private property. The theory revolves around the concepts of class, wealth, and capitalism and is influenced by the philosophies of Marx and Engels. Marx's theory focuses less on the material components of life. However, it emphasizes economic factors with analysis and connections between women's work and their self-image (Callinicos, 2004; Callinicos et al., 2020; Donovan, 2012; Wettlaufer, 2014).
According to Marxists, women have been "oppressed" over the years, and this oppression is determined by external forces such as economic, social, and psychological factors. These factors are a result of systemic structures (capitalist and private) in society. For example, the existence of gender defined roles in society, particularly for women, such as the role of the wife in the family and the care of of younger siblings and children. In addition, women sacrifice for their families in terms of capitalist or monetary value that cannot be accounted for. In these feminine roles, women's labors often go uncompensated (England, 2005; Sayer, 2005; Stromquist, 2002). Similar to radical feminists discussed earlier in this section, Marxists concur that the dominance of class (in these cases by men) can be overturned through radical means and the total liberation of women (Bandarage, 1984; Blackledge, 2018; Kotz, 2017). According to Marxists, this liberation is attainable through radical restructuring of the systems of class, wealth, and capitalism. Marxist feminists see women as a distinct economic class, rather than as individuals, and analyze the connections between women's work status and their self-image. The theory is relevant to economic growth.

Like radical feminists, Marxism advocates and fights to end the struggle and oppression of women. However, Marxism highlights differences between economic classes of men and women but fails to make room for issues unrelated to nature and function of work (the sex-gender system) (Donovan, 2012). The common feature of both Marxism and radical feminism is the focus on the perception that in the capitalist system there is a gradual stripping away of the spiritual qualities of life as a person is reduced to a working machine (Ferguson et al., 2004). In sum, Marxist theory emphasizes economic factors and argues that capitalism is the cause of women's oppression. In addition, this theory argues that women stand a better chance of competing when the economic strata of male dominance is carefully woven to include women in decision making on economic

matters. The theory bases its arguments of moral right and wrong in reference to the corruption of wage labor that is in itself an expression of class distinctions and emphasizes that our social nature, our social existence (class, the kind of work we do) determines our consciousness.

2.5.1.3 Liberal Feminism

Finally, *liberal feminism*, which takes much tolerable viewpoint compared to radical and Marxist/socialist theory, recognizes that women are treated unequally in society. The theory notes that females are often considered second to men because of the belief system that women have been viewed in society as less capable in all areas- intellectually and physically (Acker, 1987; Butler, 2004; Watkins, 2001). According to liberal feminists, because society has the false belief that women are by nature less intellectually and physically capable than men, women are excluded from many opportunities and their true potential goes unfulfilled. The perception establishes discrepancy in the treatment of women in all spheres of life.

Also, liberal feminists are of the view that the oppression of and discrimination against women can be fought via the establishment of laws and legislations. Liberalists are of the notion that equal rights and treatment of women can be established through legality and scholarly debates with the establishment of laws and systems that advocate for equal rights in the treatment of women. With these measures, the domination, oppression, and injustice meted out to women can be controlled. In the United States, for instance, the equal rights amendment law introduced in 1923 advocates for the equal rights for both men and women. Liberal feminists believe that changes in equal opportunities and educational policies, e.g., the National Curriculum, will end patriarchy and establish some form of equality between men and women. In order to address the issues of equal treatment, liberalists advocate for equal rights in the treatment of women (Hooks, 2000; Saulnier & Lister, 2001).

Liberalists are of the belief that individuals have the equal right to develop their rational and moral capacities (Kymlicka, 1991; Watkins, 2001). Another interesting part of this theory is an emphasis on making women more visible in established social structures. The actions of liberal feminists created and expanded the opportunity for the progress and advancement of women in the economic sphere, and in the civil rights movements (Kotef, 2009).

Liberalists advocate that both men and women are of the same rational human nature and should be given equal opportunities in society. Liberal feminists emphasize the traditional understanding of human nature and personhood: rationality, individual autonomy, and self-fulfillment. They believe in the exercise of freedom for self-development (Donovan, 2012; Watkins 2001). In sum, liberal feminists argue from the lens of gender and gender inequality in society; they do not view women from the gender perspective but rather are of the notion that all human beings possess a common nature. A major challenge of the theory is the tendency to accept men's values as general or universal values for both gender (males and females) (Farhall et al., 2015; Thompson, 2003).

2.5.2 The Relevance of Feminist Theory to the Study

The three theories of feminism are committed to the total liberation of women for their progress in society. However, several critiques have challenged the significance of feminist theory. Radical feminists, for example, have been criticized for their inability and unwillingness to work closely with their male counterparts. Despite this, feminist theory reflects society's strong gender

entrenchment-and-malleability and continues to expound on issues of gender inequality in education. For example, the emphasis and reflection of patriarchal nature (rule of men) and "oppression" (Arnot & Weiler, 1993; Donovan, 2012; Robinson, 2003; Stromquist, 1990) of women in society highlights the immense structural advantage that favors the success of males in society compared to their female counterparts.

Feminist theory not only raise issues of gender inequality and gender equity but advocates for the acceptance of the transformative role of women in a world that has been dominated by a "top-down" approach (Cohen, 1994; Tong, 2017) with men at the top of the hierarchy. An aspect of the theory also advocates that education continue to serve as a medium of patriarchal dominance through the promotion of its hidden curriculum agenda. The hidden curriculum promotes male dominance and the reinforcement of gender differences (Longino, 1994).

Overall, the underlying theme for the three feminist theories discussed is that women are more likely to be at a disadvantage compared to their male counterparts, especially in the context of Africa. While the three approaches are relevant in the context of Africa, modern-day democratic practices in African society tends to favor liberal feminism as the most preferred path to bridging the gender gaps. Due to these developments and many other related reasons, attention is devoted to liberal feminism to explain the gender differences in Ghana when it comes to the relationship between education and quality of life.

2.6 Theoretical Models of Education and Quality of Life Outcomes

Several theoretical models, such as the direct effect model and relative effect model (Emler & Frazer, 1999; Lake & Huckfeldt, 1998; Nie et al., 1996), civic engagement theory, social capital and social network theory (Hillygus, 2005; Lake & Huckfeldt, 1998), political meritocracy theory (Hillygus, 2005), social comparison theory (Nikolaev, 2016), feminist theory, and others have been used to explore the potential links between education and quality of life and civic engagement activities. This study draws on three of these models to examine the links between education and QofL in Ghana. Here, QofL is examined in two ways, as subjective well-being, and political engagement, with emphasis on gender differences. Subjective well-being is measured in two ways: (a) perceived subjective well-being and (b) actual subjective well-being. Political engagement is also measured in two ways: (c) civic engagement and (d) institutional trust. Thus, QofL in this study is measured in the following ways: (a) perceived subjective well-being, (b) actual subjective well-being, (c) civic engagement, and (d) institutional trust. The three theories that guide and inform my research are: (a) liberal feminist theory, (b) direct effect theory, and (c) relative effect theory. These three models are used to conceptualize my theoretical framework for this study. I discuss each of these theoretical models culminating to a proposed theoretical framework in subsequent pages.

2.6.1 Liberal Feminist Theory

While a specific feminist approach may work in the Western world, liberal feminist theory is also a good model to address gender differences in Ghana because of its deeply entrenched cultural factors coupled with the historical influence of traditions and gender stereotypes. These factors have influenced how women are viewed, leading to stereotypes and differences in gender roles in Ghanaian society. As discussed in earlier sections, liberal feminist theory emphasizes that females are often considered secondary to men because of societal beliefs. In fact, women have been viewed as less capable than men in all areas (Acker, 1987; Blackledge, 2018; Watkins, 2001). Liberalists are of the notion that equal rights and treatment of women can be established through legality and scholarly debates with the establishment of laws and systems that advocate for equal rights in the treatment of women (Acker, 1987; Butler, 2004). With these measures, the domination, oppression, and injustice meted out to women can be controlled. To address the issues of equal treatment, liberalists advocate for equal rights in the treatment of women (Hooks, 2000). Besides, liberal feminist theory has been applied in social science research to explore gender inequality related to issues in education, politics and governance, leadership, labor, and wages among many others.

In Ghana, the liberal feminist approach has been used in addressing issues of gender inequality in several sectors such as education, health, politics, and governance. To improve the quality of health care of women, for example, the government introduced free maternity care for all women in the public hospitals (Agbanyo, 2020; Nsiah-Boateng, 2015). The affirmative action law, for example, which was introduced in Ghana, tends to give access and admissions to more women at all the levels of education based on different criteria. When it comes to political representation, Ghana was the first sub-Saharan African country to introduce a gender quota for women (Bawa & Sanyare, 2013; Madsen, 2019). Because this study looks at quality of life in two parts (subjective well-being and political engagement), I provide some examples of studies on how

liberal feminist theory in general is used to examine these issues emphasizing gender differences in the context of Ghana.

With regards to political engagement, Sossou (2011), for example, used a phenomenology approach to explore Ghanaian women's perception and voices on issues of gender equality in terms of exercising their political and decision-making rights in connection with political participation and governance in two regions in Ghana, The Greater Accra Region, and The Volta Region. Data for the study was collected from 68 women from these areas. In addition to a demographic survey, which was used to collect socioeconomic data including education, religion, occupation, age and ethnicity of participants, a survey interview guide consisting of open-ended questions was also used. This guide asked participants questions related to the phenomenon of gender equality. Overall, the study found three major themes, that "Ghanaian women are relegated to the background; face cultural, education, and financial barriers; and occupy the lower positions in political parties" (p.4). Sulemana and Issifu (2015) also examined the factors that determine trust among Ghanaians and in public institutions. They used data from the 2012 Afrobarometer survey. "The authors apply these variables to the Ghanaian context to explore how they affect generalized trust, trust in relatives, neighbors, and other people the respondent knows, as well as trust in six public institutions (i.e., The President, Parliament, Electoral Commission, Police, Army, and the Courts of Law)" (p.1005). Findings from the study show that general trust among Ghanaians is generally low. In addition, "women are significantly less trusting of public institutions, although they do not trust people (e.g., relatives, neighbors, etc.) any less than men. Both people of the North and South are generally less trusting of public institutions compared to people of the Volta Regions. The authors also find that a large extent of political affiliation is significantly correlated with trust in public institutions" (p.1005).

When it comes to subjective well-being, Frempong-Ainguah et al. (2018), for example, used a multivariate stepwise linear regression model to "investigate the influence of sociodemographic, economic and health indicators on health-related quality of life measured by eight sub-scales of the Short Form-36 (SF-36)" (p.1). The authors also used interaction effects between some demographic and socioeconomic variables (p.1). The findings from the study show that "education, disease symptoms and age of the respondent were the most significant factors influencing good overall health status" (p.1). Besides, health issues are multifaceted, and they require sociocultural, health and economic policy interventions in Ghana.

Throughout all the examples given, we observe that women in Ghana continue to experience unequal benefits and treatment in various aspects of life. This unequal treatment is often influenced by social, cultural, economic, and demographic factors. In this vein, factors that are considered in the conceptual modelling and analysis in exploring gender differences when it comes to the relationship between education and quality of life among Ghanaians in this study are socioeconomic, cultural, and demographic variables. The variables that are used in the analysis in this study to reflect these factors include gender, age, ethnicity, religious affiliation, place of residence (rural or urban), employment status, and education experience.

2.6.2 Direct Effect of Education Models (or Absolute Effect Model)

The second model, the direct effect of education model, has been used to test the links between education and several issues such as political engagement (Emler & Frazer, 1999; Nie et al., 1996), social capital (Helliwell & Putnam, 2007), social engagement (Nie et al., 1996), and subjective well-being (Michalos, 2008). Emler and Frazer (1999) proposed the direct effect model to explore the link between education and political outcomes (see Figure 1). Here, the model hypothesizes that education equips the individual with skill sets (knowledge, skills, credentials, desired attitudes, and participation in networks and institutions) that, in turn, influence individuals' political attitudes, seen in participation, partisan choice, and political identity. The model also suggests that increasing the mean level or amount of education of a population translates directly into effects on political outcomes; thus, acquiring more education will result, for example, in more political expertise, more participation, or more tolerance. The direct effect model therefore focuses more on the impact of education on the individual.

Again, using both the direct effect and relative effect of education model (which are discussed in my second theory), Nie et al. (1996) argued for the case of education and political engagement. They hypothesized that education is a "sorting mechanism" used to distribute a fixed number of opportunities for gainful participation. In the case of the direct effect model, they hypothesized that education effects depend only on an individual's education and do not necessarily depend on the education levels of others around them. Findings from their study showed positive externalities for social trust, and negative ones for various types of social engagement. Helliwell and Putnam (2007) also used the direct effect model to test for the relationship between education and social capital by using pooled time-series and cross-sectional data from the U.S. General Social Survey (GSS) from 1972 through 1996, and from the DDB-Needham Lifestyle survey data from 1975 through 1997. They looked at the effects of owneducation and average education levels on measures of social trust and participation. Their findings showed that "increases in average education have no net effect on social engagement (i.e., the positive own-effects are offset by negative effects from the rising educational environment) and that social engagement increases with average levels of education" (p. 7). Other researchers have

investigated the effects of own-education on political and social engagement (see, for example, Dee, 2004; Milligan et al., 2004).

Ross and Van Willigen (1997) examined the link between education and subjective quality of life by testing the direct effect model. They hypothesized that education positively influences subjective quality of life. They suggested that education gives people access to preferred paid work and economic resources that increase the sense of personal control. It also gives people access to stable social relationships, especially marriage, that increase social support. Findings from their study showed that the well-educated have lower levels of emotional distress (including depression, anxiety, and anger) and physical distress (including aches, pains, and malaise) but do not have lower levels of dissatisfaction. They concluded that "education reduces distress largely by way of paid work, non-alienated work, and economic resources, which are associated with high personal control; but the extent to which it reduces distress by way of marriage and social support is much more modest" (p. 275). Other authors have also tested the direct and relative effect (indirect effect) on quality of life measures (Bradburn & Caplovitz, 1965; Diener et al., 2005; Westerberg, 2011).

I adopt a similar approach, particularly influenced by the model used by Emler and Frazer (1999), to test the direct effect model on the links between educational attainment and quality of life in Ghana. I hypothesize that educational attainment influences quality of life (subjective wellbeing and political engagement) in Ghana (see Figure 1). Details of the nature of the dataset that makes it unique to test the relative effect model are discussed in Chapter 4.

Direct Effect of Education Model: Modeling the Effects of Educational Attainment on Quality of Life.



Figure 1. Theoretical Component Model

Source: Emler, N. & Frazer, E. (1999). Politics: The Education Effect. Oxford Review of Education, 25, pp. 251-273

2.6.3 Relative Effect of Education (or Indirect Effect Model)

The relative effect of education model contrasts the underlying concept of the direct effect model discussed in the section above. Whereas the direct effect model assumes that education translates directly into educational outcomes, the relative effect model suggests that education is a tool that sorts individuals into a rank or order. This model is sometimes referred to as the "educational ranking effect" or the "indirect effect" model (Emler & Frazer, 1999). The theory assumes that credentials, achievements, and the extent or complexity of knowledge developed and acquired over the years are irrelevant to educational outcomes. Rather, what matters most is the overall position of an individual in society compared to that of others (see Figure 2). The theory has been tested in many fields of inquiry, especially in the areas of civic engagement activities and subjective well-being measures.

Emler and Frazer (1999) employed the relative effect of education model to explore the association between education and political engagement (i.e. political attitudes and political

engagements). They discussed the relative effect model from two points of view: "in terms of consequences for access to underlying needs and consequences for access to relevant learning opportunities" (p.253). Regarding consequences for access to underlying needs, they proposed that factors such as relative self-esteem, opportunities, and network position indirectly influence political engagement. The second interpretation, regarding consequences for access to relevant learning opportunities, assumes that a limited number of role-taking opportunities in society are available to those who have acquired education. These opportunities are very competitive and awarded on "the basis either of such criteria as relative attainment or of their effects, such as years spent in full-time formal education" (p.263). As such, this model suggests that the effect of educational measures such as years of education completed is likely to be relative.

As already mentioned in my earlier discussion, Nie et al. (1996) also used the relative effect model to study the links between education and political and social participation. The authors argued that education is a sorting mechanism for distributing a fixed number of opportunities or gainful participation, which, in turn, affects an individual's social and political engagement. In addition, "access to these opportunities is due to education via a long train of life circumstances (e.g., occupational prominence, voluntary associational memberships, and family wealth)" (p. 6). Thus, individuals who attain more education have better chances of competing for these places of influence and activity. They concluded that for "political and social engagement the relative effect model should dominate, because of relatively fixed number of benefits from participation" (as cited in Helliwell & Powell, 2007, p. 20). In addition to this, Helliwell and Putnam (2007) further tested the relative effect model by examining the relationship between education and social capital. The study used pooled time-series and cross-sectional data from the U.S. General Social Survey (GSS) from 1972 through 1996 and from the DDB-Needham Lifestyle survey data from 1975

through 1997. They explored the relationship between education and social capital by testing the relative effect, additive, and super-additive theory for different types of trust and participation. Contrary to the findings of Nie et al. (1996), Helliwell and Putnam (2007) found less evidence of relative education effects; their results showed that "large and pervasive positive effects of general education increase on levels of trust and participation" (p. 6). They emphasized that social engagement increases with average levels of education and concluded that education can be seen as increasing rather than merely redistributing social capital. On the contrary, Nie et al. (1996) reported that increases in average education have no net effect on social engagement. Huang et al. (2009) also estimated the effect of education on social trust and social participation, synthesizing 154 evaluations on social trust and 286 evaluations on social participation. Findings from this research provide support for the existence of a relative effect of education on political participation, and of a reciprocity mechanism between the dimensions of social capital.

The story is very similar when we turn to the study of subjective well-being. A growing body of literature suggests that the extent to which people feel happy with their lives depends, at least partially, on how they compare (relativism) to others in society (Nikolaev, 2016). There is also compelling evidence that people acquire education and continue to pursue higher education not only for economic purposes (such as gainful employment and better income) but also for intangible and desirable social attributes such as intelligence and motivation, trustworthiness, and prestige (Ross & Willigen, 1997). Some even argue that even if attaining higher education does not have any economic benefits, people may pursue it because of its status-related effects. These desirable attributes position individuals with formal education in a particular rank or class compared to others with no formal education. In a more direct test of the relative effects (or indirect effect) of education on happiness, Chen (2012) used data from East Asian countries to show that

the statistical association between education and happiness is mediated more by non-pecuniary factors, such as the strength of social networks and cosmopolitan experiences, than income. The relative effect model is, therefore, a perfect theory to test the links between education and quality of life.

Based on the evidence from the literature above, I adopt the relative effect model to test the links between education and quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement) in Ghana (see Figure 2). I hypothesize that educational attainment is linked to people's subjective well-being (as measured by their perceived and actual subjective well-being) and political engagements (as measured by their civic engagement and trust in institutions). I also hypothesize that individuals attaining education have better subjective well-being and are more politically engaged than those with no formal education. Details of the nature of the dataset that makes it unique to test the relative effect model are discussed in Chapter 4.

Relative Effect Model: Modeling Effects of Educational Attainment on Quality of Life



Figure 2. Theoretical Component Model

Source: Emler, N. & Frazer, E. (1999). Politics: The Education Effect. Oxford Review of Education, 25, pp. 251-273

2.6.4 Overall Theoretical Framework

The overarching theoretical framework for this study uses liberal feminist theory as the fundamental lens through which the relationship between education and quality of life is examined, either through direct or indirect models (see Figure 3). The fundamental question when it comes to understanding gender differences on education and quality of life in sub-Saharan Africa (and in this study where the focus is on Ghana) is how do women negotiate the complex economic, cultural, social, and political forces in African society to experience equal opportunities in education, subjective well-being, and political participation to their male counterparts? In this study, I use an overall framework from the lens of liberal feminist theory to examine the links between education and quality of life in Ghana.

As already discussed, I first indicated that the fundamental principle of liberal feminism argues that women and men are fundamentally equal and that because social conditions result in disparity political action required. Second, I explain that both the direct effect and relative effect models have been used in several studies to understand the relationships between education and quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement). However, these two theories (direct and relative effect) have not been studied from the lens of the feminist perspective. For this reason, and because my study particularly emphasizes gender differences in quality of life, I use an overall framework that looks at the potential links between the direct effect theory and relative effect theory from the lens of feminist theory. Specifically, this framework examines the direct effect and the relative effect model from the lens of the liberal feminist theory (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Proposed Theoretical Framework Using Liberal Feminist Theory as the Fundamental Lens Through Which the Relationship Between Education and Quality of Life is Examined

Figure 3 shows that the direct effect model from the lens of liberal feminist theory predicts that educational levels *translate directly* into quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement). However, the outcome (quality of life) is different for men and women. It is expected that the quality of life for men will be better for men than that for women because of unequal opportunities to educational attainment. In Ghana, more men than women have access to formal education (Atuahene & Owusu-Ansah, 2013; Shabaya & Konadu-Agyeman, 2004). Education is a form of social capital because of the opportunities that it presents. Putnam and Helliwell (2007) argued that "education is the most important predictor of political and social

engagement" (p.1). Thus, the direct effect model, from the lens of liberal feminist theory, assumes that men in Ghana tend to enjoy better quality of life compared to women because more men than women tend to have higher levels of education. Further, quality of life for men in Ghana tends to be better with increasing levels of education compared to women.

On the other hand, the relative effect model from the lens of the feminist theory assumes that the quality of life for men and women in Ghana are based on other factors and not necessarily their levels of education. Therefore, whether one is educated or not, quality of life is based on other factors such as gender, ethnicity, and social status, among many others. These factors, which constitute cultural, socioeconomic, and demographic factors, in one way or another tend to favor men rather than women (Akotia & Anum, 2015) where patriarchy dominates. In the context of Ghana, two systems of lineage/ethnicity are practiced, patrilineal and matrilineal systems. Ethnic groups practicing patrilineal system place emphasis on the rule of the fathers (patriarchy), whereas those with matrilineal associations emphasize the rule of the mothers-those affiliated with the Akan ethnic group practice matriarchy and all the other ethnic groups in Ghana practice the patriarchal system. The more dominant one is the patrilineal system. This practice often views women as second to men, and those women are less capable in all areas of life. Therefore, the relative effect model from the lens of liberal feminist theory assumes that because of these unequal experiences (based on culture, socioeconomic, and demographic factors), the quality of life for men tends to be better than women.

Overall, the dataset used in this study, the Afrobarometer (AFROB) survey, contains measures that allow for the testing of both the direct effect and relative effect model from the lens of liberal feminist theory. The survey has information pertaining to the economic, political, social, cultural, demographic, and democratic situation in Ghana. The variables used to capture these measures include respondents' gender, ethnicity, place of residence, age, religious affiliations, employment status, levels of education, and access to food, water, cash, medical/healthcare, and income among many other resources. This rich data set offers a unique opportunity to explore the complex relationship between education and quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement) by comparing the differences in outcomes between men and women.

2.7 Summary

In this chapter, four main issues are examined—the first part of the study explores the link between education and subjective well-being (perceived subjective well-being and actual subjective well-being), and the second examines the link between education and political engagement (civic engagement and institutional trust) in Ghana. The third looks at the gender dimensions on education and quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement) and then discusses the literature on feminist theory. The fourth discusses three selected theoretical models: liberal feminist theory and direct effect and relative effect of education theory. I connect these three theoretical models by proposing an overall framework that explores the link between education and quality of life emphasizing on gender differences. This framework uses liberal feminist theory to explore the direct effect and relative effect models when it comes to the association between education and quality of life.

Overall, the main objective is to examine the extent to which education levels help our understanding of quality of life in a developing country such as Ghana and how this differs between men and women. To address this question, I examine the nature and extent of quality of life to better understand (a) people's assessments of their perceived subjective well-being, (b) actual subjective well-being, (c) self-rated civic engagement, and (d) self-rated institutional trust. Second, I look at how quality of life differs among social groupings including: (a) educational attainment, (b) age-groups, (c) gender, (d) ethnic groups, (e) religious groups, (f) place of residence, and (g) employment status. Third, I investigate Ghanaians' overall perception of education levels and how these perceptions differ by various social groupings including: (a) age-groups, (b) gender, (c) ethnic groups, (d) religious groups, (e) place of residence, and (f) employment status. Fourth, I explore the links between educational attainment and quality of life among Ghanaians by asking: Are there differences in quality of life by one's level of education? If so, what level of education provides these enhanced quality of life outcomes? That is, comparing those with high levels of education to those with less education report.

Fifth, on the assumption that educational attainment is associated with increased quality of life, I examine how this varies by gender (see Figure 4). In other words, does gender moderate any observed relationship between education and quality of life among Ghanaians? The focus here is to determine whether men derive more quality of life benefits from education compared to their women (female) counterparts, especially when controlling, for example, for age, place of residence, ethnicity, employment status, and religious attendance. Figure 4 provides a picture of the moderating effect of gender when it comes to the relationship between education and Quality of Life.



Figure 4. The Moderating Effect of Gender: Education, Gender and Quality of Life Outcomes

3.0 Data and Measurements

This study looks at the relationship between education and QofL in Ghana. It examines quality of life in two parts, subjective well-being and political engagement. The literature emphasizes three major ways of measuring quality of life: (1) the evaluative method (cognitive reflection), (2) the experience (or affect), and (3) the eudaimonic approach (a life of virtue) (Diener, 2009; Vittersø, 2016). The evaluative method uses a self-appraisal approach, also referred to as the cognitive reflection of an individual's life, the experience, or affect, approach compels individuals to assess how they feel about a situation (Diener, 2009). Finally, the third approach of subjective well-being measurement relies on phenomena such as self-actualization, personal expressiveness, and vitality (Heintzelman, 2018; Huta & Waterman, 2013; Vittersø, 2016). The study employs these two frameworks of Quality of Life- evaluative method (cognitive reflection) and the experience (affect) approach by using data from the Afrobarometer survey. This data is well suited for research on quality of life because it has a wide range of variables on issues pertaining to education and quality of life measures. In this chapter, I describe the data, analytic sample, measures, and analytical techniques for the study.

The analytical techniques to address the research questions include descriptive statistics and chi-square analysis to examine bivariate relationships among all the variables. Given the nature of the dependent variables, I used OLS regression models to examine the relationship between education and QofL I relied on the most recent round (Round 7 dataset) of the Afrobarometer survey, which gives a better outlook of the current situation in Ghana. In the subsequent sections, I provide a description of the data collection process, sampling, and operationalization of variables for the study.

3.1 Data

3.1.1 The Afrobarometer Survey

In addressing my research questions, I used data from the Afrobarometer Survey (AFROB). This data set has information on economic, political, social, and democratic issues in Ghana. The data itself is a nationally representative cross-sectional survey that has been conducted in several African countries, including Ghana, since the 1990s. These surveys include participant responses on issues pertaining to democracy, governance, and economic conditions in more than 35 African countries. The surveys are jointly sponsored by the Michigan State University (MSU), the Institute for Democracy in South Africa (IDASA), the Centre for Democratic Development in Ghana (CDD), the Institute for Empirical Research in Political Economy (IREEP), the Institute for Development Studies (IDS), the University of Nairobi and Democracy in Africa Research Unit (DARU), the Center for Social Science Research, and The University of Cape Town (see https://www.afrobarometer.org/surveys-and-methods/ for a detailed account of data collection).

Overall, the AFROB survey uses a standardized set of questions to track the opinions and social behaviors of people in some selected African countries. This data allows scholars and researchers to compare across countries what is happening in governance and social life among many other facets of life in different African countries. Currently, seven rounds of data have been

collected. Round 1 comprises 12 countries with data collected between the months of July 1999 and June 2001. Round 2 includes 16 countries with data collected from May 2002 through October 2003. Round 3 was conducted from March 2005 to February 2006 for 18 countries, and Round 4 from March 2008 to June 2009 (20 countries). Round 5 was conducted from May to December 2012 among 35 countries, and Round 6 from March through June 2015 among 36 countries. The most recent dataset, Round 7, was carried out in 34 countries from September to December 2017. Since the focus of this project is Ghana, data was extracted from Round 7 for the study.

3.1.1.1 Sampling Technique of the Afrobarometer

In each of the countries surveyed, the organizers of the Afrobarometer survey used a clustered stratified multi-stage probability sampling design to select a representative sample of the adult population (i.e., those over 18 years old and eligible to vote). In Ghana, the respondents were selected randomly from all 10 regions in the country. Face-to-face interviews were then used to collect detailed information from the sampled respondents about their understanding and views on democracy, participation in the electoral process, governance, livelihoods, economic indicators (market principles), social capital, conflict and crime, and perceptions about national identities. The survey was administered in the major Ghanaian languages: Akan, English, Ewe, Ga, Dagbani, Dagaari, and Hausa. The sample size for the 2017 Ghana survey was 2,400 people (N=2,400), which includes responses with missing data, refusal to answer, don't know responses, and the like. I provide additional information on how missingness is treated in the study in order to provide valid responses for further analysis (see Appendix B).

The sample frame from the Afrobarometer was obtained from the Ghana Statistical Service (GSS), an agency of the government that compiles national information involving households and

individual citizens on social, cultural, economic, and political matters in Ghana (The Afrobarometer Report, 2008). A four-sequential sampling design was employed to identify and select respondents for face-to-face interviews. For each sequence, respondents were selected based on definite geographical sampling units of decreasing size. To adequately capture a representative sample of Ghanaians, two probability selections criteria were employed: (a) the social attributes of the entire population were stratified into two different sample units: regions and residence (urban/rural). The Afrobarometer Report (2008) noted that "the region stratification reduces the likelihood that distinctive ethnic or language groups are left out of the sample. And the urban/rural stratification is a means to make sure that these localities are represented in their correct proportions" (p.2); (b) at every first stage of the sampling process, random selection is based on the probability proportionate to population size (PPPS). "The purpose is to guarantee that larger (i.e., more populated) geographical units have a proportionally greater probability of being chosen into the sample" (The Afrobarometer Report, 2008, p.28).

The selection of individual respondents went through four chronological stages, namely: (a) stratification of the population, (b) distributing of Primary Sampling Units (PSUs) to rural and urban localities, (c) determination of start point, and (d) selection of respondents. The Afrobarometer Survey Manual -Round 4 (2008) indicated that in the respondent selection, "gender quota is filled by alternating interviews between men and women; respondents of appropriate gender listed, after which household member draws a numbered card to select individual" (p. 15). This research project relied on only the Round 7 dataset, which was collected from 2017 through to 2018.

3.1.1.2 Round 7 Dataset

Field work for Round 7 started in September 2017 and concluded in May 2018. About 2,400 respondents were sampled from a population of over 25 million citizens. This sample was drawn from 300 Enumeration Areas (EAs) spread across 293 towns in 171 districts in the 10 regions of Ghana. Random sampling was used in order to give every adult citizen an equal chance of being selected. Stratification of the sampled population was proportionally distributed between regions and urban-rural areas. From the strata, the walk pattern (start points) using day code and selecting every fifth house on the right was used to identify the various clusters of households for the selected respondents. Overall, the contact rate for Round 7 was 95.90%, and of this, 83.1 %cooperated (accepted) in answering the survey questions. Out of this cooperation rate, only 79.9% actually responded to the to the entire questionnaires, and 7.8 %refused to participate in the study. With such a high sample size of 2,400 and response rate, outcome of the data collection process was expected to yield a margin of error of ± 2 %at a 95 %confidence level (Round 7 Survey Manual, 2017; Round 7 Codebook, 2017).

To summarize, the sampling stages to obtain data for the Afrobarometer were divided into four different stages. The first stage is the stratification of secondary sampling units. This is often carried out in the rural areas. The use of secondary sampling units (SSu) is based on the context of study; in some countries, they are used in rural areas only, whereas in others they are used in urban areas only. For Ghana, it was used for both rural and urban areas. The second stage involved the random selection of primary sampling units (PSU). The third stage involved the random selection of sampling starting points. Afterward, interviewees are randomly selected from the households, the fourth stage. At the fifth stage, the final stage, individuals were randomly selected from the households (in step 4) for interviews. Interviewers ensured that interviews were conducted by alternating between a man and a woman within the household selected. This strategy ensured gender balance within the sample. Eight interviewers were normally clustered within each selected PSU. This study relied on Ghana's dataset, specifically Round 7, with a sample size of 2,400, to examine the potential relationship between education outcomes on quality of life in Ghana, specifically, subjective well-being and political engagement.

3.2 Measurement of Variables

Given the dissatisfaction in using macro-level indicators (e.g., GDP) to determine quality of life, scholars have focused attention on micro issues like well-being measures (Easterlin, 2003, 2014) to capture subjective issues that affect the overall well-being of individuals. In his statement to the Well-Being Institute in February 2008, then French president, Nicholas Sarkozy, highlighted the need to adopt new ways of measuring progress that would accommodate well-being measures (Kubiszewski et al., 2013). To achieve this goal, the Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress (the Stiglitz-Sen-Fitoussi Commission) was created. This commission is made up of Nobel Prize-winning economists who were tasked to further explore studies on quality of life (Easterlin, 2014). Their findings indicated that quality of life can be examined in many ways and that there is no specific way of measuring well-being due to its complexity (Diener, 2010). The commission also recommended that comprehensive measures be adopted to measure progress rather than using standard GDP statistics (Stiglitz et al., 2010).

Measuring quality of life is seen as problematic in many policy arenas (Dolan et al. 2008; Waldron 2010). Though this concept is not easily measured, according to some scholars (Dolan et al. 2008; Waldron 2010), measuring quality of life can assist in assessing the relevant issues and experiences of individuals and society. While there are no clear definitions that adequately capture the understanding and conceptualization of quality of life, some scholars have argued that quality of life can be viewed from three major dimensions: (a) evaluative (or cognitive) (Diener, 2014), (b) experience (or affect) (Diener, 2010; Hicks & Routledge 2013), and (c) eudemonic (Diener 2010; Vittersø, 2016). Considering the global evaluative perspectives of quality of life, and consistent with some studies, quality of life in this study is defined based on: (a) availability of various measures in the AFROB dataset, (b) comprehensibility, and (c) influence of these measures to policy makers (Donovan & Hapern 2002). Graham (2010) proposed measuring quality of life "by asking people to gauge their own well-being, subjective evaluative measures share the democratic aspect of preference satisfaction, in that it allows people to decide how good their life is going for them, without someone else deciding their well-being" (p. 45). The creation of the dependent variable, Quality of Life, in this study taps into the evaluative/cognitive and experience/affect dimensions of quality of life (Diener, 2010). In focusing on the link between education and quality of life in Ghana, this research seeks to examine the relative influence of educational attainment on quality of life among Ghanaians.

Quality of life in my study focuses on two major areas: (a) subjective well-being and (b) political engagement. Education as a construct is the key independent variable for the study. This measure is captured under four main categories: non-formal education, elementary, high school, and post-high school. I have provided detailed discussion on my dependent and independent variables in the next pages.

3.2.1 Dependent Variables

Consistent with some past studies (Diener, 2014), two broad measures are used to capture Quality of Life. These are: (1) subjective well-being and (2) political engagement. Each indicator captures relevant issues pertaining to: (1) cognitive attributes and (2) affective reactions. The first measure is *subjective well-being* and explores two issues: perceived subjective well-being and actual subjective well-being. *Political engagement*, the second QofL measure in the study, focuses on civic engagement and institutional trust. To sum up, quality of life as a construct is defined by these four measures: (a) *perceived subjective well-being*, (b) *actual subjective well-being*, (c) *civic engagement, and* (d) *institutional trust*.

3.2.1.1 Subjective Well-Being

Two indicators were used to capture subjective well-being. These are: (a) *perceived subjective well-being* and (b) *actual subjective well-being*. Perceived subjective well-being constitutes the cognitive component, whereas actual subjective well-being is the affective dimension of quality of life. These two indicators deal with basic needs and consist of the basic necessities in life. Respondents' perceived subjective well-being in the study assesses issues on a country's economic and living conditions of respondents in comparison with others. In contrast, actual subjective well-being assesses how often respondents' have gone without basic needs (food, water, medical care, and cash income).

(i) Perceived subjective well-being:

Regarding respondents' perceived subjective well-being, three questions focusing on (a) the country's present economic condition, (b) respondents' living conditions, and (c) respondents'

living conditions compared to others, are combined to create a construct that captures the understanding of well-being. The specific question asked on the first measure, the country's present economic conditions, is as follows: "In general, how would you describe the present economic condition of this country?" The responses for this question are coded as 1=very bad, 2= fairly bad, 3= Neither good nor bad, 4= Fairly good, 5= Very good, 9 = Don't know. The second question, which focuses on respondent's' living conditions, asked: "In general, how would you describe your own present living conditions?" The responses for this question are coded as 1=very bad, 2= fairly bad, 3= Neither good nor bad, 4= Fairly good, 5= Very good, 9 = Don't know. Finally, the third question asked respondents to rate their living conditions compared to other Ghanaians. The question on the survey asked, "In general, how do you rate your living conditions compared to those of other Ghanaians?" The responses are coded as: 1=Much worse, 2=Worse, 3=Same, 4=Better, 5=Much Better, 8= Refused, 9=Don't know. From the responses on the three questions, a simple average was used to create a composite measure called perceived subjective well-being index. All the missing cases, "don't know," and refused to answer forms of response are excluded from the sample (see Table 3.1). After the index variables were created, Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Test was calculated to check for internal consistency and interactiveness among selected items (see Table 5.1).

(ii) Actual subjective well-being:

The second measure of subjective well-being deals with actual subjective well-being. This variable was created from the responses to the survey questions that asked: "Over the past year, how often, if ever, has anyone in your family: (a) Gone without enough food to eat? (b) Gone without enough water for home use? (c) Gone without medicines or medical treatment? and (d) Gone without a cash income?" The responses for each of these questions were coded as 0 = Never,

1 = Just once or twice, 2= Several times, 3=Many times, 4 = Always, 9 = don't know [DNR], 998=Refused to answer, -1=Missing data. From the four questions, a simple average was calculated to create a composite measure called actual subjective well-being index. All missing cases and responses (with don't know and refused to answer forms) were excluded from the sample (see Table 3.2: Comparison Between Valid and Non-Valid Samples).

3.2.1.2 Political Engagement

Political engagement has been measured in many ways. Measures include, for example, voting and participating in political activities (Debrah, 2014; Kwon, 2016) partisan choice and political identity (Emler & Frazer, 1999), public opinions, democratization, and citizen participation (Debrah, 2014; Irvin & Stansbury, 2004). In this study, political engagement is captured under two measures: (a) civic engagement and (b) institutional trust. These indicators tap into the respondents' general assessments of the democratic process or principles. Civic engagement represents the cognitive dimension of quality of life, whereas institutional trust is the affective component (Diener, 2014).

(*i*) *Civic Engagement:*

The first construct, civic engagement, in this study can be obtained from the Afrobarometer survey questions regarding: (a) freedom to say what you think about politics, (b) freedom to join political organizations, (c) media's freedom to investigate and report, and (d) freedom of opposition to function. These four measures are elements of civic engagement that relate to democratic development. In addition, these measures give individuals the sense of having some form of political voice (Putnam, 2000). They are combined by using a simple average across the four measures to create a civic engagement construct or index. On these four measures, the

Afrobarometer survey included the following question: "Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? (a) Your own freedom to say what you think about politics, (b) Your own freedom to join the political organization you want, (c) The media's freedom to investigate and report on government mistakes or to criticize government actions or performance and (d) The freedom of opposition parties or candidates to speak or hold rallies, state their views, or criticize the government." The responses to each of the questions were coded as follows: 1=Much less freedom, 2=Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 9=Don't know [DNR].

(ii) Institutional Trust

The second construct of political engagement in the study is institutional trust. The measures were selected based on the concept of separation of powers and the main institution of governance in Ghana to ensure balance of powers in government. In Ghana, the arms of government – the executive (the president), the legislative (parliament), and the judiciary (courts) – ensure balance in society (Addai et al., 2013; Debrah, 2014; Gyimah Boadi, 2001). Because the Electoral Commission and the police are considered very powerful forces in a democratic country, the AFROB survey includes questions on the police and the Electoral Commission. The police ensure law and order, and the electoral commission performs all election-related activities in an orderly manner (Thompson, 2021).

The four measures used in creating the institutional trust index include the following: (a) trust in the president, (b) trust in parliament/national assembly, (c) trust in courts of law, (d) trust in one's elected local government council, (e) trust in police, and (f) trust in the national electoral

commission. Specifically, the question on the AFROB survey asked: "How much do you trust each of the following, or haven't you heard enough about them to say? (a) Trust President, (b) Trust parliament (c) Trust the Electoral Commission (EC) (d) Your Local Government Council (e) The police and (f) Courts of law." The responses on each measure are coded as: 0=not at all, 1=just a *little*, 2=somewhat, 3=a lot, and 9=don't know/haven't heard [DNR]." A simple average of these measures was used to build an underlying construct of institutional trust index (see Table 2).

3.2.2 Key Independent Variable

The main independent variable for the study is *educational attainment*. Educational attainment is categorized into four levels: (a) no formal education, (b) elementary education, (c) high school, and (d) post high school. The "no formal education" here simply means people who have no formal education. Elementary education focuses on education from elementary through junior high school (grades 1-9); high school education here means persons with Senior High School Education (SHS) (grades 10-13), and post high school education means college or any other form of tertiary education.

3.2.3 Other Explanatory Variables/Controls

Besides education, other factors have been found to affect individuals' quality of life. Diener et al. (1999), for example, showed that measures such as social, environmental, and economic factors influence individual well-being. Consistent with previous studies, some of these variables are included in the models as control variables. They are grouped under the following headings/categories: (1) demographic variables, (2) educational experiences, and (3) cultural variables.

3.2.3.1 Demographic Variables

Demographic variables included in the study are *employment status*, gender, place of residence, and age. Employment status is measured by the question, "Do you have a job that pays cash income? Is it full-time or part-time? And are you presently looking for a job (even if you are presently working)?" The responses are coded as: 0 = No (not looking), 1 = No (looking), 2 = Yes, part-time (not looking), 3 = Yes, part-time (looking), 4 = Yes, full-time (not looking), 5 = Yes, full-time (looking), and 9 = don't know. A dummy variable was created such that those who are employed were coded as "1," and unemployed was coded as "0." The second variable, gender, is a dummy variable with "1" indicating male and "0" female. The third variable is also dummy coded and distinguishes between urban and rural residents ("1" = urban and "0" = rural).

Finally, *age* is treated in two ways: first, as a categorical measure as follows: (a) young adult (18-29), (b) middle-aged adults (30-39), (c) old-aged adult (40-59), and (c) elder people (60+). Placing age into categorical variables allowed the opportunity to proportionally examine patterns when it comes to the relationship between education levels and social groupings. This approach helped to provide context, especially in understanding Ghana's education systems and its interactions with the various groups under study. However, in carrying out OLS regression, age as a measure remained a continuous variable. This helped to satisfy one of the assumptions of carrying out Ordinary Least Squared (OLS) regression modelling (Rodriguez et al., 2018).

3.2.3.2 Educational Experiences

Accounting for individuals' educational experiences in consuming educational products and services provide a better understanding of how their educational journeys were completed. Educational experiences can be potential barriers in preventing people from accessing educational services. In this study, several measures were used to capture educational experiences. They include the following: (a) *equal opportunities to education*, (b) *difficulty obtaining public school services*, (c) *government policy effectiveness on education*, (d) *handling and addressing educational needs*, and (e) *likelihood of reporting teacher misconduct*.

For *equal opportunities to education*, the AFROB survey asked, "For each of the following statements, please tell me whether you disagree or agree, or haven't you heard enough to say? In our country today, girls and boys have equal opportunities to get an education." The responses were coded as 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4=Agree, 5= Strongly Agree, and 9=Don't know/ Haven't heard enough. The latter is treated as missing data. This Likert-type item is treated as a continuous measure.

On the second measure, *difficulty obtaining public school services*, the survey asked, "How easy or difficult was it to obtain the services you needed from teachers or school officials?" The responses are coded as 7=*No contact*, 1=*Very easy*, 2=*Easy*, 3=*Difficult*, 4=*Very Difficult*, and 9=*Don't Know* [DNR]. The latter was treated as missing data. This Likert-type item is treated as a continuous measure. On the third measure, *government policy effectiveness on education*, the question asked: "Please tell me if the following things are worse or better now than they were a few years ago, or are they about the same? The government's effectiveness in addressing educational needs?" The responses are coded as: 1=Much worse, 2=Worse, 3=Same 4=Better,

5=Much Better, 9=Don't know [DNR]. The latter is treated as missing data. This Likert-type item is treated as a continuous measure.

The fourth measure deals with how government is handling addressing educational needs of its citizens. The question on the survey asked, "How well or badly would you say the current government is handling the following matters, or haven't you heard enough to say? Addressing educational needs?" The responses are coded as: 1=Very Badly, 2=Fairly Badly, 3=Fairly Well, 4=Very Well, and 9=Don't Know / Haven't heard enough. The latter is treated as missing data. This Likert-type item is treated as a continuous measure (see Appendix B).

The last measure, *Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct* asked the question, "How likely is it that you could get someone to take action if you went to a government office or other public institution to report the following problems, or haven't you heard enough to say? (a) If you went to the local school to report teacher misbehavior such as absenteeism or mistreatment of students." The responses are coded as: 0=Not at all likely, 1=Not very likely, 2=Somewhat likely, 3=Very likely, and 9=Don't know. All of the latter responses are treated as missing cases in the responses to educational experiences. Also, the Likert-type item is treated as continuous measure.

3.2.3.3 Cultural Variables

The cultural variables included in the study are *ethnicity/lineage system* and *religion/ denominational affiliation*. Ethnicity is determined based on the respondent's self-identification with the various ethnic groups. Regarding ethnicity, the AFROB Ghana survey asked the question, "What is your ethnic community, cultural group, or tribe?" The responses were coded as: 260 =Akan, 261=Ewe, 262=Ga/Adangbe, 263=Dagomba, 9990=Ghanaian only, or "doesn't think of self in those terms," 9998=Refused to answer, 9999=Don't know, Other. These responses were recoded into the four major ethnic groups found in Ghana: Akan, Ewe, Ga. and "All Others."

In terms of religion/denominational affiliation, the survey asked, "What is your religion, if any?" The responses are coded as, 0=None, 1=Christian only, 2=Roman Catholic, 3=Orthodox, 6=Lutheran. 7=Methodist, 8=Presbyterian, 5=Anglican, 9=Baptist, 12=Evangelical, 13=Pentecostal, 14=Independent, 15=Jehovah's Witness, 16=Seventh Day Adventist, 17=Mormon, 18=Muslim only, 19=Sunni only, 20=Ismaeli, 21=Mouridiya Brotherhood, 22=Tijaniya Brotherhood, 23=Qadiriya Brotherhood, 25=Traditional / ethnic religion, 31=Calvinist, 32=Church of Christ, 33=Zionist Christian Church, 34=Jewish, 35=Apostolic Church, 9995=Other, and 9999=Don't know. Consistent with past research (e.g, Addai and Opoku-Agyeman, 2013; Sulemana, 2015; Takyi et al., 2010), the responses were recoded into six major denominational Traditional believers/None, Catholics. Protestant, groups: Pentecostals/Evangelicals, Other Christians, and Muslims.

In the creation of all the measures (both the dependent and independent variables), responses such as "Do not have an opinion," "Did not respond," or "Refused to answer" are excluded from the analysis. Similarly, all missing cases are excluded. Detailed information of how much missingness and how many observations might be lost when dropping any observations where respondents gave a "don't know/refused to" answer are discussed (see Appendix A).
3.3 Analytic Technique

Several analytical approaches have been used for analysis of data on subjective well-being (Botha, 2014). In this study, I used basic summary statistics analytical technique to explore the extent of missingness in the Ghana Round 7 AFROB dataset. This process is useful in providing an overall picture of the number of respondents or observations that might have been lost, especially in dropping any observations from the study. Next, I employed correlation matrices, bivariate crosstab analyses, and Ordinary Least Square (OLS) regression models to investigate the link between educational attainment and quality of life outcomes in the study. Last, I employed interaction effect models to examine how gender moderates the relationship between education and quality of life. This result was achieved by carrying out the six main analytical techniques discussed below.

3.4 Handling Missingness in the Dataset

In the first analytic technique stage, I provided the process used in the handling of missingness in the dataset. Prior to this, a summary characteristic (frequency distribution) of each variable response was carried out. The Ghana Round 7 Afrobarometer survey (n=2,400) had respondents who gave a "don't know/refused" to answer and also had some missing cases on some of the selected measures. This initial step of the data screening process was useful in identifying the responses with missingness or missing / "don't know" / refused to answer type of response in the sample (Treiman, 2009). Next, I created a flag variable to determine the number of viable and

non-viable responses. A flag variable (equal to 1) was created for respondents who provided a "don't know/refused to" type of answer across all of the outcome constructs. The same standard was applied to the predictor variables. By carrying out this process, I was able to show the number of observations that would be lost from the sample (from the maximum N of 2,400), assuming the analysis is limited to complete cases (see Table 1: Summary Characteristics of Valid and Non-Valid Cases). The result shows that out of the initial sample size of 2,400, there were 1,710 complete cases (valid cases) and 690 participants who gave a "don't know/refused to" response (non-valid cases). These two samples provided the bases for comparison, or discussion of the differences and similarities (see Appendix B for the Comparison report between Valid and Nonvalid Samples).

 Table 1. Summary Characteristics of Valid and Non-Valid Cases: 2017 Waves of

Variables	n	% n
Valid Cases	1710	71.2%
Non-Valid Cases	690	28.8%
Total Sample Sizes	2400	100%

Afrobarometer (Round 7)

From Table 1, we observe that the valid cases comprise 71.2 % of the total sample size, whereas the non-valid cases comprise 28.8%. This implies that the results from this study rely only on 71.2% of the total sample size. In addition, contradictory responses (between the valid and the non-valid sample) were found on the independent variables of *education, gender, place of residence,* and *age*. The contrasting differences on some of these measures suggest that generalizability in the study is affected.

Dropping 28.8% may cast doubt on the generalization of the study since the sample size can significantly affect outcomes, especially when it comes to hypothesis testing and the research design (Serdar, et al., 2021). Specifically, Slavin and Smith (2009) argue that "studies with small sample sizes tend to have larger effect sizes than those with large sample" (p.500). They further argue that "it takes a larger effect size to produce statistical significance in a small study than in a large study" (p.501). Based on this information, we can infer that regardless of the 28.8% differential in sample size between the original cases (2400) and the new cases (1710), both samples are large enough to perhaps reduce the effect size in this study. However, the smaller sample is likely to result in more accurate results due to completeness of data analyzed.

3.4.1 Discussion on Contrasting Differences on the Measures

On the measure *education of respondent*, we observe that more respondents in the nonvalid sample had lower levels of education, especially "no-formal schooling." This suggests that respondents who gave a don't know/refused to type of answer had lower levels of education, especially "no formal education." Perhaps their lack of formal schooling might have contributed to their minimal understanding of issues captured on the survey questions pertaining to the economy, health, politics, democracy, governance, and education. One could also infer that these respondents probably were somehow not very familiar with current events transpiring in the country when it comes to the issues raised, thus their "refusal" to answer the question or simply choose a "don't know" type of response.

The second contradictory measure, *gender*, shows that the non-valid sample had more female respondents than in the valid sample. The descriptive result shows that 48% of the valid

sample were found to be female, and 57% of the respondents were female in the non-valid sample. This response shows a 9% differential in the number of female respondents in the non-valid valid sample, whereas male respondents were approximately 52% (among the valid sample) and 43% (among the non-valid sample) respectively. This implies that respondents who "refused" to answer or gave a "don't know/refused to answer" type of response were mostly women. This is also not surprising as one may attribute the response to gender and cultural differences of the society. In a typical patriarchal country like Ghana, where men are trained to be more active participants and more vocal in contrast to women who should be less vocal on societal issues, especially politics and the economy, a result like this is not surprising. With such stereotypes, it becomes more difficult for women to express their views and opinions openly and freely on such issues in public. They would rather choose to give a don't know/refused to kind of answer. One can also assume that the strong patriarchal society, which tends to recognize, engage, and focus on men as the key decision makers in families and societies, creates in them the awareness of current events in their environment and country at large. this is reflective of the results as we observe more men gave complete response to questions on the survey, whereas women more often gave a don't know/refused to type of response.

Another observation about the contrast in the responses on the measure *gender* may be attributed to the lower levels of education on the side of women in Ghana. In Ghana, and perhaps in many Sub-Saharan African countries, gender roles have been clearly defined. In most cases, these roles limit women's access to education facilities and information on societal issues. Women, unlike men, spend much of their time at home fulfilling their household responsibilities, including doing all the household chores, cooking, and taking care of children, siblings, grandparents, sick

family members at home, etc. With their time occupied all day, they have less time to engage in political activities.

On the other hand, men in Ghana have lots of unoccupied time on their side to engage in all forms of societal activities (often stereotyped as the role of men) and thus are much more aware of what is going on around them. Culturally, the role of men in Ghana, as heads of households, is to provide financially for their families. In addition, they are expected to participate actively in all leadership roles and responsibilities assigned them in society. And so, when a question pertaining to the economy, democracy, governance, etc., is posed, they may have enough information, experience, and understanding of these issues to make meaningful choices among several options. The higher levels of education among men (as reflected from the results obtained) may have also contributed to their understanding on these issues; thus, their likelihood of choosing a don't know/refused to kind of answer on the survey questions is minimized compared to females who reported lower levels of education (elementary and non-formal), especially non-formal education on all fronts.

Another striking contrast can be found in the responses to the measure *place of residence* (urban or rural). Here, approximately 56% of urban dwellers were found in the valid sample compared to 51% rural dwellers in the non-valid sample. However, more rural dwellers (49%) were found in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample (44%). This suggests that more respondents (5% more) who lived in the rural areas gave a "don't know/refused" type of answer. The result suggests that those who lived in the rural areas are more likely to give a don't know/refused to kind of answer. This is not surprising as urban dwellers in Ghana tend to have access to better resources and information, including media services, than rural folks. With

improved access to media and other resources, urban dwellers are more likely to make informed choices among the many options presented to them.

Age as a measure also provides an interesting observation. The mean age is found to be approximately 37 years among the valid sample, whereas in the non-valid sample, the mean age was 43 years. This suggests that respondents in the valid sample were younger than respondents in the non-valid sample. It also means that many respondents of adult age (above 40 years) are more likely to give a don't know/refused type of answer. Although, logically, it is expected that as people age, they should be well-informed to make choices among many preferences, this is not the case in Ghana. The historical challenges of accessing educational facilities in the past may have been a contributing factor. The educational experiences and access to information among the older adult and elderly populations are not the same as that of the younger generation who now have access to free education, the media, and other social media platforms. The young adults, on the other hand, are much more vibrant, educated, and well-informed. This is a testament of many governmental policies and programs that have been implemented to encourage youth education over the past years. Putting all these observational reports (e.g., gender differences, place of residence and age) together, we can suggest and assume in hindsight, without having conducted any testable hypothesis, that respondents who gave a don't know/refused kind of answer to the survey were mostly adults and older women who live in the rural areas with lower levels of education (non-formal and elementary education).

To sum up, based on the reasons highlighted above, it is imperative to note that using only complete cases (n=1710) for the analysis of this study and dropping the non-valid cases of (n=690) is seemingly justifiable. After all, the sample size (n=1710) for the valid cases is large enough to conduct an empirical study. Nevertheless, dropping the non-valid cases of (n=690) poses problems

in generalizing the results of this study to the entire population of the Ghanaian people. Therefore, three issues pertaining to generalizability concerns are addressed: (a) Is the sample size in the study adequate and representative of the entire population? (b) Are the selected measures reflective of the construct being studied? and (c) Are issues of reliability a concern? These issues are discussed below:

3.4.2 Concerns on Generalization of Results

3.4.2.1 Is the Sample Size Adequate and Representative of the Entire Population?

The answer here is complex because the valid sample differs on dimensions such as age, place of residence, and gender. In this sense, the sample is not completely representative. For these reasons, generalizability is affected to some extent. However, the sample size reflects the demographic picture of Ghana's population. In 2017, the country's population was estimated at 29 million with a median age of about 21 years, with the Akan ethnic group constituting the majority (World Bank Report, 2019). Also, the basic characteristics of the selected measures for the study reflect this representation. In addition, a review of the sampling extrapolation technique indicates that a sample size between 1,200 and 2,400 on the AFROB is adequate for a population of over 25 million people. To confirm that the information in the AFROB manual is accurate, I used a sample size calculator tool to crosscheck and got the same results. In the case of the Ghana Round 7 AFROB survey, the sample size was determined to be 2,400. This number was obtained by interviewing eligible Ghanaians of voting age (18 years and above). The margin of error was reported to be +/-2 % with a confidence level of 95%. The contact rate was also noted to be 95.90%,

whereas the co-operation rate was 82.1% (AFROB, Round 7 Survey Manual, p. 1). This information is best described in the Ghana AFROB Round 7 manual:

...it should be noted that Afrobarometer surveys are based on national probability sampling. As a consequence, the aggregated results are representative of large groups. At the national level, Afrobarometer sample sizes range from 1,200 to 2,400. Both the 1,200 and 2,400 sample sizes are large enough to make inferences about all voting age citizens with an average margin of sampling error of no more than plus or minus 2.8% at a 95% confidence level (with a sample size of 1,200) or plus or minus 2% for sample size of 2,400. (p. 1)

Apart from the adequacy of the sample size, we also observe that some of the measures in the study are representative of the entire population despite the contrasts. A review of the results on the selected measures indicates that the Akan were the dominant ethnic group in both the valid and the non-valid sample, followed by the Ewes, Ga/Adangbes, and others. In addition, when it comes to the measure *age*, the mean ages obtained in the two samples were found to be 37 years (in the valid sample) and 43 years (in the non-valid sample) respectively. These results also give an idea of the current outlook and the youthfulness of the Ghanaian population (World Bank Report, 2019). Overall, we find similar representations on several measures in both the valid and non-valid samples.

The measures that were found to have contradictory responses (in the non-valid sample) include education of respondents, age, place of residence, and gender. In the context of Ghana, this is expected. Those who live in rural areas have less access to educational resources and facilities compared to those at the urban centers. They also have higher numbers of lower levels

of education or no formal schooling than those living in urban areas (Darvas & Balwanz, 2013). Their low levels of education perhaps might have contributed to their lack of understanding of some of the issues on the survey questions, leading to "don't know/refused to" responses. The results also show that the average age of respondents in the non-valid sample was higher (43) than in the valid sample (37). This suggests that those who gave a "don't know or refused to" response were older than those who gave complete/full response on the survey.

These measures are also not surprising because the younger generations in Ghana are much more educated and knowledgeable than the older ones. Ghanaian youth are proactive, more informed, and highly involved in political and civic engagement activities Gyimah-Boadi, 2009; Opoku-Agyeman, 2013). The younger generations now have easier access to education and information than the older generations did at their age (Darvas & Balwanz, 2013). In addition, we observe that females were mostly those who gave a "don't know or refused to" response. To sum up, the descriptive results show that those who gave a "don't know/refused to" type of response are somewhat over-represented among: (a) females (women), (b) those who had no-formal education or low levels of education, (c) those living in the rural areas, and (d) older adults (had an average age of 43 versus 37). In short, survey participants whose educational backgrounds were more limited tended to be less likely to respond, perhaps due to inability to fully understand the questions being asked. However, given the large number of valid cases (n=1,710), dropping the non-valid cases still leaves an analysis sample that is adequately representative of the Ghanaian population.

3.4.2.2 Are the Selected Measures Reflective of the Construct Being Studied?

Overall, the selected variables from the Ghana Round 7 AFROB survey are representative of the theoretical concept of the QofL constructs in the study. The selected variables are well operationalized to conceptualize these measures. For example, in creating the dependent variables of subjective well-being and political engagement, the selected measures capture issues on quality of life measures. With reference to subjective well-being, the measures capture issues on the country's present economic condition, respondents' living conditions, respondents' living conditions versus those of others, how often respondents had gone without food, how often they had gone without water, how often they had gone without medical care, and how often they had gone without cash/income.

On political engagement measures, questions on the AFROB survey capture issues on freedom to say what one thinks, freedom to join political organizations, media freedom to investigate reports, freedom of opposition, trust in the president, trust in parliament/national assembly, trust in courts of law, trust in elected local government councils, trust in police, and trust in the national electoral commission. These measures are theoretically and practically related to a person's quality of life. To buttress the argument, the Ghana AFROB Round 7 manual confirms that "Afrobarometer collects and disseminates information regarding Africans' views on democracy, governance, economic reform, civil society, and quality of life" (Afrobarometer Survey Manual, p. 1).

3.4.2.3 Are Issues of Reliability a Concern?

The result obtained from the study is reliable because of the rigorous data collection process. The AFROB survey used a clustered, stratified, multi-stage probability design to select a

representative sample of voting age citizens (those who were 18 years and above); the sample frame was obtained from the Ghana Statistical Survey (GSS). The Ghana Round 7 AFROB survey is no different. In addition, the survey dataset has been widely used in conducting research pertaining to issues in Africa. Therefore, the measures selected from the survey are reliable and reflective of the overarching situation of events in Ghana. Overall, the selected variables on the AFROB survey are well suited for well-being measurement and studies. They are also representative of the theoretical concept being studied. Having handled the missingness, I proceeded to the next analytic technique, creation of the outcome measures that address research question #1.

3.5 Research Question 1: What is the Nature and Extent of Quality of Life in Ghana?

In the second analytic stage, in an attempt to answer this research question, I start by providing a rationale of how the outcome measures is created, checking several layers of assumptions as well as strategies in the selection of the variables, including (a) confirmatory factor analysis, (b) a simple sum score method, and (c) simple averages across all the selected measures.

In the first diagnostic tests, a confirmatory factor analysis was used as a guide to determine the interactiveness among the variables for grouping. Confirmatory factor analysis is essential in construct validation and determining whether the measures of a particular construct are consistent with the understanding from the literature (Harrington, 2009). Since several questions are on the AFROB survey, being guided by confirmatory factor analysis helps validate which variables were more relevant in the creation of the index. It also helped me to know which variables were interacting. Afterward, I checked for multicollinearity in order to eliminate variables that highly correlate. Checking for multicollinearity also limits the overdependency and over-interactiveness among the selected variables (Harrington, 2009; Singleton & Straits, 2005). With this process, I was able to minimize biases, which ensured stability in the variation of error term. Variables that were highly correlated were not included in the analysis, especially in running the OLS model.

In other related diagnostics, I carried out a normality and distribution test, specifically for all my selected variables. This is useful in accounting for skewness and outliers to ensure variations in the selected variables (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Rodriguez et al, 2018). Additionally, I checked for linearity of the independence of the measures used, especially including their logged odds and assumption of Large Sample Size. These diagnostics minimized biases among the interactive variables, which provides substantial information to establish stability in the direction of causality, and consistency in error terms variance (Singleton & Straits, 2005). Having gone through several diagnostic tests, I selected the best variables for the creation of my dependent variable –quality of life. Afterward, I subjected them to a reliability test to see whether they interact. Here, Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Test was carried out again to check for internal consistency among variables and how each variables interact together. According to Morgan et al. (2013), an item requires a minimum of 0.70 to indicate acceptable reliability.

After this stage, two processes were carried out in creating the quality of life indexes, either: (a) a simple sum score method and finding averages afterwards or (b) simply finding an average across all the selected measures. The latter is only possible when all the items on the measure are on the same scale (Rodriguez et al., 2018). A case in point is that in both methods (a

or b), the same results are obtained. Having done this, I completed the creation of my outcome measures – perceived subjective well-being index, actual subjective well-being, civic engagement index, and institutional trust index. In addition to statistical reasoning, I was informed by past literature and the theoretical models in the variable selection for the creation of the indexes. For example, the rationale used in the selection of the measures for institutional trust was based on the theory and the concept of separation of powers. In Ghana, for instance, three distinct and co-ordinate independent branches exist in governance – the executive, the legislative, and the judiciary. Each of these branches is assigned specific functions to perform in governance (Gyimah Boadi, 2009). In addition to these, the electoral commission plays a vital role in ensuring transparency and free and fair elections during electoral processes. These key agencies rely mainly on the local government or officials and the police to govern the country. Therefore, I selected variables from the survey that capture trust in these institutions.

In summary, I went through confirmatory factor analysis, simple sum score reasoning, simple average across all the selected measures, theoretical perspectives, and guidance from past literature to select my dependent variables (see the summary characteristics of these measures in Table 2). The first index, *Perceived Subjective Well-Being Index*, was created by combining three measures on the survey that asked participants to rate their country's present economic condition, their present living conditions, and then their living conditions compared to others. The second index, *Actual Subjective Well-Being Index*, combined four measures on the AFROB survey. These measures asked respondents to indicate how often they had gone without basic needs, which include food, water, medical care, and cash income. Because of the nature of the question on this measure, the actual subjective well-being index is reverse coded. In other words, values closer to 2 zero are treated as low/worse actual subjective well-being, whereas values closer to 4 are

considered as high/better actual subjective well-being. The third index, *Civic Engagement Index*, combines four measures on the AFROB survey that asked questions on the following: freedom to say what one thinks, freedom to join political organizations, media freedom to investigate and report, and freedom of opposition. Regarding the institutional trust index, the measures that were combined in the creation of the index captured questions on trust in the president, parliament/national assembly, national electoral commission, elected local government council, police, and courts of law.

3.6 Research Question 2: What Are the Quality of Life Outcomes By Social Groups (Bivariate Correlation)?

As already emphasized under analytic technique Stage II, in this third stage, the second research question is examined and is basically an extension of research question one: How does the nature of quality of life differ among social groupings, including: (a) education, (b) age, (c) gender, (d) ethnic groups, (e) religious groups, (f) place of residence, and (g) employment status? Here, because the outcome measures are continuous in nature, I use Pearson bivariate correlation analysis to explore the relationship between quality of life outcomes and the social groupings. The use of Pearson correlation model in answering this research question is relevant in confirming whether a statistically significant linear relationship exists between the variables. In addition, it provides a better view of the direction and strength of the association and interactiveness between quality of life outcomes and the social groupings (Agresti & Finlay, 2009).

In carrying out this analysis, I first ensured that the data and variables selected satisfied all the assumptions for Pearson correlation, including the assumption of the presence of two or more continuous variables. As already indicated in the earlier sections, the dependent variables are continuous in nature, and the social groupings were also treated as continuous variables. The next condition I needed to satisfy was the assumption of linearity, which ensures that all the variables are linearly related. If this condition is violated, then I am forced to use Spearman rho because of the existence of non-linearity. Fortunately, there is linearity between quality of life outcomes and my social groupings (see the scatterplot reporting the presence of linearity between quality of life outcomes and the social groupings on Appendix D). All related assumptions were also satisfied in the data collection process and the handling of missingness discussed in previous sections. Having met all these assumptions, I proceeded with conducting the analysis and then presented the results (see Table 5 for the summary report of the correlation matrices).

The interpretation of the results is based on guidelines provided in the literature. Pearson correlation assumes that the extent of the association is denoted by the Pearson correlation coefficient, represented by the letter r. This coefficient is measured on a scale that ranges from +1 through 0 and then to -1. When the r value is 0, it means that no correlation or linear relationship exists, and when it is -1 it means a perfect negative correlation. A value of +1 means a perfect positive correlation. Obtaining a high correlation co-efficient value implies that there is a strong relationship between two or more of the variables, and a weak correlation means that the variables in the study are hardly related (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2018).

The calculation used in computing the correlation coefficient (r) between quality of life outcomes and the social groupings is:

$$r_{xy} = rac{\mathrm{cov}(x,y)}{\sqrt{\mathrm{var}(x)} \cdot \sqrt{\mathrm{var}(y)}}$$

Where cov(x,y) = the sample covariance of x and y,

var (x) = the sample variance of x, and

var(y) = the sample variance of y.

A positive or negative correlation coefficient shows the direction of the relationship; a positive coefficient means positive correlation, whereas a negative coefficient means a negative correlation. On the other hand, the magnitude of the correlation shows the strength (how close it is to -1 or +1) of the relationship (Rodriguez, 2018). It can be interpreted as follows:

- $.1 < |r| < .3 \dots$ weak/small correlation
- $.3 < |r| < .5 \dots$ moderate / medium correlation
- .5 < |r|strong / large correlation

Using these guidelines, I attempted to provide an understanding of the result from the bivariate correlation analysis. This analysis can also be used to check for multicollinearity problems. Overall, the advantage of using this statistical approach is its relevance in determining the relationships between the quality of life outcomes and the social groupings. Secondly, it helped to predict the direction and strength of these relationships. The limitation of the Pearson correlation model is that it cannot establish causality and effect among the variables. In addition, it does not show the proportional differences among the variables the way chi-square does. Going through this analytic process helped to address research question two (how quality of life differs by the social groupings). Three levels of significance p < .001, p < .01, and p < .05 (two –

tailed tests) were considered for this study because they are normally the acceptable levels in social science research studies (Rodriguez et al., 2018). The results obtained from the analysis and discussion are presented in subsequent pages (see Table 5). A case in point, t-tests could have been employed in carrying out the analysis between some the measures because of how they were treated. However, I used Pearson correlation matrix to explain these relationships rather than a t-test to satisfy the objective of this study. By doing this, certain underlying rules and assumptions pertaining to both methods (t-test and Pearson correlation) were violated. Despite this, the same outcomes are more likely to be observed.

3.7 Research Question 3: What Are the Education Outcomes by Social Groups (Bivariate Chi-Square Analysis)?

At the fourth stage of the analytic process, the third research question was examined to look at the pattern differences between education and social groupings, including: (a) age group, (b) gender, (c) ethnic groups, (d) religious groups, (e) place of residence, and (f) employment status. Here, I carried out a non-parametric method (bivariate Chi-square) to look at how proportional patterns in education are reflected in people's education, age group, gender, ethnic groups, religious groups, place of residence, and employment status. My interest here is to look at percentage dependency between the social groupings and education (Singleton & Straits, 2005). Prior to this, I took into consideration the general characteristics of the measures, education, and the social groupings before moving on to explore relationships and pattern differences. The use of Chi-square statistics in the study assesses the test of independence between the two categorical/nominal data with the intuitive understanding of comparing expected outcomes from actual observed patterns (Agresti & Finlay 2009; Singleton & Straits 2005). The calculation used in completing the Chi-square statistic test is as follows:

$$x^2 = \sum \frac{(f_o - f_e)^2}{f_e}$$

Where f_o = the observed frequency

 f_e = the observed frequency, if NO relationship existed between the variables

The relevance of using Chi-square is to test differences of association between categorical measures. Chi-square was employed because the dependent variables and the social grouping variables are categorical in nature. This approach can be used to interpret the proportional differences and patterns between the measures. Though chi-square is relevant in exploring relationships and association, it does not give adequate information on the strength and direction of the relationships. In addition, it does not establish the causes and effects that exist between relationships, which give researchers the opportunity to make predictions (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Rodgriguez et al., 2018). In subsequent pages, I presented the results from the chi-square analysis showing proportional differences between education levels and their social groupings (see Tables 7 and 8).

3.8 Research Question 4: What is the Predictive Relationship Between Education Outcomes and Quality of Life Outcomes (Multivariate Analysis: Ordinary Least Square (OLS)?

In my fifth analytic technique, the fourth research question was explored, namely, the relative effect of educational levels on quality of life among Ghanaians. My focus here is: Are there differences in quality of life by one's level of education? If so, what level of education provides these enhanced quality of life outcomes? To answer this question, I estimated several Ordinary Least Square regression (OLS) regression models to explain the relationships among these measures. OLS is a generalized linear modelling technique used in determining the relationships between variables. OLS is also the most appropriate analytical tool because the dependent variables are continuous in nature. Additionally, several other explanatory variables were incorporated into the model to predict whether educational levels impact quality of life Singleton & Straits, 2005). OLS regression techniques have also been used in the study of subjective well-being determinants in the literature (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2018).

The advantage of using the OLS regression model is that it allows for a robust prediction of outcomes from several sets of independent variables. In addition, the OLS analytic technique is useful in identifying the strength of the relationships of the variables (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Singleton & Straits, 2005). OLS also "makes room for the legitimate use of dichotomous explanatory variables in the regression model. This is particularly useful as it makes it possible to include multi-category ordered and unordered categorical explanatory variables in a regression model if they are appropriately coded into a number of dichotomous 'dummy' categories" Singleton & Straits, 2005). The disadvantage in using OLS is that it cannot be used for dependent variables that are categorical (dichotomous/dummy) in nature. Also, OLS sometimes oversimplifies the problem and the results obtained are not so easy to interpret.

The assumptions considered in using the OLS modelling technique includes:

- The regression model must be linear in the coefficients and the error term.
- The error term must have a population mean of zero.
- All independent variables must be uncorrelated with the error term.
- Observations of the error term must be uncorrelated with each other.
- The error term must have a constant variance (no heteroscedasticity)
- No independent variable must be a perfect linear function of other explanatory variables.
- The error term must be normally distributed (optional) (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2018).

Having satisfied all these assumptions, I carried out the multivariate analysis and then estimated the OLS regression linear model in the form:

$y = \alpha + \beta x + \varepsilon$

(Hutcheson et al., 1999; p.57)

where α and β are the true (but unobserved) parameters of the regression. β is the variation of the dependent variable when the independent variable has a unitary variation. ε is the error term in the equation. This equation was used to determine the line of best-fit to approximately describe the relationship between education and the quality of life outcome measures Singleton & Straits, 2005).

3.9 Research Question 5: How Does Gender Moderate the Relationship Between Education Outcomes and Quality of Life Outcomes (Ordinary Least Square (OLS) Interaction Effects Models)?

In the last analytic technique stage, I used OLS interaction effect models to answer the fifth research question: Assuming educational attainment is associated with increased quality of life, how does this vary by gender? In other words, does gender moderate any observed relationship between education and quality of life among Ghanaians? The use of interaction effect in the regression models further expanded my understanding of the observed relationships between gender on education and quality of life outcomes.

"An interaction effect is the simultaneous effect of two or more independent variables on at least one dependent variable in which their joint effect is significantly greater (or significantly less) than the sum of parts" (Lavrakas, 2008, p.359-340). In this study, gender was used as a moderator between education levels and the quality of life outcomes (subjective well-beingperceived and actual subjective well-being, and political engagement outcomes-civic engagement and institutional trust) to deeper understand the relationship between the measures. The focus here is to determine whether men derive more quality of life benefits from education than women when we control, for example, age, place of residence, ethnicity, employment status, and religious affiliation. Fisher (1926) explains:

An interaction occurs if the relation between one predictor, X, and the outcome (response) variable, Y, depends on the value of another independent variable, Z, Z is said to be the moderator of the effect of X on Y, but a $X \times Z$ interaction also means that the effect of Z on Y is moderated by X". An interaction represents a

synergistic or multiplicative effect tested by adding a product variable, XZ to the model, implying a non-additive effect that is over and above the effect of the linear effects of X and Y entered together in the model. The regression coefficient for the product term represents the degree to which there is an interaction between the two variables (Retrieved: <u>http://web.pdx.edu/~newsomj/cdaclass/ho_interactions.pdf</u>).

The interaction models are expressed in the formulae below:

The multiple linear regression equation, with interaction effects between two predictors, can be written as follows:

$$y = \alpha + \beta_i X_i + \beta_{ii} X_{ii} + \beta_{iii} (X_i * X_{ii})$$

In the equation above, $\beta_i X_i$ and, $\beta_{ii} X_{ii}$ are the main effect of each of each variable. The interaction between them is represented by the term $\beta_{iii}(X_i * X_{ii})$ where β_{iii} is the regression coefficient. The regression coefficient β_{iii} can be interpreted as "the change in y which is expected to occur as a result of a unit change in $X_i * X_{ii}$, whilst controlling for the other terms in the model" Singleton & Straits, 2005).

The crux of interaction effect is that the nature of a relationship changes as the function of other variables. In this study, the use of the interaction terms provided me with the opportunity to understand whether education levels and quality of life is moderated or conditioned by gender or not. It provided me with a better understanding of gender differences (if any exist) when it comes to the relationship between education and quality of life among Ghanaians. Overall, interaction terms provide a more in-depth understanding of the relationships between the outcome variables, the independent variables, and the moderating variable (Rodriguez et al., 2018). The diagrams of

figures in the subsequent pages illustrate how gender as an interaction effect examines the complex relationship between education and the quality of life outcomes.

i. Interaction Effect/Moderation Effect



Figure 5. The moderating effect of gender: Education, gender and perceived subjective well-being



Figure 6. The moderating effect of gender: Education, gender and actual subjective well-being



Figure 7. The moderation effect of gender: Education and civic engagement



Figure 8. The moderation effect of gender: Education and institutional trust

In summary, six analytic techniques were carried out to address all five main research questions. The first dealt with handling of missingness, and the second employed several layers for the creation of the outcome measures. The third adopted a bivariate correlation analysis to determine the direction and strength of the relationships among the variables. The fourth used cross-tabulations to explore patterns between educational levels on the various social groupings. The fifth used Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) modelling technique in the multivariate analysis stage. Finally, the sixth employed several interaction effects models or equations to explore further relationships between the dependent variables and independent variables. I present the results obtained for each of the analytic techniques used in answering the research questions in the next pages.

4.0 Results and Findings

4.1 Introduction

The results obtained for each analysis are organized into these sections: (a) descriptive statistics provide the findings and summary characteristics on all reported measures or variables calculated from analysis sample data (n=1,710), (b) bivariate associations look at the relationship between education and the social groups, and education by quality of life outcomes, (c) multivariate OLS models examine the relative interconnection between education attainment and quality of life outcomes in the study, and (d) multivariate OLS interaction effect models explore how gender moderate the relationship between education and quality of life outcomes.

4.2 Descriptive Statistics

Table 2 presents the summary characteristics of the outcome measures used for this study. The results show that all the average indexes created, perceived subjective well-being index (α =0.69), actual subjective well-being index (α =0.71), civic engagement index (α = 0.91), and institutional trust index (α = 0.83) meet the minimum requirement of 0.70 for the Cronbach alpha reliability test. This means that all the items used in creating the indexes interact and associate.

Variables	Range	Mean	SD	Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Test
1. Perceived Subjective Well-being Index ^a	1-5	2.86	0.96	0.69
2. Actual Subjective Well-being ^b	0-4	3.36	0.72	0.71
4. Civic Engagement Index ^c	1-5	3.98	1.02	0.91
5. Institutional Trust Index ^d	0-3	1.64	0.77	0.83
(n=1,710)				

Table 2. Summary Characteristics of Outcome Measures: Ghana Round 7 Afrobarometer Survey (n=1,710)

a: Perceived subjective well-being index (country's present economic conditions, present living condition, living conditions vs. others)

b: Actual subjective well-being index (have food, water, medical care, and cash income)

c: Civic engagement index (freedom: of expression, to join political organization, of media to investigate & report, of divergent views from opposition)

d: Institutional trust index (trust in president, parliament/national assembly, national electoral commission, elected local government council, police and courts of law)

e. All the outcomes' indexes above are simple averages across responses on the same scale.

f: Actual subjective well-being index was reversed coded.

The results for the first index, *Perceived Subjective Well-Being Index* (as shown in Table 2), show that, on an average, respondents' perception of their subjective well-being ranges on a scale of 1 to 5 with a mean value of 2.86 and a standard deviation of 0.96 (μ =2.86, SD= 0.96). Values closer to 1 on the index are considered low/worse perceived subjective well-being, and values closer to 5 are considered high/better perceived subjective well-being. Here, the mean result obtained (μ =2.86) is slightly above the average of the perceived subjective well-being index, suggesting that, overall, Ghanaian respondents perceive their subjective well-being to be moderately high or better.

The results for the second index, *Actual Subjective Well-Being Index* show that, on average, respondents' perception of their actual subjective well-being ranges on a scale of 0 to 4, with a mean value of 3.36 and a standard deviation of 0.72 (μ = 3.36, SD= 0.72). Here, the mean result is

closer to 4 on the scale. This suggests that, on average, Ghanaian respondents perceive their actual subjective well-being to be high.

The results for the third index, *Civic Engagement Index*, as shown in Table 2, indicate that, on average, respondents' civic engagement ranges on a scale of 1 to 5 with a mean value of 3.98 and a standard deviation of 1.02 (μ = 3.98, SD= 1.02). The values closer to 1 on the scale are considered as low/worse civic engagement. Values closer to 5 are treated as high/better civic engagement. The mean value obtained was closer to 5, suggesting that, on average, Ghanaian respondents perceive their engagement in civic activities to be high.

Regarding institutional trust index, the result (see Table 2) shows that, on average, respondents' trust in institutions in Ghana ranges on a scale of 0 to 3 with a mean value of 1.64 and a standard deviation of 0.77 (μ = 1.64, SD= 0.77). The values that are closer to 0 are treated as low/worse institutional trust and those closer to 3 are considered as high/better institutional trust. Here, the results suggest that, on average, Ghanaians respondents have moderate trust towards institutions.

Besides the four outcome measures, other measures used for the study include educational experiences and cultural and demographic measures. The main explanatory indicator is education levels (See Table 3). The results show that nearly half (45.8%) of the respondents have at least a high school education, 24.3% have an elementary education; 13.6% report having no formal education, and 16.3% had some post-secondary education. In terms of gender differences, the results show that there are more males (52%) than females (48%). This difference in result was obtained because more female respondents in the original sample were dropped from the study because they were treated as missing cases (in other words, more females gave a "don't know" or "refused to" type of response). See Table 3.

Variable	(%)	Ν
Education		
Non-Formal Education	13.6	233
Elementary	24.6	421
High School	45.8	783
Post-High School	16.3	279
Gender		
Male	52.1	891
Female	47.9	819
Ethnicity		
Akan	52.4	896
Ewe	12.7	217
Ga	8.7	148
Others	26.2	449
Employment Status		
Yes	63.5	1,086
No	36.5	623
Denominational Affiliation		
Catholic	10.8	185
Protestant	20.2	346
Pentecostals & Evangelicals	18.5	317
Other Christians	28	479
Muslim	17	291
Traditional	5.4	93
Place of Residence		
Urban	55.7	952
Rural	44.3	757
Age group		
Young Adult (18-29)	38.9	665
Middle-Aged Adults (30-39)	24.7	422
Old-Aged Adult (40-59)	27.2	465
Elderly (60+)	9.2	158

Table 3. Summary Characteristics of Key Independent/Demographic Variables:2017 Waves of Afrobarometer (Round 7 Analysis Sample, n=1,710)

Table 3 also presents the summary characteristics of the independent variables based on the analysis sample (n=1,710) used for this study. In Table 3, when it comes to *ethnicity*, about half of those studied were the Akan (52%). The rest were distributed as follows: Ga (9%), Ewe (13%) and others (26%). Similarly, in terms of employment status, the majority of those surveyed (64%) reported having employment as opposed to 37% having no employment. In terms of denominational affiliation, the results show that, overall, the majority (78%) of respondents are Christians. The breakdown is as follows: Catholics=11%, Protestant=20.0%, Pentecostals and Evangelicals=19%, and Other Christians=28%. The smallest number of respondents belonged to the traditional group (5%). The dominance of Christian denominational affiliation in Ghana is influenced by the long historical presence of Christian missionaries (Catholics, Protestants, Pentecostal, and Evangelicals) (Boateng et al., 2020; Cogneau & Moradi, 2014). We also see that many respondents in the survey reported that they were Muslims (17%). This may be attributed to the geographical nature of the country (geographical North and South). Most Ghanaians in the northern parts of the country are affiliated with the Muslim and Catholic faiths. Natives from the northern parts of the country mostly migrated from Muslim countries before settling in presentday Ghana (Middleton, 1980). As far as place of residence is concerned, the proportion of Ghanaians living in the urban areas are higher than those in the rural areas: 56% versus 44%.

In terms of the age group of respondents, most were youth adult (39%). This is followed by the old-aged adults (27%), the middle-aged (25%), and the elderly (9%). Age as a measure is also treated as a continuous measure to allow for the carrying out of bivariate correlation to explore the relationship between quality of life outcomes and the social groups. Therefore, age as a continuous measure shows a mean of 37 years with a standard deviation of 14.7. Comparing the data in Table 3 with other sources (Ministry of Education Report, 2018, and UNESCO Institute of Statistics [UIS], 2022) shows that the analysis sample for this study has a somewhat higher level of education and more male than the general population of Ghana (<u>http://uis.unesco.org/en/country/gh#slideoutmenu</u>).

Variables	(%)	Means	Range	Std. Deviation	n
1. Equal Opportunities to education		4.50	1-5	0.87	
1 Strongly Disagree	2.4				41
2 Disagree	3.4				58
3 Neither Agree Nor Disagree	0.2				3
4 Agree	29.7				508
5 Strongly Agree	64.3				1,099
2. Difficulty to Obtain Public School Services		4.08	1-5	1.44	
1 Very easy	8.2				140
2 Easy	14.9				254
3 Difficult	6.2				106
4 Very Difficult	2.7				45
5 No contact	68.1				1,164
4. Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct		1.89	0-3	1.08	
0 Not at all likely	16.2				277
1 Not very likely	15.9				272
2 Somewhat likely	30.8				526
3 Very likely	37.1				634
5. <u>Handling Addressing Educational Needs</u>		3.17	1-4	0.85	
1 Very Badly	6.3				108
2 Fairly Badly	10.1				173
3 Fairly Well	43.5				744
4 Very Well	40.0				685
5. Government Policy Effectiveness on Education		3.75	1-5	0.92	
1 Much Worse	1.8				30
2 Worse	5.4				93
3 Same	31.3				535
4 Better	38.9				666
5 Much Better	22.6				386
(n =1,7	710)				

Table 4. Summary Characteristics of Education Experiences: 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

In Table 4, the mean value obtained when it comes to equal opportunities to education is 4.5, suggesting that, on average, Ghanaian respondents "strongly agree" that they have *equal opportunities to education*. When it comes to *difficulty to obtain public school services*, the mean value obtained is 4.1, which indicates that, on average, Ghanaian respondents perceive that they had "no contact" with public school services. On the measure government policy effectiveness on education, the mean value obtained is 3.75. This implies that, on average, Ghanaian respondents perceive that government policy effectiveness on education is better. Similarly, a mean of 1.9 obtained on the measure *likelihood to report teacher misconduct* to government institution suggests that, on average, Ghanaians are "somewhat likely" to report teacher misconduct. Regarding *how government is handling educational needs*, the mean value obtained is 3.2. This implies that, on average, Ghanaians perceive their educational needs are "fairly well" handled. All these results indicate a positive outlook on the educational sector in Ghana.

4.3 Bivariate Correlation Analysis

Table 5 presents the findings on how quality of life outcomes differs among the social groupings in Ghana including: (a) education levels, (b) age, (c) gender, d) place of residence, (e) ethnic groups, (f) religious groups, and (g) employment status. Details are discussed below.

(a) Educational Levels by Quality of Life Outcomes

The result from Table 5 shows that there is a weak relationship between the quality of life outcomes and the educational levels. This relationship is either positive or negative. As far as *subjective well-being* is concerned, those with elementary (r = -.155, p<0.001) and non-formal

education (r = -.155, p<0.001) tend to have a negative perceived subjective well-being whereas those with high school (r = .074, p<0.01) and post-secondary education (r = .180, p<0.001) tend to have a positive outlook of their perceived subjective well-being.

Similar findings can be seen when we turn to respondents' *actual subjective well-being*. The results shows that respondents with high school education (r = .094, p<0.001) and post-secondary education (r = .191, p<0.001) have a positive view of their actual subjective well-being, whereas those with non-formal education show the reverse (r = -.299, p<0.001).

As far as political engagement is concerned, the results from Table 5 show that respondents with elementary (r = -.066, p<0.01) and non-formal (r = -.116, p<0.001) education show a negative perception in their *civic engagement* whereas those with only high school education acknowledge a positive view of their civic engagement (r = .137, p<0.001). When it comes to *institutional trust*, those with high school education rather tend to trust less (r = -.077, p<0.001) in institutions, whereas those with elementary education tend to trust more (r = .064, p<0.01) in institutions.

Overall, the results suggest that respondents with lower levels (elementary and non-formal) of education tend to have a negative outlook on both their perceived and actual subjective wellbeing. In contrast, those with higher levels of education (high school and post-secondary) tend to have a positive image of their perceived and actual subjective well-being. Although similar results can be found with civic engagement, only those with high school education have a positive perception of their civic engagement. However, when it comes to institutional trust, those with elementary education trust more in institutions whereas those with high school education report the reverse. The findings in the dissertation follow previous research that argued that acquiring education confers both intrinsic and instrumental values (Alexander, 1976) and also improves other areas of life (Oreopoulos & Petronijevic, 2013). In the same vein, the dissertation findings further emphasize that obtaining higher levels of education is associated with having a positive quality of life and vice versa. The same can be said about civic engagement.

Variables	Perceived Subjective Wellbeing	Actual Subjective Wellbeing	Civic Engagement	Institutional Trust
Perceived Subjective Wellbeing	1			
Actual Subjective Wellbeing	293***	1		
Civic Engagement	.162***	.167***	1	
Institutional Trust	.119***	.030	.121***	1
Elementary	155***	034	066**	.064**
High School	$.074^{**}$.094***	.137***	077***
Post High School	$.180^{***}$.191***	.000	.002
No Education	108***	299***	116***	.029
Akan	.119***	.254***	.266***	.072**
Ewe	143***	057**	107***	027
Ga	095***	.031	031	104***
Others	.034	264***	201***	.004
Catholic	042	030	.019	015
Protestant	$.060^{**}$	$.100^{***}$.031	010
Pentecostal	013	.046	$.055^{**}$.013
Other Christian	062**	.006	$.052^{*}$	011
Muslims	.083***	067**	171***	020
Traditional	041	114***	.006	.072**
Employment status	029	.115***	.057**	043
Age	065**	.042	.134***	.125***
Gender	.042	006	.044	$.056^{*}$
Urban	.137***	.272***	.084***	155***
N=1,710				

Table 5. Correlation Matrix: Quality of Life Outcomes by Social Groups 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer(Round 7, n=1,710)

***. Correlation is significant at the 0.001 level (2-tailed).

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

(b) Ethnicity by Quality of Life Outcomes

The result shows that the relationship between ethnicity and quality of life outcomes is a weak one. These relationships can be positive or negative. As far as subjective well-being is concerned, the Ewe (-.143, p<0.001) and the Ga (r = -.095, p<0.001) ethnic groups tend to have a negative perception on their perceived subjective well-being, whereas the Akans tend to have a positive view on their perceived subjective well-being (r = .119, p<0.001). Similarly, when we turn to *actual subjective well-being*, the Akans tend to have a positive outlook on their actual subjective well-being (Akan r = .254, p<0.001), whereas the Ewes (r = .057, p<0.01) and the Other ethnic group (r = .264, p<0.001) indicate the opposite.

With regards to political engagement, the Ewes (r = -.107, p<0.001) and the other ethnic groups (r = -.201, p<0.001) perceive that their engagements in *civic activities* as negative, whereas the Akans indicate otherwise (r = .266, p<0.001). On the other hand, when it comes to *institutional trust*, the Akans tend to trust more in institutions (r = .072, p<0.01), whereas the Ga ethnic tend to trust less in institutions (r = -.104, p<0.001).

The result suggests that, overall, the Akan ethnic group acknowledge that their perceived and actual subjective well-being tends to be positive. On the contrary, the Ewes and Gas acknowledge that they have a negative outlook of their perceived subjective well-being. Besides, Ewes also tend to experience a negative actual subjective well-being. Turning to *political engagement*, the Ewes and other ethnic groups show less engagement in civic activities. However, the Akan ethnic group in general tend to more engaged in political activities, whereas those belonging to the Ga ethnic group trust less in institutions.

(c) Religion by Quality of Life Outcomes

Overall, there is a weak relationship between the quality of life outcomes and religion. These relationships are both positive and negative. Protestants, for example, view their perceived (r = .060, p<0.01) and actual (r = .100, p<0.001) subjective well-being to be positive, whereas Muslims consider their perceived subjective well-being (r = .083, p<0.001) as positive and their actual subjective well-being (r = -.067, p<0.01) as negative. The Other Christians tend to have a negative outlook of their perceived subjective (r = -.062, p<0.01), and the Traditional (r = -.114, p<0.001) rather have a negative outlook on their actual subjective well-being.

Those who consider their *civic engagement* to be positive are the Pentecostals and Evangelicals (r = .055, p<0.01) and Other Christians (r = .052, p<0.05). However, Muslims indicate the opposite (r = -.171, p<0.001). As far as *institutional trust* is concerned, the people who ascribe to the traditional belief system (r = .072, p<0.01) trust more in institutions than others.

The result suggests that, overall, as far as subjective well-being is concerned, Muslims and Protestants have a positive outlook of their perceived subjective well-being, whereas other Christians tend to experience a negative view of their perceived subjective well-being. However, when it comes to their actual subjective well-being, Protestants experience a positive actual subjective well-being, whereas Muslims and traditional tend to experience a negative actual subjective well-being. As for political engagement, Pentecostals and Evangelicals, plus other Christians, tend to have a positive perception of their civic engagements, whereas Muslims experience the reverse. Members of the traditional group trust more in institutions in Ghana.

(d) Employment Status by Quality of Life Outcomes

Overall, the results shows that there is a weak relationship between being employed and two of the quality of life outcomes: actual subjective well-being (r = .115, p<0.001) and civic

engagement (r = .057, p<0.01). This relationship is both positive and negative. The result suggests that respondents with employment perceive their actual subjective well-being (r = .115, p<0.001) and their civic engagements (r = .057, p<0.01) to be positive. This suggests that those who are employed tend to experience a positive actual subjective well-being and engage more in civic activities.

(e) Age by Quality of Life Outcomes

Generally, when it comes to respondents' age, the results show a weak relationship on quality of life outcomes: perceived subjective well-being (r = -.065, p<0.01); civic engagement (r = .134, p<0.001) and institutional trust (r = .125, p<0.001). However, this weak relationship is both positive and negative. It appears that as Ghanaians aged, their perceived subjective well-being tends to decrease, but their trust in institutions and civic engagements tend to increase.

(f) Gender by Quality of Life Outcomes

There is a weak relationship between gender and institutional trust (r = .056, p<0.05) only. However, this relationship is a positive one. This implies that Ghanaian males tend to trust more in institutions compared to their female counterparts, and this is statistically significant.

(g) Place of Residence by Quality of Life Outcomes

Generally, there is a statistically significant relationship between place of residence (urban dwellers) and Quality of life outcomes. This relationship is a weak one: Perceived subjective wellbeing (r = .137, p<0.001), actual subjective well-being (r = .272, p<0.001), civic engagement (r = .084, p<0.001), and institutional trust (r = -.55, p<0.001). However, the relationship between urban dwellers and quality of life outcomes are both negative and positive; all except institutional trust shows a negative association. These contrasting relationships suggests that those living in urban areas consider their subjective well-being and civic engagement as positive; thus, living in urban
areas improves one's chances of having a better subjective well-being and civic engagements. On the other hand, living in urban areas decreases one's chances of having trust in institutions.

4.3.1 Conclusion

Overall, there is a relatively weak relationship between quality of life outcomes and the various social groupings. These relationships are statistically significant. Gender (male), however, only shows a weak but significant relationship on institutional trust. These findings are in line with existing literature and theory on education and quality of life. As Campbell et al., 1976 puts it, quality of life tends to be related to several factors including social, cultural, and environmental factors. In the context of Ghana, Addai et al., (2014) also found that factors such as religion, ethnicity, gender, place of residence and age are determinants of one's quality of life. Thus, the dissertation finding confirms what is existing in literature.

4.4 Bivariate (Chi-Square) Analysis

Table 6 presents the results for the pattern differences between education and social groupings including: (a) age group, (b) gender, (c) ethnic groups (d) religious groups, (e) place of residence, and (f) employment status. Table 6 also shows a cross-tabulation of education levels by the various social groupings examined in the study. It empirically tests the association between educational levels and ethnicity, gender, denominational affiliation, place of residence, and employment status (Singleton & Straits, 2005). The rationale for using chi-square technique is to establish some independence between education and these variables. I explain the differences in

educational levels on the social groupings in two ways. First, I look at the proportions within education levels by social groupings (see Table 6), followed by Proportions Within Social Groupings on Education Levels (see Table 7).

(a) Proportional difference Within Education Levels on Social Groupings

Tables 6 and 7 shows proportional differences within educational levels on social groups. Overall, the results shows that there is a statistically significant relationship between education levels and the social groups: gender (X^2 =50.973, df =3, p <0.001), ethnicity (X^2 =188.865, df =9, p <0.001), religious affiliation (X^2 =83.717, df =15, p <0.001), place of residence (X^2 =121.461, df=3, p <0.001), employment status (X^2 =32.805, df =3, p <0.001), and age group (X^2 =77.960, df=3, p <0.001). This means that one's levels of education in Ghana depends on gender, ethnicity, religious affiliations, place of residence, employment status, and age group. Details of these findings are provided in subsequent pages.

No Formal Education by Social Groupings

Among those with no-formal education, the result shows that more than half of them are females (59.2%), unemployed (50.6%), rural dwellers (69.5%), and belong to the Other ethnic group (60.1%). Again, regarding respondents with no formal education, many of them are Muslims (30.8%) and are the old-aged adults (31.2%).

Elementary by Social Groupings

Among those with elementary education, the result shows that the majority (71.7%) are employed; more than half are females (58.1%); Akans (56.4%) and are rural dwellers (52.5%). In addition, fewer than half are the old-aged adult (31.4%) and the Other Christians (29.4%).

Gender Male Female Ethnicity Akan Ewe Ga Others Religious Affiliatio Traditional/None Catholic Protestant Pentecostal Other Christians Muslim Place of Residence Urban Rural Employment Statu Yes No Age Group			Educat	tion Levels	S	
Social Groupings	No Formal Education	Elementary	High School	Post High School	x ² (df)	n
<u>Gender</u>						
Male	40.8%	41.9%	56.6%	63.8%	50.973 (3) ***	890
Female	59.2%	58.1%	43.4%	36.2%		820
Ethnicity						
Akan	26.6%	56.4%	58.6%	50.7%	188.865 (9) ***	897
Ewe	4.3%	13.7%	13.8%	14.7%		216
Ga	9.0%	11.6%	8.4%	4.7%		148
Others	60.1%	18.3%	19.2%	29.9%		449
Religious Affiliation	<u>1</u>					
Traditional/None	9.8%	3.9%	5.5%	4.3%	83.717 (15) ***	94
Catholic	6.8%	8.9%	12.1%	13.2%		185
Protestant	11.5%	25.3%	20.3%	19.6%		346
Pentecostal	15.4%	22.9%	17.2%	18.6%		317
Other Christians	25.6%	29.4%	29.3%	23.9%		478
Muslim	30.8%	9.6%	15.6%	20.4%		290
Place of Residence						
Urban	30.5%	47.5%	60.8%	74.9%	121.461 (3) ***	953
Rural	69.5%	52.5%	39.2%	25.1%		757
Employment Status						
Yes	49.4%	71.7%	62.7%	65.2%	32.805 (3) ***	1,086
No	50.6%	28.3%	37.3%	34.8%		624
Age Group						
Young Adult	26.1%	29.7%	47.8%	38.7%	77.960 (9) ***	666
Middle-Aged Adults	26.9%	30.4%	18.5%	31.2%		421
Old-Aged Adult	31.2%	31.4%	25.7%	21.9%		465
Elderly	15.8%	8.5%	8.0%	8.2%		158

Table 6. Proportions Within Education Levels by Social Groupings for the 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer (Round 7, n=1,710)

***p<.001, **p<.01, and *p<.05

High School by Social Groupings

Among those with high school education, the result shows that about three out of every five respondents are employed (62.7%) and urban residents (60.8%). Also, over half of the same respondents are men (56.6%) and are affiliated with the Akan (58.6%) ethnic group. Over a quarter are the Other Christians (29.3%).

Post-Secondary School by Social Grouping.

When it comes to those with post-high school education, the result shows that the majority are urban dwellers (74.9%); over half of these same people are employed (65.2%), men (63.8%) and Akans (50.7%). In addition, many of these same respondents constitute the young adults (38.7%) and the Other Christians (23.9%).

Summary and conclusion:

Overall, the results show that respondents with lower levels of education (non-formal and elementary) in Ghana are mostly women, the unemployed, the old-aged adults, and rural dwellers. In contrast, those with higher levels of education (secondary and post-secondary) in Ghana are mostly men, employed, Akans, urban dwellers, and Other Christians. This result is consistent with the literature on education in Ghana and sub-Saharan Africa in general which is also echoed in research related subjects focusing on education in Ghana (Senadza, 2012) reporting that the vulnerable and marginalized groups in Ghana constituting mainly of women, children, rural dwellers among others are mostly those with lower levels of education (Akyeampong, 2009; Carter et al., 2020).

(b) Proportional difference within Social Groupings on Educational Levels

To shed more light on the relationship between educational levels and the social groupings, I carried out a bivariate chi-square analysis to look at how education differs within the social groupings thus, percentage within the social groupings (see Table 7).

Education Levels by Gender

Table 7 shows that education and gender are related, and this relationship is also significant $(X^2=50.973, df=3, p < 0.001)$. Among male respondents only, the result shows that majority of them have both secondary (49.8%) and post-high school (20.0%) education. On the other hand, when it comes to females only, the majority have both high school (41.4%) and elementary education (29.4%). However, irrespective of gender, more men (20.0%) tend to have post-high school education than women (12.3%).

Education Levels by Ethnicity

Significant differences were also found between education levels and ethnic group $(X^2=188.865, df = 9, p < 0.001)$. From the results, we observe generally that irrespective of a person's ethnic background, the majority tends to have both elementary and high school education. However, there are some differences; the Akans (high school:51.2% and post-high school: 15.7%) and the Ewes (high school: 50.0% and post-high: 19.0%) are more likely to have higher levels of education (high school and post-high school) than the other ethnic groups. However, at the post-high school education level, the Ewe (19.0%) ethnic group are more than the Akans (15.7%). The Ga ethnic group, on the other hand, are most likely to acquire lower levels of education: elementary (32.4%) and no-formal education (14.2%). Another striking observation is that there are more Ghanaians with no-formal education when it comes to the Other ethnic groups.

			Educatio	n Levels		
Social Groupings	pingsFormal EducationElementaryHigh SchoolPost Higl Schooler 10.7% 19.6% 49.8% 20.0% le 16.8% 29.4% 41.4% 12.3% icity 6.9% 26.1% 51.2% 15.7% 4.6% 26.4% 50.0% 19.0% 14.2% 32.4% 44.6% 8.8% s 31.2% 16.9% 33.4% 18.5% ious Affiliation 11.3% 29.9% 42.5% 15.9% tional/None 24.5% 17.0% 45.7% 12.8% obic 8.6% 20.0% 51.4% 20.0% stant 7.8% 30.3% 46.0% 15.9% costal 11.3% 29.9% 42.5% 16.4% °Christians 12.5% 25.5% 48.0% 14.0% m 24.7% 13.7% 41.9% 19.6% of Residence 10.6% 27.4% 45.3% 16.8% 18.9% 18.8% 46.8% 15.5%	Post High School	x ² (df)	n		
Gender						
Male	10.7%	19.6%	49.8%	20.0%	50.973 (3) ***	890
Female	16.8%	29.4%	41.4%	12.3%		820
Ethnicity						
Akan	6.9%	26.1%	51.2%	15.7%	188.865 (9) ***	897
Ewe	4.6%	26.4%	50.0%	19.0%		216
Ga	14.2%	32.4%	44.6%	8.8%		148
Others	31.2%	16.9%	33.4%	18.5%		449
Religious Affiliati	ion					
Traditional/None	24.5%	17.0%	45.7%	12.8%	83.717 (15) ***	94
Catholic	8.6%	20.0%	51.4%	20.0%		185
Protestant	7.8%	30.3%	46.0%	15.9%		346
Pentecostal	11.3%	29.9%	42.5%	16.4%		317
Other Christians	12.5%	25.5%	48.0%	14.0%		478
Muslim	24.7%	13.7%	41.9%	19.6%		290
Place of Residenc	<u>e</u>					
Urban	7.5%	20.7%	49.9%	21.9%	121.461 (3) ***	953
Rural	21.4%	28.8%	40.6%	9.2%		757
Employment Stat	us					
Yes	10.6%	27.4%	45.3%	16.8%	32.805 (3) ***	108 6
No	18.9%	18.8%	46.8%	15.5%		624
Age Group						
Young Adult	9.2%	18.5%	56.2%	16.2%	77.960 (9) ***	666
Middle-Aged Adults	15.0%	29.9%	34.4%	20.7%		421
Old-Aged Adult	15.7%	28.0%	43.2%	13.1%		465
Elderly	23.4%	22.2%	39.9%	14.6%		158
	23.4%	22.2% N=1		14.0%		1

Table 7. Proportions Within Social Groupings on Education Levels for the 2017 Waves of
Afrobarometer (Round 7, n=1,710)

p<.001, ***p*<.01, and **p*<.05

In conclusion, from the analysis so far, the results suggests that, in Ghana, irrespective of one's ethnic group, the expected minimum education that most people attain is a high school education. In that same respect, more Akans and Ewe ethnic groups are likely to attain higher levels of education. This may be attributed to the fact that a majority of the respondents in the study identified themselves as Akan. In addition, the Akan ethnic group constitutes the dominant ethnic group in Ghana. In addition, this ethnic group occupies the central part of the country and most of Ghana's economic resources are situated in these regions, which gives them an upper hand in terms of educational development and other economic factors. We can also trace these roots to the historical arrival and building of schools along the coastal regions, which part of the Akan ethnic group constitute (Foster, 1962).

Education Levels by Religion

In Table 7, we observe that there is an association between education and religious affiliation. The association between educational levels and religious affiliation was found to be statistically significant (X^2 =83.717, df =15, p <0.001). In general, irrespective of religious background, Ghanaians are more likely to have higher levels of education, the dominant religious group being Catholics with over 70 percent response rate (high school: 51.4%; post-high school: 20%). This is followed by Other Christians (high school: 48%; post-high school: 14%), Protestants (high school: 46%; post-high school: 15.9%), and Muslims (high school: 41.9%; post high school 24.7%). However, when it comes to non-formal education, it appears that the traditional religious group (24.5%) and Muslims (24.5%) have higher numbers, but Catholics (8.6%) and Protestants (7.8%) constitute the fewest.

The finding is also consistent with literature. Heaton and Oheneba-Sakyi (2009), for example, found that in Ghana, mainline Protestants, especially, have tremendous advantage when it comes to education and wealth, whereas Catholics and Christians are said to have "intermediate values on socioeconomic outcomes" (p.71).

Education Levels by Place of Residence

When it comes to place of residence, we find that there is an association between education levels and place of residence ($X^2=121.461$, df=3, p <0.001). Overall, the results show that many urban and rural dwellers do have some form of high school education despite the differences observed in the other educational levels. In this regard, those with higher levels of education (high school: 49.9% and post-high school: 21.9%) were found to be urban dwellers, whereas those living in rural areas had mostly lower levels of education (elementary: 28.8% and no formal education: 21.4%).

It is not surprising that Ghanaians with higher levels of education were found to be mostly living in urban areas, whereas those with lover levels of education are those in rural areas. This kind of association between educational levels and place of residence (urban and rural) is possible due to several reasons, including social inequality and differences in access to educational opportunities. The introduction of the free senior high school education policy in 2017, for example, opened educational access and opportunities for Ghanaians living in poverty and marginalized social groups, including women. For the most part, these groups live in rural areas. However, when it comes to tertiary education, access to college education depends on who can pay (Ayelazuno & Aziabah, 2021). Students must pay for their own tuition plus other required fees and charges. Because of social inequalities between those in urban versus those in rural areas (Ayelazuno & Aziabah, 2021), those living in urban areas tend to acquire college education more frequently compared to the ones in rural areas. Thus, the result from this study align with the social factors that tend to influence the association between education levels and social factors, which includes place of residence in Ghana.

Education Levels by Employment Status

When it comes to employment status, we find that there is an association between education and employment status ($X^2=32.805$, df=3, p <0.001). For both the employed and unemployed, similar trends in educational levels are found. Irrespective of whether one is employed (high school: 45.3%; post-high school: 16.8%) or unemployed (high school: 46.8%; post-high school: 15.5%), they are likely to have acquired higher levels of education. The same can be said about those with lower levels of education.

The finding from this dissertation contradicts findings from several research studies noting that education is related to employment status but is in line with that of findings from countries such as Italy, where educational levels have no relation with employment status due to the crumbling of their economy between 2012 and 2017 (Moscati & Rostan, 2000). For example, the OECD (2012) research report indicates that "in general, people with higher levels of education have better job prospects, the difference is particularly marked for those who have attained upper secondary education and those who have not" in OECD countries, of which Ghana is part (p.30). And that "men generally have higher employment rates than women; for those with tertiary education the difference reaches more than 25 percentage points in favor of men in some countries" (p.30).

Perhaps the contradictory finding in this dissertation research can be attributed to a number of reasons: First, the economic conditions of the country at the time. In 2017, for example, Ghana was facing an economic downturn, and unemployment rates were very high. This economic situation was very much unfavorable for many Ghanaians, especially college graduates. The economic collapse led to the then government returning to the IMF after the previous government had worked hard to remove Ghana from the organization. Also, for the first time in Ghana's history, the number of college students who came together to form the unemployment graduate students' association to protest to the government about their unemployment situation in the country increased drastically. Most of these students, who had high hopes of being employed after college education, remained jobless that year. Graduate unemployment rate in Ghana also plays a key role in elections of governments in Ghana. Thus, it came as no surprise that there was a change in government in December 2017. A new government with promises of employment for the youth and college graduates was elected to power. Thus, overall, this finding shows that the response of the moment can influence the outcome of the results.

Education Levels by Age Group

The result shows a statistically significant association between age group and educational levels (X^2 =77.960, *df* =3, p <0.001). Overall, we observe that, regardless of one's age group, many Ghanaians have a minimum of a high school education. Those who were found to have higher levels of education are mostly the young adults (high school: 56.2%; post-high school: 16.2%). This is followed by the middle-aged adults (high school: 34.4%; post-high school: 20.7%), the old-aged adults (high school: 43.2%; post-high school: 13.1%), and the elderly (high school: 39.9%; post-high school: 14.6%).

The results also show similar trends in levels of education between the middle-aged and the old-age groups. In comparing these two groups, the striking difference observed here is that more middle-aged adults (20.7%) have a post-high school education, whereas more old-aged adults (43.2%) had a high school education. Taking all the age groups into account, it is also observed that Ghanaians with lower levels of education (non-formal: 23.4% and elementary: 22%) are mostly the elderly. This trend observed between educational levels and age group is consistent with patterns found in research results obtained from the UNESCO Institute of Statistics (UNESCO Reports, 2018).

Again, having at least a minimum of high school education in Ghana at the time of the survey can be attributed to the introduction of the free senior high school educational policy in the same year as the survey, 2017. This policy improved access to high school education for all Ghanaians. Apart from this, the emphasis and value Ghanaians place on obtaining education cannot be overlooked. This trend may imply that acquiring education is of value to Ghanaians of all age groups. However, the levels of education attained differ by age-group.

Summary and Conclusion:

In conclusion, from the bivariate chi-square analysis so far, we observe that one's level of education depends on their social groupings apart from employment status. This means that one's level of education can be linked to his/her gender, age-group, place of residence, religious affiliation, and ethnic affiliation. This finding is consistent with the literature and related previous research. In addition, the expected minimum education that most people acquire in Ghana is high school education. As to what extent the social groupings and other explanatory variables impact

the relationship between educational levels and quality of life among Ghanaians, OLS regression models are employed to address this. Detailed information is provided below.

Regarding religious affiliation, for example, research indicates that Christians have an upper hand when it comes to educational attainment and socioeconomic outcomes (Heaton & Oheneba-Sakyi, 2009). The finding is also consistent with literature that shows an association between educational attainment and religion (Norton, & Tomal, 2009). Heaton and Oheneba-Sakyi (2009), for example, found that in Ghana, mainline Protestants, especially, have tremendous advantage when it comes to education and wealth, whereas Catholics and Christians are said to have "intermediate values on socioeconomic outcomes" (p.71), and Muslims and non-affiliates to formal religious groups are often disadvantaged because they are marginalized and have less access to resources. These differences in education access and participation and social groupings are also highlighted in other studies on educational attainment in Ghana that emphasize the gaps in accessibility and participation based on students' gender, ethnicity/regions of origin, location of school, and socioeconomic status (Atuahene & Owusu-Ansah, 2013).

The finding in this dissertation also shows that the expected minimum education that most people acquire in Ghana is high school education. This finding perhaps speaks to the findings of other research related to issues in education in Ghana, which shows that access to education in Ghana over the years has improved. In the past, students were selectively admitted into high schools because of the lack of adequate resources and infrastructure to absorb the high number of qualified students. The admission process was highly selective and competitive. However, with the improvement in infrastructure and educational resources in the country, many Ghanaians who now qualify to enroll in high school have the opportunity to attain higher levels of education (Ministry of Education Sector Performance Report, 2018). In addition, the government of Ghana has also introduced several educational policies, such as the free high school education and the leapfrog education, to encourage all Ghanaians to obtain at least a high school education. College education in Ghana is, however, not tuition free; it is much more expensive and can only be afforded by fewer than a quarter of Ghana's population. Therefore, the result which shows that majority of Ghanaians have obtained a high school education is consistent with literature and the social and economic context of the country.

As to what extent the social groupings and other explanatory variables used in this research impact the relationship between educational levels and quality of life among Ghanaians, OLS regression models are employed to address this. Detailed information is provided below.

4.5 Multivariate Analysis: Ordinary Least Square (OLS)

The use of OLS here is to estimate unknown parameters or variable (s) in the linear regression model (Agresti & Finlay, 2009; Arkes, 2019; Singleton & Straits, 2005; Tapabrata, 2009). In other words, the use of OLS in this study is relevant in determining the relative influence of all the other variables—dependent variables and independent variables on the quality of life outcomes in the study. By using OLS, I am able "to measure how certain variables move together, while holding certain factors constant" (Arkes, 2019, p.3). The explanatory/control variables used are education levels—elementary, high school, and post high school education (with no-formal education as the reference category), demographic variables, and education experiences. The results obtained when quality-of-life outcome in the study is regressed on educational levels and the control variables are reported in Tables 8 and 9. Model I and Model III (baseline models)

explores the effect of educational levels on the quality-of-life outcome. Model II and Model IV (additive models) present a report of the results when other factors are included in the regression model. The values obtained for the unstandardized (b) coefficients and their standard errors for each of the models are reported and discussed.

4.5.1 Effect of Education Levels on Subjective Well-Being

Table 8 (Model I&II) presents the summary results when perceived and actual subjective well-being are regressed on the different educational levels and the other control variables in the study.

In Model I, the result shows that, on average, those with high school and post-secondary levels of education tend to experience significant increments on their perceived subjective wellbeing compared to those with no-formal education. Those who have attained high school education (b= 0.337, p < .001), for example, indicate that their perceived subjective well-being tends to increase by 0.34 points, whereas those with post-secondary education (b= 0.650, p < .001) note that their perceived subjective well-being increases by 0.65 points. Overall, this result reflects that, on average, acquiring higher levels of education tend to improve perceptions of subjective well-being in Ghana; this finding explains 6% of the variation.

Similar findings were obtained when covariates were introduced (Model II). The result reflects that, on average, perceived subjective well-being tends to increase by 0.22 points and 0.5 points respectively among those who have attained *high school* (b= 0.226, p<.01) and *post-secondary* (b= 0.499, p<.001) education levels compared to their non-formal counterparts.

Table 8. Perceived and Actual Subjective Wellbeing Regressed on Educational Outcomes (OLS Regression): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

	Perceived	Subjectiv	e Wellbeing	Index	Actual S	Actual Subjective Wellbeing Index			
	Mode	11	Model	П	Model III		Model	IV	
Variables	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE	
1. Key Exploratory Variable									
Education									
Elementary	-0.003	-0.076	-0.028	0.078	0.496****	0.055	0.308****	0.055	
High School	0.337 ****	0.070	0.226 ***	0.074	0.613****	0.050	0.421****	0.052	
Post-Secondary	0.650 ****	0.083	0.499 ****	0.086	0.849****	0.060	0.664****	0.061	
Ref: Non formal Education	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
2. Education Experiences									
Equal Opportunities to education (scale)			0.031	0.026			-0.033	0.019	
Difficulty to obtain public school services (scale)			-0.006	0.009			0.017**	0.007	
Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct (scale)			0.013	0.020			0.006	0.015	
Handling of educational needs (scale)			0.137 ****	0.031			0.041	0.022	
Government Policy Effectiveness on Education (scale)			0.141 ****	0.029			0.012	0.021	
3. Demographics									
Ethnicity									
Akan			-0.159**	0.071			0.396****	0.051	
Ewe			-0.445****	0.087			0.138**	0.062	
Ga			-0.380****	0.098			0.334****	0.069	
Ref: Others			-	-			-	-	
Denominational Affiliation									
Catholic			0.012	0.115			0.133	0.082	
Protestant			0.258 ****	0.106			0.267****	0.075	
Pentecostal & Evangelicals			0.109	0.107			0.235***	0.076	
Other Christians			0.093	0.103			0.195***	0.073	
Muslim			0.226 **	0.115			0.363****	0.082	
Ref: None/Traditional			-	-			-	-	
Employment Status (1=Yes; Ref:No=0)			-0.034	0.046			0.106****	0.033	
Age (Continuous)			-0.002	0.002			0.004****	0.001	
Gender (1=Yes; Ref:Female=0)			0.035	0.044			-0.062 **	0.032	
Place of Residence (1=Urban; Ref:Rural=0)			0.167 ****	0.046			0.234****	0.033	
Adjusted R-Square	0.06		0.14		0.11		0.22		
Constant	2.603		1.601		2.816		2.075		
N	1710		1710		1710		1710		

****p<.001, ***p<.01, and **p<.05

a: Reported coefficients for all variables are both Unstandardized beta (b) and Standard Error

b: Model I: Perceived Subjective Wellbeing index on Education Levels only

c: Model II: Perceived Subjective Wellbeing index on Education Levels plus all Control Variables

- d: Model III: Actual Subjective Wellbeing index on Education Levels only
- e: Model IV: Actual Subjective Wellbeing index on Education plus all Control Variables

Despite these increments, the co-efficients obtained for educational levels in Model II were found to be lower compared to that in Model I. This suggests that other factors apart from educational levels significantly contribute to these perceptions of subjective well-being. These factors include ethnicity, denominational affiliation, place of residence, handling of educational needs, and government policy effectiveness on education. Among these factors, those that influence perceived subjective well-being positively include place of residence (b= 0.167, p<.001) and affiliation to the Muslim (b= 0.226, p<.05) and Protestant (b= 0.258, p<.001) faiths.

With regards to place of residence, the result suggests that those living in urban areas, on average, perceive their subjective well-being to be 0.17 points higher than those in rural areas. Turning to denominational affiliation, the findings show that Protestants and Muslims, on average, indicate that their perceived subjective well-being tends to increase by 0.25 points and 0.23 points respectively compared to Ghanaians engaged in indigenous belief or traditional system. This suggests that, overall, Protestants and Muslims in Ghana tend to have a better outlook of their perceived subjective well-being compared to the traditionalists. It also seems that the government's handling of educational needs (b= 0.137, p<.001) and government policy effectiveness on education (b=0.141, p<.001) tend to improve perceived subjective well-being. Contrary to these factors, ethnicity (Akan, Ewe and Ga) tends to influence perceived subjective well-being negatively. For example, on average, the Akan report their subjective well-being to be 0.15 points lower (b= -0.159, p < .05) than the others. Also, lower perceptions of subjective well-being are reported among the Ewe (b= -0.445, p<.001) and Ga (b= -0.380, p<.001) ethnic groups. This suggests that belonging to any of the major ethnic groups tends to decrease perceived subjective well-being in Ghana. All these findings account for 14% of the unexplained variations.

Belonging to an ethnic group in Ghana comes with several responsibilities. In Ghana, the very strong ties, and affiliations that individuals have towards their ethnic groups are highly recognized. Most researchers and observers would agree that Ghanaians originate from a diverse ethnic background, making the country one of the most multilingual societies in the world. These clusters of ethnic groups and history of educational attainment are based on pre-colonial and post-colonial structures that made educational infrastructure and resources more accessible to some ethnic groups than others. Consistent with findings in Model I and II (in Table 8), once more I observed in Model III that actual subjective well-being is positively influenced by formal education attainment. For example, Ghanaians' actual subjective well-being tends to increase by 0.5 points among those who have attained elementary (b= 0.496, p < .001), 0.6 points among those with high school (b= 0.613, p < .001), and 0.8 points among those with post-secondary (b=0.849, p < .001) educational levels compared to those with no-formal education. This finding is explained by 11% of the variation. Overall, I conclude that actual subjective well-being tends to increase with increasing levels of education.

Finally, in Model IV, I again observe that, on average, obtaining elementary (b= 0.308, p < .001), high school (b= 0.421, p < .001), and post-secondary education (b= 0.664, p < .001) positively predict actual subjective well-being when control variables are included. In other words, Ghanaians who have attained elementary education indicate their actual subjective well-being tends to increase by 0.3 points more than those with no-formal education, whereas those with high school and post-secondary educational levels report that their actual subjective well-being increases by 0.42 points and 0.67 points, respectively. Besides the main effect of educational levels, the other explanatory variables that were found to be strongly linked to positive actual subjective well-being include ethnicity, denominational affiliation, employment status, age, place

of residence, and education experiences. As far as ethnicity is concerned, those belonging to the Akan (b= 0.396, p < .001), Ewe (b= 0.138, p < .05), and Ga (b= 0.334, p < .001) ethnic groups tend to have higher actual subjective well-being compared to the others. This observation contradicts the findings for ethnicity in Model II. With regards to the religious groups, on average, people affiliated with the Protestant (b= 0.267, p < .001), Pentecost and Evangelicals (b= 0.235, p < .001), Other Christians (b= 0.195, p < .001), and Muslims (b= 0.363, p < .001) groups tend to experience improved actual subjective well-being compared to those affiliated with the traditional or native belief systems. Another interesting finding is that actual subjective well-being tends to increase among Ghanaians with aging (b= 0.004, p < .001). Moreover, those living in urban areas acknowledged their actual subjective well-being to be 0.2 points (b= 0.234, p<.001) better than those in the rural areas, and the employed (b= 0.106, p < .001) report their actual subjective wellbeing to be 0.1 points higher than those without employment. Also, the measure *difficulty to obtain* public school services (b= 0.017, p < .05) significantly predicts actual subjective well-being positively among Ghanaians. In contrast to all these findings, gender negatively predicts actual subjective well-being. Men (b= -0.062, p < .05), on average, score 0.06 points lower than women on their actual subjective well-being index. All these findings account for 22% of the unexplained variations. In connecting all these findings, I therefore conclude that acquiring formal education improves overall subjective well-being (whether perceived or actual). In addition, these findings also reflect that subjective well-being tends to increase with increasing levels of formal education. This suggests that acquiring higher levels of education improves subjective well-being in Ghana. Other factors are also determinants of subjective well-being in Ghana. The finding from the study is consistent with prior research on education and subjective well-being. It also supports the direct and relative effect theory.

	Civic Engagement Index				Institutional Trust Index			
	Model	I	Model	II	Model III		Model IV	
Variables	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE
1. Key Exploratory Variable								
Education								
Elementary	0.180 ***	0.083	-0.065	0.080	0.031	0.063	0.079	0.065
High School	0.452 ****	0.075	0.171 ***	0.076	-0.121**	0.057	-0.079	0.061
Post-Secondary	0.298 ****	0.090	0.032	0.089	-0.054	0.068	-0.009	0.071
Ref: Non formal Education	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2. Education Experiences								
Equal Opportunities to education (scale)			0.123 ****	0.027			-0.013	0.022
Difficulty to obtain public school services (scale)			0.023 ***	0.010			-0.012	0.008
Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct (scale)			0.075 ****	0.021			0.061 ****	0.017
Handling of educational needs (scale)			0.051	0.032			0.097 ****	0.026
Government Policy Effectiveness on Education (scale)			0.244 ****	0.030			0.066 ***	0.024
3. Demographics								
Ethnicity								
Akan			0.130	0.074			-0.039	0.059
Ewe			-0.252***	0.090			-0.054	0.072
Ga			-0.099	0.101			-0.268****	0.081
Ref: Others			-	-			-	-
Denominational Affiliation								
Catholic			0.094	0.119			-0.172	0.096
Protestant			0.010	0.109			-0.150	0.088
Pentecostal & Evangelicals			0.089	0.110			-0.111	0.089
Other Christians			0.102	0.106			-0.107	0.085
Muslim			-0.171	0.119			-0.118	0.096
Ref: None/Traditional			-	-			-	-
Employment Status (1=Yes; Ref:No=0)			0.107 **	0.047			-0.070	0.038
Age (Continuous)			0.008 ****	0.002			0.005 ****	0.001
Gender (1=Yes; Ref:Female=0)			0.074	0.046			0.085 ***	0.037
Place of Residence (1=Urban; Ref:Rural=0)			0.134 ***	0.048			-0.203****	0.038
Adjusted R-Square	0.02		0.19		0.01		0.09	
Constant	3.682		1.490		1.695		1.197	
N	1710		1710		1710		1710	

Table 9. Civic Engagement and Institutional Trust Regressed on Educational Outcomes (OLS Regression): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

****p<.001, ***p<.01, and **p<.05

a: Reported coefficients for all variables are both Unstandardized beta (b) and Standard Error

b: Model I: Civic Engagement index on Education Levels only

c: Model II: Civic Engagement index on Education Levels plus all Control Variables

d: Model III: Institutional Trust index on Education Levels only

e: Model IV: Institutional Trust index on Education plus all Control Variables

4.5.2 Effect of Education Levels on Political Engagement

Table 9 (Model I& Model II) provides a summary of results when civic engagement and institutional trust are regressed on education levels, holding all other variables constant. Consistent with previous findings on subjective well-being, the results obtained in Model I here show that there are significant differences in civic engagement between those who have attained formal education (elementary: b=0.180, p<.01; high school: b=0.452, p<.001; post-secondary: b=0.298; p < .001) compared to those with no formal education. Interestingly, those holding a high school education tend to report the highest increment in civic engagement (0.45 points more) compared to those with no formal education. This is followed by those holding a post-secondary (0.30 points)more) and elementary (0.20 points) educational. These findings from Model I (Table 9) account for 2% of the unexplained variations. However, turning to Model II, I observe contrary findings (to Model I). The result shows no significant contribution of educational levels to civic engagement in Ghana except for high school education (b= 0.171, p < .01); on average, Ghanaians who have attained high school education report that their civic engagement tends to increase by 0.17 points more than their counterparts with no-formal education. This finding is consistent with literature on waning civic engagement among the educated and elite in western countries (Bucci, 2019); however, this does not support my hypothesis that acquiring higher levels of education tends to increase a one's civic engagement in Ghana.

Again, the results from Model II (which also reflect similar patterns of the findings from the previous results in Table 8, Models I & II) show that other variables account for civic engagement in Ghana. For example, factors that positively predict civic engagement in Ghana include *equal opportunities to education* (b= 0.123, p<.001), *difficulty to obtain public services*

(b= 0.023, p < .01), likelihood of reporting teacher misconduct (b= 0.075, p < .001), and government policy effectiveness on education (b= 0.244, p < .001). In addition, Ghanaians who are employed (b= 0.107, p < .05) compared to the unemployed, and those living in urban areas (b= 0.134, p < .01) relative to those living in rural areas, on average report that their civic engagement tend to increase by 0.1 points. As far as age is concerned, Ghanaians on average tend to engage more in civic activities as they grow in age (b= 0.008, p < .001). This finding contrasts with other studies on the effect of age on civic engagements in the western world (Adler & Goggin, 2005; Putnam, 2000). All these findings account for 19% of the unexplained variations in the civic engagement index. Overall, the findings from Model II support the relative effective theory.

Model III and Model IV provide a summary report showing when institutional trust is regressed on educational levels and the control variables. The result from Model III shows that, holding all other factors constant, Ghanaians who have attained a high school education, on average, tend to trust less in institutions (b= -0.121, p<.05). This finding is explained by 1% of the variation in the model. The introduction of covariates (Model IV) rather suppressed the effect of educational levels on institutional trust; there was no significant relationship between educational levels and institutional trust. Rather, other factors were found to influence institutional trust in Ghana. For example, on average, males tend to trust more (b=0.085, p<.01) in institutions than females. In addition, it is also observed that as Ghanaians grow in age (b= 0.005, p<.001), they tend to have more trust in institutions. Other factors that were found to positively predict institutional trust in Ghana include likelihood of reporting teacher misconduct (b= 0.061, p<.001), handling of educational needs (b= 0.097, p<.001), and government policy effectiveness on education (b= 0.066, p<.01). In contrast to these findings, ethnicity (specifically the Ga ethnic group) negatively predicts institutional trust. In other words, trust in institutions among the Ga

ethnic group tends to decrease by 0.3 points compared to the other ethnic group (Ga ethnic group (b= 0.268, p<.001). Also, those living in urban areas (b= -0.203, p<.001) compared to those in rural areas indicated having less trust in institutions. This suggests that trust in institutions among those living in urban areas tends to decrease by 0.2 points compared to their counterparts in rural areas. These findings account for 9% of the unexplained variations in the institutional trust index.

Taking all these findings into consideration, I conclude that educational levels tend to improve civic engagement activities in Ghana but lower trust in institutions, especially among people with high school education only. Like the findings on subjective well-being, other measures also account for political engagement in Ghana, including place of residence, age, employment status, ethnicity, gender, and education experiences.

Overall, the finding of this study suggests that the relationship between education and QOL is significant but a weak indicator. Education is among a set of important variables, not necessarily having the strongest relationship with QOL. This means that education attainment in not the only factor driving quality of life. Other dimensions of life experiences and culture are also influential. This is in line with established and pre-existing literature on quality of life measures, which report that other social factors in one way or the other contribute to the overall perceived quality of life among Ghanaians (Campbell et al., 1976).

4.6 Multivariate Analysis: Ordinary Least Square (OLS) Interaction Effect Models

Given the assumption that the benefit of educational attainment on quality of life varies by one's gender, Tables 10 through13 present summary reports on how gender moderates the relationship between educational outcomes and quality of life outcomes. The main issue here is whether men derive more quality of life benefits from education than their women (female) counterparts. A series of OLS interaction effect models were carried out to explore these relationships, and the results are reported in Table 10, 11, 12 and 13. For each table, Model I is the additive model for education and gender only, whereas Model II is the interaction effect analysis. Model III is the full model of the regression equation, which includes other covariates. The findings are discussed in the subsequent pages.

4.6.1 The Moderation Effect of Gender: Subjective wellbeing, Education and Gender

Table 10 and Table 11 provide the summary report of the moderating effect of gender on subjective well-being (perceived and actual) and educational outcomes. The results from Model I (Table 10) show that gender does not moderate the relationship between education and perceived subjective well-being. Despite this, there remains a strong positive link between educational levels and perceived subjective well-being, especially at the high school (b= 0.336, p<.001) and post-secondary (b= 0.650, p<.001) levels.

These findings (just like the previous from the regression results in Table 8) accounts for 6% of the variation. These findings did not change when gender was introduced as an interaction effect (Model II). Gender, again, had no effect on the relationship between education and perceived subjective well-being; however, a strong and significant relationship was found between higher levels of education (high school: b = 0.360, *p*<.001; post-secondary education: b = 0.645, *p*<.001) and perceived subjective well-being.

Consistent with the findings in Models I and II, the results from the analysis obtained in Model III (full model), which includes other covariates, again confirm that gender has no effect on the relationship between education levels and perceived subjective well-being. Rather, other factors such as ethnicity, affiliation to the Protestant and Muslim religious groups, place of residence, handling of educational needs, and government policy effectiveness on education are determinants of perceived subjective well-being in Ghana. The findings in Model II account for 5% of the variation, whereas those in Model III accounts for 14%. What this means is that the entire observations and conclusion drawn from the study are wholly explained by fewer than 20% of the differences among the measures. As Singleton and Straits (1998) put it, the relevance of using an "Adjusted R-Squared" (which is normally the improved version of the R-squared) provides, in context, some impactful accuracy and reliability of additional measures or variables in the equation model.

Turning to the results obtained for *actual subjective well-being*, when gender was added to education (Model I) it is observed that, on average, men reported having lower actual subjective well-being compared to their women counterparts (b= -0.078, p<.01). In other words, men's subjective well-being is less than women's by just 0.08 points. However, when gender was introduced as a moderating effect in Model II, gender shows no significant difference as far as the relationship between educational levels and actual subjective well-being is concerned. Although this finding is not surprising, especially in the context of Ghana, educational levels remain a strong potent force in determining people's actual subjective well-being.

Table 10. Moderating Effect of Gender on Perceived Subjective Wellbeing and Educational Outcomes (OLS Interaction Effect Model): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

	Perceived Subjective Wellbeing Index								
	Model	II	Model	П	Model I	п			
Variables	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE			
1. Key Exploratory Variable									
Education									
Elementary	-0.003	-0.076	0.007	0.100	-0.030	0.098			
High School	0.336 ****	0.070	0.360 ****	0.094	0.255****	0.095			
Post-Secondary	0.650 ****	0.083	0.645 ****	0.122	0.518****	0.120			
Ref: Non formal Education	-	-	-	-	_	-			
Male	0.003	0.046	0.032	0.124	0.069	0.120			
2. Interaction Effect									
Elementary * Male			-0.023	0.155	0.002	0.149			
High School * Male			-0.049	0.141	-0.061	0.136			
Post Secondary * Male			-0.004	0.170	-0.041	0.163			
3. Education Experiences									
Equal Opportunities to education (scale)					0.031	0.026			
Difficulty to obtain public school services (scale)					-0.007	0.009			
Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct (scale)					0.013	0.020			
Handling of educational needs (scale)					0.136 ****	0.031			
Government Policy Effectiveness on Education (scale)					0.142 ****	0.029			
4. Demographics									
Ethnicity_									
Akan					-0.156**	0.071			
Ewe					-0.445****	0.087			
Ga					-0.379****	0.098			
Ref: Others					-	-			
Denominational Affiliation									
Catholic					0.016	0.116			
Protestant					0.261 ***	0.106			
Pentecostal & Evangelicals					0.112	0.107			
Other Christians					0.097	0.103			
Muslim					0.230 **	0.116			
Ref: None/Traditional					-	-			
Employment Status (1=Yes; Ref:No=0)					-0.034	0.046			
Age (Continuous)					-0.002	0.002			
Place of Residence (1=Urban; Ref:Rural=0)					0.167 ****	0.046			
	0.06		0.05		0.14				
Adjusted R-Square	2.601		2.590		1.581				
Constant									
Ν	1710		1710		1710				

****p<.001, ***p<.01, and **p<.05

a: Reported coefficients for all variables are both Unstandardized beta (b) and Standard Error

b: Model I: Gender on Perceived Subjective Wellbeing index and Education Levels only

c: Model II: Gender on Perceived Subjective Wellbeing index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect

d: Model III: Gender on Perceived Subjective Wellbeing index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect plus all controls

Table 11. Moderating Effect of Gender on Actual Subjective Wellbeing and Educational Outcomes (OLS Interaction Effect Model): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

	Actual Subjective Wellbeing Index								
	Model	Ι	Model	П	Model III				
Variables	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE			
1. Key Exploratory Variable									
Education									
Elementary	0.497****	0.055	0.530****	0.072	0.332****	0.070			
High School	0.625****	0.051	0.612****	0.068	0.416****	0.067			
Post-Secondary	0.866****	0.060	0.881****	0.088	0.704****	0.086			
Ref: Non formal Education	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Male	-0.078 ***	0.033	-0.063	0.090	-0.036	0.085			
2. Interaction Effect									
Elementary * Male			-0.081	0.112	-0.060	0.106			
High School * Male			0.020	0.102	0.000	0.097			
Post Secondary * Male			-0.028	0.123	-0.073	0.116			
3. Education Experiences									
Equal Opportunities to education (scale)					-0.032	0.019			
Difficulty to obtain public school services (scale)					0.016***	0.007			
Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct (scale)					0.006	0.015			
Handling of educational needs (scale)					0.041	0.022			
Government Policy Effectiveness on Education (scale)					0.012	0.021			
4. Demographics									
Ethnicity_									
Akan					0.396****	0.051			
Ewe					0.138**	0.062			
Ga					0.333****	0.070			
Ref: Others					-	-			
Denominational Affiliation									
Catholic					0.136	0.082			
Protestant					0.268****	0.076			
Pentecostal & Evangelicals					0.238***	0.076			
Other Christians					0.197***	0.073			
Muslim					0.365****	0.083			
Ref: None/Traditional					-	-			
Employment Status (1=Yes; Ref:No=0)					0.106****	0.033			
Age (Continuous)					0.004****	0.001			
Place of Residence (1=Urban; Ref:Rural=0)					0.234****	0.033			
Adjusted D. Seuse	0.11		0.11		0.22				
Adjusted R-Square	2.848		2.842		2.059				
N	1710		1710		1710				

****p<.001, ***p<.01, and **p<.05

a: Reported coefficients for all variables are both Unstandardized beta (b) and Standard Error

c: Model II: Gender on Actual Subjective Wellbeing index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect

d: Model III: Gender on Actual Subjective Wellbeing index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect plus all contr

b: Model I: Gender on Actual Subjective Wellbeing index and Education Levels only

In both Model I (elementary: b= 0.497, p<.001; high school: b= 0.625, p<.001; and post-secondary: b= 0.866, p<.001) and Model II (elementary: b= 0.530, p<.001; high school: b= 0.612, p<.001; and post-secondary: b= 0.881, p<.001), the relationship between educational levels and actual subjective well-being was positive and significant. Additionally, in both models, the adjusted R-square values were the same—the findings in each accounted for 11% of the variation. When other covariates were introduced (Model III), similar findings were obtained. Here, again, gender showed no difference in moderating the relationship between education and actual subjective well-being.

Overall, gender does not moderate the relationship between educational levels and subjective well-being (whether perceived or actual), especially when we control for age, place of residence, ethnicity, employment status, denominational affiliation, and education experiences. Such findings suggest that both men and women tend to derive equal subjective well-being benefits from education attainment. This finding goes to support feminist theory that advocates for women to be given equal access to higher levels of education just like their male counterparts. Ghanaian women must be encouraged to attain higher levels of education because of its link to improved subjective well-being regardless of one's gender. Besides, this finding is also best supported by the direct effect theory. In addition, the relative effect theory best explains the differences in any observed relationships (between educational levels and subjective well-being) which were accounted for by other covariates in the study.

4.6.2 The Moderation Effect of Gender: political engagement, education, and gender

Table 12 and Table 13 provide the summary report of the moderating effect of gender on political engagement (civic engagement and institutional trust) and educational outcomes. Overall,

similar patterns observed in the previous findings (that is, the moderating effect of gender on subjective well-being and education) were also found here. Model I (additive) and Model II (interaction effect) from Table 12 show that gender does not moderate the relationship between education and civic engagement in Ghana. However, both models – Model I (elementary: b= 0.180, p < .05; high school: b = 0.444, p < .001; post-secondary: b = 0.287, p < .001) and Model II (elementary: b = 0.229, p < .05; high school: b = 0.375, p < .001) – show that educational attainment positively impacts civic engagement in Ghana. What is also surprising is that when other factors were introduced (Model III, the full model), there was no significant difference in the moderating effect of gender on the relationship between education and civic engagement. Other demographic factors, such as place of residence, age, employment status, and ethnicity, rather, accounted for the differences on civic engagement. These findings accounted for 20% of the variation in differences.

From Table 13, with regards to institutional trust, across all the three models what seemed very striking is that people with high school education only tend to trust less in institutions. This finding is statistically significant (Model I: b = -0.138, p < .01; Model II: b = -0.241, p < .01; Model III: b = -0.177, p < .01). Additionally, when gender was added to education (Model I), Ghanaian men tend to trust more in institutions compared to their women counterparts. In other words, males indicate that their trust in institutions is 0.1 point more than their female counterparts (b = 0.107, p < .01). Conversely, whether gender is used as a moderating effect (Model II) or other covariates are included in the regression equation (Model III), the results showed that Ghanaian men and women reported no differences when it comes to comes to the relationship between education and institutional trust.

In conclusion, there are virtually no differences in outcomes between men and women when it comes to education attainment influencing their political engagement in Ghana. However, differences that may exist are accounted for by other factors (see Table 12 and Table 13 in the next pages).

4.7 Summary and Conclusion

There is a general perception that there is a relationship between education and quality of life and that education provides an upward social mobility in many countries. The results obtained from the study show that Ghana is no exception. As stated in the preceding chapters, this is the first time such a study, to the best of my knowledge, on education and quality of life has been conducted in Ghana. This study, therefore, uses survey data to explore the relationship between educational levels on people's quality of life in Ghana.

In this chapter, I reported the quantitative findings on the extent to which education helps our understanding of quality of life in a developing country such as Ghana. First, confirmatory factor analysis and simple average across all the selected measures were used to deduce the overall quality of life among Ghanaians. The result showed that Ghanaians, in general, tend to have high levels of quality of life, especially with their actual subjective well-being and civic engagements.

Second, bivariate models were used to examine how the nature of quality of life differs among the social groupings, focusing on age, gender, place of residence, ethnic groups, religious groups, and employment status. The Pearson correlation statistics results showed that there is a relatively weak relationship between quality of life outcomes and the educational levels. However, apart from educational levels, other social factors, including religious affiliation, ethnicity, age, gender, place of residence, and employment status are likely to influence quality of life. Gender, however, only shows a weak but significant relationship to institutional trust.

Table 12. Moderating Effect of Gender on Civic Engagement and Educational Outcomes (OLS Interaction Effect Model): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

	Civic Enagagement Index								
	Model	Ι	Model	П	Model I	п			
Variables	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE			
1. Key Exploratory Variable									
Education									
Elementary	0.180 **	0.083	0.229**	0.108	0.020	0.102			
High School	0.444 ****	0.075	0.375****	0.102	0.151	0.098			
Post-Secondary	0.287 ****	0.090	0.171	0.132	0.003	0.124			
Ref: Non formal Education	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Male	0.049	0.050	-0.021	0.135	0.108	0.124			
2. Interaction Effect									
Elementary * Male			-0.115	0.168	-0.207	0.154			
High School * Male			0.141	0.153	0.025	0.140			
Post Secondary * Male			0.206	0.184	0.036	0.169			
3. Education Experiences									
Equal Opportunities to education (scale)					0.124 ****	0.027			
Difficulty to obtain public school services (scale)					0.023 ***	0.010			
Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct (scale)					0.075 ****	0.021			
Handling of educational needs (scale)					0.052	0.032			
Government Policy Effectiveness on Education (scale)					0.244 ****	0.030			
4. Demographics									
Ethnicity									
Akan					0.131	0.074			
Ewe					-0.245***	0.090			
Ga					-0.097	0.101			
Ref: Others					-	_			
Denominational Affiliation									
Catholic					0.096	0.119			
Protestant					0.010	0.110			
Pentecostal & Evangelicals					0.090	0.111			
Other Christians					0.103	0.107			
Muslim					-0.171	0.120			
Ref: None/Traditional					-	-			
Employment Status (1=Yes; Ref:No=0)					0.105 **	0.047			
Age (Continuous)					0.008 ****	0.002			
Place of Residence (1=Urban; Ref:Rural=0)					0.129 ***	0.048			
	0.02		0.02		0.20				
Adjusted R-Square	0.02		0.03		0.20				
Constant	3.662		3.690		1.474				
N	1710		1710		1710				

****p<.001, ***p<.01, and **p<.05

a: Reported coefficients for all variables are both Unstandardized beta (b) and Standard Error

c: Model II: Gender on Civic Engagement index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect

d: Model III: Gender on Civic Engagement index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect plus all controls

b: Model I: Gender on Civic Engagement index and Education Levels only

Table 13. Moderating Effect of Institutional Trust and Educational Outcomes (OLS Interaction Effect
Model): 2017 Waves of Afrobarometer

		I	nstitutional T	rust Index	<u> </u>	
	Model	Ι	Model	Π	Model III	
Variables	b	SE	b	SE	b	SE
1. Key Exploratory Variable						
Education						
Elementary	0.030	0.063	0.016	0.082	0.070	0.082
High School	-0.138***	0.058	-0.241***	0.077	-0.177***	0.079
Post-Secondary	-0.079	0.069	-0.102	0.100	-0.031	0.100
Ref: Non formal Education	-	-	-	-	-	-
Male	0.107 ***	0.038	-0.014	0.102	-0.029	0.100
2. Interaction Effect						
Elementary * Male			0.037	0.127	0.025	0.124
High School * Male			0.216	0.116	0.206	0.113
Post Secondary * Male			0.080	0.140	0.076	0.135
3. Education Experiences						
Equal Opportunities to education (scale)					-0.013	0.022
Difficulty to obtain public school services (scale)					-0.013	0.008
Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct (scale)					0.062 ****	0.017
Handling of educational needs (scale)					0.098 ****	0.026
Government Policy Effectiveness on Education (scale)					0.063 ***	0.024
4. Demographics						
Ethnicity						
Akan					-0.041	0.059
Ewe					-0.056	0.072
Ga					-0.272****	0.081
Ref: Others					-	-
Denominational Affiliation						
Catholic					-0.181**	0.096
Protestant					-0.161	0.088
Pentecostal & Evangelicals					-0.120	0.089
Other Christians					-0.118	0.086
Muslim					-0.131	0.096
Ref: None/Traditional					-	-
Employment Status (1=Yes; Ref:No=0)					-0.069	0.038
Age (Continuous)					0.005 ****	0.001
Place of Residence (1=Urban; Ref:Rural=0)					-0.201****	0.038
Adjusted R-Square	0.01		0.01		0.09	
Constant	1.651		1.701		1.262	
N	1710		1710		1710	

*****p*<.001, ****p*<.01, and ***p*<.05 a: Reported coefficients for all variables are both Unstandardized beta (b) and Standard Error b: Model I: Gender on Institutional Trust index and Education Levels only

c: Model II: Gender on Institutional Trust index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect

d: Model III: Gender on Institutional Trust index, Education Levels, and Interaction Effect plus all controls

Again, a bivariate chi-square (cross-tabulation) statistic model was used to examine how perception on education levels differ by various social groupings. Here, the categories considered are age, gender, ethnicity, religion, place of residence, and employment status. The results showed that Ghanaians' levels of education depend on their social groupings apart from employment status. In addition, the expected minimum education that most people acquire in Ghana is high school education. Ghanaians with lower levels of education (non-formal and elementary) are mostly women, the unemployed, old-aged adults, and rural dwellers. In contrast, those with higher levels of education (secondary and post-secondary) in Ghana are mostly men, employed, Akans, urban dwellers, and Other Christians. These findings are supported by literature.

Thirdly, based on the assumption that educational attainment is associated with increased quality of life, I used (1) OLS regression model and (2) a series of interaction terms to determine whether men derive more quality of life benefits from education compared to their female counterparts, especially when we control for age, place of residence, ethnicity, employment status, and religious affiliation. The overall result from this study fully supports my research questions, except the use of gender as a moderating effect on education and quality of life outcomes. First, the findings reflect that educational attainment positively impacts quality of life. Quality of life among Ghanaians tends to increase with higher levels of education. Second, other related measures that are strongly associated with better quality of life in Ghana include: age, ethnicity, employment status, place of residence, religion, and government handling of educational needs. These findings support earlier studies in the literature on education and quality of life in the western world and other developing countries (Campbell et al., 1976).

Finally, gender did not reveal any difference as far as education and quality of life is concerned. This finding contradicts some studies and feminist theory that emphasizes that women are often at a disadvantage. In-depth discussion on these results is included in Chapter 5.

5.0 Discussion and Conclusions

Our prior belief, with evidence from past literature and research in the western world, is that educational attainment improves a person's quality of life. Bearing this in mind, and being guided by five research questions, this dissertation examined the influence of educational attainment on quality of life in Ghana, with emphasis on gender differences, with the use of an African dataset (the Round 7 data from the Afrobarometer). Ordinary Least Square Regression Analysis (OLS) technique and its interaction effect model was employed. The results are discussed below.

5.1.1 The Nature of Quality of Life in Ghana

In this study, the first issue of focus was to understand the nature of quality of life in Ghana. I examined quality of life from two dimensions: (a) subjective well-being (perceived and actual) and political engagement (civic engagement and institutional trust). As far as subjective well-being (whether perceived or actual) is concerned, I looked at the various perceptions Ghanaians have when it comes to their assessments of the following issues: the overall country's present economic conditions, present living condition, living conditions versus others, and access to food, water, medical care, and cash income. With regard to political engagement (whether civic engagement or institutional trust), I placed emphasis on the general perception of freedoms Ghanaians enjoy and the extent of trust they have toward major institutions of governance. A key finding from this study shows that Ghanaians self-rated their quality of life to be relatively high. This finding can be attributed to a host of factors, including socioeconomic, cultural, and political changes in the country.

First, was the high sense of hope and aspiration of a better economy and governance that the new government generated among many Ghanaians when it assumed office in 2017. Under the previous administration, the country was going through several economic struggles and hardships. The entire country was in darkness because it was experiencing power outages and irregular supplies of electricity in addition to the mounting challenges of water supply and sanitation issues that made life miserable for many Ghanaians. This experience gradually became a "normal" part of life; thus, the term "dumsor" (persistent, irregular, and unpredictable electric power outage) was coined in the country to symbolize this dark era. Several industries in the country, including health, manufacturing, and education, among many others that relied heavily on the hydroelectric power supplied by the government. were heavily affected. This left the economy crippled with rising inflation, unemployment, material hardship, and poverty. The government went back to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) three times to secure loans to revamp the economy (Kims, 2015). The country, which was previously a shining example to other African countries, was on the verge of collapsing. Ghanaians often vote a government back into a second term in office when satisfied with its activities for the country (Debrah, 2014; Gyimah-Boadi, 2009). However, in 2016, the pressure for change in governance mounted up in the country. There was a high sense of hopelessness and despair among the citizens; thus, the atmosphere in Ghana was ready to embrace a change in government.

In 2017, a new government took office, raising hopes among many Ghanaians. The year 2017, therefore, saw not only a change in government but the dawn of a new era of positive change and advancement that Ghanaians were desperately looking forward to. The new government made

several promises, including the provision of free national healthcare for all Ghanaian citizens. It also assured the country of fixing the power outage and providing water supplies to even rural communities in every region. In addition, they promised Ghanaians that they would provide quality affordable housing and ensure that senior school education is free for all. Most of these campaign promises touched on the provision of the basic needs of Ghanaians, raising high hopes among the citizenries who had, under the previous administration, faced challenges and miserable living conditions. The implementation of these policies touched on the provision of the basic needs of Ghanaians and setting the economy on a forward trajectory in 2017. Thus, it comes as no surprise that the finding from this research also suggest that in that same year (2017) Ghanaians had high hopes of living a better life (perceived subjective well-being).

In 2017, the new government proactively resolved the electricity crisis that was facing the whole country. It ensured that Ghanaians enjoyed a constant supply of electricity by investing in the energy sector. This saved several manufacturing industries, businesses, and services from collapsing completely. Ghanaians were very excited at the experience that the "dumsor" (persistent, irregular, and unpredictable electric power outage) experience ended abruptly so they could enjoy a normal life. Another area of basic needs which was addressed was water supply. The government implemented the Sustainable Rural Water and Sanitation project, which aimed at improving access to portable drinking water to various communities in Ghana. It was extended to several remote areas in all the regions in the country. Having implemented this area of basic need, the government forged ahead to improve the healthcare system by implementing several reforms that would achieve the Ghana's commitment to Universal Health Coverage. One such example was the expansion and sustainability of the free National Health Insurance scheme, which provides
equitable access and financial coverage for basic health care services to all Ghanaians (Alhassan et al., 2016; Wang & Dsane-Selby, 2017). Other health policies, such as the free Maternity Health Care, were also expanded to improve access to Ghanaians. Evidence from research suggests that these health reforms have been a success in bettering the lives of Ghanaians (Agbanyo, 2020). In addition to these activities, there was also the expansion and building of hospitals and health care facilities and the provision of resources across the country to improve health access. One such example, which had not been in existence, was the provision of ambulatory services across the regions for emergency needs. Sick people could easily be transported from anywhere to the hospitals at any time of the day without having to wait until the following morning, die in their homes, or wait for very long hours before getting to the hospital because of transport. Structures were also put in place to incentivize health care workers across the country. The implementation of these policies improved medical care for Ghanaians across the country.

To reduce the financial burdens on families and to improve access to higher levels of education among Ghanaians, the government again in September 2017 introduced and implemented the free senior high school education policy. Since then, Ghanaians who qualify to enroll in senior high school continue to enjoy free senior high school education; this policy brought financial relief to many Ghanaians, especially those from low-income homes—they no longer have to worry about how to pay tuition fees for their children in high school. Ghanaians living abroad have also commended the efforts of the government in making senior high school free and accessible to all, as this has reduced the demand for money from relatives living abroad to sponsor a family member's education.

The government also developed strategic plans to address food supply in the country. For example, in the agriculture sector, plans were targeted at boosting and reviving the agriculture sector to provide food and jobs in the country. Farmers across the country received heavy subsidies to boost their food production and to improve agriculture practices and services in the country. They were supplied with improved seeds and fertilizers, provided with dedicated extension services and marketing strategies, and trained in the use of e-Agriculture. In his speech to at the 2018 Africa Green Revolution Forum, a platform for global and African leaders, the president of Ghana, Nana Akuffo Addo, indicated that the impact of these initiatives has resulted in "a significant increase in agricultural output and productivity in 2017, our first year in office. 8.36% was our growth rate in agriculture" (NPP USA Inc, 2018). Further policies, such as the launching of the 2017/2018 National Report of the Ghana Census of Agriculture, were introduced in the country to present an annual evaluation and monitoring report of agriculture development to the government. Other policies that were implemented for the improvement of the lives of Ghanaians in 2017 include the provision of shelter and housing, especially for those living in the inner cities. The ministry of Zongo and Inner City Development, for example, was established to focus on the needs of those living in the Zongos and its environs. The ministry tackles issues of poverty and other social challenges in these areas.

To affirm the positive developments in Ghana's economy, the World Bank and other international monitoring agencies reports on Ghana give positive indicators of its growth in 2017. Because of these positive indicators, Ghana is now classified as a lower middle-income economy. For example, the World Bank Reports that the GDP growth for Ghana was 8.5% in 2017 (World Bank Report, 2019).

With all these policies, developments in the country, and positive indicators of the country's growth, it comes as no surprise that the findings from my dissertation indicate that, in

2017, Ghanaians rated their subjective well-being (both perceived and actual) to be high, which suggests that they perceived their subjective well-being to be better or to have improved.

Turning to the picture of political engagement (civic engagement and institutional trust) in Ghana, the result shows that, overall, Ghanaians perceive their engagement in civic activities to be high but have moderate trust towards institutions. Literature suggests that some scholars are of the view that having a better subjective well-being increases one's chances of civic engagement (Addai et al. 2014; Debrah, 2014; Egerton, 2002; Opoku-Agyeman, 2013) and Ghana is no exception. Thus, it comes as no surprise that the same respondents who reported having better subjective well-being confirm that they also perceive their civic engagement to be high, having enjoyed a stable political economy. The finding from this dissertation regarding high civic engagement in Ghana can be attributed to several reasons.

There has been increased dialogue among people in Ghana because of heightened awareness of the rights and privileges due to increased public education, civic education, and greater sensitization of governance issues among the populace. Several scholars suggest that the prime catalyst to civic engagement is dialogue (Bratton et al, 2005; Putman, 2000). This observation is reflected in the country's political democratic governance as more Ghanaians have taken interest in the discussion of issues concerning their lives and the economy. Ghanaians have increasingly become more expressive on issues related to governance and the common good of the country. These civic engagement activities are also enhanced by the exposure and proliferation of the media, coupled with the use of the local language as a medium of reporting. In 2017, for example, there were over 500 radio stations, about 128 television stations, and about 40 newspaper companies in the country. Some of these television and radio stations purely broadcast in the local language to reach ordinary Ghanaians, whereas others use English as their medium of communication. Due to the proliferation of these networks and the use of local language in the media (TV, newspapers, radio, and all forms of social media platforms), Ghanaians are now able to closely monitor the news on the progress and performance of the government and demand greater accountability.

The high civic engagement in Ghana is also fueled by the fact that the media encourage divergent views and opinions from the public. In addition, the media has also increased its activities relating to the freedom to investigate and report and, at the same time, allows divergent views and opinions to be expressed (a right protected under the 1992 constitution) by opposition political parties, public officials, leaders, and the ordinary Ghanaian citizen. A more recent bill, The Right to Information Bill, was also passed by Parliament in 2019 to give citizens the right to access to some degree information about public institutions and government organizations (Martin, 2020). The passage of these acts of civil liberties are systematic ways of promoting healthy dialogue and engaging citizens in political activities while maintaining trust in public institutions in the country.

Another reason for the high civic engagement reported among Ghanaians in 2017 can be attributed to religious influence in the country. In Ghana, religion tends to influence civic engagement (Debrah, 2014; Takyi et al., 2010). Religion instills particular values and beliefs among people; thus, when government decisions on some sensitive issues are not in line with religious values, the majority tends to oppose. For example, several religious organizations came together to petition the parliament of Ghana not to pass any law in favor of gay activities in the country because gay practice and beliefs contradict the beliefs of the different religions in the country. For example, the majority of Christian churches, organizations, and several other religious

groups came together to protest and to back an anti-lesbian and gay bill, resulting in Parliament casting a vote in banning LGBTQ+ activities in the country.

The increase in advocacy activities among individuals and the Civil Society Organizations (CSOs) in Ghana also cannot be overlooked when it comes to promoting civic engagement and trust in institutions in the country. Their strong and active involvement holds government accountable for its actions and activities. Advocacy groups in Ghana have also realized that giving citizens the opportunity to speak for themselves promotes and creates a better understanding and unity among them (Debrah, 2014; Opoku-Agyeman, 2013). For example, at the individual level, there is also now greater political participation, including public protests on issues. Because of this, ordinary Ghanaians are influencing development policies and priorities. Ghanaians are now demanding a more comprehensive understanding of issues and a greater accountability to the public on national programs. Due to this increased activism among the populace and the assistance of civil societies in demanding a better livelihood, individuals and organizations can now channel their grievances and concerns to the appropriate governing agencies.

With regard to institutional trust, the results from my dissertation show that Ghanaians have moderate trust in their institutions, including trust in the president, parliament/national assembly, national electoral commission, elected local government council, police, and courts of law. Several reasons can be attributed to this finding. The government of Ghana has adopted a democratic approach to civil liberties, which are clearly outlined in Ghana's constitution; thus, Ghanaian citizens freely express their views on issues without fear or intimidation. Also, with the advent of technology, social media, and many other communication outlets, Ghanaians easily voice their opinions and displeasure on a range of political, economic, social and cultural issues, with the knowledge and awareness that their right to freedom of speech is respected and protected

in the constitution. This was not in the past, when individuals who spoke against the government were targeted or killed (Brenyah, et al., 2015). More recently, Parliament passed another bill, the Right to Information bill in 2019, to ensure a high level of transparency in governance. According to Ghana's president, Nana Akuffo Addo, "The purposes of the act as set out in its preamble is to provide for the implementation of the constitutional right to information held by any public institution and to foster a culture of transparency and accountability in public affairs" (Akuffo-Addo Assents to RTI, 2019). All these bills and rights enshrined in Ghana's constitution continue to enhance a democratic approach to civil liberties in the country. Ghana now ranks 30th worldwide on the World Freedom Index, ahead of some western countries such as France and the United Kingdom (Ibrahim Index of African Governance, 2020).

Another possible reason for the finding on moderate institutional trust in this dissertation is the enhancement of judiciary transparency and law enforcement in the country. Political researchers suggests that transparency is an essential condition of democracy (Haug, 2001; Hollyer et al., 2018). The judiciary system and the courts of law have, over the years, worked hard in promoting transparency of court rulings especially regarding issues of national concern. For example, in 2013, the current president of Ghana, Nana Akuffo Addo and the NPP for the first time in Ghana's history went to the supreme court to dispute the outcome of the 2012 election results (Asante & Asare, 2017; Debrah, 2014; Briggs, 2012). This action signaled to many Ghanaians that the president believed in open justice and Ghana's judiciary system. Thus, he would rather adhere to the ruling of the supreme court rather than incite violence. This example provided a precedent for other presidential candidates to challenge electoral results through the appropriate public institutions rather than resorting to various forms of violence (Thompson, 2021). The judiciary and the courts system in Ghana continue to promote and protect the public's right to fair trial and to increase public confidence in their courts by investigating and ruling of cases of corruption of politicians, businessmen, and other private individuals and organizations in the country. When it comes to maintaining law and order in the country, though the police force is often tagged as corrupt in Ghana, several initiatives are gradually being taken to improve trust. Some of these initiatives include the vehement tackling of indiscipline and crime by the police force, and a dog patrol initiative has been introduced by the police force to ensure security. A new IGP has also been selected to bring change among the police.

To ensure fairness and transparency in Ghana's electoral system, the Electoral Commission, an independent body in Ghana responsible for ensuring credible and orderly presidential election in the country, has implemented several policies and structures to gain trust among the people. It has, over the years, earned credibility in and a strong reputation for transparency and successful election management. As part of its initiative, the Electoral Commission set up the Inter Party Advisory Committee (IPAC), an independent body, consisting of representatives from the various political parties in the country, to oversee elections in Ghana. They act as a liaison between the Electoral Commission and the various political parties, with complaints investigation procedures established at district, regional and national level (Abdulai & Crawford, 2010). The Electoral Commission has also initiated reforms to ensure openness and transparency. This includes the revamping of the electoral registration system and the introduction of the biometric voter registration to weed out all ghost names and non-Ghanaian citizens from the electoral registry.

The government has, over the years, developed strong public institutions to ensure transparency and accountability to Ghanaian citizens. The implementation of these structures, which aims at providing structured guidelines in civic engagement, is spearheaded by Parliament, the Ministry of Local Government and Rural Development, the Head of Local Government Service, and The Ministry of Finance. At the sub-national level, for example, "a framework on participatory planning and budgeting has been developed by the Local Government Service (LGS) to guide Metropolitan, Municipal and District Assemblies (MMDAs) in citizens' engagement" (Ajayi, 2021). Additionally, Parliament in 2016 passed a new Local Governance Act (Act 936) on popular participation in the country. This Act "dedicates a whole section to popular participation. The Inter-Ministerial Coordinating Committee on Local Government have consequently developed a manual and an action plan to guide its implementation" (Ajayi, 2021). In addition, the establishment of civic organization groups such as the Institute for Democratic Governance, the Center for Democracy and Governance, and the Open Government Partnership, among many others, continue to provide strong monitoring, accountability, and assessment of the government to the public. For example, "the Open Government Partnership (OGP) a global partnership that brings together government reformers and civil society leaders to create action plans that make governments more inclusive, responsive, and accountable. It is a global partnership that brings together government reformers and civil society leaders to create action plans that make governments more inclusive, responsive, and accountable" (Ajayi, 2021)

The president and government have been proactive in delivering on his campaign promises. Having finally won the 2016 election, he was elected to office in 2017, and in that same year, delivered on most of his campaign promises, including the revamping of the National Health Insurance Scheme, fight against illegal small-scale mining or" galamsey," one-district-one factory, and one-village-one-dam. This proactiveness on delivering and implementing government promises has promoted the trust of Ghanaians in their president. In a recent survey conducted by the Ghana Center for Democratic Development (CDD-Ghana), for example, the finding shows that "assessments of the performance of the Akuffo-Addo/NPP government are broadly positive. They get particularly high grades for their handling of the COVID crisis, electricity, and education" (Mensah, 2020). The president and the government also have taken steps to strengthen institutions in Ghana, such as the chieftaincy institutions (Asare, 2020). The president has also gained trust from Ghanaians by creating the Office of Special Prosecution to investigate and prosecute corrupt cases. He continued to garner trust from Ghanaians after firing ineffective or corrupt officials or forcing them to resign whenever the public expressed their dissatisfaction concerning their work (Debrah., 2014; Gyimah-Boadi, 2001).

Despite all these developments that seek to promote trust in the major institutions, Ghanaians still have doubts regarding issues of corruption in the police force, the handling of corruption among political leaders, and some unfulfilled political campaign promises that were made when the government took office in 2017. Thus, we see that from the findings of my dissertation, though Ghanaians in 2017 rate their civic engagements to be high, their trust in institutions, however, seems to be moderate. Overall, all the facts presented so far support the result in this dissertation, which shows that Ghanaians generally perceived their quality of life (both subjective well-being and political engagement) to be high in the year 2017.

5.1.2 Quality of Life by Social Groupings

Another striking finding in my dissertation shows that there is a relatively weak relationship between quality of life outcomes and the various social groupings. This suggests that determination of one's quality of life in Ghana encompasses other areas of life, including one's ethnicity, religious affiliation, employment status, place of residence, and age. This outcome aligns with findings from other research that suggests that quality of life includes other intangible aspects of life (Ahuvia, 2008; Campbell et al., 1976; Diener & Suh, 2000). However, the relatively weak nature of the relationship suggests that in the context of Ghana, perhaps these social factors are low to impact one's quality of life. My dissertation findings on the relationship between quality of life and the social groupings in Ghana can be explained by a myriad of factors.

First is the multiethnic nature of the country and the strong allegiance that Ghanaians hold towards their families of orientation and ethnic groups (Sefa-Nyarko, 2020) and their religious affiliations. Addai et al. (2014), in their research on the predictors of subjective well-being in Ghana, also found that ethnicity is a predictor of subjective well-being, especially among the Akan. Therefore, the finding is in line with that from previous research that shows that strong family ties and community influence well-being. According to Garner (2000), an affiliation to an ethnic group can benefit a person or sometimes lead to overdependency on other family members, which can sometimes improve or lower one's quality of life. We observe from this dissertation research that one's ethnic group can either lower or improve a person's quality of life in Ghana. For example, the result here shows that a good quality of life is dominant among the Akan ethnic group. This can be associated with their strong emphasis on matrilineal lineage of inheritance. Akans inherit from their mother's line, and this means that nephews inherit from their uncles. It also pre-supposes that uncles and aunts are responsible for the financial well-being of their nieces and nephews, meaning a child belonging to such a family has economic and social cushioning from his biological parent as well as his uncles.

Second, Ghanaians in general are very religious (Takyi et al. 2010). Thus, in this study, we observe that religious affiliation was found to improve one's quality of life. This may be explained

by the fact that religious institutions and participation in religious activities tend to provide some social benefits. Garner (2000) also explains that religious institutions account for some patterns of behavior and give individuals a sense and level of power that may influence their well-being. Finding from this dissertation are also in line with literature on religion and well-being in Ghana, which shows that a Christian's ability to attend church regularly is considered an indicator of well-being (Opoku-Agyeman, 2013; Takyi & Addai 2002). Also, general factors such as denominational affiliation, the frequency of attendances, and participation in church activities has been found to influence subjective well-being among Ghanaians (Takyi & Addai, 2002). Thus, we observe that religious affiliation from the findings in this study can either improve or lower a person's quality of life.

Third is the fact that socioeconomic conditions in Ghana determine a person's access to resources and opportunities, such as one's place of residence and level and quality of education, among many others. The finding from this study shows that employment status (which is a socioeconomic factor) improves one's quality of life. With employment, individuals can gain income and be able to provide for their family's needs. This result asserts the findings from previous literature on the relative influence of socioeconomic conditions such as income on subjective well-being (Kingdon & Knight, 2007). As Peiró (2006) also suggested, "Unemployment has been found to have much effect on happiness (p.360). Apart from this reason, in 2017, the government introduced several socioeconomic policies that eased the financial burdens of many Ghanaians; for example, providing Ghanaians with a health insurance scheme and a tuition free senior high school education may have eased the financial burden and other social challenges (Asenso-Okyere et al. 2007). Enjoying all these benefits in addition to and at the same time having

a source of employment becomes a socioeconomic benefit to several families (Coleman, 1988; Putnam, 2000).

Third is the difference in access to opportunities based on one's place of residence in Ghana. For example, living in rural areas may be detrimental to the quality of life of Ghanaians in contrast to living in urban areas. In that same vein, living in the urban areas also present some advantages that may not be in the rural areas. In this study, we find that, for example, those living in urban areas tend to enjoy better perceived and actual subjective well-being and engage more in civic activities compared to those living in rural areas. This finding may be attributed to the opportunities that living in urban areas present, which include having better access to healthcare, employment opportunities, electricity, educational resources, social media resources, government officials, and political organizations, among many others. In Ghana, most of the resources are centralized in urban areas, thus making it difficult for those living in rural areas to sometimes access.

Age has also been found in several research studies to influence quality of life. For example, economic scholars have found that the relationship between age and quality of life is a U shape, controlling for other factors (Blanchflower, 2008, 2021; Hellevik, 2017). This result is no different from findings in this study, which suggest that Ghanaians tend to be more politically engaged as they age but perceive their subjective well-being to be poor. These findings can be attributed to the fact that, as Ghanaian age, they rely on social benefits provided by government, such as their social security, health insurance, and any other benefits that the government provides for seniors. In addition, they tend to have more time on their hands to engage in political activities so as to influence government decisions pertaining to their lives and the economy. With aging comes experience; thus, the priorities of many tend to focus more on advocating for change in policies that would better the lives of the next generation. However, because aging may also come with deterioration in one's health, lack of employment/retirement, and loneliness, among many others, it is not surprising that the older generation have lower perceptions of their subjective well-being compared to other age groups.

Gender showed a weak relationship for institutional trust only. This suggests that females tend to trust more in institutions than their male counterparts. This finding, perhaps, can be attributed to the increasing advocacy among the various institutions concerning women's rights in society, which was not the case in the past. Social justice issues were handled traditionally in the home or traditional council of a community, which, for the most part, did not result in favor of addressing women's needs and concerns. Now, however, women can channel their grievances through formalized legal structures, such as government institutions. Thus, it is not surprising that women in this study tend to trust more in institutions compared to their male counterparts. The finding here supports liberal feminist theory because we can see that using laws, rules, and regulation through institutions is fighting to address social injustice meted against women in society.

In conclusion, the findings from this dissertation show that social groupings are significantly associated with quality of life in Ghana, which confirms literature supported by relative effect theory and social capital theory. Relative effect theory suggests that other factors influence one's quality of life, which is the case for this study. Social capital was discussed extensively in the literature review section of the dissertation. As mentioned in my literature review, social capital can be referred to as either material or non-material measures of life. Individuals and communities with social capital resources, including involvement in diverse social networks and civic associations, are more likely to improve their quality of life (Moser, 1996;

Narayan, 1995). When used wisely, the available resources create avenues for new opportunities for individual and societies to improve their quality of life (Isham, 1999).

5.1.3 Education Levels by Social Groupings

Overall, we observe that one's level of education depends on their social groups. In addition, the expected minimum education that most people acquire in Ghana is high school education. Finally, we observe that respondents with lower levels of education (non-formal and elementary) are mostly the old-aged adults, rural dwellers, women, and the unemployed.

In contrast, those with higher levels of education (secondary and post-secondary) in Ghana are mostly men, the employed, Akan ethnic group, urban dwellers, and other Christians. These findings can be attributed to the following reasons: recent policy reforms in Ghana's educational system, differences in motivational needs and barriers to education between living in the rural and urban areas, and educational level requirements for employability in Ghana due to economic progress and advancement. Each of these factors are explained below.

Recent reforms that address education accessibility and outcomes in Ghana have improved over the years (for example, the introduction of the Free Compulsory Basic Education and Free Senior High School Education, which have already been discussed extensively in previous sections). These opportunities, which improve access to education, especially at the high school level, did not exist during the youthful years of the older generation. Thus, historical comparisons based on policy clearly reflect that the educational experiences and opportunities of the older generation are not the same as those of the younger generation. While the youth currently have better educational opportunities to acquire higher levels of education (high school and postsecondary), older generations did not enjoy this educational provision and opportunities. Barriers such as financial hardships that may be a challenge to attaining, for example, high school education in the past, no longer exist for those enrolling in high school in Ghana since 2017. In addition, in all Ghanaian public high schools now, the government provides all the required textbooks, test bank questions and books for each subject, and back-to-school resources (bags, shoes, uniforms, etc.) for free to public school students.

There are also improved infrastructure and trained teachers and staff, among many other resources available to students in high school. Teachers currently are required to have at least an undergraduate degree. Currently, many public high schools also have access to laptop computers, internet, and other technology devices to enhance teaching and learning. Besides, the old-aged adults' generation during their youthful years could easily get a job with an elementary/basic education and so did not really have to worry so much about attaining higher levels of education. Currently, in Ghana, having at least a high school education is a minimum requirement to obtain a decent job. In summary, there are improved educational opportunities for the youth in Ghana compared to previous generations who were faced with educational challenges in terms of access, equal opportunities, and under-resourced and under-staffed schools among others.

Despite these improved educational opportunities and policies, the challenges that Ghanaians living in rural areas face in their education are numerous compared to those living in urban areas. These challenges include child labor, child marriage, financial hardship, and health challenges, among many others. Besides, the resources that are provided to communities and schools in rural areas are scarce compared to those living in urban areas. For example, those living in urban areas have easy access to electricity, water, and transportation compared to those in rural areas, which may require walking some miles to access to these resources. Those living in urban areas have easy access to educational resources and opportunities (school libraries, classrooms, textbooks, trained and qualified teachers, etc.) compared to those living in rural areas. In most cases, schools in rural areas are under-resourced and face several social challenges, such as student and teacher absenteeism. These social and economic challenges often become hurdles to attaining education, not to mention higher levels of education (high school or even post-secondary education). In addition, those living in rural areas do not have the same system and standard of education there is in the urban settings.

In addition, the motivation and needs of those living in rural areas are far from acquiring higher levels of education because of environmental influence. In rural areas, being able to provide the basic needs (food, housing, water, clothing, and healthcare) for one's family is enough for survival, whereas in urban areas, residents must worry about other issues besides their basic needs such as paying for high electricity and water bills, taxes, and tariffs, as well as maintaining the social status quo with regards to one's environment etc. Rural dwellers in Ghana do not have to worry about these issues, mostly because electricity and water bills in these areas are either free or heavily subsidized by the government.

The situation becomes even more compounded for females. Though Ghana has made strides in implementing and promoting policies to promote education, females continue to experience inequality in education, especially at the higher levels (secondary and post-secondary), due to cultural and social barriers. To date, some ethnic groups continue to hold strongly to the belief and preference of educating males over females because of pre-existing conceptions of gender roles that the woman's place in the end is always the kitchen. Her traditional role is to stay at home and take care of her children and family, cook, and care for the sick and elderly in her external family, among many tasks, whereas it is the males' responsibility to provide financially for their families. Some are even of the perception that women with higher levels of education, especially college education, end up not finding husbands. In addition, some religious beliefs teach that women are second to men. In addition to these factors are health challenges, early marriage, and financial hardships, among others. For these reasons, more males than females complete higher levels (high school and post-secondary) of education. This finding is reflective of the core arguments for most liberal feminist theorists who have, over the years, emphasized that women, regardless of the limitations they face in society, should be given the necessary opportunities to attain upward mobility in life, especially in their educational attainment.

The result from my dissertation, which shows that the unemployed are also those with lower levels (elementary and no-formal) of education, is very concerning but not surprising. Due to the competitive nature of the job market, the minimum educational level now required for employability in the formal sector is at least a high school education. Depending on the nature of the job, some clearly specify the requirement to be college educated. Therefore, having higher levels of education (high school or post-secondary education) is not just a privilege but a necessity for survival in a fast-paced advancing and changing economy like Ghana. Those who want to get better job opportunities to fit in this society must not just dream of attaining elementary education, but high school education and beyond.

Due to this historical gap in terms of missed opportunities and differences in available educational opportunities, living conditions, and motivation between those living in rural and urban areas, as well as sociocultural and religious perceptions about female education and the competitive nature of educational requirements in a fast-paced developing economy like Ghana, the result from my dissertation shows that that those who have attained lower levels (elementary and non-formal) of education are mostly the old-aged adults, rural dwellers, women, and the unemployed. My findings are in line with past literature and a growing democratic and modernizing economy. The relative effect theory strongly supports these findings as the result suggests that one's social groupings influence the kind of education attained (higher or lower levels of education). Because these factors (which often do not favor women) exist in Ghana, continuous advocacy for equal opportunities for women is relevant to societal development.

5.1.4 Education Levels and Quality of Life

When it comes to education and quality of life, three major findings were observed. The first indicates that educated people are more likely to have better quality of life than their counterparts with no formal education. The second finding reports that acquiring higher levels of education improves the propensity for individuals to have a better quality of life. The third striking finding reports that, apart from educational levels, other factors also contribute to the overall quality of life among Ghanaians. These findings can be attributed to a myriad of reasons, including the opportunities and benefits that education presents, which include improved economic conditions as well as improved social and living conditions. In addition, educated people develop cognitive and critical skills and so can follow and understand issues in society and become politically engaged. Each of these reasons are discussed below.

First, the opportunities that formal education tends to present to individuals compared to non-formal education, especially in a developing country like Ghana, are numerous. As explained in the findings for research question 1, Ghana's economy saw many positive changes that affected the economic, social, education, political, and other sectors in 2017. These changes provided several opportunities and benefits for those who had acquired higher educational levels of education. Those who are educated can make informed decisions regarding their health, living conditions, and educational needs, among many others. When people are educated, they can make significant economic and social contributions to their families and the community, and this creates a very stable and healthy environment (Behrman & Stacey, 1997; Ross & Mirowsky, 2007). Social theorists also find that education promotes economic development, improves the health and livelihood of people, and improves social mobility of citizens, among many other positive outcomes (Coleman, 1988; Mirowsky & Ross, 2007, 2009; Putnam, 1993).

Second, the economic benefits that education offers in Ghana are tremendous. For example, educated people have higher chances of being employed compared to those with no formal education. In Ghana, the most attractive employment opportunities usually require individuals to have acquired higher levels of education. Ghanaians are of the notion that education provides individuals with better skills and training for the work force. Because of this, educated people can more easily get employed in Ghana compared to their counterparts with no-education. Having employment provides some form of income and access to resources that can be used to take care of one's basic needs in life. Asafu-Adjaye (2012), in his study on the effects of education on employability, found that education has a positive effect on employment chances in Ghana (Asafu-Adjaye, 2012). Most of these employment opportunities are found in urban areas, where individuals have access to better health care, housing, and other facilities. The World Bank Press Release (2019) also reported that Ghana's Systematic Country Diagnostic identifies education as key for increasing labor productivity and building Ghana's human capital (World Bank Press Release, 2019). Ross and Mirowsky (2007) also suggest that those with college-level of educations have more opportunities, get better jobs, earn more income, and have better health compared to those with lower levels of education.

Third, the broad social and cultural benefits that education tends to present (Behrman & Stacey, 1997), especially in Ghana, are innumerable. Educated people tend to be more engaged in civic activities compared to the non-educated counterparts. Because educated people can read, write, and have developed their cognitive and critical thinking, they can understand issues and make good political judgements and decisions. They also develop problem-solving skills and can give back to the community (Emler & Frazier, 1999; Hillygus, 2005). When it comes to civic engagement in Ghana, for example, much of the political and civic discussions are conducted in English, even though local news agencies have also started promoting news reports and civic engagement activities in the native languages. In addition, at the societal level, those in governance and decision making are mostly people who have acquired higher levels of education.

Culturally, Ghanaians revere their educated citizens, especially those with college education and beyond. Therefore, attaining formal education, especially higher levels of education, bestows social status, class, social recognition, and generates respect within one's community that the uneducated do not experience. Being conferred with a degree, not to mention a doctorate degree, means a lot in the Ghanaian community. These social statuses serve as keys to several doors of opportunities of all forms—including social, cultural, and political opportunities that the ordinary Ghanaian with no formal education would not have access to. However, community expectations for the educated individual with higher levels of education is so high that not meeting these expectations can sometimes be overwhelming.

It is also interesting to indicate that the results from this dissertation show that educated people in Ghana have moderate trust in institutions. One possible reason can be attributed to the high levels of corruption in institutions and among the political leadership. Perhaps, the government needs to put in more effort to promote and sustain transparency among institutions in Ghana. The finding from this dissertation, that educational levels predict quality of life, shows the value that Ghanaians place on schooling and formal education in general. It also suggests that a majority of Ghanaians have attained at least a minimum of high school education in order to have a better life. The finding from this study is in line with previous research work that indicates that acquiring higher levels of education accrues significant quality of life outcomes (Berinsky & Lenz, 2011; Kam & Palmer, 2008; Le & Nguyen, 2021; Pirralha, 2016; Psacharopoulos, & Patrinos, 2018; Ross & Van Willigen, 1997) and Ghana is no exception. Based on this result, we can conclude that the direct effect theory holds for the links between education and quality of life in Ghana. The direct effect model assumes that education translates directly into quality of life, and the result in this study supports this fact.

I also contend in my dissertation study that, apart from educational attainment, there are other factors that can predict a person's quality of life in Ghana. The result from this research affirms this—those other factors such as ethnicity, religion, place of residence, gender, age and employment status predict quality of life in Ghana. This finding is also in line with past scholarship (Addai et al., 2014; Campbell et al., 1976; Mriowsky & Ross, 2007). This finding holds for the relative effect theory. The relative effect theory best explains this finding in this dissertation, suggesting that other factors besides educational levels predict quality of life in Ghana.

5.1.5 The Effect of Gender on Quality of Life Outcomes and Education - The Feminist Analysis

There was no gender difference when it comes to the relationship between educational levels and quality of life; this means that both males and females who have acquired formal education have equal opportunities of experiencing a better quality of life. This result, though, does not support my proposed theoretical framework and mirrors the tremendous transformations that have occurred in Ghana when it comes to issues on education, political engagement, and subjective well-being. It also shows how Ghanaians have over the years evolved, especially in placing value on education and its benefits. Ghanaians (whether male or female) who have acquired formal education have equal opportunities of enjoying a better quality of life and being engaged in political activities in the country.

This progress is laudable as it also speaks volumes to the success and practice of using laws and regulations (a central theme of the liberal feminist approach) to address gender imbalance in a young democratic country like Ghana, as opposed to the radical and Marxist approaches in modern day democratic practices and settings. Where radicals and Marxists advocate for a complete paradigm shift using a radical approach, liberalists are of the view that the oppression and discrimination of women can be fought via the establishment of laws and legislation. They believe that equal rights and treatment of women can be established through legality and scholarly debates with the establishment of laws and systems that advocate for equal rights in the treatment of women. Ghana is one such example of a young democratic country where the liberalist approach (whether using direct or indirect means) seemed to be working. Policies that have been put in place to ensure gender balance.

For example, when it comes to equal education opportunities for both men and women, the government promotes affirmative action, which provides access for women to education and political engagement. Since 1992, when the constitution was enacted, several educational policy measures were put in place to encourage access to education. The *Free Universal Compulsory Education* (FCUBE) policy was launched in 1996 and was aimed at providing free education to all Ghanaian citizens of school-going age at the elementary or basic education level. The program was implemented in fulfillment of Ghana's constitutional mandate (Chapter 6 Section 38 Subsection 2). Implementation of this policy provided an equal educational financing opportunity for both boys and girl at the elementary level and, at the same time, removed the burden on some families who were facing financial hardships to send their children to school. Families that would have opted to send their male children to school due to financial hardship rather than their female children, could now send both their sons and daughters to school to at least acquire basic education without discriminating. In 1997, the Gender Education Unit (GEU) of the ministry of education was also created with offices decentralized at the local and regional levels to address issues pertaining to the gender gap and barriers to female education in the country. Offices were established in every district and regions in the country for this purpose. GEU, in collaboration with other local and international organizations, have continued to advocate for girls' education in the country.

The effort to promote girls' education and bridge the gender gap in education has also been emphasized in several other developmental strategies of the national economy such as the Ghana Shared Growth and Development Agenda (GSGDA) and the Millennium Development Goals. The GSGDA "emphasizes on the need for the GOG to pursue a gender-equitable human development strategy." These plans have been captured in the Ministry of Education's Strategic Plans (ESP I & II) and several other policy documents, including the Girls' Education's vision statement and strategic plans (Ministry of Education, 2019). The Education Strategic Plan (2010-2020) addresses some of the gender gaps and barriers at all levels in the Ghana education system, whereas the MDG (Goal 2) aimed at achieving broad universal primary education for all by the year 2015. The beginning of the millennium also saw the government of Ghana strategically implement key educational policies such as the establishment of The *Ghana Education Trust fund* (GETFund) and *the introduction of the capitation grant*. The Education Trust Fund was established in the year 2000 by the Government of Ghana (GOG) to provide equality education from the basic to the tertiary levels of education. The Ghana Education Trust Fund (GETFund) is a public trust set up by an Act of Parliament in the year 2000. Its core mandate is to provide funding to supplement government efforts for the provision of educational infrastructure and facilities in the public sector from the pre-tertiary to the tertiary level. To date, the fund, which is sponsored by the government of Ghana, continues to support and sponsor Ghanaians at all levels of education. In contrast, the capitation grant was established in conjunction with the World Bank in 2005. It first began as a pilot project in 2004 and was finally implemented in 2005. It abolished all forms of tuition and fees and allocated financial resources to schools based on the number of students enrolled (Fredriksen & Craissati, 2009; UNICEF, 2009).

The capitation grant initiative is meant to reduce financial burdens on schools and alleviate financial distress among parents whose children were enrolled in schools. The grant, which abolished all forms of fees to acquire elementary education, was a strategic plan towards achieving the Millennium Development Goal of increasing access and closing the gender gap in education; per the program's policy, an amount of 2.50 Ghana cedi was given to male school children and 3.50 Ghana cedi to female students enrolled in schools (kindergarten, primary, and junior high school) selected for the program (Akyeampong et al. 2017; Amparatwum & Armah-Attoh, 2010; World Bank, 2012).

Again in 2005, the *Ghana School Feeding Program (GSFP)* was introduced in public schools with the goal of reducing hunger and malnutrition and increasing school enrollment,

retention, and attendance as well as the boosting of local food production. The program started as a pilot study in 2005 and gradually began to expand to different regions in the country. Proper documentation processes for the program, however, started in 2007. In the GSFP, a day's meal is provided to every enrolled child between the ages of six and 12 in schools in the selected major districts in the country. In addition, preschoolers were also provided with a day's meal. Per the policy of the program, girls with attendance of 85% or more are given a take-home ration of food.

More recently, in conjunction with the World Bank, the government of Ghana introduced a new policy called The Ghana Secondary Improvement Project, also referred to as The Free Senior High School Education Policy, in September 2017. The initiative provides free senior high school education to all Ghanaians. Under this policy, all fees (tuition fees, library fees, computer fees, science center fees etc.) were abolished at the senior high school level. Many Ghanaians who could not afford high school education are now able to attend high school for free. Students also receive free textbooks and other resources to assist them in their studies. Again, in making high school education more accessible to all, in 2018, a "double track education policy" was introduced by the government. This system allows and enrolls senior high school students in batches. While one batch of high school students is at home for holidays, the other batch of students on the different track is in school. This system allows an increased number of students to be enrolled in same school and have access to the same resources. The government aims at increasing the infrastructure and resources in the schools and gradually dissolving the shift (track) system. The government of Ghana strives to make continuous and progressive efforts in improving the educational sector through its sector analysis and development of strategic education policy and goals.

When it comes to political engagement, another way, that the country has used liberalism (from the direct approach) in addressing imbalances in the political spectrum through affirmative action policies includes the introduction of the gender quota system in female representation in parliamentary election, local offices. In addition, there is a conscious effort for women to be recruited into various kinds of positions, including the military, politics, and STEM fields, among many others.

Per the UN constitution, women's political participation is a human right; thus, in Ghana, for example, the 1992 constitution clearly indicates that "the State shall take appropriate measures to achieve reasonable gender balance in the recruitment and "appointment to public offices" Article 17 also adds that "no citizen shall be discriminated against on the basis of gender, race or religion" (UN Women Global Gender Equality Constitutional Database, 2021). In addition, Article 36 states that "the State shall afford equality of economic opportunity to all citizens; and, in particular, the State shall take all necessary steps so as to ensure the full integration of women into the mainstream of the economic development of Ghana" (UN Women Global Gender Equality Constitutional Database, 2021). These laws support the participation of women in public life and institutions. They also make provisions and mandate for women's active participation in governance and decision-making spaces. The government of Ghana, for example, has taken the mandate to allocate "30% per cent positions for women in the administration of political parties, the selection of parliamentary candidates and the appointment of district chief executives. The inclusion of women in decision-making is a democratic good in itself and breaks male dominance in politics" (Hassim, 2010; Krook, 2006). It must, however, be noted that all these opportunities are only made available to women who have acquired higher levels of education.

Through indirect means, special measures have been put into place by non-governmental organizations to continue advocating for women's to right economic empowerment, political participation, and other areas where bias in institutional structures, socio-cultural attitudes and practices have worked against women (Mensah-Kutin, 2010). These organizations include the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), and the World Bank country offices in Ghana. Some of these organizations have used campaigns to repeal legislation adversely affecting women's rights and to improve the fairness of the Parliamentary process (Dowuona-Hammond et al., 2020).

Overall, the policies mentioned always provided caveats to support women, provide them with equal opportunities, and, at the same time, promote their interests in participating in political activities and attaining higher levels of education to improve their quality of life. These policies also make room for women to make choices to affect their living conditions and subjective wellbeing in general. The results obtained in this dissertation, though surprising, cannot be discounted, because Ghana has come a long way in addressing its educational needs through the implementation of policies, rules, and regulations to advocates for gender balance and equal opportunities for both men and women.

We can conclude that, overall, although the outcome from the dissertation contradicts the proposed theoretical framework, putting it into context, we can say that the policies, laws, and regulations that were set in place to ensure gender balance are working in Ghana. However, using data from previous years may hold if this proposed framework is mapped on a historical timeline to illustrate when there were no existing laws, regulations, and institutions advocating for women's rights and gender balance in society.

The possible cultural explanations for gender equality in perceived quality of life for both educated men and women in Ghana, especially in light of the patriarchal nature of Ghanaian society, can be attributed to the adept and extensive work of the government in embedding Ghanaian socio-cultural values into its policy formulation and implementation to safeguard women's welfare. One such approach is the recognition and integration of chieftaincy into Ghana's constitutional rule. This group, known as the national house of chiefs, operates under the Ministry of Chieftaincy and National House of Chiefs. Representatives of this group become the mouthpiece of government in explaining complex national policies in their local communities and, at the same time, work hand in hand with government to understand and decodify customary and traditional rules governing their societies (Drucker-Brown, 2009; Różalska, 2016). This symbiotic relationship (between the government of Ghana and the traditional rulers) assists both parties in evaluating and reasoning through traditional laws and codes to reshape and/or eliminate the outmoded ones.

Another possible cultural factor is the changing dynamism in the family structure and lineage systems. The family structure in Ghana extends beyond the nuclear family to include other external family members—aunties, uncles, grandparents, nieces, nephews, etc. The network of the family structure is determined by the two main taxonomies of the lineage systems in Ghana, that is, either patrilineal or matrilineal lineage system. Each of these groups are made of families that come together to form the ethnic groups. In the patrilineal lineage, men retain the central position and are the head in the family hierarchy, whereas when it comes to matrilineal lineage, the women are the key figures in leadership and decision making and incur obligations to control resources on behalf of their relatives and offspring who belonged to their matrilineages. Children who find themselves in a matriarchal lineage system belong to their mothers, whereas those in the patriarchal

lineage system belonged to their father's lineage. This system is practiced not only in Ghana but also in other African countries like Cote D'Ivoire (Mikell & Mikell, 1997). These family structures in both lineages reinforced for subsequent generations (Boateng et al., 2006) past beliefs that promoted gender stratification, gender discrimination, and gender stereotyped values that foster the well-being of men and relegate women to the backstage. Research by the World Bank Organization indicates that differences in gender roles and behaviors often create inequalities whereby one gender becomes empowered to the disadvantage of the other (World Bank, 2012). However, the present situation in Ghana regarding some of these beliefs has changed—the establishment of the Ministry of Gender, Children and Social Protection that works hand in hand with families, for example, educate and advocate for women and their well-being in their respective lineages. Therefore, awareness is created regarding family beliefs, and other issues that discourage women from seeking for better and equal opportunities are discussed and addressed. Both men and women in these lineage systems now tend to recognize and appreciate the changing roles of genders as society evolves.

In addition to the above, gender discrimination and stereotyping, which is also strongly embedded in the everyday language and communication in the Ghanaian society, is being counteracted through various forms of creative arts, including music and the use of re-formed adages, proverbs, and quotes to boost women's pursuit of equal opportunities and re-orient families' stereotyping of gender roles in society. Some of these old proverbial languages constitute the belief system of ethnic groups that stereotype women and portray them as "dependent on men," "imprudent," and "inane and unintelligent" (Gyan et al., 2020). In addition, these adages use semantic concepts that describe women as "sheep" and "never thinks," among many others (Gyan et al., 2020). However, in modern times, voices of influential leaders in all industries have counteracted these opinions to reorient society and reverse discrimination against women. One popular example is the famous quote of Dr. James Kwegyir-Aggrey, (1875-1927) often used to promote women's education and their contribution to national development: "If you educate a man you educate an individual, but if you educate a woman you educate a family (nation)."

Another cultural factor is marriage tension arising from cross-cultural marriages. Ghanaians in the past married from the same ethnic groups. In other words, a man gets engaged to a woman from his own culture and continued the pre-existing tradition/lineage. However, because of education and migration, there are now intermarriages among different ethnic groups in Ghana. These intermarriages tend to challenge the status quo and pre-existing traditions, especially when it comes to the systems of inheritance in the two lineages under customary marriage. The government of Ghana has put into place legal systems that recognize marriage from the traditional/customary marriage—the PNDC Law was passed to cater to both matrilineal and patrilineal systems of marriage and inheritance under the traditional customary law. These inheritance laws are applied in Ghana to handle the nuances in traditional marriages and to advocate for women and their children.

Another possible reason that can be attributed to gender parity in subjective well-being among educated men and women involves changes in religious systems in Ghana. In the past, all the religious institutions, including the traditional group, held strong beliefs and practices that empower men and relegate women to the backstage. However, present research indicates that women in Ghana are becoming more autonomous regardless of their religious affiliation (Fuseini & Kalule-Sabiti, 2015). This could also be attributed to education among members in these religious groups. More recently, faith-based organizations are partnering with government and non-profit organizations to educate women about their rights to opportunities in society (Chikwendu, 2004).

5.2 Strengths and Limitations

This study contributes to the discourse on education, well-being studies, and democratic advancements, especially in sub-Saharan Africa. To the best of my knowledge, it is one of the first empirical studies that investigates the link between educational levels and quality of life in Ghana using a nationally representative sample. The AFROB is a nationally representative and crosssectional survey dataset that allows for the generalization of results for policy considerations. Using such readily available secondary data is less expensive and less time consuming than primary data.

The nature of the dependent variable is continuous and therefore calls for the use of OLS, which is a more appropriate analytical model. Using OLS allows the opportunity to make an original contribution and a novel but substantial analysis into the complex relationship between education and quality of life in Ghana. The limitations that logistic regression present, which include the oversimplification of the results and researchers' selection biases, tend to be addressed by using OLS regression models. In addition, the use of OLS allows for a robust prediction of outcomes from several sets of independent variables in the study. It also provides better information for decision and policy making. The limitation of using the OLS analytic technique is that it is not easy to interpret.

As already indicated, the study uses secondary data, which creates a limitation of using only the available information. In addition, because of the timeline for this research, the most recent dataset was not used. The findings from the study should also be used with caution because of differences found on some of the measures in the dataset after missingness was treated. For example, contradictory responses were found on the measures age, place of residence, gender, and education of respondents; thus, generalizability in the results is affected. Second, even though the Afrobarometer explains that the data collection process is a rigorous one, having supposedly more women in the missing cases than men raise several questions, as this suggests more women than men gave a don't know/refused to type of response. In addition, female respondents found in both the complete and missing cases had lower levels of education. Having more women giving a don't know /refused to type of response suggests that perhaps they did not really understand the issues expressed, which perhaps may be attributed to their lower levels of education. It is also interesting to observe that even in the valid sample, in which most of the respondents were male, women still reported having lower levels of education than men.

I advocate for researchers and policy analysts in the future to consider some of these preexisting gender differences prior to conducting such interviews. For example, women selected for the interview process can be educated on some of the issues on the survey prior to the interview. This would give them a better understanding in selecting responses on the survey questions rather than choosing a don't know/refused to type of response. Also, if possible, the survey instrument could be designed in a way for more people to fashion answers that reflect what they know and believe without special prompting. Other nuances, which include the lack of clarity on some of the survey questions (in the context of Ghana), can be attributed to the standardization of the survey instrument across African countries. For example, asking respondents in Ghana questions such as How often have you gone without medical care or food? without limiting the definition of "medical care" can be interpreted in several ways. Medical care in the context of Ghana can imply using either orthodox or unorthodox (traditional) approaches. In addition, most people have easy access to unorthodox treatment from their family and friends. Others can easily buy medication from the pharmacy as this does not strictly require a doctor's prescription. In addition, some of the questions on the survey have cultural connotations. Examples include questions such as How often have you gone without food? and How often have you gone without cash income? Culturally, not having food to eat in Ghana has a negative connotation, as this suggests that a person does not have a family or relation taking care of him/her. Ghanaians have a strong sense of community living and interdependence. Individuals can rely on not only their nuclear family but also their extended family for their needs. Therefore, having food in the Ghanaian culture symbolizes that a person comes from a good family and is well taken care of by his kinsmen. For this reason, it would be a cultural shame for a person to give a "no" response. Also, the adverbal phrase such as how often can easily be captured in the English language but cannot be easily captured in the various local dialects, subjecting such words to the interpretation of the interviewer.

In the future, the survey should be reviewed and carefully designed to fit the context of Ghana, especially taking linguistic and cultural differences into consideration. Questions on the survey should also be straightforward in order to minimize linguistic and cultural nuances. In addition, respondents, especially females, should be educated on some of the topics raised on the survey, as this may provide them some understanding on how to choose a response rather than selecting a refused to/don't know type of answer. The findings from the research, however, can guide government and other key stakeholders in policy and decision making when it comes to issues of education and the well-being of Ghanaians. In addition, following up with a qualitative

method in future (that perhaps may not have been adequately captured in the dataset) to provide further information and insights into the trends and differences observed is a step in the right direction.

An obvious limitation in modern times is how the measure, gender, is captured in Afrobarometer as "male" and "female," neglecting other groups of sexual identity, especially given the cultural context and laws of the country. It must be emphasized that in Ghanaian culture, where people are silent on sensitive issues such as gender identity and sexual orientation (whether male or female, gay, transgender, etc.) and with an anti-gay bill passed in the country, selfidentification as any of these alternate gender categories can come with some repercussion. Though the Afrobarometer data does not make room for these other forms of gender identifications, future considerations should be thoughtfully put in place to capture them.

5.3 Policy Implications

The implication is that, overall, Ghanaians have a better quality of life. This implies that Ghanaians having access to basic needs such as food, water, healthcare, and monetary income are more likely to perceive they have better quality of life. In addition, enjoying the tenets of democracy such as freedom of speech, freedom to join any political organization, and freedom for the media to investigate and report, among others, tends to enhance quality of life among Ghanaians. This result is also consistent with literature that ranks Ghana as one of the top three countries where citizens enjoy freedom of speech and press freedom, with strong broadcast media (World Bank, 2020). These findings also suggest that promoting political engagement activities in the country, in addition to ensuring that government supports citizens with their basic needs, will go a long way in enhancing their quality of life. Ghana could imitate western countries such as the United States in providing basic social services and supporting basic needs (such as food, water, and income cash) to their citizens. In addition, increasing political engagement activities and promoting democratic values and practices are key to the well-being of Ghanaians. Indeed, the findings also support the hypothetical assumption of the relative effect theoretical model that suggests that quality of life depends on other factors and not only on education. It is also consistent with previous literature (Diener et al., 2005; Emler & Frazer 1999; Hillygus, 2005; Schwarz, 1991; Sulemana, 2015; Takyi & Addai, 2002).

In examining the perception of education and how perceptions differ by social groupings, the results show that, on average, most Ghanaians have a minimum of a high school education. Those with lower levels of education (non-formal and elementary) are mostly women, the unemployed, old-aged adults, and rural dwellers. In contrast, those with higher levels of education (secondary and post-secondary) are mostly men, the employed, Akans, urban dwellers, and Other Christians. Overall, the results indicate that one's level of education depends on their social groupings. This result is consistent with the theoretical models selected for the study.

The descriptive result also shows the existence of gender inequality, especially at the higher levels of education, as we see that those with higher levels of education are mostly men, whereas those with lower levels of education are mostly women. The government of Ghana should continue to implement policies that will promote women's education, especially at the higher levels of education. The already in-place affirmative action policies should be strongly and consistently implemented to support women in higher education. High school building infrastructure and other educational resources should be provided in every rural area in Ghana to improve access. There should also be continuous provision of adult education among the old adults and unemployed in the community through the media and other resources. Because education influences quality of life, government should continue to promote policies that increase access and quality education to meet the needs of Ghanaian citizens. In conclusion, this study looks at the overarching outlook on the nature of education and quality of life in Ghana. It also provides a better understanding of the general perceptions and patterns in educational attainment and quality of life in Ghana. The results show that there is a link between educational levels and quality of life (subjective well-being and political engagement) in Ghana; thus, quality of life among Ghanaians tends to increase with higher levels of education. Second, not only does education strongly impact quality of life in Ghana but other factors, such as age, ethnicity, employment status, place of residence, religion, and government handling of educational needs positively correlate with education. Third, the expected minimum of education that most people acquire in Ghana is high school education.

Last, men and women derive similar benefits when it comes to education attainment and quality of life. The question here is why there are more males than females in the analysis sample. A host of factors can be attributed to the implications of this result: (a) more women in the missingness group than men, (b) f the successful voices of the liberal feminist movements in Ghana, (c) development of government policies to bridging the gender gap, and (d) external influences such as the UN, World Bank, and many others.

(a) Data perspectives

In ensuring data integrity, I pulled out all the missing cases from the sample. This missingness constituted respondents who gave a don't know or refused type of response along with missing cases in the sample. Going through this process resulted in having more men than women in the valid dataset, contradicting the representation of gender in the original sample (i.e.
more female than male)—more women than men constituted missingness. Though dealing with missingness is essential, studies have shown that missing data has some disadvantages which includes the fact that it can reduce the "statistical power of a study and can produce biased estimates, leading to invalid conclusions, which refers to the probability that the test will reject the null hypothesis when it is false" (Kang, 2013). In addition, it can reduce the representativeness of the sample and can cause bias in the estimation of parameters (Kang, 2013). Not only that, but it can also reduce the effect size, which may significantly impact the results (Slavin & Smith, 2009). Possibly this process might have contributed to the result obtained, showing that gender had no effect when it comes to the relationship between education and quality of life in Ghana – that is, both educated males and educated females tend to derive the same quality of life benefits from education.

(b) Voices of Liberalism

Adding to these explanations, Hyde (2005) also found that gender differences in a study "seem to depend on the context in which they were defined" The data used for this study was collected in 2017 (Afrobarometer Round 7). This was at a time when Ghana was under constitutional rule, having had several successes in its political terrain. Other possible contextual factors include the successes of the liberal feminist movements in Ghana around that time. These voices of liberalism used the mediums of literature, mass media, entertainment, sports, and all forms of women's movements to educate and create awareness of women's rights around that era. For example, Abena Busia and Afua Sutherland cited literature in educating girls on their rights to education, whereas the 31st December Women's Movement established by the Ghana's previous first ladies continued with its educative role of empowering Ghanaians women through financial literacy, leadership, and community engagement.

(c) Government Effective Policies to Gender Gaps

Several policies, including both international and local policies, have been introduced to mitigate female discrimination in many areas including education, politics and leadership, business and finance, and entrepreneurship, among others. These policies are bridging the gap. One example is the introduction of affirmative action policies such as the quota system in Parliament to allow women to participation and representation in parliamentary leadership, introduction of the free senior high school education feeding program, and free maternal healthcare provided for Ghanaian women, among others.

(d) External Influences

The external influences and pressure via the means of conditionalities to accessing grants, benefits, and loans, among many others, from international organizations such as the United Nations and The World Bank have also been influencing factors in ensuring gender equity in subjective well-being and political engagement activities in Ghana. For example, demand for women's representation in politics and business, the organization of cooperative ventures to promote women empowerment, and free sanitary pads initiatives to help young females navigate the experiences of completing their menstrual cycles with educational demands, etc.

In conclusion, the outcomes from the study can be used to inform policies and practices in the discourse and literature of well-being studies, democratic governance studies, education studies, and socioeconomic considerations. It can also serve as a model for exploring these similar issues in other African countries.

5.4 Reflections

The goal of this research study is to highlight the link between education and quality of life in Ghana, a sub-Saharan African country, with emphasis on gender. The findings suggest that using micro indicators is relevant to determining quality of life. It provides resounding evidence and a valuable contribution to ongoing discussions on using micro indicators as the new norm to quality-of-life determination. As emphasized in much of the literature, using micro measures allows for the accumulation of detailed information regarding the circumstances that are associated with quality of life (Diener et al., 2015).

Second, the findings in my dissertation establishes the fact that education is relevant in improving quality of life in Ghana. Here, we observe that Ghanaians rate their quality of life to be high, which is reflective among those with higher levels of education (mainly high school). However, this observation does not differ between males and females. This affirms the relevance of education to improving quality in Ghana. In retrospect, emphasis should be placed on expanding policies that focus on improving educational access, quality, equity, and affordability. The government of Ghana has, over the years, focused on improving access to education in the country, focusing less on quality, equity and diversity, innovation and technology, and affordability. Because, Ghanaians have come to the realization that education is relevant to their well-being, there are now growing concerns in the country for government to shift attention to quality (World Bank, 2020). Implementing educational policies and structures that would enhance quality and positive school outcomes (World Bank, 2020) would indirectly impact Ghanaians' quality of life.

Focusing on quality, it is observed in Ghana that schools continue to face challenges such as the lack of infrastructure, poor management of staff and teachers, and poor curriculum, especially in rural areas (Opoku-Asare & Siaw, 2016). These challenges cut across elementary through post-high school (college, polytechnics, training colleges, etc.) system in the country. Compared to the United States, for example, where on average most schools have well-built classrooms installed with air conditioning, desks and chairs, cubbies for students, well-stocked library for study, access to technological devices, transport/busing system, and several other structures in place to enhance learning and school effectiveness, the same cannot be said about Ghana (a global icon to several African countries). Most public schools, especially at the elementary to high school level, lack these facilities (Akyeampong et al., 2007; World Bank, 2012). Ghanaian students learn in the heat of their classrooms, and students, especially those living in rural areas, commute several miles to school and some of them still learn under trees in schools. Adding to these factors is the shortage of teachers, high student-to-teacher ratio (especially in rural areas) (Annan, 2020) and poor classroom teaching conditions. For example, to date, teachers continue to use white chalk as writing materials, and some do not have access to textbooks. I highlight these issues based on the literature, evidence from research, my experience in teaching and acquiring a college education (both in the United States and in Ghana), and in teaching and parenting children in the U.S. educational system. Even though much has been done, especially with regard to improving access to high school education, quality in education is low and has not been the focus of the current and previous governments.

When it comes to equity and diversity, we realize the results from this study are in line with reports on education in Ghana, which show that marginalized groups include children from poor communities, girls, and Muslims (Masemann, 2018). The rural areas and places, especially in the northern parts of Ghana, fall within the poor communities in the country. This phenomenon is reported in prestigious research reports such as those produced by the World Bank and UNESCO

(2017) and also reflected over here in the dissertation. For example, in my dissertation, I find that women, rural dwellers, old-aged adults, and the unemployed have low levels of education. Barrow and Grant (2019) noted that equity in education is linked to equal opportunities. When it comes to gender, even though much has been done in closing the gender gap in education, girls and women are still at a disadvantage, especially when it comes to tertiary education, and do not have equal opportunities like their male counterparts (Osei-Tutu, 2021). This is reflected in my dissertation, which shows that more males (63.8%) than females (36.2%) attain post-high school education. To date girls continue to face a disproportionate number of barriers in accessing education (Wilson & Somhlaba, 2017). With regard to rural dwellers, most of these people are predominantly in the northern regions of Ghana that lacked access to good and quality resources in the region (Barrow & Grant, 2019). If education is salient to quality of life, resources must be devoted to ensuring that both women and those living in rural areas have access to equal opportunities for quality and affordable education. Attention should be devoted to the old-aged adults and those without employment to gain education in Ghana. This can be done by encouraging them to gaining informal education already existing in the country. In addition, equal opportunities and quality education should also be available for the disabled. Special schools built and designed to educate those with disabilities across the regions of the country must be expanded and provided with assistive technology and the resources to function.

My dissertation also attests that attention must be focused on formalizing and sustaining the informal educational sector, which constitute the most marginalized groups (women, old-age adults, and those with disabilities). The informal sector consists mainly of Ghanaians with little to no formal education. The government of Ghana has created structures to at least train and equip those who participate in non-formal education with basic reading and numeracy skills. However, compared to the United States where there seems to be a bridge between the non-formal and formal education, Ghana lacks this comprehensive approach. In the interest of improving the quality of life of Ghanaians, the government must implement educational policies that would provide an educational pipeline between the non-formal educational sector and the mainstream education. Government can also put structures in place in standardizing the non-formal educational sector and providing participants with recognizable certifications after completion or participating. In addition, provisions should also be made for individuals from the non-formal sector to be reintegrated into the formal educational structure.

When it comes to affordability, there are structures in place to make student loans accessible to all college students regardless of socioeconomic status. Guarantors are no longer required to obtain government student loans for college education (Adu, 2021). These loans are supplementary and do not cover all student needs (including tuition). However, college education continues to be very expensive, and not all Ghanaians can afford to pay for it (Gyimah-Brempong, 2017). Tuition in the private tertiary education sector, which has expanded so much in recent times to make college education accessible to all, is even worse. Just as government put policies in place to implement the free senior high school education, efforts must be made to make college education and other forms of tertiary education cost-effective. Full scholarships should be provided to students of low socioeconomic status, and student loans should be increased to fully cover students' needs and expenses for tertiary education.

With regards to innovation and technology, the educational system is far behind. These lapses were exposed during the recent COVID-19 pandemic. Many schools at the elementary, middle, and high school levels could not operate due to lack of access to technology and technological devices (Upoalkpajor & Upoalkpajor, 2020). Nationwide closures of schools

affected all, especially girls (UNGEI, 2020). To catch up with the world in education, especially in times of crisis, more resources should be devoted to providing technology in all schools, especially at the elementary and high school levels, to make education accessible to individuals in any geographical location (whether at home or in school). At the tertiary educational level, however, the country has somehow been able to achieve this, introducing online learning and programs via distance education (Kwapong, 2007).

Regarding education and civic engagement in Ghana, the government also needs to build capacities and strengthen institutions that focus on civic issues. These institutions should be encouraged to partner with schools and communities as part of the educational system to educate them on civic activities and events in Ghana. Monitoring and evaluation measures should be put into place to assess the various civic institutions in the country. Recommendations made from these evaluation reports should be critically examined and implemented for development purposes.

Overall, reflecting on this dissertation establishes these four findings: (a) using micro indicators is relevant to determining quality of life, (b) education is relevant to improving quality of life in Ghana, (c) other factors influence quality of life, and (d) there are no differences in quality of life among educated Ghanaian males and females.

Appendix A Dependent, Independent, and Other Explanatory Variables

Dependent Variable: Quality of Life Outcomes

Subjective Well-Being

1. Perceived Subjective wellbeing	 Question: The first questions asked: "In general, how would you describe: The present economic condition of this country? The responses were coded as: 1=Very bad, 2=Fairly bad, 3=Neither good nor bad, 4=Fairly good, 5=Very good, 9=Don't know. The second question asked: In general, how would you describe: Your own present living conditions"? The responses were coded as: 1=Very bad, 2=Fairly bad, 3=Neither good nor bad, 4=Fairly good, 5=Very good, 9=Don't know. The third question asked was: In general, how do you rate your living conditions compared to those of other Ghanaians? The responses were coded as: 1=Much worse, 2=Worse, 3=Same, 4=Better, 5=Much Better, 9=Don't know. 	Average index variable
2. Actual Subjective wellbeing	Question: "Over the past year, how often, if ever, have you or anyone in your family gone without the following" (a) How often gone without food (b) How often gone without water (c) How often gone without medical care (d) How often gone without cash income. The responses were coded as: 0=Never, 1=Just once or twice, 2=Several times, 3=Many times, 4=Always, 9=Don't know, 998=Refused to answer, -1=Missing data. Looking back, how do you rate economic conditions in this country compared to twelve months ago? The responses were coded as: 1= Much worse, 2= Worse 3=Samee, 4= Better, 5=Much better, 9=Don't know	Average index variable

Political Engagement

3.Civic Engagement	 Questions: (a)Better or worse: freedom to say what you think. Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? Responses: 1=Much less freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 9=Don't know. (b)Better or worse: freedom to join political organizations: Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? Responses: 1=Much less freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 9=Don't know. (c)Better or worse: Media's freedom to investigate and report: Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? Responses: 1=Much less freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom, 5=Much more freedom, 9=Don't know. (d)Better or worse: freedom of opposition to function: Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? Responses: 1=Much less freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 4=Somewhat more freedom of opposition to function: Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? Responses: 1=Much less freedom, 2= Somewhat less freedom, 3=Same, 4=Somewhat more freedom of opposition to function: Please tell me if there is more or less freedom now for each of the following things compared to a few years ago, or are things about the same? Responses: 1=Much less freedom, 2= Somewhat less fre	Average index variable
4.Institutional Trust	"How much do you trust each of the following institutions or haven't you heard enough about them to say? The responses were coded as: 0=not at all, 1=just a little, 2=somewhat, 3=a lot, and 9=don't know/haven't heard enough." (a) Trust president (b) Trust parliament/national assembly (c) Trust in Court, (d) Trust national electoral commission (e) Trust your elected local government council (f) Trust in Police.	Average index variable

Key Independent Variable: Education Attainment

Question:	3.High School
What is your highest level of education? [Code from answer. Do not read options] No formal schooling 0 Informal schooling only (including Koranic schooling) 1 Some primary schooling 2 Primary school completed 3 Intermediate school or Some secondary school / high school 4 Secondary school / high school completed 5 Post-secondary qualifications, other than university e.g. a diploma or degree from a polytechnic or college 6 Some university 7 University completed 8 Post-graduate 9 Don't know	4 Post high

Other Explanatory Variable

Variable	Questions and Description	Recoded Variable
Ethnicity	What is your ethnic community, cultural group or tribe? [If respondent does not identify any group on this question – that is, IF they REFUSE to answer (9998), DON'T KNOW (9999) or mention "Ghanaian only (9990)"– then circle 7 = Not Applicable for Q85A and Q85B and continue to question Q86.] . Responses includes: 260 =Akan, 261=Ewe, 262=Ga/Adangbe, 263=Dagomba, 9990=Ghanaian only, or "doesn't think of self in those terms", 9998=Refused to answer, 9999=Don't know, Other [Specify]:	Akan Ewe Ga Others
Religious Affiliations	What is your religion, if any? The responses were coded as: 0=None, 1=Christian only, 2=Roman Catholic, 3=Orthodox, 5=Anglican, 6=Lutheran, 7=Methodist, 8=Presbyterian, 9=Baptist, 12=Evangelical, 13=Pentecostal, 14=Independent, 15=Jehovah's Witness, 16=Seventh Day Adventist, 17=Mormon, 18=Muslim only, 19=Sunni only, 20=Ismaeli, 21=Mouridiya Brotherhood, 22=Tijaniya Brotherhood, 23=Qadiriya Brotherhood, 25=Traditional / ethnic religion, 31=Calvinist, 32=Church of Christ, 33=Zionist Christian Church, 34=Jewish, 35=Apostolic Church, 9995=Other, 9999=Don't know	Traditional/None Catholics Protestant Pentecostals/Evangelicals Other Christians Muslim
Employment status	Do you have a job that pays a cash income? 0=No (looking), 1=Yes, part time 2=Yes, full time 3=Don't know [Do not read]	Dummy coded (1=employed' 0=unemployed)
Gender	Respondent's gender: 1=Male, 2= Female	Dummy coded (1=Male; 0=Female)
Place of Residence	Place of residence: 1=Urban, 2=Rural	Dummy coded (1=Urban; 0=Rural)
Age	How old are you? [Don't Know = 999]	Continuous variable
Age group	How old are you? [Don't Know = 999]	Young Adult Middle-Aged Adults Old-Aged Adult Elderly

Other Explanatory Variable

(a)Equal Opportunities to education Question: For each of the following statements, please tell me whether you disagree or agree, or haven't you heard enough to say? In our country today, girls and boys have equal opportunities to get an education". The responses were coded as: 1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3= Neither Agree nor Disagree 4=Agree, 5= Strongly Agree, 9=Don't know/ Haven't heard enough	scale
(b) <u>Difficulty to obtain public school services.</u> Question: How easy or difficult was it to obtain the services you needed from teachers or school officials? Responses: 7=No contact, 1=Very easy, 2=Easy, 3=Difficult, 4=Very Difficult, 9=Don't Know	scale
(c) <u>Government policy effectiveness on education</u> Question: Please tell me if the following things are worse or better now than they were a few years ago, or are they about the same? The government's effectiveness in addressing educational needs?" The responses were coded as: 1=Much worse, 2=Worse, 3=Same 4=Better, 5=Much Better, 9=Don't know [DNR].	scale
(d) <u>Handling and addressing educational needs</u> Question: How well or badly would you say the current government is handling the following matters, or haven't you heard enough to say? (a) Addressing educational needs? Responses: 1=Very Badly, 2=Fairly Badly, 3=Fairly Well, 4=Very Well, 9=DK / Haven't heard enough.	scale
(e)Likelihood of Reporting Teacher Misconduct Question: How likely is it that you could get someone to take action if you went to a government office or other public institution to report the following problems, or haven't you heard enough to say? (a) If you went to the local school to report teacher misbehavior such as absenteeism or mistreatment of students". The responses were coded as: 0=Not at all likely, 1=Not very likely, 2=Somewhat likely, 3=Very likely, 9=Don't know.	scale

Appendix B Comparison Between Valid and Nonvalid Samples

MEASURES	COMPARISON
	Dependent Variables
A.Subjective	e Well-Being Measures
Q4A. 4a. Country's present Economic Condition	The results for this measure show similar trend in results. For example, more Ghanaians reported their present economic condition to be "very bad" in both the valid (26%) and the non-valid (32%) sample. Those who reported that it was "fairly bad" were found to be 26% in the valid sample and 25% in the "non-valid" sample. Whereas those who indicated that it was "neither good nor bad" were found to be 11% in the valid sample and 9% in the non-valid sample. Respondents who indicated that the country's present economic condition was "fairly good". Despite the similarities in trends, marginal differences in result were found between the valid and the non-valid cases; 6% increment in the non-valid sample was found among those who said the country's present economic conditions was "very bad". 1% decrement in the non-valid sample was obtained for those who said it was "fairly bad". And 2% decrement was obtained for those who said it was "fairly good" in the non-valid sample. The result suggests that more respondents in the non-valid sample reported the country's present economic condition to be "very bad" (6% more) than in the valid sample. And those who indicated that it was "fairly good" and "very good" were found to be more in valid sample.

Q4B Q4b. Your present living conditions	 Here, similar trend in reports was seen in both the valid and non-valid samples. Those who reported that their present living conditions was "very bad" were found to be 24% in the valid sample and 32% in the non-valid sample. And respondents who indicated their present living conditions to be "fairly bad" were 27% in the non-valid and 23% in the valid. Also, 11% (among the valid) and 10% (among the non-valid) said it was "neither good nor bad". Respondents who reported that their present living conditions was "fairly good" were found to be 31% among the valid sample and 28% among the non-valid sample. Whereas 6% (of the valid sample) and 7% (of the non-valid sample) reported that it was "very good". However, in comparing the valid to the non-valid sample, we observe that there were marginal differences; 8% increment in the non-valid sample was found among those who said their present living conditions was "very bad". 4% and 1% decrement in the non-valid sample was found among those who indicated that it was "fairly bad" and "neither good nor bad" respectively. 3% decrement in responses in the non-valid sample was also found among those who indicated that it was "fairly good". The result suggests that 8% more respondents in the non-valid sample report that their present living conditions was "very good".
Q5 Q5. Your living conditions vs. others	 good" in the valid sample. Again, the results on this measure show similar trend in reports in both the valid and the non-valid samples. For example, 5% of those interviewed indicated that their present living conditions was "much worse" compared to others in both the valid and non-valid sample. And respondents who rated their living conditions to be "worse" than others were found to be 20% in the valid and 19% in the non-valid. Those who said it was "much better" were found to be 5% (valid) and 3% (non-valid) in the sample. However, overall, more Ghanaians reported that their living condition was "better" in both the valid sample (44%) and the non-valid sample (30%). Despite these similarities, marginal differences in responses exist between the two samples. We find that there is a 14% decrement in responses among those who said their living conditions was "better", 2% decrement among those who said it was worse. All these differences were found on the side of the non-valid sample. The result suggests that more respondents in the valid sample report having "better" living conditions than in the non-valid sample.

Q8A Q8a. How often gone without food	This measure also shows similar reports in the valid and the non-valid sample. Overall, most of the respondents in the valid (77%) and the non-valid (71%) samples report that they often have "never" gone without food. And those who said they had "always" gone without food were less than 1% in both the valid (.6%) and the non-valid sample (.3%). Those who reported having gone without food "just once or twice" were found to be 11% in the valid sample and 17% in the non-valid sample. And those who indicated they had often gone without food "several times" were 9% and 8% in both the valid and the non-valid sample, respectively. Whereas 3% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 4% (among the non-valid sample) respectively indicated that they had often gone without food "many times". However, in comparing the two samples, we find that marginal differences exist in the responses. We find a 6% decrease in response for those who indicated that they had "never" gone without food. Whereas a 6% increment was found among those who said, "just once or twice". A 1% decrement was found among those who said they had gone without food "several times". However, 1% increment was found among those who said they had gone without food "several times". All these differences were found on the side of the non-valid sample. The result suggests that overall a high number of respondents report that they often have food in both the valid and the non-valid sample. And 1% more respondents in the non-valid sample indicated that they had often gone without food "many times" than in the valid sample. And 1% more respondents in the non-valid sample.
Q8B Q8b. How often gone without water	Here, similar trends in results was observed in both the valid and the non-valid sample. For example, 80% reported they have "never" gone without water in the valid sample whereas 77% was found in the non-valid sample. 7% (valid) and 10% (non-valid) respondents noted they had often gone without water "just once or twice". Those who reported having gone without water "several times" were found to be 9% among the valid sample and 7% among the non-valid sample respectively. Whereas 3% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 5% (among the non-valid sample) respectively indicated that they had often gone without water "many times". Those who said they "always" had often gone without water were found to be 2% and 1% in the in the valid and the non-valid sample, respectively.

	In comparing the reports between the valid sample and the non-valid sample, we find marginal differences in values between the two; 3% decrement for those who said they had "never" often gone without water. The reverse (3% increment) was observed among respondents noting that they had often gone without water "just once or twice". 2% decrement was also found among those who said they had gone without water "several times". A 2% increment was found among those who reported that they have often gone without water "many times". And a 1% decrement was found among those who indicated they had often gone without water "always". Again, all these values were found on the side of the non-valid sample. The results suggest that overall, a high number of respondents report that they have water in both samples. However, respondents who reported that they had gone without water "just once or twice" were found to be 4%
	more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample. And those who indicated that they had gone without water "many times" were also found to be 2% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.
Q8C Q8c. How often gone without medical care	Similar trends in result was found for the valid and the non-valid sample. More than half of the respondents in the valid (70%) and the non-valid (64%) sample reported that they had "never" gone without medical care. We also observe that in both the valid (.8%) and the non-valid sample (.9%), less than 1% of the respondents said they had "always" gone without medical care. This suggests that on an average, more Ghanaians often have medical care. Those who said they had often gone without medical care "just once or twice" were found to be 13% among the valid sample, and 20% among the non-valid sample. And those who said they had gone without water "several times were also found to be 12% among the non-valid sample and 11% among the non-valid sample and 4% among the non-valid sample.
	The reports however show the existence of marginal differences in responses between the valid and the non-valid sample; 6% decrement in responses among those who said they had "never" often gone without medical care, 7% increment in responses among those who said "just once or twice" and 1% decrement in responses among those who indicated they had gone without medical care "several times". Again, 1% decrement was found among those who reported that they had often gone without medical care "many times". All these marginal differences in values were found on the side of the non-valid sample. Overall, the results suggest there were more people who had "never" gone without medical in both samples. However, those who reported they had often gone without medical care "just once or twice" were found to be 7% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.

Overall, the results on this measure suggest similar trends in outcomes in both the valid and the non-valid sample. More people interviewed indicated that they had "never" gone without cash/income among the valid (40%) and the non-valid (33%) sample. Those who said they had gone without cash/income "just once or twice" were found to be 17% among the valid sample and 23% was found among the non-valid sample. Also, 26% (among the valid sample) indicated they had gone without cash/income "several times". And 13% (among the valid sample) and 15% (among the non-valid) also note that they have often gone without
cash/income "many times". However, in comparing the differences in responses between the valid and the non-valid sample, we observe that there are marginal differences. We find that there is a 7% decrement in response among those who reported that they had "never gone without cash/income in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample. A 6% increment was found among those who said, "just once or twice" and 1% decrement in response among those who said, "several times". 2% increment in response was also found among those who noted that they had often gone without cash/income "many times". Whereas 1% decrement in response was found among those who indicated that they had "always" gone without cash/income". All these values were found on the side of the non-valid sample. The result suggests that there were more people often had "never" gone without cash/income in both samples. However, those who said they had often gone without cash/income "just once or twice" and "many times" were
respectively found to be 6% and 2% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.
More respondents noted that there is freedom to say what a person thinks in the country in both the valid and the non-valid samples. For example, 44% respondents (among the valid sample) and 40% (among the non-valid sample) reported that there was "much more freedom" to say what you think. Those who indicated that there was "somewhat more freedom" to say what you think were found to be 20% in the valid sample and 18% in the non-valid sample.

	Despite this trend, we find marginal differences in responses between the two samples s. Among those who indicated that there was "much more freedom", a 4% decrement in response was found in the non-valid sample. A 2% decrement of was found among those who reported that there was "somewhat freedom", and 1% decrement was found among those who said it was the "same". There was no change in response among those who said there was "somewhat less freedom" and "much less freedom" to say what you think, respectively. The result suggests that overall respondents perceive that there is much freedom to say what you think in both the
Q19B Q19b. Better or worse: freedom to join political	valid and the non-valid sample. Here, we find that generally more respondents indicated that there is freedom to join political organizations. For example, 52% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 48% (among the non-valid sample) respectively indicated that there was "much more freedom" to join political organizations. Those who indicated that there was "somewhat more freedom" were found to be 15% in both the valid and the non-valid sample. Whereas those who reported that nothing had changed were found to be 24% (among the valid sample) and 20% (among the non-valid sample), respectively. Respondents who indicated that there was "somewhat less freedom" to join political organizations were found to be 5% in both samples. And finally, those who said there was "much less freedom" were found to be 3% in the valid sample and 4% in the non-valid sample, respectively.
organizations.	However, in comparing these reports, we observe that there are marginal differences in responses between the valid and the non-valid samples. A decrement of 5% was found among respondents who indicated that there was "much more freedom" in the non-valid sample. Again, a decrement of 4% was found among those who indicated that nothing had changed in the non-valid sample. However, a 1% increment in response was found among those who said there was "much less freedom" in the non-valid sample. This suggests that those who reported that there was "much less freedom" to join political organizations were found to be 1% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.
Q19c Q19c. Better or worse: media freedom to investigate, report	Here, similar trend in responses was found. More respondents indicated there was media freedom to investigate and report in both the valid and non-valid samples. For example, 45% (among the valid) and 38% (the non-valid sample) reported that the media has "much more freedom" to investigate and report. 20% of respondents of the valid sample and 17% of the non-valid said there was "somewhat more freedom". And those who indicated that it was the "same" were found to be 25% in the valid and 21% in the non-valid sample, respectively. 7% (among the

	 valid) and 5% (among the non-valid) said there was "somewhat less freedom". Whereas 3% (among the valid) and 2% (among the non-valid) indicated that there was "much less freedom" for the media to investigate and report. We see from these results that there are some marginal differences in reports between the valid and the non-valid samples despite the similarities;7% decrement in response among those indicating that the media has "much more freedom", 3% decrement in response among those noting that there is "somewhat more freedom", 4% decrement in response among those who reported that it as the "same". A 2% decrement in response was also found among those who noted that there was "somewhat less freedom". And a 1% decrement among those who reported the media having "much less freedom". The result suggests that overall, more Ghanaians report that there is freedom for the media to investigate and report.
Q19E Q19e. Better or worse: freedom of opposition to function	Over here, similar trend in result was found. More Ghanaians reported that there was freedom of opposition to function. For example, 48% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 40% (among the non-valid sample) noted that there was "much more freedom" of the opposition to function. 16% (among the valid) and (14%) indicated that there was "somewhat more freedom". Whereas 25% respondents among the valid sample and 21% among the mon-valid said it was the "same". Those who noted that the opposition had "somewhat less freedom" to function were found to be 8% among the valid sample and 5% among the non-valid sample. And those who reported that there was "much less freedom" were found to be 4% in both the valid and non-valid samples.
	From these results, we observe that marginal differences exist between the valid and the non-valid sample; 8% decrement in response was found among those who reported that the opposition had "much more freedom" to function. 2% decrement was found among those who indicated that there was "somewhat more freedom". 5% decrement among those who said it was the "same" and 3% decrement among those who said there was "somewhat less freedom".
	This suggests that more respondents indicated that more Ghanaians reported that there was freedom for the opposition to function.

Q43A Q43a. Trust president	On this measure, similar trends in reports was also observed in the two samples. For example, more respondents (48% among the valid sample and 44% among the non-valid sample) indicated that they had "lots of trust" in the president. 25% (among the valid) and 21% (among the non-valid) indicated that they "somewhat" had trust in the president. However, 16% among the valid sample and 14% among the non-valid sample reported that they had "just a little trust" in the president. Whereas those who indicated that they do "not trust" the president at all were found to be 11% in both the valid and non-valid sample. However, in comparing the reports of the two samples, we find some marginal differences exists; A 4% decrement in response (in the non-valid sample) among respondents who indicated that they trust in the president "a lot". A 4% decrement (in the non-valid sample) among those who said they "somewhat" trust in the president. 2.0% decrement in response (in non-valid) was also found among those who reported that they trust in the president "just a little".
Q43B Q43b. Trust	Similar trend in reports was found in the valid and non-valid samples. For example, 27% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 22% (among the non-valid sample) said they trust parliament/national assembly "a lot". 33% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 22%" (among the non-valid sample) indicated that they "somewhat" trust parliament/national assembly. And in both the valid and the non-valis samples, 24% of respondents noted that they trust the parliament/national assembly "just a little".
parliament/national	However, in examining these results, we observe that there are marginal differences in the values reported; 5% decrement among those who indicated that they trust parliament/national assembly "a lot", 9% decrement among respondents who said they "somewhat" trust parliament/national assembly and 2% decrement among they had "no trust at all" in the parliament/national assembly. All these differences in values reported were found in the non-valid sample.
assembly	This suggests that overall, more respondents in both the valid (33%) and the non-valid (24%) sample report that they "somewhat" trust in parliament/national assembly.

Q43I Q43i. Trust courts of law	Here also, similarities exist between the reports for the valid and the non-valid sample. For example, 26% (among the valid sample) and 27% (among the non-valid sample) reported that they trust "a lot" in the courts of law. 33% respondents (among the valid sample) and 25% respondents (among the non-valid sample) said they "somewhat" trust in the courts of law. Those who reported that their trust in the courts of law to be "just a little" were found to be 23% and 21% in the valid and the non-valid sample respectively. And those who indicated that they had "not trust at all" in the courts of law were 18% (among the valid) and 15% (among the non-valid) sample. Despite these reports, we observe that there are marginal differences in responses between the valid and the non-valid sample. For example, there is 1% marginal increment in response (in the non-valid sample) among those who reported that they trust in the courts of law. "a lot". A marginal decrement of 8% (in the non-valid sample) was found among respondents who said they "somewhat" trust in the courts of law. A marginal decrement of 3% (in the non-valid sample) was found among those who reported their trust in the courts of law was "just a little" and "not all". This suggests that overall, respondents in the valid sample "somewhat" trust in the courts of law than in the non-valid sample.
Q43D Q43d. Trust your elected local government council	On this measure, similar trends in results was found in both the valid and non-valid sample. For example, in both samples, a high number of respondents noted that they "somewhat" (33% valid and 25% non-valid) trust in their elected local government council. And 18% of the valid and 14% of the non-valid reported that they trust in their local government council "a lot". Whereas 29% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 26% (among the non-valid sample) respectively indicated that they had "just a little" in their local government council. Those who reported that they had "no trust at all" for the elected government council was found to be 20% and 14% in the valid and the non-valid sample respectively. However, in comparing the reports of the valid and the non-valid, there are marginal differences between the two samples. There is a marginal decrement of 8% among those who said they "somewhat" trust in their elected local government council, 6% decrement among those who said, "not at all", 3% decrement among those who indicated just a little and 6% decrement among those who reported "not at all". This suggests that overall, more respondents in the valid sample report that they "somewhat" trust in their elected government council.

Q43G Q43g. Trust	On this measure, similar trends in report was observed in the two samples. For example, 35% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 32% (among the non-valid sample) noted that they have "no trust at all" in the police. 24% (among the valid and the non-valid sample) reported having "just a little" trust in the police. Those who indicated that they "somewhat" trust in the police were found to be 23% (among the valid) and 20% (among the non-valid) respectively. Whereas 18% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 17% (among the non-valid sample) said they trust in the police "a lot".
police	Despite the similarities in responses in the two samples, we observe that there are marginal differences in reports; A decrement of 4% (in the non-valid sample) was found among respondents who indicated that they do "not at all" trust in the police. A 3% decrement (in the non-valid sample) was found among those who noted that they "somewhat" trust in the police and 2% decrement (in the non-valid sample). The same value (2% decrement) was found among those who said they have "lots of trust" in the non-valid sample. Overall, the results shows that more Ghanaians "do not trust" in the police at all.
Q43C Q43c. Trust national electoral commission	We observe similar trends in results in the valid and the non-valid sample. For example, in both the valid (26%) and non-valid (24%) samples, respondents indicated that they trust "a lot" in the national electoral commission. Also, 19% (among the valid) and 17% (among the non-valid) respondents said they did not trust the national electoral commission at all. However, there were marginal differences in reports between the two samples. Example, in the non-valid sample, a decrement of 13% was found among those respondents who said they "somewhat" trust in the national electoral commission. Also, 2% decrement (in the non-valid sample) was found among those who said they trust "a lot", "just a little" and "not at all".
Q43C Q43c. Trust national electoral commission	commission. Here, the results show that among the valid sample, 32% of respondents "somewhat" trust in the national electoral commission whereas 20% of respondents was found in the non-valid sample. Those who reported that they trust "a lot" in the national electoral commission were found to be 26% in the valid sample and 24% in the non-valid sample. Respondents who indicated that they had "just a little" trust in the national electoral commission were found to be 23% in the valid and 22% in the non-valid sample. Whereas those who indicated that they had "no trust

 at all" in the electoral commission were 19% (among the non-valid) and 17% (among the non-valid) in the two samples, respectively. Despite these marginal differences still exists between the two samples: 12% decrement in responses was four among respondents who reported that they "somewhat" trust in the national electoral commission. 2% decrement was found among those who they trust "a lot", 1% decrement for those who indicated that they trust "just a little and 2% decrement for those who reported for those who reported having "no trust at all" for the electoral commission. 							
	commission. All the decrements were found on the side of the non-valid sample. Overall, the result shows that more respondents (in the valid sample) noting that they "somewhat" trust the electo commission.						
	Independent Variables						
	Here, there were some similar patterns and differences between the two samples. For example, in both samples, there were very few respondents who had "completed the university" (5% valid and non-valid sample 3%). Those with post-secondary qualifications, other than university were found to be 10% among the valid sample and 4% among the non-valid sample. On the other hand, more respondents noted that they had "some secondary school/high school education" in both samples (26% valid and 22% non-valid).						
Q97 Q97. Education of respondent	However, comparing the reports of the two samples shows that a significant number of respondents with "no- formal schooling" were found in the non-valid (21%) sample than in the valid sample (13%). This means that those with no-formal schooling were found to be 8% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample. Those who said they had primary schooling were also found to be more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample. For example, those who reported that they had "some primary schooling" (9% valid and 15% non-valid) were 5% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample. Those who said they had "completed primary schooling" (15% valid and 17% non-valid) were also found to be 2% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.						
	A higher number of respondents with secondary schooling and post-secondary education were also found in the valid sample than in the non-valid sample. For example, those who had "completed some secondary/high school"						

	were 4% more in the valid sample than in the non-valid sample. And those who had "completed secondary school/high school" was 5% more in the valid than the non-valid sample. The result suggests that those who were likely to give a don't know/refused kind of responses were mostly those with no-formal education or primary education.
Q84 Q84. Ethnic community, cultural group or tribe	Most of the respondents in both the valid and the non-valid sample belonged to the Akan ethnic group (52% valid and 44% non-valid), Ewe/Anlo ethnic group (13% valid and 21% non-valid), Ga/Adanbe ethnic group (9% valid and 10% non-valid) and the Dagomba ethnic group (6% valid and 2% non-valid). However, in comparing the two samples, we observe that there were 8% more respondents belonging to the Ewe/Anlo ethnic group in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample. Also, those who identify themselves as Ga/Adangbe were found to be 1% more in the non-valid than in the valid sample. There was also a marginal decrease of 8% in the number of respondents affiliated to the Akan ethnic group in the non-valid sample. Overall, we observe that those belonging to the Akan ethnic group constituted the most in both samples (52% valid and 44% non-valid).
Q98 Q98. Religion of respondent	Most of the respondents in the valid and the non-valid sample indicated that they were Christians only (19% valid and 22% among the non-valid). This was followed by the Pentecostals (18% among valid and 20% among the non- valid). Those who indicated that they belonged to the Muslim only (16%) religion in the valid sample than in the non-valid (10%). Respondents indicating, they were "Roman Catholics" were found to be 11% each among the valid and the non-valid sample. And Presbyterians were also found to be 7% (in the valid sample) and 5% (in the non-valid sample). Those who reported having affiliations with "Methodist" were 6% among the valid and 5% among the non-valid samples respectively. Those who said they belonged to "none" of the religions were 3% (in the valid) and 4% (in the non-valid) respectively. The result suggests that overall, more respondents in one way or the other were affiliated with the Christian religion or any other Christian denomination. Those who did not belong to any religion were very few in the valid and the non-valid sample.

Q1 Q1. Age	The mean age was found to be approximately 37 years among the valid sample whereas in the non-valid sample, the mean age was found to be 43. This suggests that respondents in the valid sample were younger than respondents in the non-valid sample.
Q101 Q101. Gender of respondent	On this measure, approximately 52% (among the valid) of respondents in the valid and 43% (among the non-valid) sample report their gender to be male. 48% (among the valid sample) were female whereas 57% (among the non-valid were female). This suggests that more women (9% more) provided a "don't know/refused to answer" type response.
URBRUR Urban or Rural Primary Sampling Unit	Here, approximately 56% of urban dwellers were found in the valid sample compared to 51% urban dwellers in the non-valid sample. More rural dwellers (49%) were also found in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample (44%). This suggests that more respondents (5% more) who lived in the "rural areas" gave a "don't know/refused" type of answer.
Employment Status	On this measure, those who reported having full time jobs were approximately 56% each in the valid and the non- valid. Whereas 21% of respondents (among the valid) and 17% of respondents (among the non-valid) noted that had no jobs and were "looking" for one. Those who indicated that they had full time jobs were 56% among the valid and the non-valid sample. And those with part time jobs were 8% (among the valid sample) and 12% (among the non- valid sample). However, marginal differences exist in some of the responses. 4% decrement (among the non-valid) among those who reported having no jobs but looking for one. 4% increment in response (among the non-valid sample) for those who indicated that they had part-time jobs. This suggests that overall, more respondents in both the valid and the invalid sample had full time jobs. The result suggests that though both samples had approximately equal number of respondents with full time jobs, those who reported having part-time jobs were found to be 4% more in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.

Q77A Q77a. Girls and boys have equal chance at education	In both the valid and the non-valid cases 64% of respondents indicated that they "strongly agree" that girls and boys have equal chance of education. Respondents who reported that they "agree" were found to be 30% among the valid sample and 29% among the non-valid. Those who reported that they "neither agree nor disagree" were less than 1% in the valid sample and 3% in the non-valid sample. Whereas respondents reporting that they "disagree" that boy and girls have equal chances to education were 3% each in the valid and non-valid sample. 2% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 1% (among the non-valid sample) "strongly disagree" to this. However, marginal differences in responses were found between the valid and the non-valid sample. 1% decrement (in the non-valid sample) in response was found among those who reported that they "agree" that boys and girls have equal chance at education. And the reverse (1% increment) was found among those who said they "neither agree or disagree". Also, 1% decrement was found among those who reported that they "strongly disagree" that boys and girls have equal access to education.
Q49B Q49b. Difficulty to obtain public school services	On this measure, similar trends in responses was found on some of the responses. For example, 8% respondents each in the valid and the non-valid sample noted that it was "very easy" for them to obtain public school services. And 15% (of the valid sample) and 11% (of the non-valid sample) said it was "easy". 6% (among the valid) and 7% (among the non-valid) reported that it was difficult for them to obtain public school services. And 3% (among the valid) and approximately 1% (among the non-valid) said it was "very difficult". Those who indicated that they had "no contact" were respectively found to be 68% (among the valid) and 73% (among the non-valid). Marginal differences existing between the valid and the non-valid shows: 4% decrement among those who indicated that it was "difficult". 2% decrement among those who said it was "very difficult". 2% increment (in the non-valid sample) was also found among those who said they had "no contact" with public school services.

	This suggests that more people (5% more) in the non-valid sample indicated that they had "no contact" with public school services than in the valid sample. And 1% more respondents in also indicated that it was "difficult" to obtain public school services than in the non-valid sample than in the valid sample.
Q49C Q49c. Pay bribe for public school services	Here, similar trends are found in the responses in the valid and the non-valid sample. 27% respondents (among the valid sample) and 22% (among the non-valid sample) reported that they had "never" paid bribe for public school services. 3% (among the valid) and 2% (among the non-valid) indicated that they had paid bribe for public school services "once or twice". 2% of respondents each in the valid and the non-valid sample noted that they had paid for bribe "a few times". Those who reported having "often" paid for bribe for public services were less than 1% in both samples. However, 68% of respondents (among the valid) and 73% (among the non-valid) indicated that they had "no contact". From these results, we find marginal differences in responses existing between the valid and the non-valid sample. 5% decrement (in the non-valid sample) in responses among those who indicated that they had "never" paid for bribe for public school services. 1% decrement each among those who said they had paid for bribe "a few times". 6% increment in the non-valid sample) was found among those who indicated that they had "no contact". The result suggests that more people had "no contact" in the non-valid sample has found among those who indicated that they had "no contact".
Q53A Q53a. Likelihood of response: reporting teacher misconduct	Here, similar trends trend in responses were found in both the valid and non-valid sample. For example, 37% (among the valid) and 24% (among the non-valid) said they were "very likely" to report teacher misconduct. 31% (among the valid sample) and 26% (among the non-valid sample) indicated that they "somewhat likely" report teacher misconduct. Those who reported that they are "not very likely" to report teacher misconduct were found to be 16% (among the valid) and 11% (among the non-valid). Whereas 16% (among the valid) and 9% (among the non-valid) noted that they are "not at all likely" to report teacher misconduct. Despite these similarities, we observe that there were marginal differences in responses; 13% decrement (in the non-valid) was found among those who said they were "very likely" to report teacher misconduct. 5% decrement (in the non-valid) among those who said they were "somewhat likely". A 5% decrement was found among those

	who indicated that they are "not very likely" to report teacher misconduct. And a 7% decrement for those reporting that they are "not at all likely" to report teacher misconduct.
	This suggests that more respondents are "very likely" to report teacher misconduct in the valid sample than in the non-valid sample.
Q56H Q56h. Handling addressing educational needs	On this measure, similar trends were found among the valid and the non-valid sample. For example, 40% of respondents (among the valid sample) and 33% (among the non-valid) reported that educational needs were "very well" handled. 44% of respondents (in the valid sample) reported that their educational needs were "fairly well handled" whereas 39% was found in the non-valid sample. But 10% (each in the valid and the non-valid) reported that their educational needs "fairly badly" handled. Those who noted that their educational needs were "very badly" handles were found to be 6% (among the valid) and 9% (among the non-valid) respectively. Though similar trends in response was observed in the valid and the non-valid sample, marginal differences were found in the responses; 7% decrement in response (in the non-valid sample) was found among those who reported that educational needs were "very well" handled. 5% decrement in response (in the non-valid sample) among those who reported that their educational needs were "very well" handled. And a 3% increment in response (in the non-valid) among those who noted that educational needs were "very badly" handled. The result suggests that overall, more people report that their educational needs are handled "very well". However,
	those who indicated that their educational needs were "very badly" handled were found to be 3% more in the non- valid sample than the valid sample.
Q57C Q57c. Better or worse:	Similar trends in results was obtained in both the valid and the non-valid samples. For example, 23% (among the valid) and 17% (among the non-valid) report that government's effectiveness on education is "much better". Those who note that it is "better" were respectively found to be 39% in the valid and 35% in the non-valid samples.
government effectiveness on education	Whereas in each sample (valid and non-valid) 31% of respondents indicate that government's effective on education is the "same". Those who reported that it was "worse" were found respectively found to be 5% (among the valid) and 8% among the (non-valid sample). Whereas respondents indicating that it was "much worse" were 2% in the valid sample and 4% in the non-valid sample.

A decrement of 6% and 4% among those who noted that it was "much better" and "better" respectively. A 3%	
increment in responses was found among those who reported that government's effectiveness on education was	
"much worse". Whereas a 2% increment was also found among those who said it was "much worse"	I

Overall, the results shows that government's effectiveness on education was better. However, it also suggests that more respondents in the non-valid sample (3% more) report that it was "much worse" than in the valid sample. And those who report that it was "much worse" were also found to be 2% more in the non-valid sample compared to the valid sample.

Appendix C Scatterplots²

Gender



Figure 9. Perceived Subjective Well-Being and Gender

² Note that all the scatterplots follow similar trends except for age.



Figure 10. Actual Subjective Well-Being and Gender



Figure 11. Civic Engagement and Gender



Figure 12. Institutional Trust and Gender



Age by Quality of Life Outcomes

Figure 13. Perceived Subjective Well-Being and Age



Figure 14. Actual Subjective Well-Being and Age



Figure 15. Civic Engagement and Age



Figure 16. Institutional Trust and Age

Appendix D Valid Cases Only (1,710)

filter_\$ Q4A=8 or Q4A=9 or Q4B=9 or Q5=8 or Q5=9 or Q8A=9 or Q8B=9 or Q8C=8 or Q8C=9 or Q8E=9 or Q19A=9 or Q19B=8 or Q19B=9 or Q19c=9 or Q19c=8 or Q19e=9 or Q43A=8 or Q43A=9 or Q43B=8 or Q43B=9 or Q43I=8 or Q43I=9 or Q43D=8 or Q43D=9 or Q43G=8 or Q43G=9 or Q43C=8 o

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	.00 Not Selected	1710	71.2	71.2	71.2
Valid	1.00 Selected	690	28.8	28.8	100.0
	Total	2400	100.0	100.0	

1. Perceived Subjective Well-Being

Q4A Q4a. Country's present economic condition					
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	1 Very Bad	446	26.1	26.1	26.1
	2 Fairly Bad	445	26.0	26.0	52.1
	3 Neither good nor bad	180	10.5	10.5	62.6
Valid	4 Fairly Good	513	30.0	30.0	92.7
	5 Very good	126	7.3	7.3	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q4A Q4a. Country's present economic condition

Q4B Q4b	Your	present living	conditions
---------	------	----------------	------------

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Very Bad	417	24.4	24.4	24.4
	2 Fairly Bad	464	27.2	27.2	51.6
	3 Neither good nor bad	185	10.8	10.8	62.4
Valid	4 Fairly Good	537	31.4	31.4	93.8
	5 Very good	107	6.2	6.2	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much worse	82	4.8	4.8	4.8
	2 Worse	346	20.2	20.2	25.0
	3 Same	443	25.9	25.9	50.9
Valid	4 Better	755	44.2	44.2	95.1
	5 Much better	84	4.9	4.9	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q5 Q5. Your living conditions vs. others

2. Actual Subjective Well-Being

Q8A Q8a.	How	often	gone	without food
----------	-----	-------	------	--------------

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	1321	77.2	77.2	77.2
	1 Just once or twice	179	10.5	10.5	87.7
37.11.1	2 Several times	153	9.0	9.0	96.7
Valid	3 Many times	47	2.7	2.7	99.4
	4 Always	10	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q8B Q8b	. How	often	gone	without water	
---------	-------	-------	------	---------------	--

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	1358	79.5	79.5	79.5
	1 Just once or twice	116	6.8	6.8	86.3
37.11.1	2 Several times	160	9.3	9.3	95.6
Valid	3 Many times	47	2.8	2.8	98.4
	4 Always	28	1.6	1.6	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
------------------	----------------------	-----------	---------	---------------	--------------------
	0 Never	1197	70.0	70.0	70.0
	1 Just once or twice	220	12.8	12.8	82.9
X7 , 1° 1	2 Several times	202	11.8	11.8	94.7
Valid	3 Many times	77	4.5	4.5	99.2
	4 Always	14	.8	.8	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q8C Q8c. How often gone without medical care

Q8E Q8e. How often gone without cash income

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	679	39.7	39.7	39.7
	1 Just once or twice	292	17.1	17.1	56.8
37 1.1	2 Several times	445	26.0	26.0	82.8
Valid	3 Many times	215	12.6	12.6	95.4
	4 Always	79	4.6	4.6	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

3. Civic Engagement

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	77	4.5	4.5	4.5
	2 Somewhat less freedom	148	8.6	8.6	13.1
37.11.1	3 Same	387	22.6	22.6	35.8
Valid	4 Somewhat more freedom	350	20.4	20.4	56.2
	5 Much more freedom	749	43.8	43.8	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q19A Q19a. Better or worse: freedom to say what you think

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	57	3.3	3.3	3.3
	2 Somewhat less freedom	92	5.4	5.4	8.7
X 7 1° 1	3 Same	411	24.1	24.1	32.8
Valid	4 Somewhat more freedom	257	15.1	15.1	47.8
	5 Much more freedom	892	52.2	52.2	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q19B Q19b. Better or worse: freedom to join political organizations

Q19E Q19e. Better or worse: freedom of opposition to function

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	59	3.5	3.5	3.5
	2 Somewhat less freedom	129	7.6	7.6	11.0
37.11.1	3 Same	421	24.6	24.6	35.6
Valid	4 Somewhat more freedom	281	16.4	16.4	52.1
	5 Much more freedom	820	47.9	47.9	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q19C Q19c. Better or worse: media freedom to investigate, report

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	57	3.3	3.3	3.3
	2 Somewhat less freedom	119	6.9	6.9	10.3
	3 Same	420	24.6	24.6	34.8
Valid	4 Somewhat more freedom	340	19.9	19.9	54.7
	5 Much more freedom	774	45.3	45.3	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

4.Institutional Trust

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	193	11.3	11.3	11.3
	1 Just a little	273	16.0	16.0	27.3
Valid	2 Somewhat	429	25.1	25.1	52.3
	3 A lot	815	47.7	47.7	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q43B Q43b. Trust parliament/national assembly

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	282	16.5	16.5	16.5
	1 Just a little	409	23.9	23.9	40.4
Valid	2 Somewhat	557	32.6	32.6	73.1
	3 A lot	461	26.9	26.9	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q43I Q43i. Trust courts of law

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	313	18.3	18.3	18.3
	1 Just a little	395	23.1	23.1	41.4
Valid	2 Somewhat	572	33.4	33.4	74.8
	3 A lot	431	25.2	25.2	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	342	20.0	20.0	20.0
	1 Just a little	502	29.4	29.4	49.4
Valid	2 Somewhat	555	32.4	32.4	81.8
	3 A lot	311	18.2	18.2	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q43D Q43d. Trust your elected local government council

Q43G Q43g. Trust police

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	598	35.0	35.0	35.0
	1 Just a little	412	24.1	24.1	59.1
Valid	2 Somewhat	386	22.6	22.6	81.6
	3 A lot	314	18.4	18.4	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q43C Q43c. Trust national electoral commission

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	319	18.7	18.7	18.7
	1 Just a little	399	23.3	23.3	42.0
Valid	2 Somewhat	552	32.3	32.3	74.3
	3 A lot	440	25.7	25.7	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Results of Independent Variables

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 No formal schooling	223	13.1	13.1	13.1
	1 Informal schooling only	10	.6	.6	13.6
	2 Some primary schooling	156	9.1	9.1	22.7
	3 Primary school completed	259	15.2	15.2	37.9
Valid	4 Some secondary school / high school	449	26.3	26.3	64.1
	5 Secondary school / high school completed	334	19.5	19.5	83.7
	6 Post-secondary qualifications, other than university	162	9.5	9.5	93.2
	7 Some university	26	1.5	1.5	94.7
	8 University completed	81	4.7	4.7	99.4
	9 Post-graduate	10	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

097 097	7 Education	of respondent
V 1 V	/. Euucation	orrespondent

Q84 Q84. Ethnic community, cultural group or tribe

-	2 2	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	260 Akan	896	52.4	52.4	52.4
	261 Ewe/Anlo	217	12.7	12.7	65.1
	262 Ga/Adangbe	148	8.7	8.7	73.8
	263 Dagomba	109	6.4	6.4	80.2
	265 MAMPRUSI	20	1.2	1.2	81.3
	267 KUSAAL	7	.4	.4	81.7
	268 KOTOKOLI	8	.4	.4	82.2
	269 KONKOMBA	39	2.3	2.3	84.5
	270 HAUSA	17	1.0	1.0	85.4
	271 GONJA	28	1.6	1.6	87.0
Valid	272 FRAFRA	19	1.1	1.1	88.1
v allu	273 BUILSA	11	.7	.7	88.8
	274 KUSASI	11	.6	.6	89.4
	275 KROBO	7	.4	.4	89.8
	276 DAGAATI	9	.5	.5	90.3
	277 DAGAARE	11	.7	.7	91.0
	278 DAGAABA	19	1.1	1.1	92.1
	9990 Ghanaian only, or "doesn't think of self in those terms"	6	.3	.3	92.4
	9995 Other	130	7.6	7.6	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

-	Frequency Percent Valid Percent Cumulative						
					Percent		
	0 None	52	3.0	3.0	3.0		
	1 Christian only	330	19.3	19.3	22.3		
	2 Roman Catholic	185	10.8	10.8	33.2		
	3 Orthodox	70	4.1	4.1	37.3		
	5 Anglican	23	1.4	1.4	38.6		
	6 Lutheran	1	.0	.0	38.7		
	7 Methodist	110	6.4	6.4	45.1		
	8 Presbyterian	123	7.2	7.2	52.3		
	9 Baptist	18	1.1	1.1	53.4		
	12 Evangelical	18	1.1	1.1	54.5		
	13 Pentecostal	299	17.5	17.5	71.9		
	14 Independent	6	.4	.4	72.3		
	15 Jehovah's Witness	6	.4	.4	72.7		
37.11.1	16 Seventh Day Adventist	35	2.1	2.1	74.7		
Valid	17 Mormon	2	.1	.1	74.8		
	18 Muslim only	276	16.1	16.1	91.0		
	19 Sunni only	11	.6	.6	91.6		
	20 Ismaeli	1	.1	.1	91.7		
	21 Mouridiya Brotherhood	1	.1	.1	91.8		
	22 Tijaniya Brotherhood	1	.1	.1	91.8		
	25 Traditional / ethnic religion	28	1.7	1.7	93.5		
	31 Calvinist	0	.0	.0	93.5		
	32 Church of Christ	20	1.2	1.2	94.7		
	33 Zionist Christian Church	4	.2	.2	94.9		
	34 Jewish	1	.1	.1	95.0		
	35 Apostolic Church	21	1.2	1.2	96.2		
	9995 Other	64	3.8	3.8	100.0		
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0			

Q98 Q98. Religion of respondent

Q1 Q1. Age

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	18	56	3.3	3.3	3.3
	19	62	3.6	3.6	6.9
	20	59	3.5	3.5	10.4
	21	51	3.0	3.0	13.4
	22	60	3.5	3.5	16.9
	23	50	2.9	2.9	19.9
Valid	24	49	2.9	2.9	22.7
	25	67	3.9	3.9	26.6
	26	47	2.8	2.8	29.4
	27	57	3.3	3.3	32.7
	28	64	3.7	3.7	36.4
	29	42	2.5	2.5	38.9
	30	75	4.4	4.4	43.3

				
31	42	2.4	2.4	45.7
32	64	3.7	3.7	49.4
33	35	2.0	2.0	51.5
34	38	2.2	2.2	53.7
35	55	3.2	3.2	56.9
36	26	1.5	1.5	58.5
37	22	1.3	1.3	59.7
38	37	2.2	2.2	61.9
39	28	1.6	1.6	63.6
40	57	3.3	3.3	66.9
41	22	1.3	1.3	68.2
42	45	2.6	2.6	70.8
43	10	.6	.6	71.4
44	23	1.3	1.3	72.8
45	45	2.6	2.6	75.4
46	14	.8	.8	76.2
47	19	1.1	1.1	77.3
48	30	1.7	1.7	79.0
49	23	1.3	1.3	80.4
50	38	2.2	2.2	82.6
51	14	.8	.8	83.4
52	32	1.9	1.9	85.2
53	15	.9	.9	86.1
54	10	.6	.6	86.7
55	16	.9	.9	87.6
56	17	1.0	1.0	88.6
57	15	.9	.9	89.5
58	11	.6	.6	90.1
59	11	.7	.7	90.8
60	18	1.1	1.1	91.8
61	15	.9	.9	92.7
62	9	.5	.5	93.3
63	7	.4	.4	93.7
64	11	.6	.6	94.3
65	14	.8	.8	95.1
66	3	.2	.2	95.3
67	7	.4	.4	95.7
68	4	.3	.3	96.0
69	6	.4	.4	96.3
70	9	.5	.5	96.9
71	4	.2	.2	97.1
72	4	.2	.2	97.3
73	10	.6	.6	97.9
74	5	.3	.3	98.2
75	6	.4	.4	98.6
76	3	.2	.2	98.7
77	2	.1	.1	98.8
78	1	.1	.1	98.9
79	1	.1	.1	98.9
80	8		.5	
20	0			

81	1	.1	.1	99.5
82	1	.1	.1	99.5
83	1	.1	.1	99.6
84	1	.1	.1	99.7
85	3	.2	.2	99.9
86	0	.0	.0	99.9
89	1	.0	.0	99.9
96	1	.1	.1	100.0
Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q101 Q101. Gender of respondent

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Male	890	52.1	52.1	52.1
Valid	2 Female	819	47.9	47.9	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

URBRUR Urban or Rural Primary Sampling Unit

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Urban	952	55.7	55.7	55.7
Valid	2 Rural	757	44.3	44.3	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q94 Q94. Employment status

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 No, not looking	269	15.7	15.7	15.7
	1 No, looking	355	20.7	20.7	36.5
Valid	2 Yes, part time	130	7.6	7.6	44.0
	3 Yes, full time	957	56.0	56.0	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q77A Q77a. Girls and boys have equal chance at education

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	1 Strongly Disagree	41	2.4	2.4	2.4
	2 Disagree	58	3.4	3.4	5.8
	3 Neither Agree Nor Disagree	3	.2	.2	6.0
Valid	4 Agree	508	29.7	29.7	35.7
	5 Strongly Agree	1099	64.3	64.3	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Very easy	140	8.2	8.2	8.2
	2 Easy	254	14.9	14.9	23.1
X7 11 1	3 Difficult	106	6.2	6.2	29.3
Valid	4 Very Difficult	45	2.7	2.7	31.9
	7 No contact	1164	68.1	68.1	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q49B Q49b. Difficulty to obtain public school services

Q49C Q49c. Pay bribe for public school services

_		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	466	27.3	27.3	27.3
	1 Once or twice	48	2.8	2.8	30.1
X7 , 1° 1	2 A few times	24	1.4	1.4	31.5
Valid	3 Often	8	.4	.4	31.9
	7 No contact	1164	68.1	68.1	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q53A Q53a. Likelihood of response: reporting teacher misconduct

—		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all likely	277	16.2	16.2	16.2
	1 Not very likely	272	15.9	15.9	32.1
Valid	2 Somewhat likely	526	30.8	30.8	62.9
	3 Very likely	634	37.1	37.1	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Very Badly	108	6.3	6.3	6.3
	2 Fairly Badly	173	10.1	10.1	16.5
Valid	3 Fairly Well	744	43.5	43.5	60.0
	4 Very Well	685	40.0	40.0	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Q56H Q56h. Handling addressing educational needs

Q57C Q57c. Better or worse: government effectiveness on education

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much worse	30	1.8	1.8	1.8
	2 Worse	93	5.4	5.4	7.2
X7 1' 1	3 Same	535	31.3	31.3	38.5
Valid	4 Better	666	38.9	38.9	77.4
	5 Much better	386	22.6	22.6	100.0
	Total	1710	100.0	100.0	

Appendix E Non-Valid Cases (690)

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Very Bad	220	31.9	31.9	31.9
	2 Fairly Bad	169	24.5	24.5	56.4
	3 Neither good nor bad	61	8.9	8.9	65.3
	4 Fairly Good	150	21.7	21.7	87.0
Valid	5 Very good	35	5.1	5.1	92.'
	8 Refused	2	.3	.3	92.4
	9 Don't know	53	7.6	7.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Perceived Subjective Well-Being

Q4A Q4a. Country's present economic condition

Q4B Q4b. Your present living conditions

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Very Bad	221	32.0	32.0	32.0
	2 Fairly Bad	161	23.3	23.3	55.3
	3 Neither good nor bad	70	10.1	10.1	65.5
Valid	4 Fairly Good	191	27.7	27.7	93.2
	5'Very good	45	6.5	6.5	99.7
	9 Don't know	2	.3	.3	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q5 Q5. Your living conditions vs. others

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much worse	36	5.2	5.2	5.2
	2 Worse	130	18.8	18.8	24.0
	3 Same	129	18.7	18.7	42.7
	4 Better	204	29.5	29.5	72.2
Valid	5 Much better	20	2.8	2.8	75.0
	8 Refused	5	.8	.8	75.8
	9 Don't know	167	24.2	24.2	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Actual Subjective Well-Being.

	Qui Qui How often gone without food					
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
	0 Never	487	70.5	70.5	70.5	
	1 Just once or twice	116	16.8	16.8	87.3	
	2 Several times	57	8.3	8.3	95.5	
Valid	3 Many times	25	3.6	3.6	99'2	
	4 Always	2	.3	.3	99.4	
	9 Don't know	4	.6	.6	100.0	
	Total	690	100.0	100.0		

Q8A Q8a. How often gone without food

Q8B Q8b. How often gone without water

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	533	77.2	77.2	77.2
	1 Just once or twice	71	10.3	10.3	87.5
	2 Several times	45	6.5	6.5	94.0
Valid	3 Many times	31	4.5	4.5	98.5
	4 Always	8	1.1	1.1	99.7
	9 Don't know	2	.3	.3	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q8C Q8c. How often gone without medical care

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	444	64.4	64.4	64.4
	1 Just once or twice	135	19.6	19.6	84.0
	2 Several times	75	10.9	10.9	94.9
	3 Many times	27	3.8	3.8	98.7
Valid	4 Always	6	.9	.9	99.'
	8 Refused	1	.1	.1	99.8
	9 Don't know	2	.2	.2	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q8E Q8e. How often gone without cash income

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	226	32.8	32.8	32.8
Valid	1 Just once or twice	157	22.8	22.8	55.6
	2 Several times	175	25.4	25.4	81.0
	4 Always	25	3.6	3.6	99.6
,	9 Don't know	3	.4	.4	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Civic Engagement

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	32	4.6	4.6	4.6
	2 Somewhat less freedom	62	9.0	9.0	13.6
	3 Same	149	21.6	21.6	35.2
Valid	4 Somewhat more freedom	121	17.5	17.5	52.6
	5 Much more freedom	275	39.8	39.8	92.4
	9 Don't know	52	7.6	7.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q19A Q19a. Better or worse: freedom to say what you think

Q19B Q19b. Better or worse: freedom to join political organizations

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	28	4.1	4.1	4.1
	2 Somewhat less freedom	37	5.3	5.3	9.4
	3 Same	141	20.4	20.4	29.7
	4 Somewhat more freedom	106	15.4	15.4	45.1
Valid	5 Much more freedom	330	47.8	47.8	92.9
	8 Refused	5	.8	.8	93.6
	9 Don't know	44	6.4	6.4	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q19E Q19e	. Better or worse:	freedom of	opposition	to function
-----------	--------------------	------------	------------	-------------

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	25	3.6	3.6	3.6
	2 Somewhat less freedom	31	4.5	4.5	8.1
	3 Same	142	20.6	20.6	28.7
Valid	4 Somewhat more freedom	98	14.2	14.2	42.9
	5 Much more freedom	273	39.6	39.6	82.4
	9 Don't know	121	17.6	17.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Much less freedom	12	1.7	1.7	1.7
	2 Somewhat less freedom	31	4.5	4.5	6.2
	3 Same	144	20.9	20.9	27.1
	4 Somewhat more freedom	116	16.8	16.8	43.9
Valid	5 Much more freedom	265	38.4	38.4	82.3
	8 Refused	1	.1	.1	82.4
	9 Don't know	121	17.6	17.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q19C Q19c. Better or worse: media freedom to investigate, report

1. Institutional Trust

Q43A Q43a. Trust president

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	78	11.2	11.2	11.2
	1 Just a little	98	14.2	14.2	25.4
	2 Somewhat	145	21.0	21.0	46.5
Valid	3 A lot	303	43.9	43.9	90.3
	8 Refused	7	1.1	1.1	91.4
	9 Don't know/Haven't heard enough	59	8.6	8.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q43B Q43b. Trust parliament/national assembly

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	101	14.6	14.6	14.6
	1 Just a little	167	24.2	24.2	38.9
	2 Somewhat	169	24.4	24.4	63.3
Valid	3 A lot	149	21.5	21.5	84.8
	8 Refused	5	.7	.7	85.5
	9 Don't know/Haven't heard enough	100	14.5	14.5	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q43I Q43i. Trust courts of law

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	106	15.3	15.3	15.3
	1 Just a little	144	20.8	20.8	36.1
	2 Somewhat	169	24.5	24.5	60.6
Valid	3 A lot	187	27.1	27.1	87.7
	8 Refused	4	.6	.6	88.3
	9 Don't know/Haven't heard enough	81	11.7	11.7	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Valid Percent **Cumulative Percent** Frequency Percent 0 Not at all 99 14.3 14.3 1 Just a little 176 25.5 25.5 174 2 Somewhat 25.3 25.3 89 12.8 12.8 Valid 3 A lot 8 Refused 4 .6 .6 9 Don't know/Haven't heard enough 149 21.6 21.6 Total 690 100.0 100.0

Q43D Q43d. Trust your elected local government council

14.3

39.7

65.0

77.8

78.4

100.0

Q43G Q43g. Trust police

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	219	31.8	31.8	31.8
	1 Just a little	169	24.4	24.4	56.2
	2 Somewhat	137	19.8	19.8	76.0
Valid	3 A lot	117	16.9	16.9	92.9
	8 Refused	2	.3	.3	93.3
	9 Don't know/Haven't heard enough	47	6.7	6.7	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q43C Q43c. Trust national electoral commission

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Not at all	118	17.2	17.2	17.2
	1 Just a little	152	22.0	22.0	39.2
	2 Somewhat	138	20.0	20.0	59.2
Valid	3 A lot	163	23.6	23.6	82.8
v allu	8 Refused	4	.6	.6	83.4
	9 Don't know/Haven't heard enough	114	16.6	16.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Results of Independent Variables.

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 No formal schooling	144	20.8	20.8	20.8
	1 Informal schooling only	6	.8	.8	21.6
	2 Some primary schooling	100	14.5	14.5	36.1
	3 Primary school completed	119	17.2	17.2	53.4
	4 Some secondary school / high school	154	22.3	22.3	75.6
	5 Secondary school / high school completed	106	15.4	15.4	91.0
Valid	6 Post-secondary qualifications, other than university	28	4.0	4.0	95.1
	7 Some university	6	.9	.9	96.0
	8 University completed	18	2.6	2.6	98.6
	9 Post-graduate	3	.4	.4	99.0
	98 Refused	2	.3	.3	99.2
	99 Don't know	5	.8	.8	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q97 Q97. Education of respondent

Q84 Q84. Ethnic community, cultural group or tribe

	1.109 109	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	260 Alter				1
	260 Akan	303	44.0	44.0	44.0
	261 Ewe/Anlo	145	21.1	21.1	65.0
	262 Ga/Adangbe	65	9.5	9.5	74.5
	263 Dagomba	15	2.1	2.1	76.6
	265 MAMPRUSI	6	.8	.8	77.4
	267 KUSAAL	2	.4	.4	77.8
	268 KOTOKOLI	3	.4	.4	78.2
	269 KONKOMBA	3	.5	.5	78.6
	270 HAUSA	6	.9	.9	79.5
Valid	271 GONJA	5	.7	.7	80.1
	272 FRAFRA	9	1.4	1.4	81.5
	273 BUILSA	8	1.2	1.2	82.7
	274 KUSASI	7	1.0	1.0	83.7
	275 KROBO	2	.3	.3	84.0
	276 DAGAATI	2	.3	.3	84.3
	277 DAGAARE	8	1.2	1.2	85.5
	278 DAGAABA	36	5.2	5.2	90.7
	9990 Ghanaian only, or "doesn't think of self in those terms"	2	.3	.3	91.0

9995 Other	60	8.6	8.6	99.6
9998 Refused to answer	1	.2	.2	99.8
9999 Don't know	1	.2	.2	100.0
Total	690	100.0	100.0	

098 098	Religion	of respond	lent
Q90 Q90.	Kengion	of respond	ient

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 None	26	3.8	3.8	3.8
	1 Christian only	155	22.4	22.4	26.2
	2 Roman Catholic	77	11.2	11.2	37.4
	3 Orthodox	22	3.3	3.3	40.6
	5 Anglican	10	1.5	1.5	42.1
	7 Methodist	33	4.8	4.8	46.9
	8 Presbyterian	38	5.5	5.5	52.4
	9 Baptist	6	.9	.9	53.3
	12 Evangelical	10	1.4	1.4	54.7
	13 Pentecostal	139	20.2	20.2	74.9
	14 Independent	6	.9	.9	75.8
	15 Jehovah's Witness	11	1.6	1.6	77.4
Valid	16 Seventh Day Adventist	7	1.1	1.1	78.4
	18 Muslim only	70	10.2	10.2	88.6
	19 Sunni only	2	.3	.3	88.9
	20 Ismaeli	5	.8	.8	89.7
	23 Qadiriya Brotherhood	1	.2	.2	89.9
	25 Traditional / ethnic religion	26	3.7	3.7	93.6
	32 Church of Christ	5	.7	.7	94.3
	33 Zionist Christian Church	3	.4	.4	94.7
	35 Apostolic Church	10	1.4	1.4	96.1
	999' Other	23	3.3	3.3	99.4
	9999 Don't know	4	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q1 Q1. Age

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
_	18	13	1.9	1.9	1.9
	19	18	2.6	2.6	4.5
	20	28	4.1	4.1	8.6
	21	24	3.5	3.5	12.1
	22	12	1.8	1.8	13.8
	23	13	1.9	1.9	15.8
Valid	24	9	1.3	1.3	17.0
	25	20	2.9	2.9	19.9
	26	19	2.7	2.7	22.7
	27	13	1.9	1.9	24.6
	28	24	3.4	3.4	28.0
	29	18	2.7	2.7	30.7
	30	26	3.8	3.8	34.5

21	11	1.7	17	26.1
31	11	1.7	1.7	36.1
32	26	3.7	3.7	39.8
33	9	1.2	1.2	41.1
34	8	1.2	1.2	42.3
35	27	3.9	3.9	46.2
36	15	2.2	2.2	48.4
37	16	2.3	2.3	50.7
38	10	1.4	1.4	52.1
39	11	1.6	1.6	53.7
40	27	3.9	3.9	57.6
41	9	1.3	1.3	58.8
42	17	2.4	2.4	61.3
43	7	1.1	1.1	62.3
44	5	.8	.8	63.1
45	26	3.8	3.8	66.8
46	9	1.3	1.3	68.1
47	6	.9	.9	69.0
48	10	1.5	1.5	70.5
49	5	.7	.7	71.2
50	23	3.4	3.4	74.6
51	4	.6	.6	75.2
52	18	2.6	2.6	77.8
53	9	1.3	1.3	79.1
54	8	1.1	1.1	80.2
55	14	2.1	2.1	82.3
56	6	.8	.8	83.1
57	2	.3	.3	83.4
58	6	.8	.8	84.2
59	7	1.0	1.0	85.2
60	22	3.2	3.2	88.4
61	5	.7	.7	89.1
62	5	.7	.7	89.8
63	5	.7	.7	90.6
64	4	.6	.6	91.2
65	8	1.1	1.1	92.3
66	3	.4	.4	92.7
67	5	.8	.8	93.4
68	3	.4	.4	93.9
69	2	.3	.3	94.2
70	5	.8	.8	94.9
71	4	.6	.6	95.6
72	7	1.0	1.0	96.6
73	1	.1	.1	96.7
74	3	.5	.5	97.2
75	1	.2	.2	97.4
76	1	.2	.2	97.6
77	1	.1	.1	97.6
78	2	.3	.3	97.9
79	1	.2	.2	98.1
80	1	.1	.1	98.2

81	2	.3	.3	98.5
83	1	.2	.2	98.7
85	3	.4	.4	99.1
87	1	.2	.2	99.3
90	3	.5	.'	99.7
98	1	.1	.1	99.8
999 Don't know	1	.2	.2	100.0
Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q101 Q101. Gender of respondent

-		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Male	299	43.3	43.3	43.3
Valid	2 Female	392	56.7	56.7	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

URBRUR Urban or Rural Primary Sampling Unit

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Urban	353	51.1	51.1	51.1
Valid	2 Rural	337	48.9	48.9	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q94 Q94. Employment status

	e - e p - e								
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent				
	0 No, not looking	104	15.1	15.1	15.1				
	1 No, looking	115	16.7	16.7	31.8				
	2 Yes, part time	83	12.1	12.1	43.9				
Valid	3 Yes, full time	386	56.0	56.0	99.8				
	9 Don't know	1	.2	.2	100.0				
	Total	690	100.0	100.0					

Q	77A Q	77a.	Girls	and	boys	have	equal	chance	at	education	l
---	-------	------	-------	-----	------	------	-------	--------	----	-----------	---

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Strongly Disagree	9	1.3	1.3	1.3
	2 Disagree	22	3.1	3.1	4.5
	3 Neither Agree Nor Disagree	8	1.2	1.2	5.7
	4 Agree	199	28.8	28.8	34.5
Valid	5 Strongly Agree	438	63.5	63.5	97.9
	8 Refused	1	.1	.1	98.0
	9 Don't know	14	2.0	2.0	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q49B Q49b. Difficulty to obtain public school services

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1 Very easy	54	7.8	7.8	7.8
	2 Easy	77	11.2	11.2	19.0
	3 Difficult	46	6.6	6.6	25.6
Valid	4 Very Difficult	5	.7	.7	26.3
	7 No 'ontact	506	73.3	73.3	99.6
	9 Don't know	3	.4	.4	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q49C Q49c. Pay bribe for public school services

Q 100 Q 10 a 1 ay bilbe for public behood bet vices					
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	0 Never	152	22.1	22.1	22.1
	1 Once or twice	14	2.0	2.0	24.0
	2 A few times	10	1.5	1.5	25.5
Valid	3 Often	3	.4	.4	26.0
	7 No 'ontact	506	73.3	73.3	99.3
	9 Don't know	5	.7	.7	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0 Not at all likely	60	8.8	8.8	8.8
	1 Not very likely	75	10.9	10.9	19.7
	2 Somewhat likely	178	25.8	25.8	45.4
	3 Very likely	162	23.5	23.5	68.9
	8 Refused	2	.3	.3	69.2
	9 Don't know/Haven't heard	212	30.8	30.8	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q53A Q53a. Likelihood of response: reporting teacher misconduct

Q56H Q56h. Handling addressing educational needs

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 Very Badly	61	8.8	8.8	8.8
	2 Fairly Badly	70	10.2	10.2	19.0
	3 Fairly Well	269	38.9	38.9	57.9
	4 Very Well	224	32.5	32.5	90.'
	8 Refused	5	.7	.7	91.0
	9 Don't know / Haven't heard enough	62	9.0	9.0	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Q57C Q57c. Better or worse: government effectiveness on education

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 Much worse	27	4.0	4.0	4.0
	2 Worse	56	8.2	8.2	12.1
	3 Same	208	30.2	30.2	42.3
	4 Better	239	34.6	34.6	76.9
	5 Much better	118	17.1	17.1	93.9
	8 Refused	1	.1	.1	94.0
	9 Don't know	41	6.0	6.0	100.0
	Total	690	100.0	100.0	

Bibliography

- 2008 Ghana MDG report (2010). National Development Planning Commission (NDPC)/Government of Ghana and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Ghana. <u>https://www.undp.org/ghana/publications/2008-ghana-mdg-report#:~:text=The%202008%20Ghana%20Millennium%20Development,could%20be%20reached%20by%202015</u>.
- Abdulai, A., & Crawford, G. (2010). Consolidating democracy in Ghana: Progress and prospects? *Democratization*, *17*(1), 26-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13510340903453674</u>
- Acker, S. (1987). Feminist theory and the study of gender and education. *International Review of Education*, 33(4), 419-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00615157</u>
- Adams, M., Scherpereel, J., & Jacob, S. (2016). The representation of women in African legislatures and cabinets: An examination with reference to Ghana. *Journal of Women, Politics & Policy, 37*(2), 145-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1554477X.2016.1152830</u>
- Addai, I. (1999). Does religion matter in contraceptive use among Ghanaian women? *Review of Religious Research*, 40(3), 259-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3512371</u>
- Addai, I., Addai, I., Opoku-Agyeman, C., & Amanfu, S. (2014). Exploring predictors of subjective well-being in Ghana: A micro-level study. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 15(4), 869-890. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-013-9454-7
- Addai, I., Opoku-Agyeman, C., & Ghartey, T. H. (2013). An exploratory study of religion and trust in Ghana. *Social Indicators Research*, *110*(3), 993–1012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9969-4</u>
- Addai, I., Opoku-Agyeman, C., & Amanfu, S. K. (2015). Marriage and subjective well-being in Ghana. *African Review of Economics and Finance*, 7(1), 53-79.
- Addai, I & Pokimica J. (2010). Ethnicity and economic well-being: The case of Ghana. Social Indicators Research, 99(3), 487-510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9595-6</u>
- Addai, I., & Pokimica, J. (2012). An exploratory study of trust and material hardship in Ghana. Social Indicators Research, 109(3), 413-438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9909-3</u>
- Addison, T., & Baliamoune-Lutz, M. (2004, June 4-5). The role of social capital in post-conflict reconstruction [Conference presentation]. UNU-WIDER Conference on Making Peace Work. Helsinki, FI. <u>www.wider.unu.edu</u>

- Adeyemi, M., & Adeyinka, A. (2003). The principles and content of African traditional education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *35*(4), 425-440. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-5812.00039
- Adler, R. P., & Goggin, J. (2005). What do we mean by "civic engagement"? *Journal of Transformative Education*, 3(3), 236-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344605276792</u>
- Adu Gyamfi, B., Kwarteng, C. T., & Appiagyei, E. (2021). Public policy and migration in Africa: A multi-theoretical approach. In O. Abegunrin & S. O. Abidde (Eds.). *African migrants and the refugee crisis* (pp. 23-54). Springer, Cham
- Afrobarometer. (2021). http://afrobarometer.org/press/freedom-of-association-in-africa
- Afrobarometer Network. Round 7 Survey Manual (2017, 21 July). <u>https://www.afrobarometer.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/migrated/files/survey_manuals/ab_r7_survey_manual_en1.pdf</u>
- Agbanyo, R. (2020). Ghana's national health insurance, free maternal healthcare and facility-based delivery services. *African Development Review*, 32(1), 27-41. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8268.12412
- Agerberg, M. (2018). The curse of knowledge? Education, corruption, and politics. *Political Behavior*, 41(2), 369-399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-018-9455-7</u>
- Agresti, A., & Finlay, B. (2009). Statistical methods for the social sciences. Pearson.
- Ahuvia, A. (2008). If money doesn't make us happy, why do we act as if it does? Journal of Economic Psychology, 29(4), 491-507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2007.11.005</u>
- Ainsworth, M., Beegle K., & Koda G., (2002). *The impact of adult mortality on primary school enrollment in northwestern Tanzania*. African Region Human Development Working Paper Series, No. 23961. The World Bank. <u>https://healtheducationresources.unesco.org/sites/default/files/resources/Adult%20Mortal</u> <u>ity.pdf</u>
- Ajayi, T. F. (2021, May 7). Ghana implementation report 2017-2019. https://www.opengovpartnership.org/documents/ghana-implementation-report-2017-2019/
- Ako-Nai, R. I., & Obamamoye, B. F. (2018). Women's movement for gender quotas in Nigeria and Ghana. *Modern Africa: Politics, History and Society, 6*(1), 61-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.26806/modafr.v6i1.235</u>
- Akotia, C. S., & Anum, A. (2015). Gender, culture, and inequality in Ghana: An examination of sociocultural determinants of gender disparity. In S. Safdar & N. Kosakowska-Berezecka, (Eds.), *Psychology of gender through the lens of culture* (pp. 375-394). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-14005-6_18</u>

- Akyeampong, K. (2009). Revisiting Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE) in
Ghana.ComparativeEducation,45(2),175-195.https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060902920534
- Akyeampong, K., Djangmah, J., Oduro, A., Seidu, A., & Hunt, F. (2007). Access to basic education in Ghana: The evidence and the issues. CREATE (Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED508809.pdf
- Alexander, K. (1976). The value of an education. *Journal of Education Finance*, 1(4), 429-467. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/40703063</u>
- Alesina, A., Baquir, R., & Easterly, W. (1999). Public goods and ethnic divisions. *Quarterly* Journal of Economics, 114(4), 1243-1284. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w6009</u>
- Alesina, A., & La Ferrara, E. (2002). Who trusts others? *Journal of Public Economics* 85(2), 207-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0047-2727(01)00084-6</u>
- Alhassan, R. K., Nketiah-Amponsah, E., & Arhinful, D. K. (2016). A review of the National Health Insurance Scheme in Ghana: What are the sustainability threats and prospects? *PloS One*, *11*(11), e0165151–e0165151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165151</u>
- Allen, A. (1998). The power of feminist theory: Domination, resistance, solidarity. Westview Press.
- Almond, G. A., & Verba, S. (1963). *The civic culture: Political attitudes and democracy in five nations*. Sage Publications.
- Ampratwum, E., & Armah-Attoh, D. (2010). Tracking capitation grant in public primary schools in Ghana. *Ghana Center for Democratic Development. Briefing Paper*, *10*(1), 1-8.
- Amua-Sekyi, E.T. (1998, May). *Ghana: Education for girls* [Conference presentation]. Women's Center at Eastern Washington University, Cheney, WA.
- Anderson, C., Kraus, M. W., Galinsky, A. D., & Keltner, D. (2012). The local-ladder effect: Social status and subjective well-being. *Psychological Science*, 23(7), 764-771. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611434537</u>
- Andrews, F. M., & Whitney, S. B. (1976). Social indicators of well-being: America's perception of life quality. Plenum Press.
- Ann, I. I. (2015). Adichie's *Purple Hibiscus* and the issue of feminism in African novel. *Journal* of Literature and Art Studies, 5(6), 426-437.

- Annan, J. K. (2020). Preparing globally competent teachers: A paradigm shift for teacher education in Ghana. Education Research International. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8841653
- Appleby, P. (1962) Citizens as sovereigns. Syracuse University Press.
- Apter, D. (1963). Ghana in transition. Athenum Press.
- Argyle, M., & Martin, M. (1991). The psychological causes of happiness. In F. Strack, M. Argyle,
 & N. Schwarz (Eds.), *Subjective well-being: An interdisciplinary perspective* (pp. 77-100). Pergamon Press.
- Arkes, J. (2019). Regression analysis basics. In *Regression analysis* (pp. 13-46). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351011099-2
- Arku, F. S., Filson, G. C., & Shute, J. (2008). An empirical approach to the study of well-being among rural men and women in Ghana. *Social Indicators Research*, 88(2), 365–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-007-9197-0</u>
- Arnfred, & Wieringa, S. E. (2005). Re-thinking sexualities in Africa. *Culture, Health & Sexuality,* 7(5), 512-514.
- Arnot, M., & Weiler, K. (1993). *Feminism and social justice in education: International perspectives*. Falmer Press.
- Arnot, M., & Dillabough, J. (2000). Challenging democracy. *International perspectives on gender, education and citizenship*, 1.
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 35(4), 216-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01944366908977225</u>
- Arnot, M. (1985). *Race and gender: Equal opportunities policies in education: A reader.* Pergamon Press in association with the Open University.
- Arthur, P. (2009). Ethnici'y and electoral politics in Ghana's fourth republic. *Africa Today*, 56(2), 44-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.2979/aft.2009.56.2.44</u>
- Asafu-Adjaye, P. (2012). Private returns on education in Ghana: Estimating the effects of education on employability in Ghana. *African Sociological Review/Revue Africaine de Sociologie*, *16*(1), 121-139.
- Asante, R., & Gyimah-Boadi, E. (2004). *Ethnic structure, inequality and governance of the public sector in Ghana*. United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD).

- Asante, W., & Asare, B. E. (2017). Ghana's 2012 election petition and its outcome: A giant leap towards democratic consolidation. *Journal of Political Sciences and Public Affairs*, 4(1), 107-124. <u>https://www.longdom.org/open-access/ghanas-2012-election-petition-and-itsoutcome-a-giant-leap-towardsdemocratic-consolidation-2332-0761-1000196.pdf</u>
- Assimeng, M. (1981). Social structure of Ghana: A study in persistence and change. Ghana Publishing.
- Assimeng, M. (1989) Religion and social change in West Africa. Ghana University Press.
- Atta, G. P., & Manu, J. (2015). Ghana school feeding program: A retrospective review. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, 4(8), 402-410.
- Attanasio, O. P., & Kaufmann, K. M. (2017). Education choices and returns on the labor and marriage markets: Evidence from data on subjective expectations. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 140, 35-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2017.05.002</u>
- Atuahene, F., & Owusu-Ansah, A. (2013). A descriptive assessment of higher education access, participation, equity, and disparity in Ghana. *SAGE Open*, *3*(3), 1-16 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244013497725</u>
- Ayelazuno, J. A., & Aziabah, M. A. (2021). Leaving no one behind in Ghana through university education: Interrogating spatial, gender and class inequalities (No. 2021-1). UNRISD Working Paper. <u>https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/246258</u>
- Ayittey, G. (1992). Africa betrayed. St. Martin Press.
- Avittey, G. (1998). Africa in chaos. St. Martin Press.
- Aziabah, M. A. (2018). The politics of educational reform in Ghana: Understanding structural persistence in the secondary school system. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93761-8</u>
- Bache, I. (2000) Government without governance: Network steering in Yorkshire and the Humber. *Public Administration*, 78(3), 575-592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9299.00219</u>
- Baliamoune-Lutz, M., & Lutz, S. H. (2004). The contribution of income, social capital, and institutions to human well-being in Africa. Working Paper no. B04-07. Center for European Integration Studies (ZEI), Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/46099744 The Contribution of Income Socia
- Bandarage, A. (1984). Women in development: Liberalism, Marxism and Marxist-Feminism. *Development and Change*, 15(4), 495–515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7660.1984.tb00194.x</u>

- Banfield, E. C. (1958). The moral basis of a backward society. The Free Press.
- Bang, H. (Ed.). (2003). *Governance as social and political communication*. Manchester University Press.
- Barber, B. (2003). *Strong democracy: Participatory politics for a new age*. University of California Press.
- Bardo, A. R. (2017). A life course model for a domains-of-life approach to happiness: Evidence from the United States. *Advances in Life Course Research*, *33*, 11-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2017.06.002</u>
- Barkan, J. D., & Gordon, D. F. (1998). Democracy in Africa: No time to forsake it. In *Foreign Affairs*, 77(4), 107-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/20048971</u>
- Baron, S., Field, J., & Schuller, T. (2000). *Social capital: Critical perspectives*. Oxford University Press.
- Barrett, M., & Pachi, D. (2019). Youth civic and political engagement. Routledge.
- Barrington-Leigh, C., & Escande, A. (2016). Measuring progress and well-being: A comparative review of indicators. *Social Indicators Research*, 135(3), 893-925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-016-1505-0
- Barrow, M. & Grant, B. (2018). The uneasy place of equity in higher education: tracing its (in)significance in academic promotions. *Higher Education*, 78(1), 133–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0334-2
- Bauer, G. (2021). African women's political leadership: Global lessons for feminism. In J. Hobson (Ed.), *The Routledge Companion to Black Women's Cultural Histories* (pp. 363-372). Routledge.
- Bauer, G. (2018). "Did you see what happened to the market women?" Legacies of military rule for women's political leadership in Ghana. *Contemporary Journal of African Studies*, 5(1), 31-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/contjas.v5i1.2</u>
- Bauer, G. (2019). Ghana: Stalled patterns of women's parliamentary representation. In *The Palgrave handbook of women's political rights* (pp. 607-625). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-59074-9_41
- Bauer, G., & Darkwah, A. K. (2020). We would rather be leaders than parliamentarians: women and political office in Ghana. *European Journal of Politics and Gender*, 3(1), 101-119. https://doi.org/10.1332/251510819x15698351185989

- Bawa S., & Sanyare, F. (2013). Women's participation and representation in politics: Perspectives from Ghana. *International Journal of Public Administration 36*(4), 282-291. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2012.757620
- Becker, G. S. (1964). *Human capital: A theoretical and empirical analysis, with special reference to education.* National Bureau of Economic Research, Columbia Press.
- Becker, P. E., & Dhingra, P. H. (2001). Religious involvement and volunteering: Implications for civil society. Sociology of Religion, 62, 315-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3712353</u>
- Bediako, K. (1995). *Christianity in Africa: Renewal of a non-Western religion*. Edinburgh University Press.
- Behrman, J. R., & Stacey, N. (1997). *The social benefits of education*. University of Michigan Press.
- Bennett, W. L., & Iyengar, S. (2008). A new era of minimal effects? The changing foundations of political communication. *Journal of Communication*, 58(4), 707-731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2008.00410.x</u>
- Bentley, T., Han, K., & Penar, P. H. (2015, September 15). African democracy update: Democratic satisfaction remains elusive for many. *Afrobarometer Dispatch*, 45. <u>https://www.afrobarometer.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/migrated/files/publications/Dispatches/dispatchno45_democracy_day_af rica_2015_citizen_perceptions.pdf
- Bentzen, J. S. (2012). How bad is corruption? Cross-country evidence of the impact of corruption on economic prosperity. *Review of Development Economics*, 16(1), 167-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9361.2011.00653.x</u>
- Berinsky, A. J., & Lenz, G.S. (2011). Education and political participation: Exploring the causal link. *Political Behavior*, 33(3), 357-373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-010-9134-9</u>
- Berk, R., & McDonald, J. M. (2008). Over-dispersion and Poisson regression. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 24, 269-285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10940-008-9048-4
- Beyerlein, K., & Chaves, M. (2003). The political activities of religious congregations in the United States. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 42, 229-246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5906.00175</u>
- Beyerlein, K., & Hipp, J. R. (2006). From pews to participation: The effect of congregation activity and context on bridging civic engagement. *Social Problems*, 53, 97-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.2006.53.1.97</u>
- Bhatti, Y. (2017). Type of education and voter turnout Evidence from a register-based panel. *Electoral Studies*, 49, 108-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2017.08.002</u>

- Bianco, A., Conigliaro, P., & Gnaldi, M. (Eds.). 2019). *Italian studies on quality of life*. Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-06022-0</u>
- Bjørnskov, C., & Méon, P. (2013). Is trust the missing root of institutions, education, and development? *Public Choice*, 157(3/4), 641-669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-013-0069-7</u>
- Blackledge, P. (2018). Frederick Engels, social reproduction, and the problem of a unitary theory of women's oppression. *Social Theory and Practice*, 44(3), 297-321. https://doi.org/10.5840/soctheorpract20186439
- Blanchflower, D. G. (2021). Is happiness U-shaped everywhere? Age and subjective well-being in 145 countries. *Journal of Population Economics*, *34*(2), 575-624.
- Blanchflower, D. G., & Oswald, A. J. (2008). Is well-being U-shaped over the life cycle? *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(8), 1733-1749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.01.030
- Blanchflower, D. G., & Oswald, A. J. (2004). Well-being over time in Britain and the USA. Journal of Public Economics, 88(7), 1359-1386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2727(02)00168-8</u>
- Blau, P. (1964). Exchange and power in social life. Wiley.
- Blaauw, D. & Pretorius, A. (2013). The determinants of subjective well-being in South Africa: An exploratory enquiry. *Journal of Economic and Financial Sciences*, 6(1), 179-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/jef.v6i1.283</u>
- Boateng, J. K., Adomako-Ampofo, A., Flanagan, C. C., Gallay, L., Yakah, J., & Texas, A. (2006). Gender socialization of pre-teen youths in Ghana: Alternative approaches for extension. AIAEE: International Teamwork in Agricultural and Extension Education, Clearwater Beach, FL. <u>https://www.aiaee.org/index.php/proceedings/101-2006clearwater-beach-florida/901-gender-socialization-of-pre-teen-youths-in-ghanaalternative-approaches-for-extension</u>
- Boateng, G. O., Okoye, D., Amoyaw, J., & Luginaah, I. (2020). Six decades after independence: The enduring influence of missionary activities on regional wealth inequalities in Ghana. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 20(1), 93-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lby067</u>
- Boeckmann, R. J., & Tyler, T. R. (2002). Trust, respect, and the psychology of political engagement. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *32*(10), 2067-2088. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb02064.x
- Bommier, A., & Lambert, S., (2000). Education demand and age at school enrollment in Tanzania. *Journal of Human Resources 35*, 177-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/146360</u>

- Bookwalter, J. T., & Dalenberg, D. (2004). Subjective well-being and household factors in South Africa. *Social Indicators Research*, 65(3), 333-353. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:soci.0000003546.96008.58
- Botha, F., & Booysen, F. (2014). Family functioning and life satisfaction and happiness in South African households. *Social Indicators Research*, *119*, 163-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-013-0485-6</u>
- Borgonovi, F. (2012). The relationship between education and levels of trust and tolerance in Europe. *The British Journal of Sociology*, *63*(1), 146-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2011.01397.x</u>
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital. In J. G. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education* (pp. 241-258). Greenwood.
- Box, R. (1998). Citizen governance. Sage.
- Box, R. C., Marshall, G. S., Reed, B. J., & Reed, C. M. (2001). New public management and substantive democracy. *Public Administration Review*, *61*(5), 608-619. https://doi.org/10.1111/0033-3352.00131
- Bradburn, N. M. (2016). Norman M. Bradburn: A pioneer in social indicators and quality of life research. Applied Research in Quality of Life, 11(1), 325-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-016-9451-1</u>
- Bradburn, N. M., & Caplovitz, D. (1965). *Reports on happiness; a pilot study of behavior related to mental health*. Aldine Publishing Company.
- Bratton, M. (1999). Political participation in a new democracy: Institutional considerations from Zambia. *Comparative Political Studies*, 32(5), 549-588. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414099032005002
- Bratton, M., Lewis, P., & Gyimah-Boadi, E. (2001). Constituencies for reform in Ghana. *Journal* of Modern African Studies, 39, 231-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022278x01003603</u>
- Bratton, M., & Mattes, R. (2001). Africans' surprising universalism. *Journal of Democracy*, *12*, 107-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2001.0002</u>
- Bratton, M., Mattes, R., & Gyimah-Boadi, E. (2004). *Public opinion, democracy, and market reform in Africa*. Cambridge University Press.
- Bratton, M., Mattes, R., & Gyimah-Boadi, E. (2005). *Public opinion, democracy and market recovery in Africa*. Cambridge University Press.
- Bratton, M., & van de Walle, N. (1997). *Democratic experiments in Africa: Regime transitions in comparative perspective*. Cambridge University Press.

- Brautigam, D. (1992). Governance, economy, and foreign aid. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 27(3), 3-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02687132</u>
- Brenyah, J. K. (2018). Implementation of social protection interventions in Africa. "The trend in the outcomes of free basic education in Ghana, Malawi, Kenya and Uganda." Universal Journal of Educational Research, 6(12), 2822-2833 https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2018.061216
- Brenya, E., Adu-Gyamfi, S., Afful, I., Darkwa, B., Richmond, M. B., Korkor, S. O., ... & Turkson, G. K. (2015). The Rawlings' factor in Ghana's politics: An appraisal of some secondary and primary data. *Journal of Political Sciences & Public Affairs*. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2332-0761.1000s1.004</u>
- Briggs, R. C. (2012). Electrifying the base? Aid and incumbent advantage in Ghana. *The Journal* of Modern African Studies, 50(4), 603-624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022278x12000365</u>
- Brown, M., & Uslaner, E. M. (2005). Inequality, trust and civic engagement. *American Political Research* 31, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532673x04271903
- Brulé, G. & Maggino, F. (Eds.). (2017). Metrics of subjective well-being: Limits and improvements. Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61810-4</u>
- Brundidge, J., Baek, K., Johnson, T. J., & Williams, L. (2013). Does the medium *still* matter? The influence of gender and political connectedness on contacting U.S. public officials online and offline. *Sex Roles*, 69(1-2), 3-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-013-0280-5</u>
- Bueno De Mesquita, B., Smith, A., Siverson, R. M., & Morrow, J. D. (Eds.). (2003). Preface. In *The logic of political survival* (pp. xiii–xiii). MIT Press.
- Bulina, R. (2014). Relations between adaptive and maladaptive perfectionism, self-efficacy, and subjective well-being. *Psychology Research*, 4(10), 835-842. <u>https://doi.org/10.17265/2159-5542/2014.10.008</u>
- Burke, K., Beegle, K., (2004). Why children aren't attending school: The case of rural Tanzania. Journal of African Economies 13, 333-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/ejh011</u>
- Butler, J. (1999). Gender trouble: Feminism and the subversion of identity. Routledge.
- Butler, J. (2004). Undoing gender. Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203499627
- Callinicos, A. (2004). Marxism and politics (pp. 53-66). Polity.
- Callinicos, A., Kouvelakis, S., & Pradella, L. (2020). *Routledge handbook of Marxism and Post-Marxism*. Taylor and Francis. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315149608</u>

- Campbell, A., Converse, P. E., & Rodgers, W. L (1976). *The quality of American life*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Campbell, D. E. (2004). Acts of faith: Churches and political engagement. *Political Behavior*, 26,155-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/b:pobe.0000035961.78836.5f</u>
- Cantril, H. (1965). The pattern of human concerns. Rutgers University Press.
- Carter, E., Rose, P., Sabates, R., & Akyeampong, K. (2020). Trapped in low performance? Tracking the learning trajectory of disadvantaged girls and boys in the Complementary Basic Education programme in Ghana. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 100, Article 101541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101541</u>
- Casely-Hayford, L., & Hartwell, A. (2010). Reaching the underserved with complementary education: Lessons from Ghana's state and non-state sectors. *Development in Practice*, 20(4-5), 527-539. https://doi.org/10.1080/09614521003763152
- Catterberg, G. (2006). The individual bases of political trust: Trends in new and established democracies. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, 18(1), 31-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpor/edh081</u>
- Chen, M. A. (1995). Engendering world conferences: The international women's movement and the United Nations. *Third World Quarterly*, *16*(3), 477-494. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436599550036013
- Chen, W. (2012). How education enhances happiness: Comparison of mediating factors in four East Asian countries. *Social Indicators Research*, 106(1), 117–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9798-5</u>
- Clark, A. E. (2019). Born to be mild? Cohort effects don't (fully) explain why well-being Is Ushaped in age. In M. Rojas (Ed.), *The economics of happiness: How the Easterlin Paradox transformed our understanding of well-being and progress* (pp. 387-408). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15835-4_17</u>
- Clark, A. E., Frijters, P., & Shields, M. A. (2008). Relative income, happiness, and utility: An explanation for the Easterlin Paradox and other puzzles. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 46(1), 95-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.46.1.95</u>
- Clark, A. E., & Oswald, A. J. (2006). *The curved relationship between subjective well-being and age*. Paris-Jourdan Sciences Economiques. <u>https://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr/halshs-00590404</u>
- Clark, A. E., & Oswald, A. J. (1994). Unhappiness and unemployment. *The Economic Journal*, 104(424), 648–659. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2234639</u>

- Clark, W. A. V., & Lisowski, W. (2018). Wellbeing across individuals and places: How much does social capital matter? *Journal of Population Research* 35(3), 217-236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12546-018-9207-x
- Clarke, H. D., Kornberg, A., & Scotto, T. J. (2009). *Making political choices :Canada and the United States*. University of Toronto Press.
- Cogneau, & Moradi, A. (2014). Borders that divide: Education and religion in Ghana and Togo since colonial times. *The Journal of Economic History*, 74(3), 694-729. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022050714000576
- Cohen, J. (1989). Deliberation and democratic legitimacy. In A Hamlin & P. Pettit (Eds.), *The good polity: Normative analysis of the state* (pp. 17-34). Blackwell.
- Cohen, J. (1989). The economic basis of deliberative democracy. *Social philosophy and policy*, 6(2), 25-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0265052500000625</u>
- Cohen, R. (1994). Feminist thought and corporate law: It's time to find our way up from the bottom (line). *The American University Journal of Gender, Social Policy, and the Law,* 2(1), 1-36.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 94, S95–S120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/228943</u>.
- Coleman, J. (1990). Foundations of social theory. Harvard University Press.
- Collier, P. (2007). *The bottom billion: Why the poorest countries are falling and what can be done about it.* Oxford University Press.
- Collingwood, L. (2012). Levels of education and support for direct democracy. *American Politics Research*, 40(4), 571-602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1532673x11428805</u>
- Collins, H. P. (2002). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment. Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203900055
- Condon, M. (2015). Voice lessons: Rethinking the relationship between education and political participation. *Political Behavior*, *37*(4), 819-843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-015-9301-0</u>
- Cooper, L. (1991). An ethic of citizenship for public administration. Prentice Hall.
- Cooper, T. (2006). *The responsible administrator: An approach to ethics for the administrative role* (5th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Costanza, R., Fisher, B., Ali, S., Beer, C., Bond, L., Boumans, R., ...& Snapp, R. (2007). Quality of life: An approach integrating opportunities, human needs, and subjective well-being. *Ecological Economics*, *61*(2-3), 267-276.

Cox, R., Buck S., & Morgan, B. (2011). Public administration in theory and practice. Longman.

- Cox, T., Jr. (2001). Creating the multicultural organization: A strategy for capturing the power of diversity. Jossey-Bass.
- Crossley, N., & Ibrahim, J. (2012). Critical mass, social networks and collective action: Exploring student political worlds. *Sociology*, 46(4), 596-612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038511425560</u>
- Chikwendu, E. (2004). AIDS/HIV When the state fails: NGOs in grassroots AIDS care. *Dialectical Anthropology*, 28(3-4), 307-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10624-004-3584-6</u>
- Cummins, R.A. (1996). The domains of life satisfaction: An attempt to order chaos. *Social Indicators Research*, 38(3), 303-328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00292050</u>
- Cummins, R. A. (2005). The domains of life satisfaction: An attempt to order chaos. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Citation classics from social indicators research* (pp. 559-584). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Cuñado, J., & Perez de Gracia, F. (2012). Does education affect happiness? Evidence for Spain. Social Indicators Research, 108(1), 185-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9874-x</u>
- Dahl, R. (1998). On democracy. Yale University Press.
- Dahl, R. (2005). *Who governs? Democracy and power in an American city* (2nded.). Yale University Press.
- Dahlgren, P. (2015). Civic cosmopolitanism and political communication: Media, activism, and agency. In R. Figueiras, P. D. Espírito Santo (Eds.), *Beyond the internet: Unplugging the protest movement wave* (pp. 19-42). Routledge.
- Darvas, P., & Balwanz, D. (2013). Basic education beyond the millennium development goals in Ghana: How equity in service delivery affects educational and learning outcomes. World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0098-6</u>
- Dassonneville, R., Quintelier, E., Hooghe, M., & Claes, E. (2012). The relation between civic education and political attitudes and behavior: A two-year panel study among Belgian late adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, *16*(3), 140-150. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2012.695265
- Davis, E. E., & Fine-Davis, M. (1991). Social indicators of living conditions in Ireland with European comparisons. *Social Indicators Research*, 25(2), 103-365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00286160</u>

- Debrah, E. (2014). The politics of decentralization in Ghana's Fourth Republic. *African Studies Review*, 57(1), 49–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/asr.2014.5</u>
- De Cuzzani, P. (2014). Baruch Spinoza: Democracy and freedom of speech. In G. Floistad (Ed.), *Philosophy of justice* (pp. 95-118). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9175-5_7</u>
- Dee, T. S. (2004). Are there civic returns to education? *Journal of Public Economics*, 88, 1697-1720. https://doi.org/10.3386/w9588
- Denhardt, V. R., & Dendardt, B. R. (2011). *The new public service: Serving, not steering.* M.E. Sharpe.
- Dewar, M. D. (2016). *Education and well-being: An ontological inquiry*. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-60276-3
- Diener, E. (Ed.). (2010). Assessing well-being: The collected works of Ed Diener. Social Indicators Research Series 39. Springer.
- Diener, E. (Ed.). (2009). *The science of well-being: The collected works of Ed Diener*. Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2350-6</u>
- Diener, E. (1984). Subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, 95, 542-575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.95.3.542</u>
- Diener, E. (2000). Subjective well-being: The science of happiness, and a proposal for a national index. *American Psychologist*, 55, 34-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.55.1.34</u>
- Diener, E. (1995). A value based index for measuring national quality of life. *Social Indicators Research*, *36*(2), 107-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01079721</u>
- Diener, E., & Biswas-Diener, R. (2002). Will money increase subjective well-being? Social Indicators Research, 57(2), 119–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2350-6_6
- Diener, E., Lucas, R., & Scollon, C. N. (2006). Beyond the hedonic treadmill: Revising the adaptation theory of well-being. *American Psychologist*, 61, 305-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.61.4.305</u>
- Diener, E., Oishi, S., & Lucas, R. E. (2005). Subjective well-being: The science of happiness and life satisfaction. In C. R. Snyder & S. J. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology*. Oxford University Press.
- Diener, E., & Ryan, K. (2009). Subjective well-being: A general overview. *South African Journal* of Psychology, 39(4), 391-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/008124630903900402</u>

- Diener, E., & Suh, E. (1997). Measuring quality of life: Economic, social, and subjective indicators. *Social Indicators Research*, 40(1/2), 189-216.
- Diener, E., & Suh, E. M. (2000). Measuring subjective well-being to compare the quality of life of cultures. In E. Diener & E. M. Suh (Eds.), *Culture and subjective well-being* (pp. 3-12). MIT Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/2242.003.0004</u>
- Dietz, H. (1998). Urban poverty, political participation, and the state: Lima, 1970-1990. University of Pittsburgh Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt5hjt2p</u>
- Dillabough, J. (2003). Gender, education, and society: The limits and possibilities of feminist reproduction theory. *Sociology of Education*, 76(4), 376-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1519874</u>
- Dillman, D. A. (2000). Mail and internet surveys: The tailored design method. John Wiley.
- Disch, & Hawkesworth, M. E. (Eds.). (2015). *The Oxford handbook of feminist theory*. Oxford University Press.
- Djupe, P. A., & Grant, J. T. (2001). Religious institutions and political participation in America. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 40*, 303-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/0021-8294.00057</u>
- Doamekpor, K. F. (2004). Civic engagement and public policy making in America [Review of *Civic Engagement and Public Policy Making in America*]. *Public Administration Review*, 64(1), 113-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2004.00351.x</u>
- Dodd, V. (2012). Social capital and subjective well-being: The case of rural Ethiopia [Master's thesis]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Dolan, P., Peasgood, T., & White, M. (2008). Do we really know what makes us happy? A review of the economic literature on the factors associated with subjective well-being. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 29(1), 94-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2007.09.001</u>
- Donkoh, S. A., & Amikuzuno, J. A. (2011). The determinants of household education expenditure in Ghana. *Educational Research & Reviews*, 6(8), 570-579.
- Donovan, J. (2012). Feminist theory: The intellectual traditions. A&C Black.
- Donovan, N., & Halpern, D. (2002). *Life satisfaction: The state of knowledge and implications for government*. Prime Minister's Strategy Unit.
- Dowuona-Hammond, C., Atuguba, R. A., & Tuokuu, F. X. D. (2020). Women's survival in Ghana: What has law got to do with it? *SAGE Open*, *10*(3), 215824402094147–. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020941472</u>
- Drucker-Brown, S. (2009). Chieftancy in Ghana: Culture, governance and development [Review of *Chieftancy in Ghana: Culture, governance and development* Edited by Irene K. Odotei & Albert K. Awedobu]. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 15*(1), 185-187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9655.2008.01537_13.x
- Dryzek, J. S. (1990). *Discursive democracy: Politics, policy and political science*. Cambridge University Press.
- Dugbazah, A. K (2002). *Gender inequality in higher education: The case of the University of Ghana, 1980–2000* [Doctoral dissertation]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Durand, M. (2015). The OECD Better Life Initiative: How's life? and the measurement of wellbeing. *The Review of Income and Wealth*, 61(1), 4-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12156</u>
- Durayappah, A. (2010). The 3P model: A general theory of subjective well-being. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *12*(4), 681-716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-010-9223-9</u>
- Easterlin, D. (1974) Does economic growth improve the human lot? In P. David, & M. Reder (Eds.), *Nations and households in economic growth: Essays in honour of Moses Abramovitz*. Academic Press.
- Easterlin, R.A. (2014). An economist's road to subjective well-being. *Applied Research in Quality* of Life, 9(3), 783-785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-014-9329-z</u>
- Easterlin, R. A. (2003). Explaining happiness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(19), 11176-11183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1633144100</u>
- Easterlin, R. A. (2001). Income and happiness: Towards a unified theory. *The Economic Journal*, *111*(473), 465-484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0297.00646</u>
- Easterlin, R. A. (2006). Life cycle happiness and its sources intersections of psychology, economics, and demography. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 27(4), 463-482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2006.05.002
- Edgerton, J. D., Roberts, L. W., & von Below, S. (2011). Education and quality of life. In K. C. Land, A. C. Michalos, & M. J. Sirgy (Eds.), *Handbook of social indicators and quality of life research* (pp. 265-296). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2421-1_12</u>
- Egerton. (2002). Higher education and civic engagement. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 53(4), 603–620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0007131022000021506</u>
- Ekman, J., & Amnå, E. (2012). Political participation and civic engagement: Towards a new typology. *Human Affairs*, 22(3), 283-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/s13374-012-0024-1</u>

- Egerton, M. (2002). Higher education and civic engagement. *British Journal of Sociology*, 52(4), 603-620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0007131022000021506</u>
- Eid, M., & Larsen, R. J. (2008). The science of subjective well-being. Guilford Press.
- Ellis, S, & Haar, G. (2007). Religion and politics: Taking African epistemologies seriously. *The Journal of Modern African Studies,* 45(3), 385-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022278x07002674</u>
- Elson, D. (2009). Gender equality and economic growth in the World Bank World Development Report 2006. *Feminist Economics*, 15(3), 35-59. https://doi.org/10.1080/13545700902964303
- Elster, J. (1998). Deliberative democracy. Cambridge University Press.
- Emler, N., & Frazer, E. (1999). Politics: The education effect. *Oxford Review of Education*, 25(1-2), 251-273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/030549899104242</u>
- England, P. (2005). Emerging theories of care work. Annual Review of Sociology, 31(1), 381-399.
- Epstein, R.A. (2011). Direct democracy: Government of the people, by the people, and for the people? *Harvard Journal of Law and Public Policy*, *34*(3), 819.
- Etzioni, A. (1993). *The spirit of community: Rights, responsibilitie^{s,} and the communitarian agenda*. Crown Publishers.
- Evans, J. (1995). Feminist theory today: An introduction to second-wave feminism. In *Feminist theory today: An introduction to second-wave feminism*. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446222140
- Evans, S. M., & Boyte, H. C. (1986). Free spaces. Harper & Row.
- Evans, G., & Rose, P. (2012). Understanding education's influence on support for democracy in Sub-Saharan Africa. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 48(4), 498-515. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2011.598508
- Ewusi, K. (1976). Disparities in levels of regional development in Ghana. Social Indicators Research, 3(1), 75-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00286164</u>
- Faanu, P., & Graham, E. (2017). The politics of ethnocentrism: A viability test of Ghana's democracy? *Insight on Africa*, 9(2), 141-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0975087817715534</u>
- Fahmy, E. (2006). Social capital and civic action: A study of youth in the United Kingdom. *Young*, 14(2), 101-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1103308806062736</u>

- Farhall, K., Kiraly, M., & Tyler, M. (2015). 'We love make-up, romance, high heels and men, of course': The contradictions of pop feminism. In M. Kiraly & M. Tyler (Eds.), *Freedom fallacy: The limits of liberal feminism* (pp. 95-104). Connor Court Publishing,
- Fentiman, A., Hall, A., & Bundy, D. (1999). School enrolment patterns in rural Ghana: A comparative study of the impact of location, 'ender, age and health on children's access to basic schooling. *Comparative Education*, 35(3), 331-349. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050069927865
- Ferguson, A., Hennessy, R., & Nagel, M. (2004). Feminist perspectives on class and work.StanfordEncyclopediahttps://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/24291
- Fernández-Balboa, J. M. (1993) Sociocultural characteristics of the hidden curriculum, in physical education. *Quest*, 45,230-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.1993.10484086</u>
- Ferree, M. M., Lorber, J., & Hess, B. B. (Eds.). (1999). Revisioning gender. Sage Publications.
- Ferrer-i-Carbonell, A., & Ramos, X. (2014). Inequality and happiness. Journal of Economic Surveys, 28(5), 1016-1027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12049</u>
- Fisher, R. (1994). Let the people decide: Neighborhood organizing in America. Twayne.
- Flanagan, J. C. (1978). A research approach to improving our quality of life. *The American Psychologist*, 33(2), 138-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.33.2.138</u>
- Foster. (1962). Ethnicity and the schools in Ghana. *Comparative Education Review*, 6(2), 127-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/444923</u>
- Frederiksen, M., Larsen, C. A., & Lolle, H. (2016). Exploring the association across social relationships and nations. Acta Sociologica, 59(4), 293-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0001699316658936</u>
- Fredriksen, B & Craissati, D. (2009). Abolishing school fees in Africa: Lessons from Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, and Mozambique. In Abolishing school fees in Africa: lessons from Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi and Mozambique (pp. xxiv-xxiv). World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-0-8213-7540-2</u>
- Frempong-Ainguah, F., Bailey, C. E., & Hill, A. G. (2018). Women's health status in urban Ghana: Dimensions and differentials using short form 36. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 16(1), Article 74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-0894-y</u>
- Frey, B. S., & Stutzer, A. (Eds.). (2010). *Happiness and economics: How the economy and institutions affect human well-being*. Princeton University Press.

- Frey, & Stutzer, A. (2002). What can economists learn from happiness research? *Journal of Economic Literature*, 40(2), 402-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/002205102320161320</u>
- Friedman, M. (1962). Capitalism and freedom. University of Chicago Press.
- Frimpong-Ansah, J. H. (1992). *The vampire state in Africa: The political economy of decline in Ghana*. Africa World Press.
- Fukuyama, F. (1995). Trust: The social virtues and the creation of prosperity. Free Press.
- Fukuyama, F. (2000). *Social capital and civil society*. International Monetary Fund Working Paper WP/00/74. <u>https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2000/wp0074.pdf</u>
- Fukuyama, F. (2001). Social capital, civil society, and development. *Third World Quarterly*, 22(1), 7-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/713701144</u>
- Fukuyama, F. (2002). Social capital and development: The coming agenda. SAIS Review, 22(1), 23-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/sais.2002.0009</u>
- Fung, A., & Wright, E. O. (Eds.). (2003). Deepening democracy: Institutional innovations' empowered participatory governance, real utopias. Project Series, IV. Verso.
- Fuseini, K., & Kalule-Sabiti, I. (2015). Women's autonomy in Ghana: Does religion matter? *African Population Studies*, 29(2), 1831-1842. <u>https://doi.org/10.11564/29-2-743</u>
- Garner, R. C. (2000). Religion as a source of social change in the new South Africa. *Journal of Religion in Africa*, *30*(3), 310-343.
- Gatti, R. (2021). *The human capital index 2020 update: Human capital in the time of COVID-19*. World Bank Group. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34432</u>
- Gelb, A. (2000). *Can Africa claim the 21st century?* World Bank.
- Gerlach, K., & Stephan, G. (1996). A paper on unhappiness and unemployment in Germany. *Economics Letters*, 52(3), 325-330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1765(96)00858-0</u>
- Gerdtham, U. G., & Johannesson, M. (2001). The relationship between happiness, health, and socio-economic factors: Results based on Swedish microdata. *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 30(6), 553-557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1053-5357(01)00118-4</u>
- Ghana Review International (GRI). (2000). Christianity and Ghanaians: Ghanaians among most religious in the world. *Ghana Review International*, 68, 29-38.
- Gifford, P. (1994a). Some recent developments in African Christianity. *African Affairs 93*, 513-534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.afraf.a098757</u>

- Gifford, P. (1994b). Ghana's charismatic churches. Journal of Religion in Africa, 24, 241-265. https://doi.org/10.2307/1581301
- Gifford, P. (1995). The Christian churches and the democratization of Africa. E.J. Brill.
- Gill, A. (2001). Religion and comparative politics. *Annual Review of Political Science*.4, 117-138. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.4.1.117
- Glewwe, P, & Hanan J., (1994), Student achievement and schooling choice in low-income countries: Evidence from Ghana. Journal of Human Resources, 29(3), 843-864. https://doi.org/10.2307/146255
- Gorta, A., & Forell, S. (1995). Layers of decision: Linking social definitions of corruption and willingness to take action. *Crime, Law and Social Change.* 23. 315-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01298447</u>
- Gottlieb, A. (1980). [Review of Social indicators of well-being: Americans' perceptions of life quality: by Frank M. Andrews and Stephen B. Withey. New York: Plenum Press, 1976, 455 pp., \$22.00]. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 3(1), 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7189(80)90013-0
- Graham, C. (2010). The challenges of incorporating empowerment into the HDI: Some lessons from happiness economics and quality of life research. *UNDP-HDRO Occasional Papers*, (2010/13). <u>https://hdr.undp.org/content/challenges-incorporating-empowerment-hdi</u>
- Green, J. C., & Coffey, D. J. (2011). *The state of the parties: The changing role of contemporary American parties* (6th ed.). Rowman & Littlefield.
- Grootaert, C., & Van Bastelaer, T. (2002). Understanding and measuring social capital: A synthesis of findings and recommendations from the social capital initiative. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/14098
- Gryniuk, K. (2018). Education and support for democracy in Poland: Attitudinal, structural, and cognitive mechanisms. *Polish Sociological Review*, (201), 3-25.
- Guiso L., Sapienza P., &Zingales, L. (2004). The role of social capital in financial development. *American Economic Review*, 94(3), 526-556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/0002828041464498</u>
- Gutmann, A., & Thompson, D. (2003). Deliberative democracy beyond process. In J. S. Fishkin, & P. Laslett (Eds.), *Debating deliberative democracy* (pp. 31-54). Blackwell.
- Gyan, C., Abbey, E., & Baffoe, M. (2020). Proverbs and patriarchy: Analysis of linguistic prejudice and representation of women in traditional Akan communities of Ghana. *Social Sciences (Basel)*, 9(3), 22-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci9030022</u>

- Gyimah-Boadi, E. 2001. A peaceful turnover in Ghana. Journal of Democracy, 12(2), 103-117. https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2001.0026
- Gyimah-Boadi, E. (2009). Another step forward for Ghana. *Journal of Democracy*, 20(2), 138-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.0.0065</u>
- Gyimah-Boadi, E., & Asante, R. (2003). *Minorities in Ghana*. Paper prepared for the Commission on Human Rights, Sub-Commission on Promotion and Protection of Human Rights Working Group on Minorities, United Nations. <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/494022?ln=en</u>
- Gyimah-Boadi, E., & Awuah-Mensah, K. A. (2003). *The growth of democracy in Ghana despite* economic dissatisfaction: A power alternation bonus? Afrobarometer Working Paper no.28. <u>https://www.afrobarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/AfropaperNo28.pdf</u>
- Gyimah-Brempong, K. (2017). Education in Ghana: Access, quality, and prospects for reforms. In E. Aryeetey & R. Kanbur (Eds.), *The economy of Ghana sixty years after independence* (pp. 349-364). Oxford University Press.
- Gyimah, S. O., Baffour K. T., & YeboahTenkorang, E. (2008). Denominational affiliation and fertility behavior in an African context: An examination of couple data from Ghana. *Journal of Biosocial Science* 40, 445-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0021932007002544</u>
- Hakhverdian, A., & Mayne, Q. (2012). Institutional trust, education, and corruption: A micromacro interactive approach. *The Journal of Politics*, 74(3), 739-750. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022381612000412</u>
- Hansen E. (1991). Ghana under Rawlings: Early years. Malthouse Press Limited.
- Hansen, T., & Slagsvold, B. (2012). The age and subjective wellbeing paradox revisited: A multidimensional perspective. Norsk Epidemiologi 22(2), 187-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.5324/nje.v22i2.1565</u>
- Harrington, D. (2009). Confirmatory factor analysis. Oxford University Press.
- Hassim, S. (2010). Perverse consequences? The impact of quotas for women on democratization in Africa. In I. Shapiro, S. C. Stokes, E. J. Wood, & A. S. Kirshner (Eds.), *Political representation* (pp. 211-235). https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511813146.010
- Haug. (2001). More fairness, democracy and transparency. *Inter Economics*, 36(5), 226-228. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02928974
- Headey, B., Veenhoven, R., & Wearing, A. (1991). Top-down versus bottom-up theories of subjective well-being. Social Indicators Research, 24(1), 81-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00292652</u>

- Heaton, T., James, S., & Oheneba-Sakyi, Y. (2009). Religion and socioeconomic attainment in Ghana. *Review of Religious Research*, *51*(1), 71-86. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/25593773</u>.
- Heintzelman, S. J. (2018). Eudaimonia in the contemporary science of subjective well-being: Psychological well-being, self-determination, and meaning in life. In E. Diener, S. Oishi, & L. Tay (Eds.), *Handbook of well-being*. DEF Publishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351231879-14</u>
- Helfer, H. (2017). Prosperity-enhancing institutions: Towards a comprehensive composite index. Social Indicators Research, 134(3), 805-845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-016-1466-3</u>
- Hellevik, O. (2017). The U-shaped age-happiness relationship: Real or methodological artifact? *Quality & Quantity*, 51(1), 177-197.
- Helliwell, J. F. (2003). How's life? Combining individual and national variables to explain subjective well-being. *Economic Modelling*, 20(2), 331-360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-9993(02)00057-3</u>
- Helliwell, J. F., & Barrington-Leigh, C. P. (2010). Measuring and understanding subjective wellbeing. NBER Working Paper Series. Working Paper 15887. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w15887</u>
- Helliwell, J. F., & Putnam, R. D. (2007). Education and social capital. *Eastern Economic Journal*, 33(1), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/eej.2007.1</u>
- Henderson, J., & Chatfield, S. (2011). Who matches? Propensity scores and bias in the causal effects of education on participation. *The Journal of Politics*, 73(3), 646-658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381611000351</u>
- Heward, C., & Bunwaree, S. (Eds.). (1999). *Gender, education and development: Beyond access to empowerment*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hewitt, N. A. (2012). Feminist frequencies: Regenerating the wave metaphor. *Feminist Studies*, 38(3), 658-680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/fem.2012.0065</u>
- Hicks, J., & Routledge, C. (2013). *The experience of meaning in life classical perspectives, emerging themes, and controversies*. Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6527-6</u>
- Hillygus, D. S. (2005). The missing link: Exploring the relationship between higher education and political behavior. *Political Behavior*, 27(1), 25-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-005-3075-8</u>
- Hogan, L. (2000). [Review of Amadiume, Ifi Reinventing Africa: Matriarchy, religion and culture]. Journal of Religion in Africa/Religion En Afrique, 30(4), 491.

- Hollyer, J. R., Rosendorff, B. P., & Vreeland, J. R. (2018). *Transparency, democracy, and autocracy: Economic transparency and political (in) stability*. Cambridge University Press.
- Hooghe, M., & Stolle, D. (2003). *Generating social capital: civil society and institutions in comparative perspective*. Palgrave.
- hooks, b. (2000). Feminist theory: From margin to center. Pluto Press.
- Houston, L. (2003). It's a man's world: Overcoming barriers to female education in Ghana. African Diaspora ISPs.
 <u>https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/african_diaspora_isp/61</u>
- Huang, J., van den Brink, H. M., & Groot, W. (2011). College education and social trust: An evidence-based study on the causal mechanisms. *Social Indicators Research*, *104*(2), 287-310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9744-y
- Huang, J., Maassen van den Brink, H., & Groot, W. (2009). A meta-analysis of the effect of education On social capital. *Economics of Education Review*, 28(4), 454-464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2008.03.004
- Hungerford, T., & Solon, G. (1987). Sheepskin effects in the returns to education. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 69(1), 175-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1792986</u>
- Huntington, S. P., & Nelson, J. M. (1977). [Review of No easy choice: Political participation in developing countries]. Population and Development Review, 3(3), 334. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1971904</u>
- Hurd, & Johnson, T. J. (1967). Education and social mobility in Ghana. *Sociology of Education*, 40(1), 55-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2112187</u>
- Huta, V., & Waterman, A. S. (2013). Eudaimonia and its distinction from hedonia: Developing a classification and terminology for understanding conceptual and operational definitions. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 15(6), 1425-1456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-013-9485-0</u>
- Hutcheson, G., & Sofroniou, N. (1999). The multivariate social scientist introductory statistics using generalized linear model. Sage Publications.
- Hyde, J. S. (2005). The gender similarities hypothesis. *American Psychologist*, 60,(6), 581-592. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.60.6.581
- Irvin, A. R., & Stansbury J. (2004). Citizen participation in decision making: Is it worth the effort? *Public Administration Review*, 64(1), 55-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2004.00346.x</u>

- Isham, J. (1999). *The effect of social capital on technology adoption: Evidence from rural Tanzania* [Paper presentation]. Annual Meeting of the American Economic Association, New York, NY.
- Islam, R. (2006). Does more transparency go along with better governance? *Economics and Politics*, *18*(2), 121-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0343.2006.00166.x</u>
- *It's a Resounding YES for 6 new regions*. (2018, December 28). Ghana Web. Retrieved December, 2020 from <u>https://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewsArchive/It-s-a-</u> resounding-YES-for-6-new-regions-711697
- Jarvis, T. (2002). Education and political participation: A reexamination of the "universal solvent." ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Jeffries, R. (1998). The Ghanaian elections of 1996: Towards the consolidation of democracy? *African Affairs*, 97, 189-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.afraf.a007925</u>
- Jeffries, R., & Thomas, C. (1993). The Ghanaian elections. *African Affairs*, 92(388), 331-366. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.afraf.a098639
- Jonathan, I., Kaufmann, D., & Pritchett, L. H. (1997). Civil liberties, democracy, and the performance of government projects. *The World Bank Economic Review*, *11*(2), 219-242. https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/11.2.219
- Jones-Correa, M. A., & Leal, D. L. (2001). Political participation: Does religion matter? *Political Research Quarterly*, 54(4), 751-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/449233</u>
- Kahneman, D., Diener, E., & Schwarz, N. (Eds.). (1999). *Well-being: The foundations of hedonic psychology*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Kam, C. D., & Palmer, C. L. (2008). Reconsidering the effects of education on political participation. *The Journal of Politics*, 70(3), 612-631. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022381608080651
- Kang H. (2013). The prevention and handling of the missing data. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 64(5), 402-406. https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2013.64.5.402
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (1999). *Governance matters*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 2196.
- Kelley, J., & Evans, M. D. (2017). Societal inequality and individual subjective well-being: Results from 68 societies and over 200,000 individuals, 1981-2008. Social Science Research, 62, 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.04.020</u>
- Kim, J. Y. (2015, October 16). Remarks at press conference, Accra, Ghana, October 16, 2015. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/24291

King, C. S., & Stivers, C. (1998). Government is us. Sage.

- King, D., & Stoker, G. (1996). *Rethinking local democracy*. Macmillan in association with the ERSC Local Programme.
- King, L. A., & Hicks, J. A. (2021). The science of meaning in life. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 72(1), 561-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-072420-122921</u>
- Kingdon, G. G., & Knight, J. (2007). Community, comparisons and subjective well-being in a divided society. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 64(1), 69-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2007.03.004</u>
- Kirby, J. (1993). The Islamic dialogue with African traditional religion: Divination and health care. *Social Science & Medicine*, *36*, 237-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(93)90007-q</u>
- Kirby, J. (1997). White, red and black: Color classification and illness management in Northern Ghana. *Social Science & Medicine*, 44, 215-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(96)00147-5</u>
- Knack, S., & Keefer P. (1997). Does social capital have an economic payoff: A cross-country comparison. *Quarterly Economic Journal*, *112*, 1251-1288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/003355300555475</u>
- Kohler, H, Behrman, J., & Watkins, S. (2001). The density of social networks and fertility decisions: Evidence from South Nyanza District, Kenya. *Demography*, *38*, 43-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/dem.2001.0005</u>
- Kostadinova, P. (2019). Influential news: Impact of print media reports on the fulfillment of election promises. *Political Communication*, *36*(3), 412-425. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2018.1541032
- Kotef, H. (2009). On abstractness: First wave liberal feminism and the construction of the abstract woman. *Feminist Studies*, *35*(3), 495-522.
- Kotz, D. (2017). Social structure of accumulation theory, Marxist Theory, and system transformation. *The Review of Radical Political Economics*, 49(4), 534-542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0486613417699050
- Kraay, A. (2019). The World Bank Human Capital Index: A guide. *The World Bank Research* Observer, 34(1), 1-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkz001</u>
- Krislove, S. (1974). Representative bureaucracy. In J. M. Shafhtz & A. C. Hyde (Eds.), *Classics of public administration* (4th ed.). (pp. 330-334). Harcourt Brace College.

- Kroll, C. (2011). Different things make different people happy: Examining social capital and subjective well-being by gender and parental status. *Social Indicators Research*, 104(1), 157-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9733-1</u>
- Krook, M. L. (2006). Gender quotas, norms, and politics. *Politics & Gender*, 2(1), 110-118.
- Kubiszewski, I., Costanza, R., Franco, C., Lawn, P., Talberth, J., Jackson, T., & Aylmer, C. (2013). Beyond GDP: Measuring and achieving global genuine progress. *Ecological Economics*, 93, 57–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.04.019</u>.
- Kuenzi, M. T. (2006). Nonformal education, political participation, and democracy: Findings from Senegal. *Political Behavior*, 28(1), 1-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-005-9000-3</u>
- Kuyini, A. A. R. (2013). *Teachers' pedagogical competencies in including children with learning difficulties in primary schools in Ghana* [Unpublished PhD thesis]. University of Brunei Darussalam, Bandar Seri Begaw.
- Kwapong, O. A. T. F. (2007). Widening access to tertiary education for women in Ghana through distance education. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 8(4), 65-79.
- Kweeit, R., & Kweit, M. (1980) Bureaucratic decision-making: Impediments to citizen participation. *Polity*, *12*(4), 647-666. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3234304</u>
- Kwon, H. (2016). The effects of third-person perception of polling news on the voting and participating in campaigning. *Journal of Social Science*, 27(4), 67-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.16881/jss.2016.10.27.4.67</u>
- Kymlicka, W. (1991). Liberalism, community, and culture. Oxford University Press.
- La Due Lake, R., & Huckfeldt, R. (1998). Social capital, social networks, and political participation. *Political Psychology*, 19(3), 567-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/0162-895X.00118</u>
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Salanes, A. Shleifer, & Vishny, R. (1997). Trust in large organizations. *American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings* (87), 333-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w5864</u>
- Lamb, S. (1999). New versions of victims: Feminists struggle with the concept. New York University Press.
- Landell-Mills, P., & Serageldin, I. (1992). *Governance and the external factor*. Staff paper, World Bank Annual Conference on Development Economics. World Bank.
- Larsen, R. J, Diener, E., & Emmons, R. A. (1985). An evaluation of subjective well-being measures. *Social Indicators Research*, 17(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00354108</u>

- Larson, R. J. (1996). United Nations Fourth World Conference on Women: Action for equality, development, and peace (Beijing, China: September 1995). *Emory International Law Review*, 10(2), 695.
- Lassen, D. D. (2003). Ethnic divisions, trust, and the size of the informal sector. Economic Policy Research Unit Working Paper 03-01. University of Copenhagen. <u>https://www.cpr.ku.dk/staff/?pure=en%2Fpublications%2Fethnic-divisions-trust-and-the-</u> size-of-the-informal-sector(afeeaa80-35e1-11dc-bee9-02004c4f4f50).html
- Lavena, C. (2013). What determines permissiveness toward corruption? A study of attitudes in Latin America. *Public Integrity*. 15(4), 345-365. <u>https://doi.org/10.2753/pin1099-9922150402</u>
- Lavrakas, P. (2008). Encyclopedia of survey research methods. In *Encyclopedia of Survey Research Methods*. SAGE Publications.
- Le, K., & Nguyen, M. (2021). Education and political engagement. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 85, Article 102441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2021.102441
- Ledingham, A, J. (2001). Government-community relationships: Extending the relational theory of public relations. *Public Relations Review*, 27(3), 285-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0363-8111(01)00087-x</u>
- Lee, T. W., Ko, I. S., & Lee, K. J. (2006). Health promotion behaviors and quality of life among community-dwelling elderly in Korea: A cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 43(3), 293-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2005.06.009</u>
- Leonard, D. (2005). Africa unchained: The blueprint for Africa's future [Review of Africa unchained: The blueprint for Africa's future]. Political Science Quarterly, 120(4), 691-693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1538-165x.2005.tb01432.x</u>
- Lewis, C. (2005). *The ethics challenge in public service* (2nded.). Jossey-Bass.
- Lewis, D. (2010). Discursive challenges for African feminisms. In S. Arnfred (Ed.), *African feminist politics of knowledge: Tensions, challenges, possibilities* (pp. 205-21). The Nordic Africa Institute.
- Lindberg, S. I., Minion, K. C., & Morrison. (2005). Exploring voter alignments in Africa: Core and swing voters in Ghana. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, 43(4), 565-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022278x05001229</u>
- Lipsky, M. (1980) Street-level bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the individual in public services. Sage.

- Lloyd, C. B, & Blanc, K. (1996). Children's schooling in sub-Saharan Africa: The role of fathers, mothers, and others. *Population and Development Review*, 22, (2), 265-298. https://doi.org/10.2307/2137435
- Loewe, N., Bagherzadeh, M., Araya-Castillo, L., Thieme, C., & Batista-Foguet, J. M. (2014). Life domain satisfactions as predictors of overall life satisfaction among workers: Evidence from Chile. Social Indicators Research, 118(1), 71-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-013-0408-6</u>
- Longino, H. (1994). In search of feminist epistemology. *The Monist*, 77(4), 472-485. <u>https://doi.org/10.5840/monist199477428</u>
- Lowndes, V., Pratchett, L., & Stoker, G. (2001). Trends in public participation: Part 2 Citizens' perspectives. *Public Administration*, 79(2), 445-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9299.00264</u>
- Lucas, R. E, Diener, E., & Larsen, R. J. (2003). Measuring positive emotions. In S. J. Lopez & C. R. Snyder (Eds.), Positive psychological assessment: A handbook of models and measures (pp. 201-218). American Psychological Association.
- Lucas, R. E., & Dyrenforth, P. S. (2006). Does the existence of social relationships matter for subjective well-being? In K. D. Vohs & E. J. Finkel (Eds.), Self and relationships: Connecting intrapersonal and interpersonal processes (pp. 254-273). The Guilford Press.
- Lucas, R. E., Dyrenforth, P. S., & Diener, E. (2008). Four myths about subjective well-being. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 2(5), 2001-2015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00140.x</u>
- MacKerron, G. (2012). Happiness economics from 35 000 feet. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 26(4), 705-735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6419.2010.00672.x</u>
- Madsen, D. (2019). Gender, power and institutional change The role of formal and informal institutions in promoting women's political representation in Ghana. *Journal of Asian and African Studies (Leiden)*, 54(1), 70-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0021909618787851</u>
- Makama, R., Helman, R., Titi, N., & Day, S. (2019). The danger of a single feminist narrative: African-centered decolonial feminism for Black men. *Agenda*, *33*(3), 61-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10130950.2019.1667736</u>
- Malik, K. (2001), Technical cooperation, capacities, and development. UNDP draft.
- Mann, S. A., & Huffman, D. J. (2005). The decentering of second wave feminism and the rise of the third wave. *Science* & *Society*, 69(1), 56-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/siso.69.1.56.56799</u>

- Manning, C. 2005. Assessing African party systems after the third wave. *Party Politics* 11(6), 707-727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068805057606</u>
- Martin, J. A. (2020). Press freedom in Ghana: A survey of journalists' attitudes toward libel law, right to information, and reporting practices. *Journal of Media Law & Ethics*, 8, 55.
- Masemann. (2018). [Review of Education, social progress, and marginalized children in sub-Saharan Africa: Historical antecedents and contemporary challenges]. International Review of Education / Internationale Zeitschrift Für Erziehungswissenschaft / Revue Internationale de l'Education, 64(6), 871-874. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11159-018-9754-6</u>
- Matsumoto, D. (2007). Culture, context, and behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 75(6), 1285–1320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2007.00476.x
- Mayer, A. (2011). Does education increase political participation? *The Journal of Politics*, 73(3), 633-645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s002238161100034x</u>
- Mazrui, A. M., & W. M. Mutunga (Eds.). (2003). *Governance and leadership: Debating the African condition.* African World Press.
- McAvoy, G. E., & ProQuest (Firm). (2015). *Collective political rationality: Partisan thinking and why it's not all bad*. Routledge.
- McCoy, M. L., & Scully, P. L. (2002). Deliberative dialogue to expand civic engagement: What kind of talk does democracy need? *National Civic Review*, *91*(2), 117-135.
- McCubbins, M. D., & Schwartz, T. (1984). Congressional oversight overlooked: Police patrols versus fire alarms. American Journal of Political Science, 28(1) 165-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2110792</u>
- Meltzer, A. H., & Richard, S. F. (1981). A rational theory of the size of government. *The Journal of Political Economy*, 89(5), 914–927. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/261013</u>
- Mensah-Kutin, R. (2010). *Democratic governance and women's rights in West Africa*. UK Department for International Development and the International Development Research Centre. <u>https://idl-bnc-idrc.dspacedirect.org/bitstream/handle/10625/43869/130391.pdf</u>
- Meyer, B. (1995). "Delivered from the powers of darkness": Confessions of Satanic riches in Christian Ghana. *Africa*, 65, 236-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1161192</u>
- Meyer, B. (2004). Christianity in Africa: From African Independent to Pentecostal-Charismatic churches. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, *33*(1), 447-474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.33.070203.143835</u>

- Mfum-Mensah, O., & Friedson-Ridenour, S. (2014). Whose voices are being heard? Mechanisms for community participation in education in northern Ghana. *Prospects*, 44(3), 351-365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-014-9316-z</u>
- Michalos, A. C. (2008). Education, happiness and wellbeing. *Social Indicators Research*, 87(3), 347-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-007-9144-0</u>
- Michalos, A.C. (2017). What did Stiglitz, Sen and Fitoussi get right and what did they get wrong? In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Development of quality of life theory and its instruments: The selected works of Alex C. Michalos* (pp. 287-300). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51149-8_14</u>
- Michels, & De Graaf, L. (2010). Examining citizen participation: Local participatory policy making and democracy. *Local Government Studies*, *36*(4), 477-491. https://doi.org/10.1080/03003930.2010.494101
- Mikell, & Mikell, G. (1997). *African feminism: The politics of survival in Sub-Saharan Africa*. University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Milligan, K., Moretti, E., & Oreopoulos, P. (2004). Does education improve citizenship? Evidence from the United States and the United Kingdom. *Journal of Public Economics*, 88(9), 1667-1695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2003.10.005</u>
- Milner, E. M. (2002). *Delivering the vision: Public services for the information society and the knowledge economy*. Routledge.
- Ministry of Education Education Sector Performance Report 2018 Ghana. (n.d.). Retrieved July 6, 2022, from https://www.globalpartnership.org/sites/default/files/document/file/2020-16-Ghana%20-%20ESP-IR.pdf
- Mirowsky, J., & Ross, C. (2007). Life course trajectories of perceived control and their relationship to education. *American Journal of Sociology*, 112(5), 1339-1382. https://doi.org/10.1086/511800
- Mirowsky, J., & Ross, C. (2009). Well-being across the life course. In T. Scheid & T. Brown (Eds.), A handbook for the study of mental health: Social contexts, theories, and systems (pp. 361-383). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316471289.021</u>
- Mo Ibrahim Foundation (2021, December). Ibrahim Index of African Governance. <u>https://mo.ibrahim.foundation/iiag</u>
- Mohammed, A. (2020). Does the policy cycle reflect the policymaking approach in Ghana? *Journal of Public Affairs*, 20(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2078</u>
- Molony, B., & Nelson, J. (2017). *Women's activism and "second wave" feminism: Transnational histories.* Bloomsbury Academic.

- Moore, M. H. (1995). *Creating public value: Strategic management in government*. Harvard University Press.
- Morris, S. D., & Klesner, J. L. (2010). Corruption and trust: Theoretical considerations and evidence from Mexico. *Comparative Political Studies*, 43(10), 1258-1285. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414010369072
- Morrone, A, Tontoranelli, N., & Ranuzzi, G. (2009). *How good is trust? Measuring trust and its role for the progress of societies*. OECD Statistics Working Paper. https://doi.org/10.1787/220633873086
- Moscati, R., & Rostan, M. (2000). Higher education and graduate employment in Italy. *European Journal of Education*, 35(2), 201-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-3435.00018</u>
- Moser, A. (2004). Happy heterogeneity? Feminism, development, and the grassroots women's movement in Peru. *Feminist Studies*, 30(1), 211-237.
- Moser, C. (1996). Confronting crisis: A comparative study of household responses to poverty and vulnerability in four poor urban communities. Environmentally Sustainable Development Studies and Monographs Series 8. World Bank. https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/0-8213-3561-8
- Mosher, F. C. (1981). *Basic documents of American public administration 1787-1950*. Holmes & Meier.
- Moynagh, M., & Forestell, N. (Eds.). (2012). Documenting first wave feminisms: Volume 1: Transnational collaborations and crosscurrents. University of Toronto Press.
- Mungiu-Pippidi, A. (2015). *The quest for good governance: How societies develop control of corruption*. Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316286937</u>
- Murray, J. (2009). The wider social benefits of higher education: What do we know about them? *The Australian Journal of Education*, 53(3), 230-244. https://doi.org/10.1177/000494410905300303
- Nakazato, N., Schimmack, U., & Oishi, S. (2011). Effect of changes in living conditions on wellbeing: A prospective top-down bottom-up model. *Social Indicators Research*, 100(1), 115-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9607-6</u>
- Narayan, D. (1995). *Designing community-based development*. Social Development Paper 7. World Bank, Environmentally and Socially Sustainable Development Network.
- Nathan, N. L. (2016). Local ethnic geography, expectations of favoritism, and voting in urban Ghana. *Comparative Political Studies*, 49(14), 1896-1929. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414016655540

- Nie, N. H., Junn, J., & Stehlik-Barry, K. (1996). *Education and democratic citizenship in America*. University of Chicago Press.
- Niemi, R. G., & Junn, J. (2005). *Civic education: What makes students learn*. Yale University Press.
- Nikolaev, B. (2018). Does higher education increase hedonic and eudaimonic happiness? *Journal* of Happiness Studies, 19(2), 483-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-016-9833-y</u>
- Nikolaev, B. (2016). Does other people's education make us less happy? *Economics of Education Review*, 52, 176-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2016.02.005</u>
- Ninsin, K. (Ed.). (1998). Ghana: Transition to democracy. Codesria.
- Noll H. (2011). The Stiglitz-Sen-Fitoussi-report: Old wine in new skins? Views from a social indicators perspective. *Social Indicators Research*, 102(1), 111-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9738-9</u>
- Norton, S. W., & Tomal, A. (2009). Religion and female educational attainment. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 41*(5), 961-986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-4616.2009.00240.x</u>
- Norwood. (2012). [Review of African feminist politics of knowledge: Tensions, challenges, possibilities]. Gender & Society, 26(1), 152-154. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243211426288
- NPP USA Inc (2018). 8.36% agricultural growth in 2017 a result of prudent policies –President Akufo-Addo. <u>https://www.npp-usa.org/8-36-agricultural-growth-in-2017-a-result-of-prudent-policies-president-akufo-addo/</u>
- Nsiah-Boateng, E. (2015). Reducing maternal and child mortality in Ghana: Is National Health Insurance scheme's free maternal care programme helping? *Value in Health*, 18(3), A267– A267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2015.03.1556</u>
- Nugent, P. (2004). Africa since independence. Routledge.
- Nugent, P. (1995). Big men, small boys and politics in Ghana. Asempa Publishers.
- Nussbaum, M., & Sen, A. (Eds.). (1993). The quality of life. Clarendon Press.
- Ocquaye, M. (1995). The Ghanaian elections of 1992—A dissenting view. *African Affairs*, 94, 259-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.afraf.a098809</u>
- Odotei, Awedobu, A. K., & Drucker-Brown, S. (2009). [Review of *Chieftancy in Ghana: Culture, governance and development*]. Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 15(1), 185-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9655.2008.01537_13.x</u>

- Ojo, M. (2000). The study of African Christianity in the 1990s. *Religion*, 30, 85-189. https://doi.org/10.1006/reli.2000.0247
- Oishi, S., Diener, E., Scollon, C., & Biswas-Diener, R. (2004). Cross-situational consistency of affective experiences across cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(3), 460-472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.3.460</u>
- Oldfield, A. (1990). Citizenship and community: Civic republicanism and the modern world. Routledge.
- Ombati, V., & Mokua, O. (2012). Gender inequality in education in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal* of Women's Entrepreneurship and Education, 3-4, 114-136.
- Opoku-Agyeman, C. (2013). *Civic engagement and Ghana's fourth republic: Implications for public policy* [Doctoral dissertation]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Opoku-Asare, N. A., & Siaw, A. O. (2016). Curricula and inferential factors that affect student achievement in rural, urban, and peri-urban senior high schools in Ghana: Evidence from the Visual Arts Program. SAGE Open, 6(3), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016661747
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2020). *Better Life Initiative: Measuring well-being and progress*. OECD Better Policies for Better Life. <u>https://www.oecd.org/wise/better-life-initiative.htm</u>
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (1997). *OECD Report on regulatory reform synthesis*. Author.
- Osei, G. M. (2009). *Education in post-colonial Ghana: Teachers, schools, and bureaucracy*. Nova Science Publishers.
- Osei-Assibey, E. (2013). 2010 population and housing census report: Millennium Development Goals in Ghana. Ghana Statistical Service.
- Osei-Tutu, E. M. (2021). Improving equity in tertiary education in Ghana. Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Education, 10, 21-38.
- Ostrom & Ostrom. (1971). Public choice: A different approach to the study of public administration. *Public Administration Review*, 31(2), 203-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/97467</u>
- Owusu-Mensah, M. (2007). Conflict in the primary school and its effects on teaching and learning: A case study of Ejisu-Juaben District (Master's thesis). Department of General Art Studies, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Ghana.

- Pacheco, G., & Lange, T. (2010). Political participation and life satisfaction: A cross-European analysis. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 37(9), 686-702. https://doi.org/10.1108/03068291011062489
- Palmore, E. (1999). Ageism: Negative and positive. Springer.
- Pateman, C. (1970). Participation and democratic theory. University Press.
- Patrinos, H. A., Psacharopoulos, G., & Tansel, A. (2021). Private and social returns to investment in education: The case of Turkey with alternative methods. *Applied Economics*, 53(14), 1638–1658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2020.1841086</u>
- Pavot, W. & Diener, E. (2008.). The Satisfaction With Life Scale and the emerging construct of life satisfaction. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 3 (2), 137-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760701756946</u>
- Pavot, W., Diener, E, Randall Colvin C., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Further validation of the Satisfaction With Life Scale: Evidence for the cross-method convergence of well-being measures. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 57(1), 149-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa5701_17</u>
- Paul, S. (1992). Accountability in public services: Exit, voice, and control. *World Development* 20(July), 1047-1060.
- Paul, S. (1994). *Does voice matter?* Policy Research Working Paper 1388. Policy Research Department, World Bank.
- Paxton, P. (1999). Is social capital declining in the United States? A multiple indicator assessment. *American Journal of Sociology 105*(1), 88-127.
- Pedwell, C. (2006). [Review of *Third-wave feminism: A critical exploration*]. *Feminist Review*, 82(1), 138-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.fr.9400269</u>
- Peiró, A. (2006). Happiness, satisfaction and socio-economic conditions: Some international evidence. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 35(2), 348-365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2005.11.042</u>
- Penar, P., Aiko, R., Bentley, T., & Han, K. (2016). Election quality, public trust are central issues for Africa's upcoming contests. Afrobarometer Policy Paper 35. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/24291</u>
- Perry, J. L. (1996). Handbook of public administration. Jossey-Bass.
- Perry, J. (2005). *Handbook of public administration* (2nd ed.). American Society for Public Administration.

- Persson, M. (2014). Testing the relationship between education and political participation using the 1970 British cohort study. *Political Behavior*, *36*(4), 877-897. http://dx.doi.org.pitt.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s11109-013-9254-0
- Persson, M. (2012). Does type of education affect political participation? Results from a panel survey of Swedish adolescents. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, *35*(3), 198-221. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9477.2012.00286.x
- Peters, G. B. (2001). *The future of governing* (2nded.). Studies in Government and Public Policy Series. University of Kansas Press.
- Petronijevic, & Oreopoulos, P. (2013). Making college worth it: A Review of research on the returns to higher education. NBER Working Paper Series, 19053. https://doi.org/10.3386/w19053
- Piotrowski, S. J., & Van Ryzin, G. G. (2007). Citizen attitudes toward transparency in local government. *The American Review of Public Administration*, *37*, 306.
- Pirralha, A. (2016). Political participation and wellbeing in the Netherlands: Exploring the causal links. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, *12*(2), 327-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-016-9463-x</u>
- Plattner, M. (1995). The status of women under international human rights law and the 1995 UN World Conference on Women, Beijing, China. *Kentucky Law Journal*, 84(4), 1249-1275.
- Pobee, J. (1991). Religion and politics in Ghana. Asempa Publishers.
- Pokimica, J, Addai, I & Takyi, B (2012). Religion and subjective well-being in Ghana. *Social Indicators Research*, *106*(1), 61-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9793-x</u>
- Proceedings of the World Bank Annual Conference on Development Economics 1991. (1992). *Journal of Economic Literature*, 30(4), 2269. American Economic Association.
- Pryor, J. (2005). Can community participation mobilise social capital for improvement of rural schooling? A case study from Ghana. *Compare*, *35*(2), 193-203. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057920500129882
- Przeworski, A., Gutmann, A., Thompson, D., & Pateman, C. (2003). Capitalism, socialism, and democracy. *The Democracy Sourcebook*, 1.
- Psacharopoulos, G., & Patrinos, H. A. (2018). Returns to investment in education: A decennial review of the global literature. *Education Economics*, 26(5/6), 445-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09645292.2018.1484426</u>

- Psacharopoulos, G., & Patrinos, H. A. (2004). Returns to investment in education: A further update. *Education Economics, 12*(2), 111-134. https://doi.org/10.1080/0964529042000239140
- Putnam, R. D. (1995). Bowling alone: America's declining social capital. *Journal of Democracy*, 6, 65-78.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). *Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community*. Simon and Schuster.
- Putnam, R. D. (1993). *Making democracy work: Civic traditions in modern Italy*. Princeton University Press.
- Putnam, R. D., & Feldstein, L. M. (2003). *Better together: Restoring the American community*. Simon & Schuster.
- Radelet, S. (2010). *Emerging African: How 17 countries are leading the way*. Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/1424419_file_EmergingAfrica_FINAL.pdf
- Reid, C., & Salmen, L. (2000). Understanding social capital. Agricultural extension in Mali: Trust and social cohesion. Social Capital Initiative Working Paper 22. https://web.worldbank.org/archive/website00522/WEB/PDF/SCI_WP-5.PDF

Republic of Ghana. (1971). The Chieftaincy Act, (Act 370). Ghana Publishing Corporation.

- Republic of Ghana (1978). *Constitutional Commissions Proposals*. Ghana Publishing Corporation.
- Republic of Ghana. (1979). The 1979 Constitution. Ghana Publishing Corporation.
- Republic of Ghana. (1992). The 1992 Constitution. Ghana Publishing Corporation.
- Rimmerman, C. A. (1997). *The new citizenship Unconventional politics, activism, and service.* Westview Press/Harper Collins.
- Robeyns, I. (2005). Selecting capabilities for quality of life measurement. *Social Indicators Research*, 74(1), 191-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-005-6524-1</u>
- Robeyns, I. (2006). Three models of education: Rights, capabilities and human capital. *Theory and Research in Education*, 4(1), 69-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1477878506060683</u>
- Robinson, V. (2003). Radical revisionings: The theorizing of masculinity and (radical) feminist theory. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 26(2), 129-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-5395(03)00016-5

- Rodriguez, A., Furquim, F., & DesJardins, S. L. (2018). Categorical and limited dependent variable modeling in higher education. In M. B. Paulsen (Ed.), *Higher education: handbook of theory and research* (pp. 295-370). Springer, Cham.
- Rojas, M. (2007). The complexity of well-being: A life satisfaction conception and a domains-oflife approach. In I. Gough & A. McGregor (Eds.), Wellbeing in developing countries: From theory to research, (pp. 242-258). Cambridge University Press.
- Rosenstone, S. J., & Hansen, J. M. (1993). *Mobilization, participation, and democracy in America*. Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Ross, C. E., & Van Willigen, M. (1997). Education and the subjective quality of life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *38*(3), 275-297. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2955371</u>
- Rothstein, B. (2005). Social traps and the problem of trust: Theories of institutional design. Cambridge University Press.
- Rothstein, B., & Stolle, D. (2008). The state and social capital: An institutional theory of generalized trust. *Comparative Politics*, 40(4), 441-459. https://doi.org/10.5129/001041508x12911362383354
- Rotter, J. B. (1971). Generalized expectancies for interpersonal trust. *American Psychologist*, 26(5), 443-452.<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0031464</u>
- Różalska, M. (2016). Between tradition and modernity The role of chiefs in the national development and local governance in Ghana. *Politeja*, *13*(42), 379-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.12797/Politeja.13.2016.42.21</u>
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57, 1069-1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069</u>
- Ryff, C. D., & Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological well-being revisited. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 69(4), 719-727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.4.719</u>
- Sachs, J., & Warner, A. (1997). Sources of slow growth in African economics. *Journal of African Economies*, 6(3), 335-376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jae.a020932</u>
- Salisbury, R. (1997). [Review of Education and democratic citizenship in America by N. H. Nie, J. Junn, & K. Stehlik-Barry]. American Journal of Sociology, 103(1), 260-261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/231199</u>
- Sandbrook, R., & Oelbaum, J. (1997). Reforming dysfunctional institutions through democratization? Reflections on Ghana. *Journal of Modern African Studies*, 35(4), 603-646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022278x97002565</u>

- Santos, M. C. J., Magramo Jr, C., Oguan Jr, F., Paat, J. J., & Barnachea, E. A. (2012). Meaning in life and subjective well-being: Is a satisfying life meaningful? *Researchers World*, 3(4), 32-40.
- Sarracino, F. (2013). Determinants of subjective well-being in high and low income countries: Do happiness equations differ across countries? *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, *42*, 51-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2012.11.006</u>
- Saulnier, C. F., & Lister, P. G. (2001). [Review of *Feminist theories and social work: Approaches and applications]. Journal of Social Work, 1*(1), 123-125.
- Sayer, D. (2002). Capitalism and modernity: An excursus on Marx and Weber. Routledge.
- Schwarz, N., & Strack, F. (1991). Evaluating one's life: A judgement model of subjective wellbeing. In F. Strack, M. Argyle, & N. Schwarz (Eds.), *Subjective well-being: An interdisciplinary perspective* (pp.27-48). Oxford University Press
- Schyns, P. (2002). Wealth of nations, individual income and life satisfaction in 42 countries: A multilevel approach. *Social Indicators Research*, 60(1/3), 5-40. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-9970-2_1
- Sefa-Nyarko, C. (2021). Ethnicity in electoral politics in Ghana: colonial legacies and the constitution as determinants. *Critical Sociology*, 47(2), 299-315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920520943263
- Senadza, B. (2012). Education inequality in Ghana: Gender and spatial dimensions. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 39(6), 724-739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01443581211274647</u>
- Sen, A. (1992). Inequality re-examined. Russell Sage Foundation and Clarendon Press
- Serdar, C. C., Cihan, M., Yücel, D., & Serdar, M. A. (2021). Sample size, power and effect size revisited: Simplified and practical approaches in pre-clinical, clinical and laboratory studies. *Biochemia Medica*, 31(1), 010502. <u>https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2021.010502</u>
- Shabaya, J., & Konadu-Agyemang, K. (2004). Unequal access, unequal participation: Some spatial and socio-economic dimensions of the gender gap in education in Africa with special reference to Ghana, Zimbabwe and Kenya. *Compare*, 34(4), Article 3950424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0305792042000294805</u>
- Shafiq, M. N. (2010). Do education and income affect support for democracy in Muslim countries? Evidence from the Pew Global Attitudes Project. *Economics of Education Review 29*(3), 461-469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2009.05.001</u>
- Shafritz, M. J., & Hyde, A. (2007). Classics of public administration. Wadsworth.

Shafritz, M, J., Ott, S. J., & Jang, S. Y. (2007). Classics of organization theory. Wadsworth.

- Shek, D. T. (2012). Quality of life in East Asia: The case of Hong Kong. In K. C. Land, A. C. Michalos, & M. J. Sirgy (Eds.), *Handbook of social indicators and quality of life research* (pp. 473-497). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Sheldon, K. M., & Lucas, R. E. (Eds.). (2014). *Stability of happiness: Theories and evidence on whether happiness can change*. Academic Press.
- Singleton, R., & Straits, B. (2005). Approaches to social research (4thed.). Oxford University Press.
- Sirgy, M. (2012). The psychology of quality of life: Hedonic well-being, life satisfaction, and eudaimonia (2nd ed.). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4405-9</u>
- Sirgy, M. J., & Cornwell, T. (2002). How neighborhood features affect quality of life. *Social Indicators Research* 59, 79-114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016021108513</u>
- Skevington, S. M., Lotfy, M., O'Connell, K. A., & WHOQOL Group. (2004). The World Health Organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: Psychometric properties and results of the international field trial: A report from the WHOQOL group. *Quality of Life Research*, 13(2), 299-310. doi:10.1023/B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00
- Slavin, R. & Smith, D. (2009). The relationship between sample sizes and effect sizes in systematic reviews in education. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 31(4), 50–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373709352369</u>
- Smidt, C. (1999). Religion and civic engagement: A comparative analysis. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 565,176-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716299565001012</u>
- Smidt, C. (2003). Religion as social capital: Producing the common good. Baylor University Press.
- Snyder-Hall, C. (2010). Third-wave feminism and the defense of "choice." *Perspectives on Politics*, 8(1), 255-261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1537592709992842</u>
- Sondheimer, R. M., & Green, D. P. (2010). Using experiments to estimate the effects of education on voter turnout. *American Journal of Political Science*, 54(1), 174-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2009.00425.x</u>
- Sorensen E., & Torging, J (2007). *Theories democratic of network governance*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Sossou, M. (2011). We do not enjoy equal political rights: Ghanaian women's perceptions on political participation in Ghana. SAGE Open, 1(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244011410715

- Sowards, S. K., & Renegar, V. R. (2004). The rhetorical functions of consciousness-raising in third wave feminism. *Communication Studies*, 55(4), 535-552. https://doi.org/10.1080/10510970409388637
- Spillan, J. E., & King, D. O. (2017). *Doing business in Ghana: Challenges and opportunities*. Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-54771-8</u>
- Stacey, N. (1998). Social benefits of education. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 559(1), 54-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716298559001005</u>
- Steptoe, A., Deaton, A., & Stone, A. A. (2015). Subjective well-being, health, and ageing. *Lancet*, 385(9968), 640-648. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61489-0
- Stiglitz, J. (1998, October). *Towards a new paradigm for development: Strategies, policies, and processes*. Prebisch Lecture, UNCTAD.
- Stiglitz, J., Sen, A., & Fitoussi, J. (2010). *Mismeasuring our lives: Why GDP doesn't add up.* New Press.
- Stillam, R. (1973). Woodrow Wilson and the study of administration: A new look at an old essay. *American Political Science Review*, 67, 582-588. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1958787</u>
- Stivers, C. (1990). The public agency as polis: Active citizenship in the administrative state. *Administration & Society 22*, (1), 86-105.
- Stone, A. A., Krueger, A. B., Stiglitz, J. E., Fitoussi, J. P., & Durand, M. (2018). Understanding subjective well-being. In J. E. Stiglitz, J. P. Fitoussi, & M. Durand (Eds.), For good measure: Advancing research on well-being metrics beyond GDP (pp. 163-201). OECD.
- Stromquist, N. P. (2021). Expanding the field of comparative and international education: The inclusion of gender. In B. Lindsay (Ed.), *Comparative and international education: Leading perspectives from the field* (pp. 129–143). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-64290-7_8
- Stromquist, N. P. (1990). Gender inequality in education: Accounting for women's subordination. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 11(2), 137-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142569900110202</u>
- Sulemana, I. (2015). An empirical investigation of the relationship between social capital and subjective well-being in Ghana. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 16(5), 1299-1321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-014-9565-9
- Sulemana, I., & Issifu, I. (2015). An empirical examination of the determinants of trust in Ghana. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 42(11), 1005-1023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-03-2014-0060</u>

- Tafvelin, S., Armelius, K., & Westerberg, K. (2011). Toward understanding the direct and indirect effects of transformational leadership on well-being: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Leadership* & Organizational Studies, 18(4), 480-492. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051811418342
- Takyi, B. K., & Addai, I. (2002). Religious affiliation, marital processes and women's educational attainment in a developing society. Sociology of Religion, 63(2), 177-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3712564</u>
- Takyi, B. K., Opoku-Agyeman, C. & Mensah., A. K. (2010). Religion and the public sphere: Religious involvement and voting patterns in Ghana's 2004 Elections. *Africa Today*, 56(46), 62-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.2979/aft.2010.56.4.62</u>
- Takyi, S. A., Azerigyik, R. A., & Amponsah, O. (2019). The effects of multi-track year-round education on the delivery of senior high school education in Ghana: Lessons from global MT-YRE systems. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 71, Article 102120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2019.102120</u>
- Tanye, M. (2008). Access and barriers to education for Ghanaian women and girls. *Interchange*, 39(2), 167-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10780-008-9058-z</u>
- Tapabrata, M. (2009). [Review of *Statistical Methods for the Social Sciences*]. *The American Statistician*, 63(1), 101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1198/tast.2009.0017</u>
- Temple, J. (2000). Growth effects of education and social capital in the OECD Countries, OECDEconomicsDepartmentWorkingPapers,No.263,OECDPublishing. https://www.oecd.org/innovation/research/1825293.pdf
- Teorell, J. (2006). Political participation and three theories of democracy: A research inventory and agenda. *European Journal of Political Research*, 45(5), 787-810. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6765.2006.00636.x</u>
- TerHaar, G. (1998). Halfway to paradise: African Christians in Europe. Academic Press.
- TerHaar, G., & Ellis, S. (2006). The role of religion in development: Towards a new relationship between the European Union and Africa. *The European Journal of Development Research*, 18, 351-367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09578810600893403</u>
- Tesch-Romer, C., Motel- Klingebiel, A., & Tomasik, M. J. (2008). Gender differences in subjective well-being: Comparing societies with respect to gender equality. *Social Indicators Research*, 85(2), 329-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-007-9133-3</u>
- Thompson, A. (2003). Caring in context: Four feminist theories on gender and education. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 33(1), 9–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-873X.t01-1-00249</u>

- Thompson, E. E. (2021). Of disputes and petitions: Exploring media framing of the 2012 presidential election petition in Ghana. *Journalism Practice*, *15*(10), 1441-1459.
- Thompson, E. R. (2020). Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS). In V. Zeigler-Hill & T. K. Shackelford (Eds), *Encyclopedia of personality and individual differences* (pp. 3963–3965). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24612-3_62</u>

The Millennium Development Goals Report. (2008). United Nations.

Tocqueville, A. (1839). Democracy in America. G. Adlard.

- Tong. (2017). Feminist thought: A more comprehensive introduction. Taylor & Francis Group.
- Treiman, D. (2009). Quantitative data analysis: Doing social research to test ideas. Jossey-Bass.
- Tripp, A. M. (2003). Women in movement: Transformations in African political landscapes. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 5(2), 233-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1461674032000080585</u>
- Truex, R. (2011). Corruption, attitudes, and education: Survey evidence from Nepal. *World Development*, *39*(7), 1133-1142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2010.11.003
- Tuwor, T., & Sossou, M. A. (2008). Gender discrimination and education in West Africa: Strategies for maintaining girls in school. *International Journal of inclusive* education, 12(4), 363-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603110601183115</u>
- UNESCO Institute of Statistics [UIS] (N.D.) *Ghana: Education and literacy general information*. <u>http://uis.unesco.org/en/country/gh#slideoutmenu</u>
- United Nations Development Program, (2010). *Human development report 2010, The real wealth of nations: Pathways to human development.* Author.
- United Nations Development Programme. (1997). Human development report 1997. Oxford University Press.
- United Nations Development Programme. (1999). *Human development report 1999*. Oxford University Press.
- United Nations Development Programme. (2000). *Human development report 1999*. Oxford University Press.
- United Nations Development Programme. (2002). *Human development report 1999*. Oxford University Press.
- United Nations Development Programme. (2010). *Human development report 1995*. Oxford University Press.

- *UN Women* (2021, December 5). UN Women Global Gender Equality Constitutional Database. https://constitutions.unwomen.org/en/search?keywords=the%20State%20shall%20afford %20equality%20of%20economic%20opportunity%20to%20all%20citizens;%20and,%20 in%20particular,%20the%20State%20shall%20take%20all%20necessary%20steps%20so %20as%20to%20ensure%20the%20full%20integration%20of%20women%20into%20th e%20mainstream%20of%20the%20economic%20development%20of%20Ghana%E2%8 0%9D
- UNICEF. (2009). Abolishing school fees in Africa: Lessons from Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, and Mozambique.
- Unterhalter, E., & Aikman, S. (Eds.). (2007). Practising gender equality in education. Oxfam.
- Upoalkpajor, J. L. N., & Upoalkpajor, C. B. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on education in Ghana. *Asian Journal of Education and Social Studies*, 9(1), 23-33. https://doi.org/10.9734/ajess/2020/v9i130238
- Uslaner, E., & Conley, R. (2003). Civic engagement and particularized trust: The ties that bind people to their ethnic communities. *American Politics Research*, 31(4), 331-360. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532673x03031004001
- Uslaner, E. M., & Rothstein, B. (2016). The historical roots of corruption: State building, economic inequality, and mass education. *Comparative Politics*, 48(2), 227-248. https://doi.org/10.5129/001041516817037736
- van Praag, B. M. S., Frijters, P., & Ferreri-Carbonell, A. (2003). The anatomy of subjective wellbeing. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 51, 29-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-2681(02)00140-3</u>
- Vassar, M. (2012). Psychology of life satisfaction. Nova Science Publisher.
- Veenhoven, R. (2011). Happiness: Also known as "life satisfaction" and "subjective well-being." In Handbook of social indicators and quality of life research (pp. 63-77). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2421-1_3</u>
- Verba, S., & Nie, N. H. (1987). *Participation in America: Political democracy and social equality*. University of Chicago Press.
- Verba, S., Schlozman, K. L., & Brady H. E. (1995). Voice and equality: Civic voluntarism in American politics. Harvard University Press.
- Verbrugge, L. M. (1976). Sex differentials in morbidity and mortality in the United States. *Social Biology*, 23(4), 275-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19485565.1976.9988243</u>
- Vila, L.E. (2000). The non-monetary benefits of education. *European Journal of Education*, 35(1), 21-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-3435.00003</u>

- Vittersø, J. (Ed.). (2016). *Handbook of eudaimonic well-being* (pp. 253-276). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Waldo, D. (1984). *The administrative state: A study of the political theory of American public administration* (2nd ed.). Hommes & Meier.
- Waldo, D. (2007). *The administrative state: A study of the political theory of American public administration* (rev. ed.). Transaction Publishers.
- Waldron, S. (2010). Measuring subjective wellbeing in the UK. Office for National Statistics.
- Wallace, C., & Pichler, F. (2009). More participation, happier society? A comparative study of civil society and the quality of life. *Social Indicators Research*, 93(2), 255-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9305-9</u>
- Walton, G., & Peiffer, C. (2017). The impacts of education and institutional trust on citizens' willingness to report corruption: Lessons from Papua New Guinea. *Australian Journal* of *Political Science*, 52(4), 517-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10361146.2017.1374346</u>
- Wamsley, G. L., & Goodsell, C. T., et al. (1984). The public administration and governance process: Refocusing the American dialogue. *Dialogue*, 6(2), 1-17.
- Wandersman, A., Florin, P., Friedmann, R., & Meier, R. (1987). Who participates, who does not, and why? An analysis of voluntary neighborhood organizations in the United States and Israel. Sociological Forum, 2(3), 534-555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01106625</u>
- Wang, H., Otoo, N., & Dsane-Selby, L. (2017). Ghana National Health Insurance Scheme: Improving financial sustainability based on expenditure review. In *Ghana National Health Insurance Scheme*. World Bank Publications. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1117-3</u>
- Watkins, S. (2001). Twentieth-century women novelists: Feminist theory into practice. Palgrave.
- Watson, D., Clark. L.A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54, 1063-1070.
- Watson, D., & Levin-Aspenson, H. (2018). Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS). In J. S. Kreutzer, J. DeLuca, & B. Caplan (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of clinical neuropsychology* (pp. 2722–2724). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57111-9_9007</u>
- Webster, J. B., Boahen, A. A. & Tidy, M. (1992). *The revolutionary years: West Africa since 1800*. Longman Publishing.

- Weitz-Shapiro, R., & Winters, M. S. (2011). The link between voting and life satisfaction in Latin America. *Latin American Politics and Society*, 53(4), 101-126. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-2456.2011.00135.x
- Weitz-Shapiro, R., & Winters, M. S. (2008). Political participation and quality of life. Inter-American Development Bank. <u>https://publications.iadb.org/en/publication/politicalparticipation-and-quality-life</u>
- Wettlaufer, A. K. (2014). [Review of Josephine Donovan. *Feminist theory: The intellectual traditions*.] *Studies in 20th & 21st Century Literature, 38*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/2334-4415.1013</u>
- Whitaker, J. (1988). *How can Africa survive?* Harper & Row.
- WHOQOL Group. (1994). The development of the World Health Organization quality of life assessment instrument (the WHOQOL). In *Quality of life assessment: International perspectives* (pp. 41-57). Springer.
- WHOQOL Group (1998). Development of the World Health Organization WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment. *Psychological Medicine*, 28(3), 551-558. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291798006667
- Wilson, A. & Somhlaba, N. Z. (2017). Ghanaian school-going adolescents' self-perceived barriers of access to quality education: A qualitative study. *Development Southern Africa*, 34(5), 652-665. https://doi.org/10.1080/0376835X.2017.1324763
- Wilson, W. (1887). The study of administration. Political Science Quarterly, 2, 197-222.
- Winkelmann, L. & Winkelmann, R. (1998). Why are the unemployed so unhappy? Evidence from panel data. *Economica (London)*, 65(257), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0335.00111</u>
- Wolfinger, R. E., & Rosenstone, S. J. (1980). Who votes? Yale University Press.
- Woolcock, M., & Narayan, D. (2000). Social capital: Implications for development theory, research, and policy. *The World Bank Research Observer*, 15(2), 225-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/15.2.225</u>
- World Bank. (1993, October). Adjustment lending in Sub-Saharan Africa. World Bank Operations Evaluation Department.
- World Bank. (2007). *Ghana: Meeting the challenge of accelerated and shared growth: Country economic memorandum* (Vols I-3. Prem 4, Africa Region, pp.3-28). Author.
- World Bank (2003). *Reforming public institutions and strengthening governance: A World Bank strategy implementation update.* Author.

- World Bank (1989). Sub-Saharan Africa: From crisis to self-sustainable growth. World Bank.
- World Bank. (1989). Sub-Saharan Africa: From crisis to sustainable growth: A long term perspective study. Author.
- World Bank. (1996). The World Bank participation sourcebook. Author.
- World Bank. (1997). World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2000). World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2003). World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2019). World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2020), World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2007). World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2008). World development report. Oxford University Press.
- World Bank. (2000). World development report 2000/2001: Attacking poverty. Author.
- World Bank (2012). World development report 2012: Gender equality and development. Author.
- World Bank Group (1996). *The World Bank participation sourcebook*. http://betuco.be/voorlichting/Participation%20Sourcebook%20-%20World%20Bank.pdf
- World Bank Group. (2017). *World development report 2018: Learning to realize education's promise*. World Bank Publications. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1096-1</u>
- World Bank Group (2018). World development report 2018: Learning to realize education's promise. *Population and Development Review*, 44(2), 404-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/padr.12164</u>
- Yeeba, Z. (1991). Ghana: The struggle for popular power, savior or demagogue. New Beacon.
- Yirenkyi, K. (1999). Changing patterns of mainline and charismatic religiosity in Ghana. *Research in the Social Scientific Study of Religion, 10,* 171-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004496224_012</u>
- Yirenkyi, K. (2000). The role of Christian churches in national politics: Reflections from laity and clergy in Ghana. *Sociology of Religion, 61*, 325-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3712582</u>

- Zak, P., & Knack, S. (2001). Trust and growth. *The Economic Journal*, 111, 295-321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0297.00609</u>
- Zame, M. Y., Hope, W. C., & Respress, T. (2008). Educational reform in Ghana: The leadership challenge. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 22(2), 115-128. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540810853521